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LATEST RESEARCH ON STUDENT LEARNING

We talked to over 150 instructors and discovered that current
textbooks did not effectively:

« Help students logically process information

« Build on what students already know in a carefully guided sequence
« Reinforce core accounting concepts throughout the chapters

« Help students see how the pieces of accounting fit together

The Needles/Powers series addresses these challenges by creating a better solution for
you. This includes new features and a brand new structure for enhanced learning.

We have worked hard to create a textbook
that mirrors the way you learn!
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A LOGICAL METHODOLOGY TO BUILDING KNOWLEDGE:

THE THREE SECTION APPROACH

Needles/Powers' Principles of Financial Accounting continuously evolves to meet the needs of
today’s learner. As a result of our research, the chapters in Needles/Powers have been organized

into a Three Section Approach, which helps students more easily digest the content.

T .
ThreeSection

APPROACH

@ The first section is Concepts and focuses on the overarching accounting concepts
that require consistent reiteration throughout the course.

@ With a clear understanding of the concepts, you can proceed to the second
section, Accounting Applications. Here, you can practice the application of
accounting procedures with features like “Apply It!” and a new transaction analy-
sis model, which breaks down the transaction in a simple, visual format.

© Finally, move to section three, Business Applications. This section illustrates how the
concepts and procedures are used to make business decisions. Real company exam-
ples are used throughout the chapter to show the relevance of accounting.

“1 think this new chapter structure would be much easier for students to read
and comprehend.”

Shannon Ogden
Black River Technical College

TriLevela

PROBLEM
TriLevel Problems within CengageNOW mirror the Three Section Approach and con-
nect the sections—Concepts, Accounting Applications, and Business Applications. In
this way, the problems teach you to think holistically about an accounting issue.
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Breaking Down the Three Section Approach
SECTION 1: CONCEPTS

In Section 1, students experience the Concepts related to each chapter. In this case, concepts are the overarching accounting
concepts that need to be reinforced throughout the accounting course, such as revenue recognition, the matching rule,
valuation, classification, and disclosure.

Every chapter’s Section 1 reinforces these key concepts so that once students understand the concepts, they can apply them to
every aspect of the accounting system—from measuring to processing to communicating information about a business. This is a
clear and logical way to present accounting.

SECTION 1

CONCEPTS

B Accrual accounting m Concepts Underlying Notes

(matching principle) .
B Valuation and Accounts Receivable

M Disclosure

CONCEPTS

The most common receivables are accounts receivable and notes receivable. The allow-
ance method is used to apply accrual accounting to the valuation of accounts receivable.
RELEVANT Proper disclosure in the financial statements and the notes to them is important for users
LEARNING OBJECTIVE of the statements to interpret them.

Define receivables,
and explain the

Lo

Accounts Receivable

allowance method for Accounts receivable are short-term financial assets that arise from sales on credit and are
valuation of receivables as an often called trade credit. Terms of trade credit usually range from 5 to 60 days, depend-
application of accrual ing on industry practice, and may allow customers to pay in installments. Credit sales
accounting. or loans not made in the ordinary course of business, such as those made to employ-
ces, officers, or owners, should appear separately under asset titles like Receivables from
Employees. Exhibit 1 shows the level of accounts receivable in selected industries.

“It does a very good job in explaining each concept and reinforcing each one by giving specific
examples.”

Paul Jaijairam
Bronx Community College
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SECTION 2: ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

In Section 2, students learn the accounting procedures and the technical application of concepts. Students can apply
the fundamental concepts they have already learned in Section 1. Section 2 includes things like recording business trans-
actions and creating financial statements.

SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS
B Estimate uncollectible
accounts and uncollect-
ible accounts expense
using
B Percentage of net sales
method
B Accounts receivable
aging method
B Write off uncollectible
accounts

B Make common calcula-
tions for notes receivable

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

- 2 Apply the allowance
method of accounting
for uncollectible accounts.

G 3 Make common
calculations for Notes

Receivable

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

Uncollectible Accounts

The allowance account is necessary because the specific uncollectible accounts will not
be identified until later. It is not like another contra account, Accumulated Deprecia-
tion, whose purpose is to show how much of the plant and equipment cost has been
allocated as an expense to previous periods.

If management takes an optimistic view and projects a small loss from uncollectible
accounts, the resulting net accounts receivable will be larger than if management takes a
pessimistic view. The net income will also be larger under the optimistic view because the
estimated expense will be smaller. The company’s accountant makes an estimate based
on past experience and current economic conditions. For example, losses from uncol-
lectible accounts are normally expected to be greater in a recession than during a period
of economic growth. The final decision on the amount of the expense will depend on
objective information, such as the accountant’s analyses, and on certain qualitative fac-
tors, such as how investors, bankers, creditors, and others view the performance of the
debtor company. Regardless of the qualitative considerations, the estimated losses from
uncollectible accounts should be realistic.

Two common methods of estimating uncollectible accounts expense are the
percentage of net sales method and the accounts receivable aging method.

Percentage of Net Sales Method

The basis for the percentage of net sales method is the amount of this year’s net sales
that will not be collected. The answer determines the amount of uncollectible accounts
expense for the year.

Uncollectible Accounts: The Percentage of Net Sales Method

Transaction The following balances represent Varta Company’s ending figures for 2014:

“Section 2 walks through the accounting procedures very well. | like the use of a visual plus the
narrative to explain the procedures.”

Gerald Childs

Waukesha County Technical College
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SECTION 3: BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

With a solid foundation of the fundamental accounting concepts as well as how to apply these concepts when performing
accounting procedures, students are now ready for Section 3: Business Applications. This section teaches students how
accounting information is used to make business decisions. Included here are topics like using ratios to evaluate a company’s

performance.

SECTION3

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS
B Receivables turnover
B Days’sales uncollected
B Financing receivables

B Factoring of accounts
receivable

B Securitization of
accounts receivable

B Discounting of
accounts receivable

B Ethics

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

4 Show how to evaluate
the level of receivables,
and identify alternative means
of financing receivables.

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

@4 Evaluating the Level of Accounts
Receivable and Ethical Ramifications

Receivables are an important asset for any company that sells on credit. For them, it
is critical to manage the level of receivables. Two common measures of the effect of a
company’s credit policies are receivables turnover and days’ sales uncollected. Further,
many companies manage their receivables by using various means to finance them.
Finally, the judgments in estimating uncollectible accounts are a temptation for uneth-
ical behavior.

Receivables Turnover

The receivables turnover shows how many times, on average, a company turned its
receivables into cash during a period. It reflects the relative size of a company’s accounts
receivable and the success of its credit and collection policies. It may also be affected by
external factors, such as seasonal conditions and interest rates.

The receivables turnover is computed by dividing net sales by the average accounts
receivable (net of allowances). Theoretically, the numerator should be net credit sales;
but since the amount of net credit sales is rarely available in public reports, investors use
total net sales. Using data from Nike’s annual report, we can compute the company’s
receivables turnover in 2011 as follows (dollar amounts are in millions).

G \

Receivables Turnover: How Many Times Did the Company Collect
|ts Accounts Receivable During an Accounting Period?

Net Sales
Average Accounts Receivable

Receivables Turnover =

$20,962 520,962
(83,138 + $2,650)/2 52,894

= 7.2 times*

* Rounded

“This is a nice and useful touch to help students tie everything together. The theory can be dry at
times, so this recap helps engage the students’ attention again.”

Dennis Mullen

City College of San Francisco
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EXAMPLES, ACTIVITIES, AND PRACTICE

> <« Business Perspective
k Business Perspective Throughout the chapter, Business Perspective
=20 AWhirlwind Inventory Turnover—How Does Dell Do [t? g
features keep students engaged by providing real
Dell Ce C turns its i y every 10 days. How can it do this when other computer companies have inventory on hand a
)55y S S TSGR A T T 2 7 A7 2 T business context and exam pI es from well-known
§ Dell's speed from order to delivery sets the standard for the computer industry. Consider that a computer ordered by 9 a.m. can be delivered the . . I . I .
£ nextday by 9 .. How can Dell do this when it does not start ordering components and assembling computers until a customer places an order? First,
E; Dell's suppliers keep components warehoused just minutes from Dell’s factories, making efficient, just-in-time operations possible. Dell also saves com pa nies inc Ud In g Goog e’ cvs' B°e| ng' Ford
2 time by sending an e-mail message for some finished products to a shipper, such as United Parcel Service, and the shipper picks up the product H
R e et T e e e e s e e s Motor Company, Microsoft, L.L. Bean, and The
o Dellis showing the world how to run a business in the cyber age by selling more than $39 million worth of computers a day on its website.® w .
alt Disney Company.

TriLevel Problem

BUSINESS INSIGHT

Sung’s Grill

The beginning of this chapter focused on Emma Sung, the owner of Sung’s Grill, who was
looking for ways to ensure that the restaurant’s assets were protected and that all its trans-
actions were recorded properly. Complete the following requirements in order to answer
the questions posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Sung’s Grill is a popular neighborhood restaurant. Its business has
increased substantially over the past year, and Emma Sung, the restau-
rant’s owner, has had to hire more cashiers, waiters, and kitchen help. She
has become concerned about possible theft of cash and food inventory,
and she is looking for ways to prevent it. She is also concerned about
whether the restaurant’s sales and other transactions are being recorded
properly. She is particularly concerned about the accuracy of the restau-
rant’s financial statements, because she is considering applying for a bank
loan so that she can open a second restaurant. To obtain a loan, she will

Section 1: Concepts
Why is each of the five components of internal control important to the faithful representation
© ofacompany’s operations in its financial statements?

- Section 2: Accounting Applications
2 How can Sung’s Grill maintain control over its cash?

In order to have better control over cash, Emma Sung has established several rules for
= cashiers. Match each of the internal controls with the control activities that follow. (Hint:

Sung's Grill Some may have more than one answer)

have to present Sung’s Grill’s financial statements to the bank. Business |nsight and TriLevel Problem A

1. CONCEPT }» Why is each of the five components of internal control Each chapter opens with a Business Insight that shows how a
important to the faithful representation of a company’s operations in its Il Id A inf A ke deci
financial statements? sma company wou 'use accounting in ormatlon to make eq-
2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION > How can Sung’s Grill maintain sions. The Business Insight poses three questions—each of which
control over its cash? will be answered in one of the three sections of the chapter. At the
3. BUSINESS APPLICATION > How can Sung’s Grills bank and other end of each chapter, a NEW TriLevel Problem revisits the Business

users of its financial statements be confident that the restaurant has an
adequate system of internal control?

Insight company to tie the three sections together.

Apply It! and Try It! P>

Assume that on December 1, 2014, a company receives a 90-day, 8 SOLUTION
nsiti 1t, $5,000 note and that the fi | state- i i

App'y It! activities throug hOUt the chapter &eer::mommyvno e and that the company prepares financial state 1. Maturity date is March 1, 2015, determined as follows.

. . i i ) Days remaining in December (31~ 1) 30

illustrate and solve a short exercise and then 1. Whats the maturtydate of the note? - iy 3
2. How much interest will be earned on the note if it is paid when iR 28

. e e

reference end-of-chapter assignments where . v Days narch i

3. Whatis the maturity value of the note? Total days %

Eal

If the company's fiscal year ends on December 31, describe the -
Interest: $5,000 X 8/100 X 90/365 = $98.63*

Maturity value: $5,000 + $98.63 = $5,098.63
An adjusting entry to accrue 30 days of interest income in the amount of

students can go to Try It! This provides students
with an example to reference as they are work-

ing to complete homework, making getting e e
started less intimidating. e

TRY IT! SE6, SE7| @ 8A, E9A, E10A, E11A, ESB, E9B, E10B, E11B

adjusting entry that would be made, including the amount.
. How much interest will be earned on this note in 20157

&

I_Notes Receivable Calculations

SE8. On August 25, Intercontinental Company received a 90-day, 9 percent note in
settlement of an account receivable in the amount of $20,000. Determine the maturity
date, amount of interest on the note, and maturity value. (Round to the nearest cent.)
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Business Transaction Model p>

A new business transaction model for all financial
accounting chapters involving transactions visually
guides students step-by-step through accounting
for business transactions as follows:

. Statement of the transaction
+ Analysis of the effect on the accounts
 Application of double-entry accounting in
T accounts
« lllustration of the journal entry (linked to the
T account showing the relationships between the
methods and featuring account ing equations)
- Comments that offer supporting explanations
regarding the significance of the transaction
(often looping back to the concepts covered in
Section 1)

Purchase of an Asset on Credit
Transaction On July 5, Blue Design Studio receives the office supplies ordered on July
2 and an invoice for $5,200.
Analysis The journal entry to record the purchase of office supplies on credit

A increases the asset account Office Supplies with a debit

A increnses the liability account Accounts Payable with a credit
Application of Double Entry
Liabilities aF

Assets = Owner’s Equity

Office Supplies Accounts Payable

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July5 5,200 July5 5,200

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

July5  Office Supplies 5,200

Accounts Payable

5,200

Comment Office supplies in this transaction are classified as an asset (prepaid expense)
because they will not be used up in the current month and thus will benefit future peri-
ods. The credit is classified as Accounts Payable because there is a delay between the
time of the purchase and the time of payment.

K Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.

. . Ratio Analysis Model
Profit Margin: How Much Income Does Each Dollar of Sales Generate? < y :
A new framework for teaching how to analyze
Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet C_Ompa.ny |r?f.ormat.|on and r_nake mformed deci-
Numbers Flows Number Numbers sions simplifies ratio analysis as follows:
) ~ )
Cash Flows « Key question regarding company perfor-
Revenues Net Income o from. Total Assets .To.t.a! Tot.al mance (WhICh the ratio answers)
perating Liabilities Equity . .
Activities - Elements of the financial statements that are
¢ needed to compute the ratio (focusing on rev-
Net Income enue and net income from the income state-
Profit Margin = = enues ment, cash flows from operating activities
$71,524 from the statement of cash flows, and total
= $1,248624 assets, total liabilities, and total equity from
— 0,057, 0r 5.7% the balance sheet)
- Formula for the ratio (which links to the
Advertising Agencies | 58 related elements of the financial statements)
Scheduled Air Transportation 1.1
Clothing Stores L 42 «  Computation/example
Grocery Stores | 14 o
Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 6.0 ° Graph Of IndUStry averages
Computer and Peripheral 74 o .
Equipment Manufacturing I «  Comments that explain what the ratio means
I Service Industries Il Merchandising Industries M Manufacturing Industries (Whether it's good or bad)
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TRILEVEL PROBLEM:

TYING IT ALL TOGETHER!

TriLevela

PROBLEM

NEW TriLevel Problems within CengageNOW follow

the same Three Section Approach the book employs

by including Concepts, Accounting Applications, and
Business Applications. The problems reinforce and apply
overarching concepts while also tying the three sections
together to give students a complete understanding.

“Any time the students are engaged in
the learning process and have to actively
participate, | think they enhance their
retention of the material. The ability to
relate this to an actual company (whether
real or not) allows students to see this
information in practice.”

Chuck Smith
lowa Western Community College

Transaction Analysis

The process of assigning business transactions to accounts is called | select 'l-

One of the most important classification issues in accounting is the difference between an asset and
their cost is classified as an | select  «|. If the items will be used in the future, they are classified as

Travis Services is an office cleaning company. Consider Travis Services' transactions during its first mo

{a) Recelved cash from Stanley Travis, in exchange for stock, $18,680.
(b) Performed services for a client on account, $6,530.

(c) Purchased equipment with cash, $12,920.

(d) Performed services for a customer who paid cash, $7,150.

(e} Purchased supplies with cash, $3,480.

Use the following T accounts to record these transactions. You will need to record the transactions in
bottom) on the debit or credit side of the T account, whichever is appropriate.

Cash Accounts Receivable Supplies

Equipment Fees Earned Common Stock

As supplies are used, Travis Services debits Supplies Expense and credits Supplies.
Stanley Travis would like to charge Supplies Expense when the supplies are purchased. He wants to

a. "Greatidea. By increasing expenses Travis Services income is lowerad and that translates to lo
b. "Accounting rules dictate that purchases that are consumed in future periods be classified as a
purposes.”

96% of instructors surveyed said that the
TriLevel Problem adequately coached
students through thinking about an issue.

“The [TriLevel Problem] links procedure to
the creation and use of information, and
closes that loop between what students
are doing and why it is useful.”

Andy Williams
Edmonds Community College

“It reviews everything students have learned
in a format they will find useful, and it links
the three areas together. | love this. Each one
ending with a business application.”

Joan Ryan
Clackamas Community College

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

© Cengage Learning 2014



NEW CENGAGENOW FEATURES

HELP STUDENTS MAKE CONNECTIONS

NEW Blueprint Problems p

In CengageNOW, these problems cover primary learning
objectives and help students understand the fundamental
accounting concepts and their associated building blocks—
not just memorize the formulas or journal entries required
for a single concept. Blueprint Problems include rich feed-
back and explanations, providing students with an excellent
learning resource.

Blueprint Problem: Predetermined, overapplied, and underapplied overhead

The Nature of Overhead

Recall that unit costs include direct materials, direct Iabor, and overhead. The costs for direct materials and dirs
production or sales, and some overhead costs are unknown until the end of the period or early in the next pei
to determine unit costs, because overhead costs are not always directly related to units produced. Therefore,
the beginning of the year, and applied to production throughout the year. This requires three steps:

1. Caleulate the predetermined overhead rate.
2. Apply the overhead throughout the year.

3. Reconcile the applied and actual overhead at the end of the year.

Predetermined Overhead Rate

The overhead costs are allocated to jobs using a common measure related to each job. This measure is called
should reflect the consumption or use of the overhead costs. There are basically three types of drivers (or acti

To calculate the predetermined overhead rate, you must first estimate the overhead costs for the year, as wel

Match the type of driver with its cause.

Driver Cause

1 [select |
Volume:
2.Time:  [Select v
3. Cost: [Select S|
Disposal of Fixed Assets
When 3 fixed asset is being disposed of (sold or discarded), an entry to record depreciation will most likely be necessary befare recording the disposal of the asset.
since the last depreciation entry for the asset, unless the amount of time is insignificant, such as a few days.
An entry for depreciation will: Scenario A: Gain/loss calculation:
I rginal 1, 2007
* | Select | total expenses for the current period. Sinal cost danlony o0 0000
3 Less: Accumulated depreciation (as of July 1, 2009) 22,500
Select | the book value of the assat. Book value, July 1, 2009 $27,500
* |Select  ¥|the gain/loss calculation for the asset disposal. Cash received (1] 3
o e o
Loss on disposal of asset aq
After depreciation has been recorded (if necessary), any gain or loss is calculated and then the journal entry g’
c
2007. The purchase price was $50,000, the residual value was determined to be $5,000 and the useful life w Asset disposal entry on July 1, 2009: 5
company disposed of the asset on July 1, 2009. Depreciation of $4,500 was recorded on that day, resulting ir 3
independent scenarios. The gain/loss calculation and journal entry to record the disposal under each scenaric Accumulated Depreciation-Machine 22,500 %
Loss on Dispasal of Asset 27,500 3
c
Cash recelved: 50 $24,750 $27,500 $30,000 e S
| | | | ©
I I I I
Scenario A Scenario B c Scenario D
. .
NEW Blueprint Connections A
Blueprint Connections in CengageNOW build upon concepts
covered and introduced within the Blueprint Problems. These
. . . ’
scenario-based exercises help reinforce students’' knowledge
February 26, 2016 February 27,
of the concept. Je.
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,183,587 $ 1,096,100
Short-term investment securities 605,608 431,476
tories B - 1,759,703
Other current assets 315,736 276,066
Total current assets 4,073,838 3563.345
Long-term i ent securities 121,446 132,860
. e ele > Property and equipment, net 1,116,297 1,119,292
NEW Animated Activities Other asers 3wtz _seess
Total assets $ 5,646,193 $ 5,152,130 4
o

Animated Activities in CengageNOW are videos that guide stu-
dents through selected core topics using a realistic company
example to illustrate how the concepts relate to the everyday
activities of a business.
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NEW CENGAGENOW FEATURES

HELP STUDENTS MAKE CONNECTIONS

NEW Check My Work Feedback ¥

Written feedback is now available when students click on “Check My Work” in CengageNOW to provide students with
valuable guidance as they work through homework items.

Incorrect

¥ additional Feedback

Rework the formula above to solve for Fixed Costs:
Fixed Costs = Sales - Variable Costs - Operating Income

Mow consider what happens to this formula when Operating Income is equal to zero.

© Cengage Learning 2014

NEW Post-submission Feedback V¥

After students have submitted their assignments for a grade in CengageNOW, they can go back and see the correct
answers to better understand where they might have gotten off track.

Incorrect

¥ Additional Feedback

a. Sales minus sales returns and allowances and minus sales discounts equals net sales.

b. Met sales minus the cost of merchandise sold equals gross profit.

c. Gross profit minus operating expenses minus other revenue and expenses equals net income.
¥ Solution

Correct Response

]

Exercise 6-3

Income Statement for Merchandiser

a

$

b. What was the amount of gross profit?
% 2540000

c. If total operating expenses were $1,200,000, could you determine net income?

‘ Mo, there could be separately reported "other income" and "other expense” items

© Cengage Learning 2014

NEW Apply It Demos
These demonstration videos in CengageNOW will help students
complete end-of-chapter questions from Section 2.
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CHAPTER 1

Accounting Principles and
the Financial Statements

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Keep-Fit Center

On January 1, 2014, Jenny Mullin, an experienced fitness coach, started
a business called Keep-Fit Center, which offers classes and private
instruction in aerobics, yoga, and Pilates. By December 31, 2014, the
center had generated $375,500, and its clients were praising its excel-
lent service. Jenny is now considering expanding the business. She
would need a bank loan and, to qualify, both she and the bank would
have to use various financial measures to determine the business’s
ability to repay the loan (i.e., its profitability and liquidity). Whether

a business is small, like Keep-Fit Center, or large, like CVS, the same
financial measures are used to evaluate it.

1. CONCEPT » What is accounting, and what are the concepts that
underlie it?

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » What are three financial statements
that Keep-Fit Center will need to present in a way that is useful to Jenny
and to the bank?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » How do these financial statements help
Jenny Mullin, as owner of Keep-Fit Center, measure progress toward the
company’s two main financial goals of profitability and liquidity? What
additional financial statement information would be useful?

Copyright 2013 Cengage Leal
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LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Define accounting, and explain
the concepts underlying
accounting measurement.

2 Define financial position, and
state the accounting equation.

o 3 Identify the four basic financial
statements and their
interrelationships.

Explain how generally accepted

accounting principles (GAAP)
and international financial reporting
standards (IFRS) relate to financial
statements and the independent CPA’s
report, and identify the organizations
that influence GAAP.

o 5 Identify the users of accounting

information, and identify
business goals, activities, and
performance measures.

Explain the importance of
ethics in financial reporting.




SECTION 1

CONCEPTS

B Accounting
measurement

B Business transactions
B Money measure

B Separate entity

B Assets

H Liabilities

B Owner’s equity

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Define accounting and
explain the concepts
underlying accounting
measurement.

Lo

Lo 2 Defl.n'e financial
position, and state the
accounting equation.

CONCEPTS

@& Concepts Underlying
Accounting Measurement

Accounting is an information system that measures, processes, and communicates finan-
cial information about a business.! Accountants focus on the needs for financial infor-
mation, whether the decision makers are inside or outside a business or other economic
entity. An economic entity is a unit that exists independently, such as a business, hospi-
tal, or a governmental body. Accountants supply the information decision makers need
to make “reasoned choices among alternative uses of scarce resources in the conduct of
business and economic activities.”? As shown in Exhibit 1, accounting is a link between
business activities and decision makers.

Accounting measures business activities by recording data about them for future use.
The data are stored until needed and then processed to become useful information.
The information is communicated through reports to decision makers.

Based on information from accounting, decision makers take actions that affect sub-
sequent business activities.

In other words, data about business activities are the input to the accounting system,
and useful information for decision makers is the output.

Exhibit 1
Accounting as an Information System
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Financial and Managerial Accounting

Accounting’s role of measuring, processing, and communicating financial information
is usually divided into financial accounting and managerial accounting. Although the
functions of financial accounting and managerial accounting overlap, they can be distin-
guished by the principal users of their information.

Financial Accounting Exzernal decision makers use financial accounting to evaluate
how well the business has achieved its goals. These reports, called financial statements,
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are a central feature of accounting. CVS, whose stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange, sends its financial statements to its owners (called stockhbolders), its banks and
other creditors, and government regulators. Financial statements report on a business’s
financial performance and are used extensively both inside and outside a business to
evaluate its financial success.

It is important to distinguish accounting from bookkeeping and management
information systems.

Bookkeeping is the process of recording financial transactions and keeping financial
records. It is mechanical and repetitive, yet an important part of accounting that is
usually handled by computers.

Management information systems (MIS) consist of the interconnected subsystems,
including accounting, that provide the information needed to run a business.

Managerial Accounting Internal decision makers use information provided by
managerial accounting about operating, investing, and financing activities. Managers
and employees need information about how they have done in the past and what they can
expect in the future. For example, Gap, Inc., a retail clothing business, needs an operat-
ing report that tells how much was sold at each store and what costs were incurred, and
it needs a budget that projects each store’s sales and costs for the next year.

o
Accounting Measurement
To make an accounting measurement, the accountant must answer four basic questions:

What is measured?

When should the measurement be made?

What value should be placed on what is measured?
How should what is measured be classified?

Accountants debate the answers to these questions constantly, and the answers change as
new knowledge and practice require. But the basis of today’s accounting practice rests on
a number of widely accepted concepts and conventions. We begin by focusing on the first
question: What is measured? We discuss the other three questions in the next chapter.

Business Transactions Business transactions are economic events that affect a
business’s financial position. Businesses can have hundreds or even thousands of transac-
tions every day. These transactions are the raw material of accounting reports.

A transaction can be an exchange of value (a purchase, sale, payment, collection, or
loan) between two or more parties. A transaction also can be an economic event that
does not involve an exchange. Some examples of nonexchange transactions are losses
from fire, flood, explosion, and theft; physical wear and tear on machinery and equip-
ment; and the day-by-day accumulation of interest.

To be recorded, a transaction must relate directly to a business entity. Suppose a
customer buys toothpaste from CVS but buys shampoo from a competing store because
CVS is out of shampoo. The transaction in which the toothpaste was sold is entered in
CVS’s records. However, the purchase of the shampoo is not entered in CVS’s records
because, even though it indirectly affects CVS economically (by losing a sale), it does
not involve a direct exchange of value between CVS and the customer.

Money Measure All business transactions are recorded in terms of money. This
concept is called money measure. Of course, nonfinancial information may also be
recorded, but a business’s transactions and activities are measured through the record-
ing of monetary amounts. Money is the only factor common to all business transac-
tions, and thus it is the only unit of measure capable of producing financial data that
can be compared. The monetary unit a business uses depends on the country in which
the business resides. For example, in the United States, the basic unit of money is the
dollar. In China, it is the yuan; in Japan, the yen; in the European Union (EU), the
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Exhibit 2
Examples of Foreign
Exchange Rates

STUDY NOTE: For accounting
purposes, a business is always separate
and distinct from its owners, creditors,
and customers.

STUDY NOTE: A key disadvantage of
apartnership is the unlimited liability
of its owners. Unlimited liability can
be avoided by organizing the business
as a corporation or, in some states, by
forming what is known as a limited
liability partnership (LLP).

euro; and in the United Kingdom, the pound. In international transactions, exchange
rates must be used to translate from one currency to another. An exchange rate is the
value of one currency in terms of another. For example, a British person purchasing
goods from a U.S. company like CVS and paying in U.S. dollars must exchange British
pounds for U.S. dollars before making payment. In effect, currencies are goods that can
be bought and sold.

Exhibit 2 illustrates the exchange rates for several currencies in dollars. It shows
the exchange rate for British pounds as $1.59 per pound on a particular date. Like the
prices of many goods, currency prices change daily according to supply and demand. For
example, a year and a half earlier, the exchange rate for British pounds was $1.63.

Country Price in $U.S. Country Price in $U.S.
Australia (dollar) 1.07 Hong Kong (dollar) 0.13
Brazil (real) 0.58 Japan (yen) 0.012
Britain (pound) 1.59 Mexico (peso) 0.08
Canada (dollar) 1.00 Russia (ruble) 0.03
European Union (euro) 1.32 Singapore (dollar) 0.79

Source: The Wall Street Journal, February 18, 2012.

Separate Entity For accounting purposes, a business organization is a separate
entity, distinct not only from its creditors and customers but also from its owners. It
should have its own set of financial records, and its records and reports should refer only
to its own affairs.

For example, Just Because Flowers Company should have a bank account separate
from the account of Molly Dar, the owner. Molly Dar may own a home, a car, and other
property, and she may have personal debts; but these are not the resources or debts of
Just Because Flowers. Molly Dar may own another business, say a stationery shop. If she
does, she should have a completely separate set of records for each business.

Forms of Business Organization

The three basic forms of business organization recognized as separate entities are the
sole proprietorship, the partnership, and the corporation.

Sole Proprietorship A sole proprietorship is a business owned by one person.* The
owner takes all the profits or losses of the business and is liable for all its obligations. As
Exhibit 3 shows, sole proprietorships represent the largest number of businesses in the
United States, but typically they are the smallest in size.

Partnership A partnership is like a sole proprictorship in most ways, but it has two
or more owners. The partners share the profits and losses of the business according
to a prearranged formula. Generally, any partner can obligate the business to another
party, and the personal resources of each partner can be called on to pay the obligations.
A partnership must be dissolved if the ownership changes, as when a partner leaves or
dies. If the business is to continue as a partnership after this occurs, a new partnership
must be formed.

Corporation Both the sole proprictorship and the partnership are convenient ways
of separating the owners’ commercial activities from their personal activities. Legally,

*Accounting for a sole proprietorship is simpler than accounting for a partnership or corporation. For that
reason, we focus on the sole proprictorship in the carly part of this book. At critical points, however, we call
attention to the essential differences between accounting for a sole proprietorship and accounting for a part-
nership or corporation.
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Concepts Underlying Accounting Measurement 5

however, there is no economic separation between the own-
ers and the businesses. A corporation, on the other hand,
is a business unit chartered by the state and legally sepa-
rate from its owners (the stockholders). The stockholders,
whose ownership is represented by shares of stock, do not
directly control the corporation’s operations. Instead, they
elect a board of directors to run the corporation for their
benefit. In exchange for their limited involvement in the
corporation’s operations, stockholders enjoy limited liabil-
ity; that is, their risk of loss is limited to the amount they
paid for their shares. Thus, stockholders are often willing
to invest in risky, but potentially profitable, activities. Also,
because stockholders can sell their shares without dissolv-
ing the corporation, the life of a corporation is unlimited
and not subject to the whims or health of a proprietor or
Because this surf shop is a partner.

a partnership, the owners The characteristics of corporations make them very efficient in amassing capital,
share the profits and losses of which enables them to grow extremely large. As Exhibit 3 shows, even though
the business, and their personal corporations are fewer in number than sole proprietorships and partnerships, they
resources can be called on contribute much more to the U.S. economy in monetary terms. For example, in 2011,

to pay the obligatiol:s of the ExxonMobil generated more revenues than all but 28 of the world’s countries.?
usiness.

Exhibit 3
Number and Receipts (Revenues) of U.S.
Proprietorships, Partnerships, and Corporations

Number of Businesses

Proprietorships [ R —— 23122
Partnerships _ 3,096
Corporations - 2,358

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 Millions

Revenue

Proprietorships [ | $ 1324
Partnerships _ 4,243
Corporations TR 24,008

$0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000 18,000 20,000 22,000 24,000 26,000 Billions

Source: U.S. Treasury Department, Internal Revenue Service, Statistics of Income Bulletin, Winter 2012.

Business Perspective
Are Most Corporations Big or Small Businesses?

Most people think of corporations as large national or global companies whose shares of stock are held by thousands of people and institutions. Indeed,
corporations can be huge and have many stockholders. However, of the approximately 4 million corporations in the United States, only about 15,000
have stock that is publicly bought and sold. The vast majority of corporations are small businesses privately held by a few stockholders. lllinois alone has
more than 250,000 corporations. Thus, the study of corporations is just as relevant to small businesses as it is to large ones.
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Match each description with the appropriate term. (Hint: Terms may be used more than once.) SOLUTION
1. Owners have limited liability a. Business transactions 1.b; 2.3; 3.¢; 4.d; 5.c; 6.b; 7.f; 8.b
2. Requi h f value bet t ti b. C ti
equires an exchange of value between two or more parties orporation(s) TRY IT!SE1, SE2, E1A, E2A, E3A,
3. Owned by only one person ¢.  Money measure
4. Multiple co-owners d. Partnership El24; E1E;E28,E307E120
5. An amount associated with a business transaction e. Sole proprietorship
6. Management appointed by board of directors f.  Separate entity
7. Distinct from customers, lenders, and owners
8. Biggest segment of the economy

Exhibit 4
The Accounting Equation

Concepts Underlying Financial Position

Financial position refers to a company’s economic resources, such as cash, inventory,
and buildings, and the claims against those resources at a particular time. Another term
for claims is equities.

Every company has two types of equities: creditors’ equities, such as bank loans, and
owner’s equity. The sum of these equities equals a company’s resources:

Economic Resources = Creditors’ Equities + Owner’s Equity

In accounting terminology, economic resources are called assets and creditors’ equities
are called liabilities. So the equation can be written like this:

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity

This equation is known as the accounting equation (A =L + OE). The two sides of the equa-
tion must always be equal, or “in balance,” as shown in Exhibit 4. To evaluate the financial
effects of business activities, it is important to understand their effects on this equation.

O ) | ]
Assets Liabilities Owners’ Equity

A =L + OE

© Cengage Learning 2014

Assets

Assets are the economic resources that are expected to benefit the company’s future opera-
tions. Certain kinds of assets—for example, cash and money that customers owe to the com-
pany (called accounts receivable)—are monetary items. Other assets—inventories (goods
held for sale), land, buildings, and equipment—are nonmonetary, physical items. Still other
assets—the rights granted by patents, trademarks, and copyrights—are nonphysical.

L] ome o
Liabilities
Liabilities are a business’s present obligations to pay cash, transfer assets, or provide
services to other entities in the future. Among these obligations are amounts owed to
suppliers for goods or services bought on credit (called accounts payable), borrowed

money (e.g., money owed on bank loans), salaries and wages owed to employees, taxes
owed to the government, and services to be performed.
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Liabilities are claims recognized by law. That is, the law gives creditors the right to
force the sale of a company’s assets if the company fails to pay its debts. Creditors have
rights over owners and must be paid before the owners receive anything, even if the
payment of debt uses up all the assets.

Owner’s Equity

Owner’s equity represents the claims by the owner of a business to the assets of the busi-
ness. Theoretically, owner’s equity is what would be left if all liabilities were paid, and it
is sometimes said to equal net assets. By rearranging the accounting equation, we can
define owner’s equity this way:

Owner's Equity = Assets — Liabilities

Owner’s equity is affected by the owner’s investments in and withdrawals from the
business and by the business’s revenues and expenses.

Owner’s investments are assets that the owner puts into the business (e.g., by trans-
ferring cash from a personal bank account to the business’s bank account). In this
case, the assets (cash) of the business increase, and the owner’s equity in those assets
also increases.

Withdrawals are assets that the owner takes out of the business (e.g., by transferring
cash from the business’s bank account to a personal bank account). In this case, the
assets of the business decrease, as does the owner’s equity in the business.

Simply stated, revenues and expenses are the increases and decreases in owner’s
equity that result from operating a business.

A For example, the amounts customers pay (or agree to pay in the future) to Keep-
Fit Center for its exercise service are revenues for Keep-Fit. Keep-Fit’s assets
(cash or accounts receivable) increase, as does its owner’s equity in those assets.

V¥ On the other hand, the amount Keep-Fit must pay out (or agree to pay out) for
rent and wages to instructors so that it can provide its service are expenses. In this
case, the assets (cash) decrease or the liabilities (accounts payable) increase, and
the owner’s equity decreases.

Generally, a company is successful if its revenues exceed its expenses.

A When revenues exceed expenses, the difference is called net income.
V¥ When expenses exceed revenues, the difference is called net loss.

In summary, owner’s equity is the accumulated net income (revenues — expenses) minus
withdrawals over the life of the business.

Stevenson Company had assets of $140,000 and liabilities of $60,000 at the SOLUTION
beginning of the year, and assets of $200,000 and liabilities of $70,000 at

the end of the year. During the year, $20,000 was invested in the business, i lingetine = Sl

and withdrawals of $24,000 were made. What amount of net income did the Start by finding the owner’s equity at the beginning of the year:
company earn during the year? $140,000 — $60,000 = $80,000
Then find the owner’s equity at the end of the year: $200,000 — $70,000

Beginning of the year
Assets = Liabilities +  Owner’s Equity
$140,000 $60,000 + $ 80,000
During the year

=$130,000

Then determine net income by calculating how the transactions dur-
ing the year led to the owner’s equity amount at the end of the year:
$80,000 + $20,000 — $24,000 + net income = $130,000; net income =

Investment 1F 20,000
Withdrawals — — 24,000 $54,000
zelligein @ TRY IT! SE3, SE4, SE5, SE6, E4A, ESA, E4B, E5B

End of year
$200,000 =  $70,000 + $130,000
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SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

M Describe the income
statement

M Describe the statement of

owner’s equity
Describe the balance
sheet

Describe the statement of

cash flows

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

L0 3 Identify the four basic
financial statements
and their interrelationships.

I_04 Explain how generally
accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) and
international financial
reporting standards (IFRS)
relate to financial statements
and the independent CPA’s
report, and identify the

organizations that influence
GAAP.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

Financial Statements

Financial statements are the primary means of communicating accounting information
about a business to those who have an interest in the business. These statements model
the business enterprise in financial terms. As is true of all models, however, financial
statements are not perfect pictures of the real thing. Four major financial statements are
used to communicate accounting information: the income statement, the statement of
owner’s equity, the balance sheet, and the statement of cash flows. Exhibit 5 presents an
overview of these four financial statements and their interrelationships. The following
sections examine them in more detail.

Income Statement

The income statement summarizes the revenues earned and expenses incurred by a
business over an accounting period. Many people consider it the most important finan-
cial report because it shows whether a business achieved its profitability goal—that is,
whether it earned an acceptable income. Exhibit 6 shows that Roland Consultancy had
revenues of $14,000. From this amount, total expenses of $5,600 were deducted to
arrive at net income of $8,400. To show the period to which the statement applies, it
is dated “For the Month Ended December 31, 2014.”

Statement of Owner’s Equity

The statement of owner’s equity shows the changes in owner’s equity over an account-
ing period. In Exhibit 7, beginning owner’s equity is zero because Roland Consultancy
began operations in this period. During the month, the owner, Tom Roland, invested
$200,000 in the business, and the company earned an income (as shown on the income
statement) of $8,400. Withdrawals of $2,400 by the owner are deducted from this
amount, leaving an ending balance of $206,000.

Balance Sheet

The purpose of a balance sheet is to show the financial position of a business on a
certain date, usually the end of the month or year. For this reason, it often is called the
statement of financinl position. It’s important to note that the date on the balance sheet
is a single date, whereas the dates on the other three statements cover a period of time,
such as a month, quarter, or year. The balance sheet presents a view of the business as
the holder of resources, or assets, that are equal to the claims against those assets. The
claims consist of the company’s liabilities and the owner’s equity. Exhibit 8 shows that
Roland Consultancy has several categories of assets, which total $208,400. These assets
cqual the total liabilities of $2,400 plus the owner’s equity of $206,000. Notice that the
amount of the owner’s capital account on the balance sheet comes from the ending bal-
ance on the statement of owner’s equity.
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Financial Statements

Financial Statement Relationships

(Exhibit 5

© Cengage Learning 2014

Exhibit 6

Income Statement for Roland Consultancy

Roland Consultancy Income Statement

For the Month Ended December 31, 2014

Revenues:
Consulting fees earned $14,000
Expenses:
Equipment rental expense $2,800
Wages expense 1,600
Utilities expense 1,200
Total expenses 5,600
Net income $ 8,400
Exhibit 7
Statement of Owner’s Equity Roland Consultancy
for Roland Consultancy Statement of Owner’s Equity
For the Month Ended December 31, 2014
T. Roland, capital, December 1, 2014 $ 0
Investment by T. Roland 200,000
Net income for the month 8,400
Subtotal $208,400
Less withdrawals 2,400
T. Roland, capital, December 31, 2014 $206,000
Exhibit 8
Balance Sheet for Roland Consultancy
Roland Consultancy Balance Sheet
December 31,2014
Assets Liabilities
Cash $ 62,400 Accounts payable $ 2,400
Accounts receivable 4,000 Total liabilities $ 2,400
Supplies 2,000
Land 40,000 Owner’s Equity
Buildings 100,000 T. Roland, capital 206,000
Total assets $208,400 Total liabilities and owner’s equity  $208,400

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



10

=D

STUDY NOTE: The statement of cash
flows explains the change in cash in
terms of operating, investing, and
financing activities over an accounting
period. This information cannot be
determined in examination of the other
financial statements.

Exhibit 9
Statement of Cash Flows
for Roland Consultancy

Statement of Cash Flows

Whereas the income statement focuses on a company’s profitability, the statement of
cash flows focuses on liquidity, that is, balancing the inflows and outflows of cash to
enable it to operate and pay its bills when they are due. Cash flows are the inflows and
outflows of cash into and out of a business. Net cash flows are the difference between
the inflows and outflows.

As you can see in Exhibit 9, the statement of cash flows is organized according to
three major business activities.

Cash flows from operating activities: The first section of Exhibit 9 shows the
cash produced by business operations. Roland’s operating activities produced net
cash flows of $4,800 (liquidity) compared to net income of $8,400 (profitability).
The company used cash to increase accounts receivable and supplies. However, by
borrowing funds, it increased accounts payable. This is not a good trend, which
Roland should try to reverse in future months.

Cash flows from investing activities: Roland used cash to expand by purchasing
land and a building.

Cash flows from financing activities: Roland obtained most of'its cash from the
owner, who then made a small cash withdrawal.

Overall, Roland had a net increase in cash of $62,400, due in large part to the
investment by the owner. In future months, Roland must generate more cash through
operations.

Roland Consultancy
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended December 31, 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 8,400

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from
operating activities:

(Increase) in accounts receivable S (4,000)

(Increase) in supplies (2,000)

Increase in accounts payable 2,400 (3,600)

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 4,800
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of land $ (40,000)

Purchase of building (100,000)

Net cash flows used by investing activities (140,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Investments by owner $ 200,000

Withdrawals (2,400)

Net cash flows from financing activities 197,600
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 62,400
Cash at beginning of month 0
Cash at end of month $ 62,400

Note: Parentheses indicate a cash outflow.
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The statement of cash flows is related directly to the other three financial state-
ments. Notice that net income comes from the income statement and that withdrawals
come from the statement of owner’s equity. The other items in the statement represent
changes in the balance sheet accounts: accounts receivable, supplies, accounts payable,
land, and buildings.

Relationships Among the Financial Statements

STUDY NOTE: Notice the sequence in Exhibit 10 illustrates the relationships among the four financial statements for Roland
Qieitnese statements are prepared: Consultancy. Notice the similarity of the headings at the top of each statement. Each
Q< (aiement, statement of owner's identifies the company and the kind of statement. The income statement, the statement
equity, balance sheet, and finally, the £ 5 . d tl £ cash fl indi h iod hich th

It o Csh flows, of owner’s equity, and the statement of cash flows indicate the period to which they

apply; the balance sheet gives the specific date to which it applies.

Exhibit 10
Income Statement, Statement of Owner’s Equity, Balance
Sheet, and Statement of Cash Flows for Roland Consultancy

Roland Consultancy Roland Consultancy
Statement of Cash Flows Income Statement
For the Month Ended December 31, 2014 For the Month Ended December 31, 2014
Cash flows from operating activities: Revenues:

Net income $ 8,400 <«— Consulting fees $14,000
Adjustments to reconcile net income Exzensgs. — $2.800

to net cash flows from operating I RIIEIIC I HEXPET 5C '

activities: szlgc.es expense 1,600

(Increase) in accounts receivable S (4,000) Utilities expense 1,200

. . Total expenses 5,600
(Increase) in supplies (2,000) L > Net income $ 8400
Increase in accounts payable 2,400 (3,600)

Roland Consultancy
Statement of Owner’s Equity
For the Month Ended December 31, 2014

Net cash flows from operating $ 4,800
activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

T. Roland, capital, December 1, 2014 S 0
Purchase of land $ (40,000 Investment by T. Roland 200,000
Purchase of building (100,000) > Net income for the month 8,400
Net cash flows used by investing (140,000) Subtotal $208,400
activities Less withdrawals 2,400
Cash flows from financing activities: T.Roland, capital, December 31, 2014 $206,000 -
Investments by owner $ 200,000 Roland Consultancy
Withdrawals (2,400) Balance Sheet
Net cash flows from financing 197,600 Dt S
activities Assets Liabilities
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 62,400 Caalh $ 62,400 Accounts payable $ 2,400
Cash at beginning of month 0 | Accounts receivable 4,000 Total liabilities S 2,400
g Cashatend of month $ 62,400 Supplies 2,000
g Land 40,000 Owner’s Equity
3 Buildings 100,000 T.Roland, capital 206,000
S Total liabilities and
§ Total assets $208,400 owner’s equity  $208,400
°
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____APPLY IT! 2

Complete the following financial statements by determining the SOLUTION

amounts that correspond to the letters. (Assume no new invest-

ments by owners.)

Income Statement
Revenues
Expenses
Net income

Statement of Owner’s Equity
Beginning balance
Net income
Less withdrawals
Ending balance

Balance Sheet
Total assets
Total liabilities
Owner’s equity
Total liabilities and owner’s equity

Exhibit 11
Large International Certified
Public Accounting Firms

Net income links the income statement and the statement of owner’s equity. The
ending balance of owner’s equity links the statement of owner’s equity and the
balance sheet.

22,775 Thus, start with (c), which must equal $750 ($7,250 + $750 — $500 = $7,500).
_ @ Then, (b) equals (c), or $750. Thus, (a) must equal $2,025 ($2,775 — $2,025 = $750).
5 b Because (e) equals $7,500 (ending balance from the statement of owner’s equity),

(f) must equal $11,500 (54,000 + $7,500 = $11,500). Finally, (d) must equal (f), or
$7,250 $11,500.

TRY IT! SE7, SES8, E6A, E7A, E8A, E9A, E10A, E11A, E6B, E7B, E8B, E9B,
E10B,E11B

Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles

To ensure that financial statements are understandable to their users, a set of generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) has been developed to provide guidelines for
financial accounting. “Generally accepted accounting principles encompass the conven-
tions, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particu-
lar time.”* In other words, GAAP arises from wide agreement on the theory and practice
of'accounting at a particular time. These “principles” evolve to meet the needs of decision
makers, and they change as circumstances change or as better methods are developed.

In this book, we present accounting practice, or GAAP, as it is today, and we try to
explain the reasons or theory on which the practice is based. Accounting is a discipline
that is always growing, changing, and improving. However, it may take years for new
accounting discoveries to be implemented. As a result, you may encounter practices that
seem contradictory. In some cases, we point out new directions in accounting.

GAAP and the Independent CPA’s Report

Many companies of all sizes have their financial statements audited by an independent
certified public accountant (CPA). Independent means that the CPA is not an employee
of the company being audited and has no financial or other compromising ties to it.
CPAs are licensed by all states to protect the public by ensuring the quality of profes-
sional service. The firms listed in Exhibit 11 employ about 25 percent of all CPAs.

Firm Home Office Some Major Clients

Deloitte & Touche New York General Motors, Procter & Gamble
Ernst & Young New York Coca-Cola, McDonald'’s

KPMG New York General Electric, Xerox
PricewaterhouseCoopers New York ExxonMobil, IBM, Ford

An audit is an examination of a company’s financial statements and the account-
ing systems, controls, and records that produced them. The purpose of the audit is to
ascertain that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
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accepted accounting principles. If the independent CPA is satisfied that this standard has
been met, his or her report contains the following language:

In our opinion, the financial statements . . . present fuirly, in all material vespects . . .
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles . . .

This wording emphasizes that accounting and auditing are not exact sciences. The auditor
can render only an opinion about whether the financial statements present fairly or con-
form in all material vespects to GAAP. The auditor’s report does not preclude minor or
immaterial errors in the financial statements. However, a favorable report from the audi-
tor does imply that, on the whole, investors and creditors can rely on the financial state-
ments. In other words, the audit lends credibility to a set of financial statements. Auditors
offer opinions, based on testing, about the fairness of the presentation of a company’s
financial information, but they cannot attest to the absolute accuracy of such information.

Historically, auditors have enjoyed a strong reputation for competence and indepen-
dence. The independent audit has been an important factor in the worldwide growth of
financial markets.

Organizations That Issue Accounting Standards

Two organizations issue accounting standards that are used in the United States: the
FASB and the TASB.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has been designated by the Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue Statements of Financial Account-
ing Standards. The FASB organizes these statements including any amendments,
interpretations, or other references to them into a topical U.S. GAAP compendium
called an American Standard Codification (ASC). This codification, which is avail-
able through the FASB website, makes it easy to find all references to a particular
topic, such as revenues, in one place.

C) The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which issucs international
financial reporting standards (IFRS), is becoming increasingly important because
of the acceptance of its standards in many financial markets throughout the world.
The SEC now allows foreign companies to use these standards in the United States
rather than having to convert their statements to U.S. GAAP. The SEC is also pres-
ently considering allowing U.S. public companies to use IFRS.

Other Organizations That Influence GAAP

Many other organizations directly or indirectly influence GAAP:

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), a governmental body cre-
ated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, has wide powers to determine the standards that auditors
must follow. The PCAOB regulates audits of public companies registered with the SEC.
The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), a professional
association, influences accounting practice through the activities of its senior
technical committees. In addition to endorsing standards issued by the FASB, the
AICPA has determined that standards issued by the IASB are also of high quality

International Perspective
CD The Arrival of International Financial Reporting Standards in the United States

Over the next few years, international financial reporting standards (IFRS) will become much more important in the United States and glob-
ally. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has been working with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and simi-
lar boards in other nations to achieve identical or nearly identical standards worldwide under what is called the convergence project. IFRS
are now required in many parts of the world, including Europe, Canada, and parts of Asia. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) allows
foreign registrants in the United States to use IFRS. This is a major development because in the past, the SEC required foreign registrants to
explain how the standards used in their statements differed from U.S. standards. This change affects approximately 10 percent of all public
U.S. companies. In addition, the SEC may in the near future allow U.S. companies to use IFRS.?

© loops7 / iStockphoto.com
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and are thus acceptable for use in the United States.* The AICPA is the primary
professional organization of certified public accountants.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), a governmental agency, has the
legal power to set and enforce accounting practices for companies whose securities are
oftfered for sale to the general public.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), a separate but related
body to the FASB, issues accounting standards for state and local governments.
The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) interprets and enforces the tax laws that specify
the rules for determining taxable income. In some cases, the rules conflict with
good accounting practice, but they are nonetheless important.

Professional Conduct

The code of professional ethics of the American Institute of Certified Public Accoun-
tants (and adopted, with variations, by each state) governs the conduct of CPAs. Fun-
damental to this code is the responsibility of CPAs to clients, creditors, investors, and
anyone else who relies on their work. The code requires CPAs to act with:

Integrity: Be honest and candid and subordinate personal gain to service and the
public trust.

Objectivity: Be impartial and intellectually honest.

Independence: Avoid all relationships that impair or appear to impair objectivity.

Research shows that these are the attributes that business decision makers and the
investing public most closely associate with CPAs.® The accountant must also exercise
due care in all activities, carrying out professional responsibilities with competence and
diligence. For example, an accountant must not accept a job for which he or she is
not qualified, even at the risk of losing a client to another firm, and careless work is
unacceptable. These broad principles are supported by more specific rules that public
accountants must follow. For instance, with certain exceptions, client information must
be kept strictly confidential. Accountants who violate the rules can be disciplined or even
suspended from practice.

The Institute of Management Accountants (IMA), the primary professional
association of managerial accountants, also has a code of professional conduct. It empha-
sizes that managerial accountants have a responsibility:

To be competent in their jobs

To keep information confidential except when authorized or legally required to disclose it
To maintain integrity and avoid conflicts of interest

To communicate information objectively and without bias”

Match the common acronym with its description. SOLUTION

1. GAAP a. Sets U.S. accounting standards l.e; 2.f; 3.b; 4.a; 5d; 6.c;c 7.g; 8.h
2. IFRS b. Audits financial statements

3. CPA ¢. Established by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act TRY IT!E13A, E14A, E13B, E14B

4. FASB d. Sets international accounting standards

5. IASB e. Established by the FASB

6. PCAOB f. Established by the IASB

7. AICPA g. Influences accounting standards through member CPAs

8. SEC h. Receives audited financial statements of public companies

*Established in January 2007, the Private Company Financial Reporting Committee of the AICPA is charged

with amending FASB accounting standards so that they better suit the needs of private companies, especially
as they relate to the cost or benefit of implementing certain standards. A Blue-Ribbon Committee established
by the FASB, AICPA, and other organizations is currently studying this issue. Its recommendations could
ultimately result in two sets of standards, one for private companies and one for public companies.
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SECTION 3 BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

B Profitability Decision Makers: The Users of

B Liquidit o o
e Accounting Information

As shown in Exhibit 12, the people who use accounting information to make decisions
RELEVANT fall into three categories: managers (internal users of accounting information), outsiders
LEARNING OBJECTIVES who have a direct financial interest in the business, and outsiders who have an indirect
financial interest. These categories apply to governmental and not-for-profit organiza-
tions as well as to profit-oriented ventures.

L0 5 Identify the users of
accounting information

and identify business goals,

activities, and performance

Exhibit 12
The Users of Accounting Information

measures.
06 Explain the importance Dol
of ethics in financial
reporting.
Management Those With Direct Those With Indirect
z| Finance Financial Interest Financial Interest
S | Investment Tax Authorities
g Operations and Production I(?r\ézsi:g:z Regulatory Agencies
§ Marketing Labor Unions
g | Human Resources Customers
) Information Systems Economic Planners
8| Accounting
o)
Management

Management is responsible for ensuring that a company meets its goals of profitabil-
ity and liquidity. All companies pursue these goals by engaging in operating, investing,
and financing activities. Making decisions about these activities is the basic function of
managers; and to make good decisions, they must have timely and valid accounting
information.

To make good decisions, Jenny Mullin at Keep-Fit Center and other owners and
managers need answers to such questions as:

What were the company’s earnings during the past quarter?
Is the rate of return to the owners adequate?

Does the company have enough cash?

Which products or services are most profitable?

Users with a Direct Financial Interest

Most companies periodically publish financial statements that report their success in
mecting the goals of profitability and liquidity. These statements, discussed earlier, show
what has happened in the past and are important indicators of what will happen in the
future. Many people outside a company, particularly investors and creditors and poten-
tial investors and creditors, study these statements carefully.

Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
essed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




16

STUDY NOTE: The primary external
users of accounting information are
investors and creditors.

Investors Investors, like Jenny Mullin, owner of the Keep-Fit Center, and the stock-
holders who have invested in CVS, have a direct financial interest in the success of their
companies. They depend on financial statements to evaluate how their businesses have
performed. A thorough study of a company’s financial statements helps potential inves-
tors judge the prospects for a profitable investment.

Creditors Creditors, thosc who lend money or deliver goods and services before
being paid, are interested mainly in whether a company will have the cash to pay inter-
est charges and to repay the debt on time. They study a company’s cash flow to deter-
mine its liquidity; they also look at its profitability. Banks, finance companies, mortgage
companies, securities firms, insurance firms, suppliers, and other lenders must analyze a
company’s financial position before they make a loan.

Users with an Indirect Financial Interest

In recent years, governmental and public groups have become one of the largest and
most important users of accounting information. These groups include tax authorities
and regulatory agencies.

Tax Authorities Government at every level is financed through the collection of
taxes. Companies and individuals pay many kinds of taxes, including federal, state, and
city income taxes; Social Security and other payroll taxes; excise taxes; and sales taxes.
Proper reporting is generally a matter of law and can be very complicated.

Regulatory Agencies Most companies must report periodically to one or more regu-
latory agencies at the federal, state, and local levels. For example, all publicly traded cor-
porations must report periodically to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
This body, set up by Congress to protect the public, regulates the issuing, buying, and
selling of stocks in the United States.

Other Groups Other groups with an indirect financial interest in accounting informa-
tion include the following;:

Labor unions: As they prepare for contract negotiations with a company, labor
unions study the company’s financial statements. A company’s income and expenses
often play an important role in these negotiations.

Advisors of investors and creditors: Financial analysts, brokers, underwriters,
lawyers, economists, and the financial press all have an indirect interest in the finan-
cial performance and prospects of a business.

Consumer groups, customers, and the general public: The public has become
more concerned about financing and earnings as well as about the effects that corpo-
rations have on inflation, the environment, social issues, and the quality of life.
Economic planners: The President’s Council of Economic Advisers and the Fed-
eral Reserve Board use aggregated accounting information to set and evaluate eco-
nomic policies and programs.

Governmental and Not-for-Profit
Organizations

More than 30 percent of the U.S. economy is generated by governmental and not-for-
profit organizations (hospitals, universities, professional organizations, and charities).
The managers of these diverse entities need accounting information and knowledge of
how to use it. Their functions include raising funds from investors (including owners),
creditors, taxpayers, and donors and deploying scarce resources. They must also plan
how to pay for operations and to repay creditors on a timely basis. In addition, they have
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an obligation to report their financial performance to legislators, boards, and donors, as
well as to deal with tax authorities, regulators, and labor unions. Although most of the
examples in this text focus on business enterprises, the same basic principles apply to
governmental and not-for-profit organizations.

CZD Business Goals and Activities

A business is an economic unit that aims to sell goods and services at prices that will
provide an adequate return to its owners. The list that follows contains the names of
some well-known businesses and the principal goods or services that they sell. These
businesses have similar goals and engage in similar activities, as shown in Exhibit 13.

Wal-Mart Corp. Comprehensive discount goods
Reebok International Ltd. Athletic footwear and clothing
Best Buy Co. Consumer electronics, personal computers
Wendy'’s International Inc. Food service
Starbucks Corp. Coftee and related service
Southwest Airlines Co. Passenger airline service
Exhibit 13 Business Goals Business Activities
Business Goals and
Activities

FIRST BANK
LUEIA

Financing

A 4

TITLE
DEED

A

Liquidity

Investing

© Cengage Learning 2014

The two major goals of all businesses are profitability and liquidity.

Profitability is the ability to earn enough income to attract and hold investment capital.
Liquidity is the ability to have enough cash to pay debts when they are due.

To succeed and even survive, a company must meet both goals. For example, Toyota
may sell many cars at a price that earns a profit, but if its customers do not pay quickly
enough to enable Toyota to pay its suppliers and employees, the company may not meet
the goal of liquidity, which could force it into bankruptcy.

All businesses, including Jenny Mullin’s Keep-Fit Center, pursue their goals by
engaging in operating, investing, and financing activities.

Operating activities include buying, producing, and selling goods and services; hir-
ing managers and other employees; and paying taxes.

Investing activities involve spending a company’s capital in ways that will help it
achieve its goals. They include buying resources for operating the business, such as land,
buildings, and equipment, and selling those resources when they are no longer needed.
Financing activities involve obtaining adequate funds to begin operating the busi-
ness and to continue operating it. They include obtaining capital from creditors,
such as banks and suppliers, and from the company’s owners. They also include
repaying creditors and paying a return to the owners.
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. Business Perspective
What Does CVS Have to Say About Itself?

CVS, a major drug store chain, describes the company’s progress in meeting its
major business objectives as follows:

Operating:
Sells Products and
Services Through

Financing:
Obtains Funds from

o Liquidity: “We generated $4.6 billion in free cash for the year, exceeding our

goal, and returned more than $3.5 billion to our shareholders in the form of :g‘a":lf:‘;:d More Than 6,000
dividends and share repurchases.” Other Creditors Drugstores and

Pharmacies

« Profitability: “2011 was a year of great accomplishment for CVS Caremark.
We executed successfully on a number of key initiatives across the Company
and reported solid financial results, delivering on our promises. Our retail
business continued to post strong top- and bottom-line results, and our
PBM enjoyed strong revenue growth, another very successful selling season,
and great progress on several important initiatives.”

Investing:

Invests Funds in

— Furniture, Fixtures,
and Equipment

—Improvements
to Buildings

— Computer

Equipment

CVS's main business activities are shown at the right.

Financial Analysis

( 4__-) Financial analysis is the use of financial statements to determine that a business is well
managed and is achieving its goals. The effectiveness of financial analysis depends on the
use of relevant performance measures and financial ratios.

To be relevant, performance measures must be well aligned with the two major
goals of business—profitability and liquidity. Profitability is commonly measured in net
income, and cash flows are a common measure of liquidity. For example, in 2011, CVS
had net income of $3,457 million and cash flows from operating activities of $5,856
million. These figures indicate that CVS was both profitable and liquid. In 2008, how-
ever, General Motors curtailed spending on new auto and truck models because its
earnings were negative and, even worse, its cash flows were negative. Its cash flow prob-
lem led to its bankruptcy and a government bailout in 2009. Clearly, General Motors
was not meeting either its profitability or liquidity goals.

Financial ratios show how the elements of financial statements relate to each other.
They allow for comparisons from one period to another and from one company to another.
For example, to assess Keep-Fit Center’s profitability, it would be helpful to consider the
ratio of its earnings to total assets, and for liquidity, the ratio of its cash flows to total assets.

Match the terms that follow with the definitions or the type of user of accounting information. SOLUTION

(Hint: Some answers may be used more than once.) Lg 2.4 3.c 4b 5f 6b 7.2 8.f
1. Managerial accounting a. Abusiness goal 9.¢; 10.a; 11.¢; 12.b

2. N.lanag.ement . b. E.ngag(.ed !n by all t.)usmesses TRY IT! SE9, E12A, E13A, E12B, E13B
3. Financial accounting ¢. Financial information developed for external users

4. Investing activities d. Internal user

5. Regulatory agencies e. Direct external user

6. Financing activities f. Indirect external user

7. Profitability g. Accounting information used by management

8. Taxauthorities

9. Investors

10. Liquidity

11. Creditors

12. Operating activities
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@ Ethical Financial Reporting

Ethics is a code of conduct that applies to everyday life. It addresses the question of
whether actions are right or wrong. Actions—whether ethical or unethical, right or
wrong—are the product of individual decisions. Thus, when an organization uses false
advertising, cheats customers, pollutes the environment, or treats employees unfairly, the
management and other employees have made a conscious decision to act in this manner.

Ethics is especially important in preparing financial reports because users of these
reports must depend on the good faith of the people involved in their preparation. Users
have no other assurance that the reports are accurate and fully disclose all relevant facts.

The intentional preparation of misleading financial statements is called fraudulent
financial reporting.® It can result from:

Distortion of records (e.g., the manipulation of inventory records)
Falsified transactions (e.g., fictitious sales)
Misapplication of various accounting principles

There are a number of motives for fraudulent reporting—for instance, to cover up
financial weakness to obtain a higher price when a company is sold; to meet the expec-
tations of investors, owners, and financial analysts; or to obtain a loan. The incentive
can also be personal gain, such as additional compensation, promotion, or avoidance of
penalties for poor performance.

Whatever the motive for fraudulent financial reporting, it can have dire conse-
quences, as the accounting scandals at Enron Corporation and WorldCom in 2001 and
2002, respectively, attest. Unethical financial reporting and accounting practices at those
two major corporations caused thousands of people to lose their jobs, their investment
incomes, and their pensions. They also resulted in prison sentences and fines for the
corporate executives who were involved.

In response to these scandals, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 regulates financial
reporting of public companies and their auditors. This legislation requires chief execu-
tives and chief financial officers of all publicly traded U.S. companies to swear that,
based on their knowledge, their quarterly statements and annual reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are accurate and complete. Violation can
result in criminal penalties.

Management expresses its duty to ensure that financial reports are not false or mis-
leading in the management report that appears in the company’s annual report. For
example, in its management report, Target Corporation makes the following statement:

Management is vesponsible for the consistency, integrity, and presentation of the
information in the Annual Report.’’

However, it is accountants, not management, who physically prepare and audit
financial reports. They must apply accounting concepts in such a way as to present a fair
view of a company’s operations and financial position and to avoid misleading the read-
ers of their reports. Accountants have a responsibility—not only to the profession but
also to employers, clients, and society as a whole—to ensure that their reports provide
accurate, reliable information. The historically high regard for the accounting profession
is evidence that most accountants have upheld the ethics of the profession.

Match each definition with the appropriate terms that follow.

SOLUTION
1. The intentional preparation of misleading financial statements. a. Ethics
2. A code of conduct that applies to everyday life. b. Fraudulent financial reporting 1.b; 2.3 3.d; 4.c
3. Regulates financial reporting of public companies and their auditors. ¢. Management TRY IT! SE10,
4. Has a duty to ensure that financial reports are not false or misleading. d. Sarbanes-Oxley Act E15A, E15B
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TriLevel Problem

Keep-Fit Center

SOLUTION

Andresr/Shutterstock.com

The beginning of this chapter focused on Keep-Fit Center. The owner, Jenny Mullin, was
considering expanding the business. Complete the following requirements in order to
answer the questions posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Section 1: Concepts
What is accounting and what are the concepts that underlie it?

Section 2: Accounting Applications
What are three financial statements that Keep-Fit Center will need to present in a way that is
useful to Mullin and to the bank?

To answer this question, use the financial statement items and amounts listed below
from the records of Keep-Fit Center for the year ended April 30, 2014, the company’s first
year of operations, and prepare the following:

« income statement
« statement of owner’s equity
« balance sheet

For examples of the statements, refer to Exhibit 10.

Accounts payable $ 19,000
Accounts receivable 104,000
Cash 111,000
Equipment 47,000
Fees revenue 375,000
Investment by J. Mullin 100,000
Marketing expense 18,000
Salaries expense 172,000
Salaries payable 78,000
Rent expense 91,000
Supplies 2,000
Supplies expense 6,000
Utilities expense 11,000
Withdrawals 10,000

Section 3: Business Applications

How do these financial statements help Jenny Mullin, as owner of Keep-Fit Center, measure
progress toward the company’s two main financial goals of profitability and liquidity? What
additional financial statement information would be useful?

Section 1: Concepts

Accounting is an information system that measures, processes, and communicates finan-
cial information about a business useful to internal and external decision makers. Account-
ing achieves its objectives by measuring the effects of business transactions on specific
business entities in terms of money. It summarizes the results in financial statements based
on the equation: Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity (A =L + OE).
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Section 2: Accounting Applications
Jenny Mullin needs to provide the bank with an income statement, statement of owner’s
equity, and balance sheet for Keep-Fit Center.

Al B ] © | D | E
1 Keep-Fit Center
2 Income Statement
3 For the Year Ended April 30, 2014
4 | Revenues:
5 Fees revenues $375,000
6
7 | Expenses:
8 Marketing expense $ 18,000
9 Rent expense 91,000
10 Salaries expense 172,000
11 Supplies expense 6,000
12 Utilities expense 11,000
13| Total expenses 298,000
14| Net income $ 77,000
15
AlB] C |l b | E
1 Keep-Fit Center
2 Statement of Owner’s Equity
3 For the Year Ended April 30, 2014
4 | J. Mullin, capital, May 1, 2013 $ —
5 | Investment by J. Mullin 100,000
6 | Net income for the year 77,000
7 | Subtotal $177,000
8 | Less withdrawals 10,000
9 | J. Mullin, capital, April 30, 2014 $167,000
10
A | B | C | D | E
1 Keep-Fit Center
2 Balance Sheet
3 April 30, 2014
4 Assets Liabilities
5 | Cash $111,000 Accounts payable $19,000
6 | Accounts receivable 104,000 Salaries payable 78,000
7 | Supplies 2,000 | Total liabilities $ 97,000
8 | Equipment 47,000
9 Owner’s Equity
10 — J. Mullin, capital | 167,000
11| Total assets $264,000 Total liabilities and owner’s equity $264,000
12 |
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Chapter Review

Define accounting,
and explain the

concepts underlying

accounting measurement.

D.e.flne financial Lo 2
position, and state
the accounting equation.

Identify the four basic
financial statements

and their interrelationships.

Explain how generally
accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) and international

financial reporting standards
(IFRS) relate to financial
statements and the independent
CPA's report, and identify the
organizations that influence GAAP.

Chapter 1: Accounting Principles and the Financial Statements

Section 3: Business Applications

The income statement shows that Keep-Fit Center earned $77,000 after expenses were
deducted from fees revenue. Further, it may be observed that this $77,000 of net income is
very good when compared to total assets of $264,000 and owner’s equity on the balance
sheet. Thus, it can be concluded that Keep-Fit Center is profitable. It would be useful to see
Keep-Fit Center’s statement of cash flows to better evaluate its liquidity.

Accounting is an information system that measures, processes, and communicates finan-
cial information about a business. It provides the information necessary to make choices
among alternative uses of scarce resources in the conduct of business and economic
activities.

Managerial accounting focuses on the preparation of information primarily for inter-
nal use by management. Financial accounting is concerned with the development and
use of reports that are communicated to those outside the business as well as to man-
agement.

The accountant must determine what is measured, when the measurement should
be made, what value should be placed on what is measured, and how to classify what
is measured. The objects of accounting measurement are business transactions. Finan-
cial accounting uses a money measure to gauge the impact of these transactions on a
business entity.

The three basic forms of business organization are the sole proprietorship, the
partnership, and the corporation. A sole proprietorship is a business owned by one
person. A partnership is like a sole proprietorship in most ways, but it has two or more
owners. A corporation is a business unit chartered by the state and legally separate from
its owners (the stockholders).

Financial position refers to a company’s economic resources and the claims against
those resources at a particular time. The accounting equation shows financial position
as Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity. Business transactions affect financial position
by decreasing or increasing assets, liabilities, and owner’s equity in such a way that the
accounting equation is always in balance.

The four basic financial statements are the income statement, the statement of owner’s
equity, the balance sheet, and the statement of cash flows. They are the primary means
by which accountants communicate the financial condition and activities of a business
to those who have an interest in the business.

Acceptable accounting practice consists of the conventions, rules, and procedures that
make up generally accepted accounting principles. GAADP are essential to the prepara-
tion and interpretation of financial statements and the independent CPA’s report. For-
eign companies registered in the United States may use international financial report-
ing standards (IFRS).

Among the organizations that influence the formulation of GAAP are the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, and the Internal Revenue Service.
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Identify the users of R 5
accounting information, and
identify business goals, activities,
and performance measures.

Explain the importance of
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All accountants are required to follow a code of professional ethics. Accountants
must act with integrity, objectivity, and independence, and exercise due care in all their
activities.

The board of directors is responsible for the overall direction of the corporation for
the benefit of the stockholders.

Accounting provides information to managers of all institutions and to individuals
with a direct financial interest in those institutions, including present or potential
investors and creditors. Accounting information is also important to those with an
indirect financial interest in the business—tax authorities, regulatory agencies, and
economic planners.

A business is an economic entity that engages in operating, investing, and financing
activities to achieve goals of profitability and liquidity.

Ethical financial reporting is important to the well-being of a company. Fraudulent

ethics in financial reporting.

accounting 2 (LOI)

accounting equation
(A=L+OE) 6 (LO2)

American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) 13 (LO4)

assets 6 (LO2)

audit 12 (LO4)

balance sheet 8 (LO3)

bookkeeping 3 (LO1)

business 17 (LO5)

business transactions 3 (LO1)

cash flows 10 (LO3)

certified public accountant
(CPA) 12 (LO4)

corporation 5 (LOI)

creditors 16 (LO5)

due care 14 (LO4)

economic entity 2 (LOI)

ethics 19 (LOO)

exchangerate 4 (LO1)

expenses 7 (LO2)

financial accounting 2 (L.O1)

Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) 13 (LO4)

financial analysis 18 (LO5)

financial position 6 (1.LO2)

financial ratios 18 (LO5)

financial statements 2 (LO1)
financing activities 17 (LO5)
fraudulent financial
reporting 19 (LOO6)
generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) 12 (LO4)
Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) 14 (LO4)
income statement 8 (LO3)
independence 14 (LO4)
Institute of Management
Accountants (IMA) 14 (LO4)
integrity 14 (LO4)
Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) 14 (LO4)
International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) 13 (LO4)
international financial reporting
standards (IFRS) 13 (LO4)
investing activities 17 (LO5)
investors 16 (LO5)
liabilities 6 (LO2)
limited liability 5 (L.O1)
liquidity 17 (LO5)
management 15 (LO5)
management information
systems (MIS) 3 (LO1)

financial reports can have serious consequences for many people.

managerial accounting 3 (LO1)

money measure 3 (LO1)

netassets 7 (LO2)

netincome 7 (LO2)

netloss 7 (LO2)

objectivity 14 (LO4)

operating activities 17 (LO5)

owner’s equity 7 (LO2)

owner’s investments 7 (LO2)

partnership 4 (LOI1)

performance measures 18 (LO5)

profitability 17 (LO5)

Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB) 13 (LO4)

revenues 7 (LO2)

Sarbanes-Oxley Act 19 (LOO6)

Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) 14 (LO4)

separate entity 4 (LO1)

sole proprietorship 4 (LO1)

statement of cash flows 10 (LO3)

statement of owner’s equity 8 (LO3)

stockholders 5 (LLO1)

withdrawals 7 (LO2)
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Chapter Assignments

LO1
LO1
LO1

02
o4

LO5

LO5
LO6

LO1

LO1

LO2

o2

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1. What makes accounting a valuable discipline?
DQ2. CONCEPT » Are all economic events business transactions?

DQ3. Sole proprietorships, partnerships, and corporations differ legally; how and why
does accounting treat them alike?

DQ4. How are expenses and withdrawals similar, and how are they different?

DQ5. How do generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) differ from the laws of
mathematics?

DQ6. Why do managers in governmental and not-for-profit organizations need to under-
stand financial information as much as managers in profit-seeking businesses?

DQ7.In what ways are CVS and Southwest Airlines comparable? Not comparable?

DQ8. BUSINESS APPLICATION » What are some unethical ways in which a business
may do its accounting or prepare its financial statements?

SHORT EXERCISES

Accounting Concepts
SE1. CONCEPT J» Indicate whether each of the following words or phrases relates most
closely to (a) a business transaction, (b) a separate entity, or (¢) a money measure:

1. Partnership 4. Sole proprictorship
2. U.S. dollar 5. Sale of an asset
3. Payment of an expense

Forms of Business Organization
SE2. Match the descriptions that follow with the appropriate forms of business organization.

1. Most numerous a. Sole proprietorship
2. Commands most revenues b. Partnership

3. Has two or more co-owners c. Corporation

4. Has stockholders

5. Is owned by only one person

6. Has a board of directors

The Accounting Equation

SE3. Determine the amount missing from each accounting equation that follows.

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
1. ? $100,000 $140,000
2. $312,000 $168,000 ?
3. $584,000 ? $384,000

The Accounting Equation
SE4. Use the accounting equation to answer each question that follows.

1. Ambria Company’s assets are $240,000, and its liabilities are $90,000. What is the
amount of its owner’s equity?

2. Dao Company’s liabilities equal one-fifth of the total assets. The owner’s equity is
$40,000. What is the amount of the liabilities?
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02  The Accounting Equation
SE5. Use the accounting equation to answer each question that follows.

1. At the beginning of the year, Palette Company’s assets were $90,000, and its own-
er’s equity was $50,000. During the year, assets increased by $30,000 and liabilities
increased by $5,000. What was the owner’s equity at the end of the year?

2. At the beginning of the year, Carmines Company had liabilities of $100,000 and
owner’s equity of $96,000. If assets increased by $40,000 and liabilities decreased
by $30,000, what was the owner’s equity at the end of the year?

02  The Accounting Equation and Net Income

SE6. Vivaldi Company had assets of $280,000 and liabilities of $120,000 at the begin-
ning of the year, and assets of $400,000 and liabilities of $140,000 at the end of the
year. During the year, the owner invested an additional $40,000 in the business, and the
company made withdrawals of $48,000. What amount of net income did the company
carn during the year?

L03  Preparation and Completion of a Balance Sheet

SE7. Use the following accounts and balances to prepare a balance sheet with the accounts
in proper order for Manteno Company at June 30, 2014, using Exhibit 8 as a model:

Accounts Receivable $ 3,200 Building $44,000
Wages Payable 1,400 Cash ?
Owner’s Capital 57,400

L03  Preparation of Financial Statements

SE8. Randall Company engaged in activities during the first year of its operations that
resulted in the following: service revenue, $4,800; expenses, $2,450; and withdrawals,
$410. In addition, the year-end balances of selected accounts were as follows: Cash,
$1,890; Other Assets, $1,000; Accounts Payable, $450; and Owner’s Capital, $2,440.
Prepare Randall’s income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and balance sheet
(assume the year ends on December 31, 2014 ). ( Hznt: You must solve for the beginning
balance of Owner’s Equity for 2014.)

L05  Accounting and Business Enterprises
SE9. Match the terms that follow with the appropriate definitions.

1. Accounting d. The process of generating and commu-
2. Profitability nicating accounting information in the
3. Liquidity form of financial statements to decision
4. Financing activities makers outside the organization
5. Investing activities e. Activities of management engaged
6. Operating activities to spend capital in ways that are
7. Financial accounting productive and will help a business
8. Managerial accounting achieve its objectives
9. Ethics f. The ability to earn enough income to
10. Fraudulent financial reporting attract and hold investment capital
g. An information system that measures,
a. The process of producing accounting processes, and communicates financial
information for the internal use of a information about an identifiable
company’s management economic entity
b. Having enough cash available to pay ~ h. The intentional preparation of
debts when they are due misleading financial statements
c. Activities of management engaged to 1. Activities of management engaged to
obtain adequate funds for beginning operate the business

and continuing to operate a business  j. A code of conduct that addresses
whether actions are right or wrong
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06  Ethics and Accounting
SE10. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Match the descriptions that follow with the appropri-

ate terms.
1. Preparation of financial statements a. Ethics
that mislead the public. b. Fraudulent financial reporting
2. An important underpinning of ¢. Accountants
financial reporting. d. Sarbanes-Oxley Act

3. Alaw that strengthened financial
reporting of public companies and
their auditors.

4. Have a duty to prepare financial
reports that are not false or misleading.

EXERCISES: SET A

01 Business Transactions

E1A. CONCEPT » Austin owns and operates a minimart. Which of Austin’s actions
described below are business transactions? Explain why any other actions are not consid-
ered business transactions.

1. Austin reduces the price of a gallon of milk in order to match the price offered by a
competitor.

2. Austin pays a high school student cash for cleaning up the driveway behind the market.

3. Austin fills his son’s car with gasoline in payment for his son’s restocking the vend-
ing machines and the snack food shelves.

4. Austin pays interest to himself on a loan he made to the business three years ago.

01  Accounting Concepts

E2A. CONCEPT » Financial accounting uses money measures to gauge the impact of
business transactions on a separate business entity. Indicate whether each of the follow-
ing words or phrases relates most closely to (a) a business transaction, (b) a separate
entity, or (c) a money measure.

1. U.S. dollars 6. Corporation

2. Indian rupees 7. Sales of products

3. Partnership 8. Owner’s investments
4. Receipt of cash 9. Japanese yen

5. Sole proprietorship 10. Purchase of supplies

LO1 Money Measure

E3A. CONCEPT > You have been asked to compare the sales and assets of four companies
that make computer chips to determine which company is the largest in each category.
You have gathered the following data, but they cannot be used for direct comparison
because each company’s sales and assets are in its own currency:

Company (Currency) Sales Assets

Abril Chip (U.S. dollar) 2,000,000 1,300,000
Dao (Hong Kong dollar) 5,000,000 2,400,000
Aiko (Japanese yen) 350,000,000 250,000,000
Orca (euro) 3,000,000 3,900,000

Assuming that the exchange rates in Exhibit 2 are current and appropriate, convert all
the figures to U.S. dollars (multiply amount by exchange rate) and determine which
company is the largest in sales and which is the largest in assets.
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02  The Accounting Equation

E4A. Use the accounting equation to answer each question that follows. Show any
calculations you make.

1. Oshkosh Company’s assets are $400,000, and its owner’s equity is $155,000. What
is the amount of its liabilities?

2. Salvatore Company’s liabilities and owner’s equity are $72,000 and $79.,500,
respectively. What is the amount of the assets?

3. Radisson Company’s liabilities equal one-third of the total assets, and owner’s equity
is $160,000. What is the amount of its liabilities?

4. At the beginning of the year, Sun Company’s assets were $275,000, and its own-
er’s equity was $150,000. During the year, assets increased $75,000 and liabilities
decreased $22,500. What is the owner’s equity at the end of the year?

02  Owner’s Equity and the Accounting Equation
E5A. Daiichi Company’s total assets and liabilities at the beginning and end of the year

follow.
Assets Liabilities
Beginning of the year $175,000 $ 68,750
End of the year 275,000 162,500

Determine Daiichi’s net income or loss for the year under each of the following
alternatives:

1. The owner made no investments in or withdrawals from the business during the year.

2. The owner made no investments in the business but withdrew $27,500 during the
year.

3. The owner invested $16,250 in the business but made no withdrawals during the year.

4. The owner invested $12,500 in the business and withdrew $27,500 during the year.

LO3 Identification of Accounts
E6A.

1. Indicate whether each of the following accounts is an asset (A), a liability (L), or a
part of owner’s equity (OE):

a. Building e. Cash
b. Salaries Payable f. Accounts Payable
¢. Accounts Receivable g. Equipment

d. Owner’s Capital
2. Indicate whether each account that follows would be shown on the income state-
ment (IS), the statement of owner’s equity (OE), or the balance sheet (BS).

a. Commissions Earned e. Supplies Expense
b. Automobile f. Accounts Payable
¢. Utilities Expense g. Withdrawals

d. Land

L03  Preparation of a Balance Sheet

E7A. Listed in random order are some of Oxford Services Company’s account balances

as of December 31, 2014.
Accounts Payable $ 50,000 Accounts Receivable $62,500
Building 112,500 Cash 25,000
J. Oxford, Capital 212,500 Equipment 50,000
Supplies 12,500

Place the balances in proper order and prepare a balance sheet similar to the one in
Exhibit 8.
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Preparation and Integration of Financial Statements

E8A. Dukakis Company had the following accounts and balances during 2014: Ser-
vice Revenue, $13,200; Rent Expense, $1,200; Wages Expense, $8,340; Advertising
Expense, $1,350; Utilities Expense, $900; and Withdrawals, $700. In addition, the year-
end balances of selected accounts were as follows: Cash, $1,550; Accounts Receivable,
$750; Supplies, $100; Land, $1,000; Accounts Payable, $450; Investment by Owner,
$1,240; and beginning capital balance of $1,000.

Prepare Dukakis’s income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and balance sheet
(assume the year ends on December 31, 2014). (Hint: You must first solve for the net
income and ending balances of owner’s equity for 2014.)

Statement of Cash Flows

E9A. Arlington Service Company began the year 2014 with cash of $55,900. In addition
to earning a net income of $32,500 and making cash withdrawals of $19,500, Arlington
Service borrowed $78,000 from the bank and purchased equipment with $117,000 of
cash. Also, Accounts Receivable increased by $7,800, and Accounts Payable increased
by $11,700.

Determine the amount of cash on hand at December 31, 2014, by preparing a state-
ment of cash flows similar to the one in Exhibit 9.

Statement of Owner’s Equity

E10A. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Information from Mrs. Shah’s Cookies’ statement
of owner’s equity for 2014 follows.

Withdrawals $ 0
Net income ?
Owner’s equity, January 31,2014 159,490
Owner’s equity, January 31,2013 102,403

Prepare Mrs. Shah’s Cookies’ statement of owner’s equity. You will need to solve for
the amount of net income. What is owner’s equity? Why might the owner decide not to
make any withdrawals from the company?

Preparation and Integration of Financial Statements

E11A. Complete the financial statements that follow by determining the amounts that
correspond to the letters. (Assume no new investments by owners. )

Income Statement

Revenues $11,100
Expenses (a)
Net income $ (b
Statement of Owner’s Equity
Beginning balance $29,000
Net income (c)
Less withdrawals 2,000
Ending balance $30,000
Balance Sheet
Total assets $ ()
Total liabilities $16,000
Owner’s equity (T. Proviso, capital) (e)
Total liabilities and owner's equity $ (f)
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Ll01,5  Users of Accounting Information and Forms of Business Organization

E12A. Avalon Pharmacy has recently been formed to develop a new type of drug treat-
ment for cancer. Previously a partnership, Avalon has now become a corporation.
Describe the various groups that will have an interest in Avalon’s financial statements.
What is the difference between a partnership and a corporation? What advantages does
the corporate form have over the partnership form of business organization?

L04,5 The Nature of Accounting
E13A. Match the terms that follow with the appropriate descriptions.

1. Communication d. Legislation requiring CEOs and CFOs
2. Business transactions to swear that any reports they file with
3. Investors the SEC are accurate and complete
4. Financial Accounting Standards e. Show how well a company is meeting
Board (FASB) the goals of profitability and liquidity
5. Creditors tf. Collectively, the people who have
6. Management overall responsibility for operating a
7. Bookkeeping business and meeting its goals
8. Securities and Exchange g. People who commit money to earn a
Commission (SEC) financial return
9. Money measure h. The interconnected subsystems that
10. Sarbanes-Oxley Act provide the information needed to run
11. Financial statements a business
12. Management information system i. The most important body for
developing and issuing rules on
a. The recording of all business accounting practice, called Statements
transactions in terms of money of Financial Accounting Standards
b. A process by which information j. An agency set up by Congress to
is exchanged between individuals protect the public by regulating the
through a common system of symbols, issuing, buying, and selling of stocks
signs, or behavior k. Economic events that affect a
c. The process of identifying and business’s financial position
assigning values to business . People or businesses to whom money
transactions is due

L04  Accounting Abbreviations
E14A. Identify the accounting meaning of each of the following abbreviations: CPA,
IRS, PCAOB, GAAD, FASB, SEC, GASB, TASB, IMA, and AICPA.

l06  Ethics and Accounting
E15A. BUSINESS APPLICATION J» Match the descriptions that follow with the appropriate

terms.
1. Responsible for the ethical a. Accountants
preparation of financial statements b. Ethics
2. Preparation of financial statements ¢. Fraudulent financial reporting
that mislead the public d. Management

[¢)

3. Underlies both management’s and
accountants’ actions in preparing
financial statements

4. A law related to regulation of finan-
cial reporting of public companies
and their auditors following the
Enron scandal

5. Has overall responsibility for ensuring
that financial reports are not false or
misleading

. Sarbanes-Oxley Act
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Chapter 1: Accounting Principles and the Financial Statements

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion web site at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise
Set B for this chapter.

PROBLEMS

L03,5 Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P1. A list of financial statement items follows.

Utilities expense Accounts payable
Building Rent expense
Owner’s capital Withdrawals
Net income Fees earned
Land Cash
Equipment Supplies
Revenues Wages expense
Accounts receivable

REQUIRED

1. Indicate whether each item is found on the income statement (IS), statement of
owner’s equity (OE), and/or balance sheet (BS).

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Which statement is most closely associated with the
goal of profitability?

L03 Integration of Financial Statements

v 1f:Total liabilitiesand P2, The following three independent sets of financial statements have several amounts
owner’s equity: $4,600

missing:

Income Statement SetA SetB Set C
Revenues $1,100 $ (9 $ 240
Expenses (a) 5,200 (m)
Net income $ (b) $  (h $ 80
Statement of Owner’s Equity

Beginning balance $2,900 $24,400 $ 340
Net income (c) 1,600 (n)
Less withdrawals 200 (i) (0)
Ending balance $3,000 ) $ (P
Balance Sheet

Total assets $ (d) $31,000 $ @
Total liabilities $1,600 $ 5,000 (r
Owner’s capital (e) (k) 380
Total liabilities and owner’s equity $ () $ (1) $ 380

REQUIRED
1. Complete each set of financial statements by determining the missing amounts that
correspond to the letters.
2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Why is it necessary to prepare the income statement
prior to the balance sheet?
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L03,5 Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P3. Fuel Designs’ financial accounts follow. The company has just completed its tenth

year of operations ended December 31, 2014.
v 1:Total net income: $79,200

v 1:Total assets: $136,800 Accounts Payable $ 3,600
Accounts Receivable 4,500
Cash 71,700
Commission Sales Revenue 400,000
Commissions Expense 225,000
Commissions Payable 22,700
Equipment 59,900
Marketing Expense 20,100
Office Rent Expense 36,000
Owner’s Capital, December 31,2013 64,300
Supplies 700
Supplies Expense 2,600
Telephone and Computer Expenses 5,100
Wages Expense 32,000
Withdrawals 33,000

REQUIRED

1. Prepare Fuel Designs’ income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and balance
sheet. There were no investments by the owner during the year.

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » The owner is considering expansion. What other
financial statement would be useful to the owner in assessing whether the compa-
ny’s operations are generating sufficient funds to support the expenses? Why would
it be useful?

03,5 Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P4. The accounts of Frequent Ad, an agency that develops marketing materials for print,

radio, and television, follow. The agency’s first year of operations just ended on January
v 1:Total netincome: $1,600 31.2014
v 1:Total assets: $27,300 > :

Accounts Payable $ 19,400
Accounts Receivable 24,600
Advertising Service Revenue 159,200
A. Francis, Capital 5,000*%
Cash 1,800
Equipment Rental Expense 37,200
Marketing Expense 4,500
Office Rent Expense 10,800
Salaries Expense 86,000
Salaries Payable 1,300
Supplies 900
Supplies Expense 19,100
Withdrawals 0

*Represents the initial investment by the owner.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare Frequent Ad’s income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and balance
sheet.
2. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Review the financial statements and comment on the
financial challenges Frequent Ad faces.
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Chapter 1: Accounting Principles and the Financial Statements

L03,4,5 Use and Interpretation of Financial Statements
P5. Athena Riding Club’s financial statements follow.
Athena Riding Club

Income Statement
For the Month Ended November 30, 2014

Revenues:

Riding lesson revenue $4,650

Locker rental revenue 1,450

Total revenues $6,100
Expenses:

Salaries expense $1,125

Feed expense 750

Utilities expense 450

Total expenses 2,325
Net income $3,775

Athena Riding Club
Statement of Owner’s Equity
For the Month Ended November 30, 2014

Owner’s capital, October 31,2014 $35,475
Investment by owner 6,000
Net income for the month 3,775
Subtotal $45,250
Less withdrawals 2,400
Owner’s capital, November 30, 2014 $42,850

Athena Riding Club
Balance Sheet

November 30, 2014
Assets Liabilities

Cash $ 6,700 Accounts payable $11,250
Accounts receivable 900 Owner’s Equity

Supplies 750 Owner’s capital 42,850
Land 15,750

Building 22,500

Horses 7,500

Total assets $54,100 Total liabilities and owner’s equity $54,100
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Athena Riding Club
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended November 30, 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $3,775

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows
from operating activities:

Increase in accounts receivable $ (400)

Increase in supplies (550)

Increase in accounts payable 400 (550)

Net cash flows from operating activities $3,225
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of horses $(2,000)

Sale of horses 1,000

Net cash flows from investing activities (1,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Investment by owner $ 6,000

Cash withdrawals (2,400)

Net cash flows from financing activities 3,600
Net increase in cash $5,825
Cash at beginning of month 875
Cash at end of month $6,700

REQUIRED

1. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Explain how Athena Riding Club’s four statements
relate to each other.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Which statements are most closely associated with the
goals of liquidity and profitability? Why?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » If you were the owner of this business, how would you
evaluate the company’s performance? Give specific examples.

4. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION p» If you were a banker considering Athena Riding
Club for a loan, why might you want the company to be audited by an independent
CPA? What would the audit tell you?

ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

L03,5 Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P6. A list of financial statement items follows.

Wages expense Accounts payable
Equipment Rent expense
Equipment rental expense Withdrawals
Net income Fees earned
Land Cash
Owner’s capital Supplies
Revenues Utilities expense
Accounts receivable

REQUIRED

1. Indicate whether each item is found on the income statement (IS), statement of
owner’s equity (OE), and/or balance sheet (BS).

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Which statement is most closely associated with the
goal of profitability?
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Chapter 1: Accounting Principles and the Financial Statements

L03 Integration of Financial Statements

 1f:Total liabilittesand ~ P7.Three independent sets of financial statements with several amounts missing follow.
owner’s equity: $9,380

Income Statement SetA SetB SetC
Revenues $2,400 $ (9 $ 480
Expenses @ 10,000 (m)
Net income $ (b $ (h) $ 29
Statement of Owner’s Equity
Beginning balance $5,800 $48,800 $ 480
Net income (c) 3,200 (n)
Less withdrawals __ 400 (i) (0)
Ending balance $6,180 $ ) $ (P
Balance Sheet
Total assets $ $60,000 $ @
Total liabilities $3,200 $10,000 $
Owner’s capital G (k) 560
Total liabilities and owner’s equity $ () $ () $1,160
REQUIRED

1. Complete each set of financial statements by determining the amounts that corre-
spond to the letters.

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » In what order is it necessary to prepare the financial
statements and why?

L03,5 Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P8. Sears Labs’ financial accounts follow. The company has just completed its third year

of operations ended November 30, 2014.
v 1:Total net income: $111,000

v 1:Total assets: $151,500 Accounts Payable $ 7,400
Accounts Receivable 9,100
Cash 141,600
Design Service Revenue 248,000
Marketing Expense 19,700
Office Rent Expense 18,200
Owner’s Capital, November 30, 2013 70,400
Salaries Expense 96,000
Salaries Payable 2,700
Supplies 800
Supplies Expense 3,100
Withdrawals 40,000

REQUIRED

1. Prepare Sears Labs’ income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and balance
sheet. There were no investments by the owner during the year.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Evaluate the company’s ability to meet its bills when
they come due.

01,3  Preparation and Interpretation of Financial Statements

P9. Bachino’s Pizza’s accounts follow. The company has just completed its first year of

operations ended September 30, 2014.
v 1:Total net income: $20,600
v 1:Total assets: $45,000
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Accounts Payable $ 21,000
Accounts Receivable 26,400
Cash 5,200
Delivery Truck Rent Expense 14,400
Equipment 12,600
Equipment Rental Expense 5,800
Marketing Expense 3,000
Owner’s Capital 4,000%
Pizza Revenue 164,000
Salaries Expense 112,000
Salaries Payable 1,400
Supplies 800
Supplies Expense 8,200
Withdrawals 2,000

*Represents the initial investment by the owner.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare Bachino’s Pizza’s income statement, statement of owner’s equity, and bal-
ance sheet.
2. Why would Bachino’s Pizza’s owner set his business up as a sole proprietorship and
not a partnership? Discuss how profits and obligations are shared in the two forms
of business organizations.

L03,4,5 Useand Interpretation of Financial Statements
P10. Aqua Swimming Club’s financial statements follow.
Aqua Swimming Club

Income Statement
For the Month Ended November 30,2014

Revenues:

Swimming lesson revenue $4,650

Locker rental revenue 1,275

Total revenues $5,925
Expenses:

Salaries expense $1,125

Supplies expense 750

Utilities expense 450

Total expenses 2,325
Net income $3,600

Aqua Swimming Club
Statement of Owner’s Equity
For the Month Ended November 30, 2014

Owner’s capital, October 31,2014 $34,975
Investment by owner 5,000
Net income for the month 3,600
Subtotal $43,575
Less withdrawals 2,400
Owner’s capital, November 30, 2014 $41,175

(Continued)
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Chapter 1: Accounting Principles and the Financial Statements

Aqua Swimming Club
Balance Sheet

November 30,2014
Assets Liabilities

Cash $ 7125 Accounts payable $13,350
Accounts receivable 900 Owner’s Equity

Supplies 750 Owner’s capital 41,175
Land 15,750

Building 22,500

Equipment 7,500

Total assets $54,525 Total liabilities and owner’s equity $54,525

Aqua Swimming Club
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended November 30,2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $3,600
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows
from operating activities:

Increase in accounts receivable $ (400)

Increase in supplies (550)

Increase in accounts payable 400 (550)

Net cash flows from operating activities $3,050
Cash flows from investing activities:

Sale of equipment $ 2,000

Purchase of equipment (1,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities 1,000
Cash flows from financing activities:

Investment by owner $ 5,000

Cash withdrawals (2,400)

Net cash flows from financing activities 2,600
Net increase in cash $6,650
Cash at beginning of month 475
Cash at end of month $7,125

REQUIRED

1. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Explain how Aqua Swimming Club’s four state-
ments relate to each other.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Which statements are most closely associated with the
goals of liquidity and profitability? Why?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » If you were the owner of this business, how would you
evaluate the company’s performance? Give specific examples.

4. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION > If you were a banker considering Aqua Swimming
Club for a loan, why might you want the company to be audited by an independent
CPA? What would the audit tell you?

CASES

L05  Conceptual Understanding: Business Activities and Management Functions

C1. Costco Wholesale Corporation is America’s largest membership retail company.
According to its letter to stockholders:

For the first time [in 2011], four of our locations had more than $300 million in
annual sales, including one which bad move than $400 million in sales. This rate of
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top line revenue per building stands out in the retail industry and results from our
ongoing focus on value—that winning combination of quality and price on every item
we sell that, we believe, sets Costco apart from many of its competitors.’!

To achieve its strategy, Costco must organize its management by functions that relate to
the principal activities of a business. Discuss the three basic activities Costco will engage
in to achieve its goals, and suggest some examples of each. What is the role of Costco’s
management? What functions must its management perform to carry out these activities?

102  Conceptual Understanding: Concept of an Asset

C2. CONCEPT » Southwest Airlines Co. is one of the most successful airlines in the
United States. One of its annual reports contained this statement:

We are a company of People, not Planes. That is what distinguishes us from other
airlines and other companies. At Southwest Airlines, People are our most impor-
tant asset.”?

Are employees considered assets in the financial statements? Why or why not? Discuss in
what sense Southwest considers its employees to be assets.

l04  Conceptual Understanding: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

C3.Fidelity Investments Company is a well-known mutual fund investment company. It
makes investments worth billions of dollars in companies listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and other stock markets. Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are
very important for Fidelity’s investment analysts. What are generally accepted account-
ing principles? Why are financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP and audited by an independent CPA useful for Fidelity’s investment analysts?
What organizations influence GAAP? Explain how they do so.

L03  Interpreting Financial Reports: Analysis of Four Basic Financial Statements

C4. Refer to the CVS annual report in the Supplement to Chapter 16 to answer the ques-
tions below. Keep in mind that every company, while following basic principles, adapts
financial statements and terminology to its own special needs. Therefore, the complexity
of CVS’s financial statements and the terminology in them will differ somewhat from
the financial statements in the text.

1. What names does CVS give to its four basic financial statements? (Note that the
word consolidated in the names of the financial statements means that these state-
ments combine those of several companies owned by CVS.)

2. Prove that the accounting equation works for CVS on December 31, 2011 by finding
the amounts for the following equation: Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders” Equity.

3. What were the total revenues of CVS for the year ended December 31, 20112

4. Was CVS profitable in the year ended December 31, 20112 How much was net
income (loss) in that year, and did it increase or decrease from the year ended
December 31, 20102

5. Did the company’s cash and cash equivalents increase from December 31, 2010 to
December 31, 20112 If so, by how much? In what two places in the statements can
this number be found or computed:?

6. Did cash flows from operating activities, cash flows from investing activities, and
cash flows from financing activities increase or decrease from years 2010 to 20112

7. Who is the auditor for the company? Why is the auditor’s report that accompanies
the financial statements important?

L05  Comparison Analysis: Performance Measures and Financial Statements

C D C5. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Refer to the CVS annual report and the financial state-
ments of Southwest Airlines Co. in the Supplement to Chapter 16 to answer the ques-
tions that follow.

(Continued)
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1.

2.

3.

Which company is larger in terms of assets and in terms of revenues? What do you
think is the best way to measure the size of a company?

Which company is more profitable in terms of net income? What is the trend of
profitability over the past three years for both companies?

Which company has more cash? Which increased its cash the most in the last year?
Which has more liquidity as measured by cash flows from operating activities?

LO6 Ethical Dilemma: Professional Situations

C6. BUSINESS APPLICATION Discuss the ethical choices in the situations below. In
each instance, describe the ethical dilemma, determine the alternative courses of action,
and tell what you would do.

1.

2.

You are the payroll accountant for a small business. A friend asks you how much
another employee is paid per hour.

As an accountant for the branch office of a wholesale supplier, you discover that sev-
eral of the receipts the branch manager has submitted for reimbursement as selling
expenses actually stem from nights out with his spouse.

You are an accountant in the purchasing department of a construction company.
When you arrive home from work on December 22, you find a large ham in a box
marked “Happy Holidays—It’s a pleasure to work with you.” The gift is from a sup-
plier who has bid on a contract your employer plans to award next week.

. As an auditor with one year’s experience at a local CPA firm, you are expected to

complete a certain part of an audit in 20 hours. Because of your lack of experience,
you know you cannot finish the job within that time. Rather than admit this, you
are thinking about working late to finish the job and not telling anyone.

. You are a tax accountant at a local CPA firm. You help your neighbor fill out her tax

return, and she pays you $200 in cash. Because there is no record of this transaction,
you are considering not reporting it on your tax return.

The accounting firm for which you work as a CPA has just won a new client, a firm
in which you own 200 shares of stock that you received as an inheritance from your
grandmother. Because it is only a small number of shares and you think the com-
pany will be very successful, you are considering not disclosing the investment.

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C7. Choose a company in which you are interested, and obtain its most recent annual
report online at the company’s website. Click on Investor Relations, then, select Annual
Report or SEC Form 10-K. (Hint: When performing a search, use “company name
investor relations” to avoid the customer-oriented home page.)

1.

2.

3.

Identify the company by writing a summary that includes the following elements:
Name of the chief executive officer
Location of the home oftice
Ending date of latest fiscal year
Description of the company’s principal products or services
Main geographic area of activity
Name of the company’s independent accountants (auditors). In your own words,
explain what the accountants said about the company’s financial statements.

Identify the company’s four financial statements. What differences, if any, do you
see in the titles given to the statements as compared to those used in the chapter?
Trace the interrelationships of the statements.

Show that the accounting equation (Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity) is
in balance for the most recent year.
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CHAPTER 2

Analyzing and Recording

Business Transactions

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Paws and Hoofs Clinic

After graduating from veterinary school, Jim Wright started the Paws
and Hoofs Clinic. On his second day of business, he received a stand-
ing order from Quarter Horse Stables to examine its horses on a
monthly basis for one year. The fee for the service was to be $500 per
visit, or $6,000 for the year. Confident that his agreement with Quarter
Horse Stables will work out, Jim is thinking of including the $6,000 he
expects to receive in his financial statements. He believes that doing so
would be a good advertisement for his business, but he must answer
the following questions to determine if this is acceptable practice.

1. CONCEPT » How will the concepts of recognition, valuation, and
classification help Wright record the transaction properly?

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » How does one enter business
transactions, which are economic events, in the accounting records?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION > Can a business transaction benefit a
business even though no cash is received when the transaction takes
place?

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Explain how the concepts of
recognition, valuation, and
classification apply to business

transactions.

o 2 Explain the double-entry system
and the usefulness of T accounts

in analyzing business transactions.

3 Demonstrate how the double-
entry system is applied to
common business transactions.

Prepare a trial balance, and
describe its value and limitations.

Record transactions in the
wh .

general journal, and post
transactions to the ledger.

Explain why ethical financial
reporting depends on proper
recording of business transactions.

107 Show how the timing of
transactions affects cash flows
and liquidity.



40

SECTION 1

CONCEPTS
B Recognition

B Valuation
B Classification

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Explain how the
concepts of
recognition, valuation, and
classification apply to
business transactions.

Lo

CONCEPTS

@& Concepts Underlying
Business Transactions

Business transactions are economic events that should be recorded in the accounting
records. As illustrated in Exhibit 1, the concepts of recognition, valuation, and classifica-
tion underlie all business transactions.

Exhibit 1
Concepts Underlying Business Transactions

Economic Events

'

Recognition

V

Valuation

'

Classification

'

Business Transactions That Affect Financial Position

© Cengage Learning 2014

Recognition

Recognition refers to the decision as to when to record a business transaction. Usu-
ally, companies set specific recognition policies, such as recognizing revenue when title
to goods passes or a service is provided. For example, for Paws and Hoofs Clinic that
was introduced at the beginning of the chapter, Jim needs to know when to record the
$6,000 fee in his financial statements. The resolution of this issue is important because
the date on which a transaction is recorded affects amounts in the financial statements.

Valuation

Valuation is the process of assigning a monetary amount to business transactions and
the resulting assets and liabilities. Generally accepted accounting principles state that
all business transactions should be valued at fair value when they occur. Fair value

International Perspective
D The Challenge of Fair Value Accounting

The measurement of fair value is a major success of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) convergence project to merge U.S. GAAP with inter-
national financial reporting standards (IFRS)." After initially recording an asset at cost, fair value is the
price at which an asset could be sold (or a liability settled) in a current transaction between independent
parties. It is not the actual, or historical, price at which the asset was acquired or the liability assumed.
Because it represents the price in a hypothetical transaction, fair value is often difficult to measure and
subject to judgment. For example, when there is no ready market for an asset—as might be the case for
used factory equipment—the potential selling price may not be easy to determine.

© loops7 / iStockphoto.com
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Barter transactions, in which
exchanges are made but no
cash changes hands, can make
valuation complicated. For
example, if an office supply
company provides a year’s sup-
ply of computer paper to a local
newspaper in exchange for an
advertisement in the weekly
paper, the value of the transac-
tion equals the fair value of the
items being traded.

Three major issues underlie every accounting transaction: recognition, valuation, and classification. Match
each of these issues to the statements that are most closely associated with the issue. A company:

1. Records a piece of equipment at the price paid 3. Records the equipment as an asset because it

forit.
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is the exchange price of an actual or potential business transac-
tion between market participants.? Recording transactions at the
exchange price at the point of recognition is called the cost prin-
ciple. The cost, or exchange price, is used because it is verifiable.
For example, when Jim performs the service for Quarter Horse
Stables, he and Quarter Horse Stables will record the transaction
in their respective records at the agreed-upon price.

Normally, the value of'an asset remains at its initial fair value
or cost until the asset is sold, expires, or is consumed. However,
if a change in the fair value of the asset (or liability) occurs, an
adjustment may be required. Different fair-value rules apply to
different classes of assets. For example, a building or equipment
remains at cost unless convincing evidence exists that the fair
value is less than cost. In this case, a loss is recorded to reduce
the value from its cost to fair value. Investments, on the other
hand, are often accounted for at fair value, regardless of whether fair value is greater
or less than cost.

Classification

Classification is the process of assigning all the transactions in which a business engages
to appropriate categories, or accounts. Classification of debts can affect a company’s
ability to borrow money, and classification of purchases can affect its income. One of the
most important classification issues in accounting is the difference between an expense
and an asset, both represented by debits in the accounts. For example, if Jim buys medi-
cines that are used immediately at the Paws and Hoofs Clinic, their cost is classified as an
expense. If the medicines will be used in the future, they are classified as assets. Similarly,
it CVS buys paper towels to resell to customers, the cost would be recorded as an asset in
the Inventory account. If the paper towels are used for cleaning in the store today, the
cost is an expense.

As we explain later in the chapter, proper classification depends not only on correctly
analyzing the effect of each transaction but also on maintaining a system of accounts
that reflects that effect.

SOLUTION

1. valuation
2. recognition

will benefit future periods. 3. classification

2. Records the purchase of the equipment on the

day on which it takes ownership.

TRY IT! SE1, SE2, SE3, E1A,E1B
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SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

M Record business
transactions

B Prepare the trial balance

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

L0 2 Explain the double-

entry system and the
usefulness of T accounts in
analyzing business
transactions.

L0 3 Demonstrate how the

double-entry system is
applied to common business
transactions.

|.o4 Prepare a trial balance,
and describe its value
and limitations.

0 5 Record transactions in

the general journal,
and post transactions to the
ledger.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

Double-Entry System

Accounting is a very old discipline. Forms of it have been essential to commerce for
more than 5,000 years. Accounting, in a version close to what we know today, gained
widespread use in the 1400s, especially in Italy, where it was instrumental in the devel-
opment of shipping, trade, construction, and other forms of commerce. This system
of double-entry bookkeeping, i.e., recording, valuing, and classifying business transac-
tions, was documented by the famous Italian mathematician, scholar, and philosopher
Fra Luca Pacioli. In 1494, Pacioli published his most important work, Summa de Arith-
metica, Geometvica, Proportioni et Proportionalita, which contained a detailed descrip-
tion of accounting as practiced in that age. This book became the most widely read book
on mathematics in Italy and firmly established Pacioli as the “Father of Accounting.”
Goethe, the famous German poet and dramatist, referred to double-entry bookkeeping
as “one of the finest discoveries of the human intellect.”

What is the significance of the double-entry system? The system is based on the
principle of duality, which means that every economic event has two aspects—such as
effort and reward, sacrifice and benefit, source and use—that offset, or balance, cach
other. In the double-entry system, cach transaction must be recorded with at least one
debit and one credit, and the total amount of the debits must equal the total amount
of the credits. All accounting systems, no matter how sophisticated, are based on the
principle of duality.

Accounts

Accounts are the basic storage units for accounting data and are used to accumulate
amounts from similar transactions. An accounting system has a separate account for
each asset, each liability, and each component of owner’s equity, including revenues and
expenses. Managers must be able to refer to accounts so that they can study their com-
pany’s financial history and plan for the future. A very small company may need only a
few dozen accounts; a multinational corporation may need thousands.

An account title should describe what is recorded in the account. However, account
titles can be rather confusing. For example, Wages Expense and Salaries Expense are
both titles for labor expenses. Moreover, many account titles change over time as prefer-
ences and practices change.

Chart of Accounts

In a manual accounting system, each account is kept on a separate page or card. These
pages or cards are placed together in a book or file called the general ledger. In com-
puterized systems, accounts are maintained electronically. However, accountants still
refer to the group of accounts as the general ledger, or simply the ledger.

To help identify accounts in the ledger and make them easy to find, the accountant
often numbers them. A list of these numbers with the corresponding account titles is
called a chart of accounts. A chart of accounts is a table of contents for the ledger. Typi-
cally, it lists accounts in the order in which they appear in the ledger, which is usually the
order in which they appear in the financial statements. The numbering scheme allows
for some flexibilitiy. A very simple chart of accounts appears in Exhibit 2. The first digit
in the account number identifies the major financial statement classification—that is, an
asset account begins with the digit 1, a liability account begins with a 2, and so forth.
The second and third digits identify individual accounts. The gaps in the sequence of
numbers allow the accountant to expand the number of accounts within the classification.
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Exhibit 2
Chart of Accounts for a Small Business

© Cengage Learning 2014

Account Account
Number Name Description
Assets

111 Cash Money and any medium of exchange (coins, currency, checks, money
orders, and money on deposit in a bank)

112 Notes Receivable Promissory notes (written promises to pay definite sums of money at
fixed future dates) due from others

113 Accounts Receivable Amounts due from others for revenues or sales on credit (sales on
account)

116 Office Supplies Prepaid expense; office supplies purchased and not used

117 Prepaid Rent Prepaid expense; rent paid in advance and not used

118 Prepaid Insurance Prepaid expense; insurance purchased and not expired

141 Land Property owned for use in the business

142 Buildings Structures owned for use in the business

143 Accumulated Depreciation— Total of periodic allocation of the cost of buildings to expense;

Buildings deducted from Buildings
146 Office Equipment Office equipment owned for use in the business
147 Accumulated Depreciation— Total of periodic allocation of the cost of office equipment to expense;
Office Equipment deducted from Office Equipment
Liabilities

211 Notes Payable Promissory notes due to others

212 Accounts Payable Amounts due to others for purchases on credit

213 Unearned Revenue Unearned revenue; advance deposits for services to be provided in
the future

214 Wages Payable Amounts due to employees for wages earned and not paid

Owner’s Equity

311 Owner’s Capital Owner’s investments in a company and claims against company
assets derived from profitable operations

313 Withdrawals Distributions of assets (usually cash) that reduce owner’s capital

314 Income Summary Temporary account used at the end of the accounting period to
summarize the revenues and expenses for the period
Revenues

411 Service Revenue Amounts earned from services
Expenses

511 Wages Expense Amounts earned by employees

512 Utilities Expense Amounts for utilities, such as water, electricity, and gas, used

513 Telephone Expense Amounts of telephone services used

514 Rent Expense Amounts of property and buildings rent used

515 Insurance Expense Amounts for insurance expired

517 Office Supplies Expense Amounts for office supplies used

518 Depreciation Expense—Buildings Amount of buildings’ cost allocated to expense

520 Depreciation Expense—Office Amount of office equipment cost allocated to expense

Equipment
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STUDY NOTE: It is important to realize
that debit simply means “left side”

and credit simply means “right side.”

Do not let preconceived ideas about
what debit and credit mean affect your
understanding.

The T Account

The T account is a good place to begin the study of the double-entry system. Such an
account has the following three parts:

a title, which identifies the asset, liability, or owner’s equity account
a left side, which is called the debit side
a right side, which is called the credit side

The T account, so called because it resembles the letter 7, is a tool used to analyze
transactions and is not part of the accounting records. It looks like this:

Title of Account
Debit Credit
(left) side (right) side

Any entry made on the left side of the account is a debit, and any entry made on the
right side is a credit. The terms debit (abbreviated Dr., from the Latin debere) and credit
(abbreviated Cr., from the Latin credere) are simply the accountant’s words for “left”
and “right” (not for “increase” or “decrease”). We present a more formal version of the
T account, the ledger account form, later in this chapter.

The T Account lllustrated Supposec a company had several transactions during the
month that involved the receipt or payment of cash. These transactions can be summa-
rized in the Cash account by recording receipts on the left (debit) side of a T account
and payments on the right (credit) side.

Cash
Dr. Cr.
100,000 70,000
3,000 400
1,200
103,000 71,600
Bal. 31,400

The cash receipts on the left total $103,000. (The total is written in smaller, blue figures
so that it cannot be confused with an actual debit entry.) The cash payments on the right
side total $71,600. These totals are simply working totals, or footings. Footings, which
are calculated at the end of each month, are an easy way to determine cash on hand.
The difference between the total debit footing and the total credit footing is called the
account balance (or balance). If the balance is a debit, it is written on the left side. If it
is a credit, it is written on the right side. Notice that the Cash account has a debit bal-
ance of $31,400 ($103,000 — $71,600). This is the amount of cash the business has on
hand at the end of the month.

Rules of Double-Entry Accounting

The double-entry system follows two rules:

Every transaction affects at least two accounts.
Total debits must equal total credits.

In other words, for every transaction, one or more accounts must be debited, or entered
on the left side of a T account, and one or more accounts must be credited, or entered
on the right side of a T account, and the total dollar amount of the debits must equal the
total dollar amount of the credits.
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Look again at the accounting equation:

Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity

A If a debit increases assets, then a credit must be used to increase liabilities or
owner’s equity because they are on opposite sides of the equal sign.

V Likewise, if'a credit decreases assets, then a debit must be used to decrease liabilities
or owner’s equity.

These rules can be shown as follows.

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit
for for for for for for
increases decreases decreases increases decreases increases
(+) (=) (=) (+) (=) (+)

One of the more difficult points is the application of double-entry rules to the com-
ponents of owner’s equity. Remember that withdrawals and expenses are deductions
from owner’s equity. Thus, transactions that increase withdrawals or expenses decrease
owner’s equity. Consider this expanded version of the accounting equation:

Owner’s Equity
Assets = Liabilities +  Owner’s Capital — Withdrawals + Revenues — Expenses
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Capital — Withdrawals S Revenues = Expenses
+ - - + - + + - - + + -
(Dr.) (Cr) (Dr.) (Cr) (Dr.) (Cr) (Dr.) (Cr) (Dr.) (Cr) (Dr.) (Cr)

STUDY NOTE: To remember the
normal balances and the rules of debit
and credit, use the acronym AWE: Assets,
Withdrawals, and Expenses are always
increased by debits. All other accounts
are increased by credits.

Exhibit 3
Normal Account Balances of
Major Account Categories
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Normal Balance

The normal balance of an account is its usual balance and is the side (debit or credit)
that increases the account. Exhibit 3 summarizes the normal account balances of the
major account categories.

Increases Recorded by Normal Balance

Account Category Debit Credit Debit Credit
Assets X X
Liabilities X X
Owner’s Equity:
Owner’s Capital X X
Withdrawals X X
Revenues X X
Expenses X X

Owner’s Equity Accounts

Exhibit 4 illustrates how owner’s equity accounts relate to each other and to the finan-
cial statements. The distinctions among these accounts are important for both legal
purposes and financial reporting. Owner’s capital represents the original investments
by the owner plus (or minus) income earned (or losses incurred) by the business minus
withdrawals made by the owner.
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Exhibit 4
Relationships of
Owner’s Equity
Accounts

Balance Sheet
Assets = Liabilities Owner's
Equity
A A A
Owner’s .
R Withdrawals Revenues Expenses
Capital
Shown on
Income Statement

Shown on Statement of Owner’s Equity

The Accounting Cycle
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As Exhibit 5 shows, the accounting cycle is a series of steps that measure and communi-

cate useful information to decision makers. These steps follow.

m  Step 1. Analyze business transactions from source documents.

Exhibit 5
Overview of the Accounting Cycle

Business Activities

A

!

Decisions and Actions

m  Step 2. Record the transactions by entering them in the general journal.

Decision Makers

[ s

The Accounting Cycle
Measurement Communication

1. Analyze business 5. Prepare financial

transactions from statements.

source documents.

saesInvoce
5200 —
A
Processin
L 9 | |

2. Record the entries . Post the entries to 4. Adjust the accounts 6. Close the accounts and

in the journal. the ledger and prepare and prepare an prepare a post-closing

a trial balance. adjusted trial balance. trial balance.
—r=— > > [E——— >
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Step 3. Post the journal entries to the ledger, and prepare a trial balance.
Step 4. Adjust the accounts, and prepare an adjusted trial balance.

Step 5. Prepare financial statements.

Step 6. Close the accounts, and prepare a post-closing trial balance.

Note that Steps 3, 4, and 6 entail preparation of trial balances, which are explained later
in this chapter. The remainder of this chapter examines Steps 1-3 in detail.

You are given the following list of accounts with dollar amounts:

D. Logan, Withdrawals $75 Cash $625
Accounts Payable 200 D. Logan, Capital 400
Wages Expense 150 Fees Revenue 250

Insert the account title at the top of the corresponding T account that follows and enter the dollar amount as a normal balance in the account. Then show
that the accounting equation is in balance.

Owner’s Equity

D. Logan, D. Logan,
Assets = Liabilities i Capital —  Withdrawals + Revenues = Expenses
SOLUTION
Accounts D. Logan, D. Logan, Fees Wages
Cash Payable Capital Withdrawals Revenue Expense
625 250 150

200 ‘ 400 75

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
$625 = $200 + ($400 — $75 + $250 — $150)
$625 = $200 + $425
$625 = $625

TRY IT! SE4, E2A, E3A, E2B, E3B

Business Transaction Analysis

In the next few pages, we illustrate the first three steps of the accounting cycle by show-
ing how to apply the double-entry system to some common business transactions.
Source documents—invoices, receipts, checks, or contracts—support the details of a
transaction.

Here, we focus on the transactions of a small firm, Blue Design Studio. To walk
through every step of recording business transactions, each transaction will be broken
into the following parts:

Transaction: The date and a description of the transaction are provided.
Analysis: The transaction is analyzed to determine which accounts are affected.

STUDY NOTE: T accounts are used to Application of Double-Entry: T accounts show how the transaction affects the
understand and visualize the double- accounting equation. Note that this is noz part of the accounting records but is
entry effects of a transaction on the . ..
, : . undertaken before recording a transaction in order to understand the effects of the
accounting equation. They help in c G
ransaction.

recording the journal entry. . ] ] ) o
Journal Entry: A journal entry is a notation that records a single transaction in the

chronological accounting record known as a journal (sometimes called the book of
oriyginal entry because it is where transactions first enter the accounting records).
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Each entry must be in proper journal form, which, as illustrated below, is a way of
recording a transaction with the date, debit account, and debit amount shown on
one line, and the credit account (indented) and credit amount shown on the next
line. The amounts are shown in their respective debit and credit columns.

Dr. Cr.

Date Debit Account Name Amount
Credit Account Name Amount

Comment: Comments that offer supporting explanations will help you apply the
rules of double-entry accounting.

Owner’s Investment to Form the Business

Transaction On July 1, Joan Blue invests $40,000 in cash to form Blue Design Studio.
Analysis The journal entry to record an owner’s investment in the business
A increases the asset account Cash with a debit

A increases the owner’s equity account J. Blue, Capital with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Cash J. Blue, Capital
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000 July1 40,000
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July1  Cash 40,000
J. Blue, Capital 40,000

Comment If Joan Blue had invested assets other than cash in the business, the debit
would be classified as the appropriate asset account (for example, Equipment).

Economic Event That Is Not a Business Transaction
Event On July 1, Joan orders $5,200 of office supplies for Blue Design Studio.

Comment When an economic event is not a business transaction, it is not recognized
and no entry is made. In this case, there is no confirmation that the supplies have been
shipped or that title has passed.

Prepayment of Expenses in Cash
Transaction On July 3, Joan rents an office for Blue Design Studio. She pays $3,200
for two months’ rent in advance.
Analysis The journal entry to record the prepayment of office rent in cash
A increases the asset account Prepaid Rent with a debit

V decreases the asset account Cash with a credit
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Cash
Dr. Cr.

July 1 40,000 | July 3 3,200

Prepaid Rent

Dr. Cr.
July3 3,200

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July3  Prepaid Rent 3,200

Cash 3,200 =

Comment A prepaid expense is classified as an asset because the expenditure will benefit
future operations. This transaction does not affect the totals of assets or liabilities and
owner’s equity because it simply trades one asset for another asset. If the company had
paid only July’s rent, the owner’s equity account Rent Expense would be recognized and
debited because the total benefit of the expenditure would be used up in the current
month.

Purchase of an Asset on Credit

Transaction On July 5, Blue Design Studio receives the office supplies ordered on July
2 and an invoice for $5,200.

Analysis The journal entry to record the purchase of office supplies on credit
A increases the asset account Office Supplies with a debit
A increases the liability account Accounts Payable with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Office Supplies Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July5 5,200 July5 5,200

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July5  Office Supplies 5,200
Accounts Payable 5,200

Comment Office supplies in this transaction are classified as an asset (prepaid expense)
because they will not be used up in the current month and thus will benefit future peri-
ods. The credit is classified as Accounts Payable because there is a delay between the
time of the purchase and the time of payment.

Purchase of an Asset Partly in Cash
and Partly on Credit

Transaction On July 6, Joan purchases office equipment totaling $16,320 for Blue
Design Studio. Joan pays $13,320 in cash and agrees to pay the rest next month.
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Analysis The journal entry to record the purchase of office equipment in cash and on
credit

A increases the asset account Office Equipment with a debit
V decreases the asset account Cash with a credit
A increases the liability account Accounts Payable with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities +* Owner’s Equity
Cash Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000 | July3 3,200 July5 5,200
6 13,200 6 3,000
Office Equipment

July 6 16,320 |

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July 6 Office Equipment 16,320
Cash 13,320
Accounts Payable 3,000 =

Comment As this transaction illustrates, assets may be paid for partly in cash and partly
on credit. A journal entry in which more than two accounts are involved is called a
compound entry because a portion of the entry is properly classified in two or more
accounts.

Payment of a Liability

Transaction On July 9, Blue Design Studio makes a partial payment of $2,600 for the
amount owed for the office supplies received on July 5.
Analysis The journal entry to record a payment of a liability

V decreases the liability account Accounts Payable with a debit

V decreases the asset account Cash with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities F Owner’s Equity
Cash Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000|July3 3,200 July9 2,600 July5 5,200
6 13,320 6 3,000
9 |r 2,600
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July9  Accounts Payable 2,600
‘> (Cash 2,600

Comment Note that the office supplies, which were recognized and recorded when they
were purchased on July 5, are not part of the July 9 transaction.
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Revenue in Cash

Transaction On July 10, Blue Design Studio performs a service for an investment advi-
sor by designing a series of brochures and collects a $2,800 fee in cash.

Analysis The journal entry to record revenue received in cash
A increases the asset account Cash with a debit

A increases the owner’s equity account Design Revenue with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Cash Design Revenue
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000 | July3 3,200 July 10 2,800—
10 2,800 6 13,320
9 2,600

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

—>July 10  Cash 2,800
Design Revenue 2,800 <=

Comment For this transaction, revenue is recognized when the service is provided and
the cash is received.

Revenue on Credit

Transaction On July 15, Blue Design Studio performs a service for a department store
by designing a TV commercial. The company bills for the $9,600 fee now but will col-
lect it later.

Analysis The journal entry to record revenue billed to a customer

A increases the asset account Accounts Receivable with a debit

A increases the owner’s equity account Design Revenue with a credit
Accounts Receivable is used to indicate the customer’s obligation until it is paid.

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities +* Owner’s Equity
Accounts Receivable Design Revenue
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
—July 159,600 July 10 2,800
15 9,600 —
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
—>July 15  Accounts Receivable 9,600
Design Revenue 9,600 =

Comment In this case, there is a delay between the time revenue is earned and the time
the cash is received. Revenues are recognized and recorded at the time they are earned
and billed regardless of when cash is received.
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Revenue Collected in Advance

Transaction On July 19, Blue Design Studio accepts a $1,400 advance fee as a deposit
on a series of brochures to be designed.

Analysis The journal entry to record revenue received in advance

A increases the asset account Cash with a debit

A increases the liability account Unearned Design Revenue with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4= Owner’s Equity
Cash Unearned Design Revenue
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000 [July3 3,200 July 19 1,400
10 2,800 6 13,320
—19 1,400 9 2,600
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
—> July 19  Cash 1,400
Unearned Design Revenue 1,400

Comment In this case, cash is received before the fees are earned. Unearned Design
Revenue is recognized and classified as a liability because the firm must either provide the
service or return the deposit.

Collection on Account

Transaction On July 22, Blue Design Studio receives $5,000 cash from customer previ-
ously billed on July 15.
Analysis The journal entry to record the collection of an account receivable from a cus-
tomer previously billed

A increases the asset account Cash with a debit

V decreases the asset account Accounts Receivable with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities I Owner’s Equity

Cash

Dr. cr.
July 1 40,000 | July3 3,200
10 2,800 6 13,200
19 1,400 9 2,600
22 5,000

Accounts Receivable
Dr. cr.

July 15 9,600 | July 22 5,000

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
—>July22 Cash 5,000

Accounts Receivable 5,000 <=

Comment Note that the revenue related to this transaction was recognized and recorded
on July 15. Thus, no revenue is recognized at this time.
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Expense Paid in Cash

Transaction On July 26, Blue Design Studio pays $4,800 for four weeks of employee
wages.

Analysis The journal entry to record this cash expense
A increases the owner’s equity account Wages Expense with a debit
V decreases the asset account Cash with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Cash Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 140,000 July3 3,200 July 26 4,800

10 2,800 6 13,320
19 1,400 9 2,600
22 5,000 26 4,8|00

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July26  Wages Expense 4,800 <
> Cash 4,800

Comment Wages Expense will appear on the income statement as a deduction from
revenues.

Expense to Be Paid Later

Transaction On July 30, Blue Design Studio receives but does not pay the utility bill
that is due next month for $680.
Analysis The journal entry to record this cash expense

A increases the owner’s equity account Utilities Expense with a debit

A increases the liability account Accounts Payable with a credit
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Accounts Payable Utilities Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July9 2,600 |July5 5200 July30 680
6 3,000

30 6810

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July30  Utilities Expense 680

L————————> Accounts Payable 680

Comment The expense is recognized and recorded if the benefit has been received and
the amount is owed, even if the cash is not to be paid until later.

Withdrawals

Transaction On July 31, Blue Design Studio withdraws $2,800 in cash.
Analysis The journal entry to record a cash withdrawal

A increases the owner’s equity account Withdrawals with a debit

V decreases the asset account Cash with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4= Owner’s Equity
Cash J. Blue, Withdrawals
Dr. Cr. Dr. @a
July 1 40,000 |July3 3,200 July 31 2,800
10 2,800 6 13,320
19 1,400 9 2,600
22 5,000 26 4,800
31 2,800
]
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July 31 J.Blue, Withdrawals 2,800 <—
——— > (ash 2,800

Comment Cash payments to owners are not classified as expenses but as withdrawals.

Summary of Transactions

Exhibit 6 uses the accounting equation to summarize the transactions of Blue Design
Studio. Note that the income statement accounts appear under owner’s equity and that
the transactions in the Cash account will be reflected on the statement of cash flows.
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Exhibit 6
Summary of Transactions of Blue Design Studio
Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Cash —_— Accounts Payable J. Blue, Capital
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 1 40,000 | July 3 3,200 July 9 2,600 | July 5 5,200 July 1 40,000
10 2,800 6 13,320 6 3,000
19 1,400 9 2,600 30 680 J. Blue, Withdrawals
22 5,000 26 4800 2,600 8,880 July 31 2,800 \
31 2,800
Bal. 6,280
49,200 26,720
L, . .
Bal. 22,480 This account links to the statement of cash flows.
Accounts Receivable Unearned Design Revenue Design Revenue
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 15 9,600 | July22 5,000 July 19 1,400 July 10 2,800
Bal. 4,600 15 9,600
Bal. 12,400
Office Supplies Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 5 5,200 July 26 4,800
Prepaid Rent Utilities Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 3 3,200 July 30 680
Office Equipment
z D C
8@ I I These accounts link to the income statement. |[¢—
£ July 6 16,320
3
% Assets = Liabilities 4+ Owner's Equity
% $51,800 = $7,680 i $44,120
O
[©)]

The following accounts are applicable to Kathy’s Nail Salon, a company that provides manicures and pedicures:

1. Cash 5. Accounts Payable
2. Accounts Receivable 6. Services Revenue
3. Supplies 7. Wages Expense
4. Equipment 8. Rent Expense

For Kathy's Nail Salon, enter the number corresponding to the proper account for each debit and credit for the following transactions:
Debit Credit

Made a rent payment for the current month. _8 1

Received cash from customers for current services.

Agreed to accept payment next month from a client for current services.

Purchased supplies on credit.

Purchased a new chair and table for cash.
Made a payment on accounts payable.

e on oo
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SOLUTION

-p o0 oTe

Made a rent payment for the current month.
Received cash from customers for current services.
Agreed to accept payment next month from a client for current services.

Purchased supplies on credit.

Purchased a new chair and table for cash.
Made a payment on accounts payable.

Debit Credit
1

v A W N =
- = U1 O O

TRY IT! SE2, SE5, SE6, E4A, E5A, E6A, E7A, E8A, E4B, E5B, E6B, E7B, ES8B

< Exhibit 7

Trial Balance

The Trial Balance

The trial balance, prepared periodically, is a device used to ensure that the total of debits
and credits in the accounts are equal, meaning that the accounts balance. Exhibit 7 shows
a trial balance for Blue Design Studio. It was prepared from the accounts in Exhibit 6.

Blue Design Studio

Trial Balance

July 31,2014
Cash 22,480
Accounts Receivable 4,600
Office Supplies 5,200
Prepaid Rent 3,200
Office Equipment 16,320
Accounts Payable 6,280
Unearned Design Revenue 1,400
J. Blue, Capital 40,000
J. Blue, Withdrawals 2,800
Design Revenue 12,400
Wages Expense 4,800
Utilities Expense 680

60,080 60,080

Preparation and Use of a Trial Balance

Although a trial balance may be prepared at any time, it is usually prepared on the last day
of the accounting period. The steps involved in preparing a trial balance follow.

Step 1. List each account that has a balance, with debit balances in the left column
and credit balances in the right column. Accounts are listed in the following order:
assets, liabilities, owner's capital, withdrawals, revenues, and expenses.

Step 2. Add each column.

Step 3. Compare the totals of the columns.

Once in a while, a transaction leaves an account with a balance that isn’t “normal.”
For example, when a company overdraws its bank account, its Cash account (an asset)
will show a credit balance instead of a debit balance. The “abnormal” balance should be
copied into the trial balance columns as it stands, as a debit or a credit.
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The trial balance proves whether the accounts are in balance. In balance means
that the total of all debits recorded equals the total of all credits recorded. But the trial
balance does not prove that the transactions were analyzed correctly or recorded in the
proper accounts. For example, the trial balance does not show that a debit should have
been made in Office Supplies rather than in Office Equipment. And the trial balance
does not detect whether transactions have been omitted, because equal debits and cred-
its will have been omitted. Also, if an error of the same amount is made in both a debit
and a credit, it will not be evident in the trial balance. The trial balance proves only that
the debits and credits in the accounts are in balance.

Finding Trial Balance Errors

If the debit and credit balances in a trial balance are not equal, look for one or more of
the following errors:

A debit was entered in an account as a credit, or vice versa.

The balance of an account was computed incorrectly.

An error was made in carrying the account balance to the trial balance.
The trial balance was summed incorrectly.

Other than simply adding the columns incorrectly, the two most common mistakes
in preparing a trial balance are:

Recording an account as a credit when it usually carries a debit balance, or vice
versa. This mistake causes the trial balance to be out of balance by an amount divis-
ible by 2.

Transposing two digits when transferring an amount to the trial balance (for exam-
ple, entering $23,459 as $23,549). This error causes the trial balance to be out of
balance by an amount divisible by 9.

So, if a trial balance is out of balance and the addition of the columns is correct, deter-
mine the amount by which the trial balance is out of balance and divide it first by 2
and then by 9. If the amount is divisible by 2, look in the trial balance for an amount
that is equal to the quotient. If you find such an amount, chances are it’s in the wrong
column. If the amount is divisible by 9, trace each amount back to the T account
balance, checking carefully for a transposition error. If neither of these techniques
is successful in identifying the error, first recompute the balance of each T account.
Then, if you still have not found the error, retrace each posting to the journal or the
T account.

Prepare a trial balance for Dras Company from the following list of accounts (in SOLUTION
alphabetical order) as of March 31, 2014. Compute the balance of cash. Dras Company
Accounts Payable $9 Trial Balance
Accounts Receivable 5 March 31,2014
Building 10 Cash >4
Accounts Receivable 5
Cash ! Inventory 3
Dras', Capital 16 Land 1
I pAnE 2 Building 10
Land ! Equipment
Inventory 3 Accounts Payable $9
Dras, Capital - 16
Totals $25 $25
TRY IT! SE7, E9A, E10A,E11A, E12A, E9B, E10B, E11B, E12B
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STUDY NOTE: The journal
is a chronological record of

transactions.

Exhibit 8

The General Journal

A
+ 3,200
— 3,200

A
+ 5,200

L
+ 5,200

+

SE

SE

Recording and Posting Transactions

Earlier in the chapter, we described how transactions are analyzed according to the rules
of double entry and how a trial balance is prepared. Recall in Exhibit 5, transaction
analysis and preparation of a trial balance appear at several points in the process. Two
intermediate steps are recording the entry in the general journal and posting the entry
to the ledger. In this section, we demonstrate how these steps are accomplished in a
manual accounting system.

General Journal

Although transactions can be entered directly into the ledger accounts, identifying
individual transactions or finding errors is difficult because the debit is recorded in one
account and the credit in another. The solution is to record all transactions chrono-
logically in a journal, which, as we noted earlier, is where transactions first enter the
accounting records. Later, the debit and credit portions of each transaction are trans-
ferred to the appropriate accounts in the ledger.

Most businesses have more than one kind of journal. The simplest and most flexible
kind is the general journal. Businesses may also have several special-purpose journals,
each for recording a common transaction, such as credit sales, credit purchases, cash
receipts, and cash disbursements. At this point, we cover only the general journal.
Exhibit 8, which displays two of the transactions of Blue Design Studio, shows the
format for recording entries in a general journal.

General Journal Page 1
Post.
Date Description Ref. Debit | Credit
2014
July 3 | Prepaid Rent 3,200
Cash 3,200
Paid two months’ rent in advance
5 | Office Supplies 5,200
Accounts Payable 5,200

Purchase of office supplies on credit

As you can see in Exhibit 8, the entries in a general journal include the following
information about each transaction:

Date: The year appears on the first line of the first column, the month on the next
line of the first column, and the day in the second column opposite the month. For
subsequent entries on the same page for the same month and year, the month and
year can be omitted.

Accounts: The names of the accounts debited and credited appear in the Descrip-
tion column. The names of the accounts that are debited are placed next to the left
margin opposite the dates; on the line below, the names of the accounts credited are
indented.

Amounts: The debit amounts appear in the Debit column opposite the accounts
that are debited, and the credit amounts appear in the Credit column opposite the
accounts credited.

Explanation: An explanation of each transaction appears in the Description column
below the account names. An explanation should be brief but sufficient to identify
the transaction.

Account numbers: The account numbers appear in the Post. Ref. (posting
reference) column, if they apply.
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STUDY NOTE: A T accountis a

means of quickly analyzing a set of
transactions. It is simply an abbreviated
version of a ledger account. Ledger
accounts, which provide more
information, are used in the accounting
records.

Exhibit 9
Accounts Payable in the
General Ledger
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At the time the transactions are recorded, nothing is placed in the Post. Ref. col-
umn. Later, if the company uses account numbers to identify accounts in the ledger,
the account numbers are filled in. They provide a convenient cross-reference from the
general journal to the ledger and indicate that the entry has been posted to the ledger. If
the accounts are not numbered, the accountant uses a checkmark (v') to signify that the
entry has been posted.

General Ledger

The general journal is used to record the details of each transaction. The general ledger
is used to update each account.

The Ledger Account Form The T account is a simple, direct means of recording
transactions. In practice, a somewhat more complicated form of the account is needed
to record more information. The ledger account form is a form of the account that
contains four columns for dollar amounts, as is illustrated in Exhibit 9.

General Ledger

Accounts Payable Account No. 212
Post. Balance

Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit

2014

July 5 J1 5,200 5,200
6 J1 3,000 8,200
9 J1 2,600 5,600

30 J2 680 6,280

The account title and number appear at the top of the account form. As in the
journal, the transaction date appears in the first two columns. The Item column is rarely
used to identify transactions because explanations already appear in the journal. The
Post. Ref. column is used to note the journal page on which the original entry for the
transaction can be found. The dollar amount is entered in the appropriate Debit or
Credit column, and a new account balance is computed in the last two columns opposite
cach entry. The advantage of this account form over the T account is that the current
balance of the account is readily available.

Posting After transactions have been entered in the journal, they must be transferred
to the ledger. This process is called posting. Posting is usually done after several entries
have been made—for example, at the end of each day or less frequently, depending on
the number of transactions. As Exhibit 10 shows, each amount in the Debit column of
the journal is transferred to the Debit column of the appropriate account in the ledger,
and each amount in the Credit column of the journal is transferred to the Credit column
of the appropriate account in the ledger.
The steps in the posting process follow.

Step 1: In the ledger, locate the debit account named in the journal entry.

Step 2: Enter the date of the transaction in the ledger and, in the Post. Ref. column,
the journal page number from which the entry comes.

Step 3: In the Debit column of the ledger account, enter the amount of the debit
as it appears in the journal.

Step 4: Calculate the account balance and enter it in the appropriate Balance column.
Step 5: Enter in the Post. Ref. column of the journal the account number to which
the amount has been posted.
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The same five steps are repeated in posting the credit side of the journal entry. As noted
earlier, in addition to serving as an easy reference between the journal entry and the led-
ger account, the entry in the Post. Ref. column of the journal (Step 5) indicates that the
entry has been posted to the ledger.

Exhibit 10
Posting from the General General Journal Page 2

Journal to the Ledger
Post.
Date Description Ref. Debit | Credit
2014
A = L + SE July |30 | Utilities Expense 512 680
+680  —680 Accounts Payable 212 680 —
Received bill from utility company
General Ledger
Accounts Payable Account No. 212
Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
2014
July 5 J 5,200 5,200
6 J 3,000 8,200
9 J1 2,600 5,600
30 J2 680 6,280
General Ledger
Utilities Expense Account No. 512
Post Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
2014
July 30 J2 680 680
Some Notes on Presentation
Exhibit 11 offers some guidance on how to format financial statements, trial balances,
journals, and ledgers in accordance with common accounting conventions.
Exhibit 11
Formatting Guidelines
BLUE DESIGN STUDIO’S FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS © Aruled line appears in financial reports before each subtotal and total to
indicate that the amounts above are added or subtracted. It is common prac-
tice to use a double line under a final total to show that it has been verified.
Cash $22,480 @ Dollar signs ($) are required in all financial statements and other schedules. On
P EEETS EaeivEls e 4,600 these reports, a dollar sign shoulq be placed before Fhe first amqunt in each col—v
] X umn and before the first amount in a column following a ruled line. Dollar signs in
Ofﬁce‘SUpp"eS 5,200 the same column are aligned. Dollar signs are not used in journals and ledgers.
Prepald rerlt 3,200 © On normal unruled paper, commas and decimal points are used when record-
Office equipment 16,320 ing dollar amounts. On the paper used in journals and ledgers, commas and deci-
Total assets $51.800 mal points are unnecessary because ruled columns are provided to properly align
s dollars and cents. Commas, dollar signs, and decimal points are also unnecessary
in electronic spreadsheets. In this book, because most problems and illustrations -
are in whole dollar amounts, the cents column usually is omitted. When accoun- S
tants deal with whole dollars, they often use a dash in the cents column to indi- 2
cate whole dollars rather than taking the time to write zeros. £
O Account names are capitalized when referenced in text or listed in work E,;
documents like the journal or ledger. In financial statements, however, only )
the first word of an account name is capitalized. 3
©
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Prepare journal entries to record the following SOLUTION
transactions. Use the following account numbers— p
Cash, 111; Supplies, 114; and Accounts Payable ost.
’ ! S ’ yable, Date Description Ref. Debit | Credit
212—to show in the Post Ref. columns that the
entries have been posted: June 4 | Supplies 114 40
A ts Payabl 212 40
June 4 Purchased supplies for $40 on credit. ceounts Fayable .
8 Paid for th i hased on June 4 Purchased supplies on credit
aid for the supplies purchased on June 4. 8 | Accounts Payable 512 40
Cash 111 40
Paid amount due for supplies

TRY IT! SE8, SE9, SE10, E8A, E13A, E14A, E8B, E13B, E14B

Accounting uses a double-entry system to record business transactions based on
source documents. Each transaction is recorded in a journal and then posted to the
ledger. The final step of the transaction analysis is the preparation of the trial balance. As
depicted in Exhibit 12, business transactions can affect all components of the accounting
equation.

Exhibit 12
Transaction Effects on Accounting Equation

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity

Other Owner's
Transaction Cash + Assets Capital — Withdrawals + Revenues — Expenses
1. Owner’s cash investment A aF

2. Prepayment of expenses in
cash = 4

3. Purchase of an asset on credit + +*

4. Purchase of an asset partly
on credit and partly in cash = a4 4

. Payment of liability = =
. Revenue received in cash aF +
. Revenue on credit 4 +

. Revenue collected in
advance I +

9. Collection on account a4
10. Expense paid in cash = AL
11. Expense to be paid later + +
12. Withdrawal by owner - +

0 N o w»n
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SECTION 3

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS
B Ethics

B Cash flows

B Liquidity

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

" 6 E.xpla|r'1 why eth.lcal

financial reporting
depends on proper recording
of business transactions.

Show how the timing
of transactions affects
cash flows and liquidity.

Lo

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

Ethical Financial Reporting
and Business Transactions

Financial statements result from the recording of business transactions. Users of these
financial statements have a right to expect that all business transactions have been recorded
and reflected properly in the statements. Thus, recognition, valuation, and classification as
specified under generally accepted accounting principles are important factors in ethical
financial reporting. These guidelines help managers meet their obligation to their compa-
ny’s owners and to their creditors. Many of the most egregious financial reporting frauds
result from violations of these guidelines, as the following examples show.

Computer Associates violated the guidelines for recognition when it kept its books open
a few days after the end of a reporting period so revenues could be counted a quarter ear-
lier than they should have been. In all, the company prematurely reported $3.3 billion in
revenues from 363 software contracts. When the SEC ordered the company to stop the
practice, Computer Associates’ stock price dropped by 43 percent in a single day.
Among its many other transgressions, Enron Corporation violated the guidelines for val-
uation when it transferred, to related companies, assets at far more than their actual value.
By a simple violation of the guidelines for classification, WorldCom (now MCI, a
component of Verizon) perpetrated the largest financial fraud in history. Over a
period of several years, the company recorded as assets its expenditures that should
have been classified as expenses, understating expenses and overstating income by
more than $10 billion.

Recognition

The recognition issue can be particularly difficult to resolve. To illustrate some of the
factors involved, suppose a company wants to purchase an office desk. The follow-
ing events take place:

Event 1: An employee sends a purchase request for the desk to the purchasing
department.

Event 2: The purchasing department sends a purchase order to the supplier.
Event 3: The supplier ships the desk.

Event 4: The company receives the desk.

Event 5: The company receives the bill from the supplier.

Event 6: The company pays the bill.

A transaction should be recorded when title to merchandise passes from the
supplier to the purchaser and creates an obligation to pay. A purchase should usually
not be recognized (recorded) before the title is transferred because, until that point,
the vendor has not fulfilled its contractual obligation and the buyer has no liability.
Thus, depending on the details of the shipping agreement for the desk, the transac-
tion should be recognized (recorded) at the time of either Event 3 or 4. We gener-
ally use this guideline in this book. However, many small businesses that have simple
accounting systems do not record a transaction until they receive a bill (Event 5) or
pay it (Event 6), because these are the implied points of title transfer. The prede-
termined time at which a transaction should be recorded is the recognition point.

Although purchase requests and purchase orders (Events 1 and 2) are economic
events, they do not affect a company’s financial position, and they are not recognized in
the accounting records. Even the most important economic events may not be recog-
nized in the accounting records.
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. Business Perspective
Accounting Policies: Where Do You Find Them?

The Boeing Company, one of the world’s largest makers of airliners, takes orders for planes years in advance. Although it is an important economic
event to both Boeing and the buyer, neither the buyer nor the seller would record the event as a transaction. So, how do you know when companies
record sales or purchase transactions? The answer to this question and others about companies’ accounting policies can be found in the Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies in their annual reports. For example, in that section of its annual report, Boeing states: “We recognize sales for commer-
cial airplane deliveries as each unit is completed and accepted by the customer.”

© Cengage Learning 2014

Here are some more examples of economic events that should and should not be
recorded as business transactions:

Events That Are Not Events That Are
Recorded as Transactions Recorded as Transactions

A customer inquires about the availability - A customer buys a product.
of a product

+ A company hires a new employee. + A company pays an employee for
work performed.

+ A company signs a contract to provide a » A company performs a service.
service in the future.

Consider an advertising agency that is planning a major advertising campaign for
a client. Employees may work on the plan several hours a day for a number of weeks.
They add value to the plan as they develop it. Should this added value be recognized
as the plan is being developed or at the time it is completed? Usually, the increase in
value is recorded at the time the plan is finished and the client is billed for it. However,
the agency and the client may agree that the client will be billed at key points during its
development. In that case, a transaction is recorded at each billing.

For each of the following ethical situations involving business transactions, indicate what SOLUTION

accounting concept has been violated or whether there is no violation: 1. Recognition concept: violated

1. A sales transaction is recorded on the last day of the fiscal year because the customer 2. Classification concept: no violation
indicates that she will be in next week to sign the agreement. 3. Valuation concept: violated

2. A purcha.se gf an msur'ance pollcy'ls recorded as an asset (instead of as an expense) TRY IT! SE1, SE2, SE11, E1A, E15A, E1B, E15B
because it will be used in future periods.

3. Alaser printer, in excellent condition, that is purchased at a garage sale for $50is recorded
at its estimated value of $150.

D

Cash Flows and the
Timing of Transactions

To avoid financial distress, a company must be able to pay its bills on time. Because the
timing of cash flows is critical to maintaining adequate liquidity to pay bills, managers
and other users of financial information must understand the difference between trans-
actions that generate immediate cash and those that do not. Consider the transactions
of Blue Design Studio shown in Exhibit 13. Most of them involve either an inflow or
outflow of cash.
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Exhibit 13
Transactions of Blue
Design Studio

Blue’s Cash account has more transactions than any of its other accounts. Look at
the transactions of July 10, 15, and 22 in Exhibit 13:

July 10: Blue received a design revenue payment in cash of $2,800.

July 15: The firm billed a customer $9,600 for a service it had already performed.
July 22: The firm received a partial payment of $5,000 from the customer, but it
had not received the remaining $4,600 by the end of the month.

Because Blue incurred expenses in providing this service, it must pay careful attention to
its cash flows and liquidity.

One way Blue can manage its expenditures is to rely on its creditors to give it time
to pay. Compare the transactions of July 3, 5, and 9 in Exhibit 13.

July 3: Blue prepaid rent of $3,200. That immediate cash outlay may have caused a
strain on the business.

July 5: The firm received an invoice for office supplies in the amount of $5,200. In
this case, it took advantage of the opportunity to defer payment.

July 9: The firm paid $2,600, but it deferred paying the remaining $2,600 until
after the end of the month.

Of course, Blue expects to receive the rest of the cash from the customer that it billed on
July 15, and it must eventually pay the rest of what it owes on the office supplies. In the
meantime, the firm must perform a delicate balancing act with its cash flows to ensure
that it achieves the goal of liquidity so that it can grow and be profitable.

Design Revenue Cash Cash Cash Prepaid Rent Office Supplies
Sale Purchase
July10 2800 —— > July 10 2,800 July3 3200 ——> July 3 3,200 July5 5,200
15 9,600 22 5,000 9 2,600
Credit Collection Payment on Credit

Sale on Account Account Purchase

Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
July 15 9,600 July22 5,000 July9 2,600 July5 5,200

Large companies face the same challenge but often on a much greater scale. For
example, it can take Boeing a number of years to plan and make the aircraft that cus-
tomers order. At the end of 2011, Boeing had net orders of $103 billion and a backlog
of orders totaling $356 billion.* Think of the cash outlays Boeing must make before it
delivers the planes and collects payment for them. To maintain liquidity, Boeing’s man-
agement must carefully plan the company’s needs for cash.
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A company engaged in the following transactions:

Oct. 1 Performed services for cash, $1,050. Oct. 4 Performed services on credit, $900.
2 Paid expenses in cash, $550. 5 Paid on account, $350.
3 Incurred expenses on credit, $750. 6  Collected on account, $600.

Record these transactions using the T accounts below (remember to add the correct titles to the T accounts). Determine the cash balance after these trans-
actions, the amount still to be received, and the amount still to be paid.

| Cash Sale | Cash Purchase |
B — _—
;‘ 1 Expense on Credit
Credit Collection on Payment on
Sale Account Account

— -

SOLUTION
Fees Earned Cash Cash Cash Expenses
Sale Purchase
‘ Oct. 1 1,050 ———> Oct.1T 1,050 Oct. 2 550 ——— > Oct. 2 550
4 900 6 600 S 350 3 750
Credit Collection Payment on Expense on
Sale on Account Account Credit
Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
Oct.4 900 | Oct. 6 600 Oct.5 350 Oct. 3 750

Cash balance after transactions: $1,050 + $600 — $550 — $350 = $750
Amount still to be received: $900 — $600 = $300
Amount still to be paid: $750 — $350 = $400

TRY IT! SE12, E16A, E16B

TriLevel Problem

The beginning of this chapter focused on Paws and Hoofs Clinic and the standing order for
monthly service that Quarter Horse Stables placed with Paws and Hoofs. Jim Wright, the
clinic’s owner, was confident of receiving $6,000 in fees over the course of the year and was
thinking of including the fees in his financial statements. Complete the following require-
ments in order to answer the questions posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Section 1: Concepts
How wiill the concepts of recognition, valuation, and classification help Wright to record the

g . 5
2 transaction properly:
.y
)
5 Section 2: Accounting Applications
g How does one enter business transactions, which are economic events, in the accounting
s records?
<
Paws and Hoofs Clinic Jim Wright needs to record the clinic’s business transactions in the accounting records.

Paws and Hoofs Clinic engaged in the following economic events during May 2014:
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Chapter 2: Analyzing and Recording Business Transactions

May 1 Jim Wrightinvested $20,000 in cash to form Paws and Hoofs Clinic.
2 Made an agreement to provide $6,000 in services over the next year to Quarter
Horse Stables.
3 Paid $600 in advance for two months'rent of an office.
9 Purchased medical supplies for $400 in cash.
12 Purchased $4,000 of equipment on credit; made a 25 percent down payment.
15 Delivered a calf for a fee of $350 on credit.
18 Made a payment of $500 on the equipment purchased on May 12.
27  Paid a utility bill of $140.

1. Identify the company’s business transactions, and prepare journal entries to record them.

2. Post the transactions to the following T accounts: Cash; Accounts Receivable; Medical
Supplies; Prepaid Rent; Equipment; Accounts Payable; J. Wright, Capital; Veterinary
Fees Earned; and Utilities Expense.

3. Prepare a trial balance for the month of May.

Section 3: Business Applications
Can a business transaction benefit a business even though no cash is received when the trans-
action takes place? Take a look at the May 15 transaction.

SOLUTION  Section 1: Concepts

Recognition helps decide when the transaction should be recorded, valuation refers to the
value that is assigned to the transaction, and classification shows how to categorize the
transaction (as an asset, expense, revenue, etc.)

Section 2: Accounting Applications
1.

A B C D | E
1| May 1 Cash 20,000
2 J. Wright, Capital 20,000
3 Issued $20,000 in cash
4 to form Paws and Hoofs Clinic
? 3 Prepaid Rent 600
6 Cash 600
7 Paid two months' rent in advance
8 for an office
9 9 Medical Supplies 400
10 Cash 400
F Purchased medical supplies for cash '
12 12 Equipment 4,000
13 Accounts Payable 3,000
14 Cash 1,000
15 Purchased equipment on credit,
16 paying 25 percent down
F 15 Accounts Receivable 350
18 Veterinary Fees Earned 350
19 Fee on credit for delivery of a calf
20 18 Accounts Payable 500
21 Cash 500
22 Partial payment for equipment
23 purchased May 12
24 27  Utilities Expense 140
25 Cash 140
26 Paid utility bill
27
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Note: With regards to Paws and Hoofs' agreement to provide $6,000 in services over the
next year to Quarter Horse Stables, making an agreement to provide services is an impor-
tant economic event, but it is not recorded because it does not meet the recognition con-
cept. No services have yet been performed and earned and thus, Paws and Hoofs is not yet
entitled to payment.

2.
A[B] c¢c [ DIJE] F Gl HJI] J T[TKIJL] ™
1 Cash Accounts Payable
2| May 1 20,000 | May 3 600 May 18 500 | May | 12 3,000
3 9 400 Bal. 2,500
4 12 1,000
5 18 500 J. Wright, Capital
6 27 140 | May 1 20,000
7 20,000 2,640
8| Bal. 17,360 Veterinary Fees Earned
9 | uly | 15 350
10 Accounts Receivable
11 May 15] 350 Utilities Expense
12 May | 27 140
13 Medical Supplies
14 May 9 400 |
15
16 Prepaid Rent
17| May | 3| 600 | |
18
19 Equipment
20| May 12 4,000
21
3.
A | B | ¢C
1 Paws and Hoofs Clinic
2 Trial Balance
3 May 31,2014
4
5| Cash 17,360
6 | Accounts Receivable 350
7 | Medical Supplies 400
8 | Prepaid Rent 600
9 | Equipment 4,000
10| Accounts Payable 2,500
11| J. Wright, Capital 20,000
12| Veterinary Fees Earned 350
13| Utilities Expense 140
14 22,850 22,850
15

Section 3: Business Applications

A business transaction can benefit a business even though no cash is received at the time
of the transaction. For example, on May 15, Jim Wright provided a service and thus earned
a revenue and added an asset to accounts receivable, which will provide cash for the busi-
ness when the client pays the bill. The revenue is recognized at May 15 although the cash
payment will happen later.
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Chapter Review

Explain how the concepts

of recognition, valuation,
and classification apply to
business transactions.

Explain the double-
entry system and the

usefulness of T accounts in

analyzing business transactions.

Demonstrate how 3
the double-entry
system is applied to common
business transactions.

Prepare a trial
balance, and describe
its value and limitations.

Record transactions in 5
the general journal, and
post transactions to the ledger.

Explain why ethical

financial reporting
depends on proper recording
of business transactions.

Show how the timing L0 7
of transactions affects
cash flows and liquidity.

Chapter 2: Analyzing and Recording Business Transactions

To measure a business transaction, you must determine when the transaction occurred
(recognition), what value to place on the transaction (valuation), and how the compo-
nents of the transaction should be categorized (classification). In general, recognition
occurs when title passes, and a transaction is valued at the exchange price—the fair value
or cost at the time the transaction is recognized. Classification refers to assigning trans-
actions to the appropriate accounts.

In the double-entry system, each transaction must be recorded with at least one debit
and one credit, and the total amount of the debits must equal the total amount of the
credits. Each asset, liability, and component of owner’s equity, including revenues and
expenses, has a separate account, which is a device for storing transaction data. The chart
of accounts is a list of account numbers and titles. It serves as a table of contents for the
ledger. The T account is a useful tool for quickly analyzing the effects of transactions. It
shows how increases and decreases in assets, liabilities, and owner’s equity are recorded.
The accounting cycle is a series of steps whose basic purpose is to produce financial state-
ments for decision makers.

The double-entry system is applied by analyzing transactions to determine which
accounts are affected and by using T accounts to show how the transactions affect the
accounting equation. The transactions may be recorded in journal form with the date,
debit account, and debit amount shown on one line, and the credit account (indented)
and credit amount on the next line. The amounts are shown in their respective debit and
credit columns.

A trial balance is used to check that the debit and credit balances are equal. It is prepared
by listing each account balance in the appropriate Debit or Credit column. The two
columns are then added, and the totals are compared. The major limitation of a trial bal-
ance is that it does not guarantee that the transactions were analyzed correctly or
recorded in the proper accounts.

The general journal is a chronological record of all transactions. It contains the date of
cach transaction, the titles of the accounts involved, the amounts debited and credited,
and an explanation of each entry. After transactions have been entered in the general
journal, they are posted to the ledger. Posting transfers the amounts in the Debit and
Credit columns of the general journal to the Debit and Credit columns of the corre-
sponding account in the ledger. After each entry is posted, a new balance is entered in
the appropriate Balance column.

GAAP provides guidance about the treatment of business transactions in terms of recog-
nition, valuation, and classification. Failure to follow these guidelines is a major reason
some companies issue fraudulent financial statements. Usually, a transaction should be
recorded when title to merchandise passes from the supplier to the purchaser and creates
an obligation to pay.

Some transactions generate immediate cash. For those that do not, there is a holding
period in either Accounts Receivable or Accounts Payable before the cash is received or
paid. The timing of cash flows is critical to a company’s ability to maintain adequate
liquidity so that it can pay its bills on time.
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Key Terms

account balance 44 (LO2) debit 44 (LO2) ledger account form 59 (LO5)

accounting cycle 46 (LO2) double-entry system 42 (LO2) normal balance 45 (LO2)

accounts 42 (LO2) fair value 40 (LO1) posting 59 (LO5)

business transactions 40 (LO1) footings 44 (LO2) recognition 40 (LO1)

chart of accounts 42 (LO2) general journal 58 (LO5) recognition point 62 (LO6)

classification 41 (LO1) general ledger 42 (LO2) source documents 47 (LO3)

compound entry 50 (LO3) journal 47 (LO3) Taccount 44 (LO2)

cost principle 41 (LO1) journal entry 47 (LO3) trial balance 56 (LO4)

credit 44 (LO2) journal form 48 (LO3) valuation 40 (LO1)
Chapter Assignments

LO1

01,6

02

LO2

02,3

02,3
LO6

o7

LO1

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1. A company incurs a cost for a part that is needed to repair a piece of equipment. Is
the cost an asset or an expense? Explain.

DQ2. CONCEPT » Which is the most important issue in recording a transaction: recog-
nition, valuation, or classification?

DQ3. Which account would be most likely to have an account balance that is not normal?

DQ4. How would the asset accounts in the chart of accounts for Blue Design Studio
differ if it were a retail company that sold promotional products instead of a service
company?

DQ5. How are assets and expenses related, and why are the debit and credit effects for
asset accounts and expense accounts the same?

DQ6. In what way are unearned revenues the opposite of prepaid expenses?

DQ7. CONCEPT » What is an example of how a company could make false financial
statements through a violation of the recognition concept?

DQ8. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» If a company’s cash flows for expenses temporarily
exceed its cash flows from revenues, how might it make up the difference so that it can
maintain liquidity?

SHORT EXERCISES

Classification of Accounts

SE1. CONCEPT » Tell whether each of the following accounts is an asset, a liability, a
revenue, an expense, or none of these:

a. Accounts Payable e. Supplies Expense
b. Supplies f. Accounts Receivable
c. Withdrawals g. Unearned Revenue

d. Fees Earned h. Equipment
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LO5

Recognition, Valuation, and Classification

SE2. CONCEPT » Tell how the concepts of recognition, valuation, and classification
apply to the transaction that follows.

Cash Supplies

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
June 1 1,000 June 1 1,000

Recognition

SE3. CONCEPT » Which of the following events would be recognized and entered in
Hallmark Company’s accounting records? Why?

Jan. 10 Hallmark places an order for oftice supplies.

Feb. 15 Hallmark receives the office supplies and a bill for them.

Mar. 1 Hallmark pays for the office supplies.

Normal Balances

SE4. Tell whether the normal balance of each account in SE1 is a debit or a credit.

Transaction Analysis

SE5.Shawn Michael started a computer programming business, Michael’s Programming
Service. For each transaction that follows, indicate which account is debited and which
account is credited.

May 2 Shawn Michael invested $10,000.
5 Purchased a computer for $5,000 in cash.
7 Purchased supplies on credit for $600.
19 Received cash for programming services performed, $1,000.
22 Received cash for programming services to be performed, $1,200.
25  Paid the rent for May, $1,300.
31 Billed a customer for programming services performed, $500.
Recording Transactions in T Accounts

SE6. Set up T accounts and record each transaction in SE5. Determine the balance of
cach account.

Preparing a Trial Balance
SE7.From the T accounts created in SE6, prepare a trial balance dated May 31, 2014.

Recording Transactions in the General Journal

SE8. Prepare a general journal form like the one in Exhibit 8 and label it Page 4. Record
the following transactions in the journal:

Sept. 6 Billed a customer for services performed, $3,800.
16 Received partial payment from the customer billed on September 6, $1,800.
Posting to the Ledger Accounts

SE9. Prepare three ledger account forms like the one in Exhibit 9 for the following
accounts: Cash (111), Accounts Receivable (113), and Service Revenue (411). Post the
transactions that are recorded in SE8 to the ledger accounts for 2014, at the same time
making the proper posting references. Also prepare a trial balance.

Recording Transactions in the General Journal
SE10. Record the transactions in SE5 in the general journal for 2014.
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Identifying Ethical Transactions

SE11.CONCEPT J» For each of the following ethical situations involving business transac-
tions, indicate what accounting concept has been violated or whether there is no violation:

1. A sales transaction is recorded on the first day of the fiscal year when payment was
received even though the service for the customer was completed in the year before.

2. A laser printer in excellent condition purchased at a garage sale has an estimated
value of $150, but is recorded at the $50 paid for it.

3. A purchase of truck fuel is recorded as an expense (instead of as an asset) because it
will be used in the current period.

Timing and Cash Flows

SE12. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Use the T account for Cash below to record the por-
tion of each of the following transactions, it any, that affect cash. How do these transac-
tions affect the company’s liquidity?

Cash

Provided services for cash, $2,400.
Paid expenses in cash, $1,400.
Provided services on credit, $2,200.
Incurred expenses on credit, $1,600.

Jan.

O 0 N

EXERCISES: SETA

Recognition

E1A. CONCEPT » Which of the following events would be recognized and recorded in
Abril Company’s accounting records on the date indicated?

Jan. 15 Abril offers to purchase a tract of land for $280,000. There is a high
likelihood that the offer will be accepted.

Feb. 2  Abril receives notice that its rent will increase from $1,000 to $1,200 per
month effective March 1.

Mar. 29 Abril receives its utility bill for the month of March. The bill is not due until
April 9.

June 10  Abril places an order for new office equipment costing $42,000.

July 6 The office equipment Abril ordered on June 10 arrives. Payment is not due

until August 1.

T Accounts, Normal Balance, and the Accounting Equation

E2A. You are given the following list of accounts with dollar amounts:

Rent Expense $ 900
Cash 3,450
Service Revenue 1,500
T. Captain, Withdrawals 750
Accounts Payable 1,200
T. Captain, Capital 2,400

Insert each account name at the top of its corresponding T account and enter the dollar
amount as a normal balance in the account. Then show that the accounting equation is

in balance.
(Continued)
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Chapter 2: Analyzing and Recording Business Transactions

Owner's Equity
A
4 \

Assets = Liabilities + T.Captain, — T.Captain, + Revenues — Expenses

Capital Withdrawals

Classification of Accounts
E3A. CONCEPT » The following ledger accounts are for Afocentric Service Company:

a. Supplies m. Fees Earned

b. Utilities Expense n. D. Minimus, Withdrawals
c. Accounts Receivable o. Wages Payable

d. D. Minimus, Capital p. Unearned Revenue
e. Land q. Office Equipment
f. Prepaid Rent r. Rent Payable

g. Accounts Payable s. Notes Receivable
h. Investments in Securities t. Interest Expense

1. Service Revenue u. Notes Payable

j. Supplies Expense v. Cash

k. Prepaid Insurance w. Interest Receivable
l. Wages Expense x. Rent Expense

Complete the following table, using X’s to indicate each account’s classification and
normal balance (whether a debit or a credit increases the account).

Type of Account

Owner’s Equity Normal Balance

D. Minimus, D. Minimus (increases balance)

Item  Asset Liability Capital Withdrawals Revenue Expense Debit Credit
a. X X

Transaction Analysis
E4A. Analyze transactions a—g, using the example that follows.

. Melissa Faubert invested $2,400 in cash to establish Faubert’s Beauty Parlor.
. Paid two months’ rent in advance, $1,680.
. Purchased supplies on credit, $120.
. Received cash for salon services, $600.
. Paid for supplies purchased in c.
Paid utility bill, $72.
. Withdrew $100 in cash.

Example

g ™o ao o

a. The asset account Cash was increased. Increases in assets are recorded by debits.
Debit Cash $2,400. A component of owner’s equity, M. Faubert, Capital, was
increased. Increases in owner’s capital are recorded by credits. Credit M. Faubert,
Capital $2,400.

Transaction Analysis

E5A. The accounts that follow are applicable to Harold’s Car Service, a company that
repairs cars.
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1. Cash 5. Accounts Payable

2. Accounts Receivable 6. Repair Services Revenue
3. Supplies 7. Wages Expense

4. Equipment 8. Rent Expense

Harold’s completed the following transactions:
Debit Credit

Paid for supplies purchased on credit last month. 5 1
Received cash from customers billed last month.

Made a payment on accounts payable.

Purchased supplies on credit.

Billed a client for repair services.

Made a rent payment for the current month.

Received cash from customers for repair services not yet billed.
Paid employee wages.

Ordered equipment.

j. Received and paid for the equipment ordered in i.

S0 om0 an o8

—

Analyze each transaction and show the accounts affected by entering the corresponding
numbers in the appropriate debit or credit columns as shown in transaction a. Indicate
no entry, if appropriate.

L03  Recording Transactions in T Accounts

E6A. Open the following T accounts: Cash; Repair Supplies; Repair Equipment; Accounts
Payable; C. Ferdinand, Capital; Withdrawals; Repair Fees Earned; Salaries Expense; and
Rent Expense. Record the following transactions for the month of June directly in the T
accounts; use the letters to identify the transactions in your T accounts. Determine the
balance in each account.

a. Collin Ferdinand opened Ferdinand Repair Service by investing $8,600 in cash and
$3,200 in repair equipment.

Paid $800 for the current month’s rent.

Purchased repair supplies on credit, $1,000.

Purchased additional repair equipment for cash, $600.

Paid salary to an employee, $900.

Paid $400 of amount purchased on credit in ¢.

Accepted cash for repairs completed, $3,720.

Withdrew $1,200 in cash.

L03  Analysis of Transactions

@ me a0 o

E7A. Explain each transaction (a—h) entered in the following T accounts:

Cash Accounts Receivable Equipment
a. 10,000 b. 3,750 «c 2,000 g. 375 b. 3,750| h. 225
g. 375 e. 900 d. 2,250
h. 225 f. 1,125
Accounts Payable F. Mills, Capital Service Revenue
f. 1,125 | d. 2,250 [ a. 10,000 |« 2,000
Wages Expense
e. 900 |
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L03,5  Analysis of Unfamiliar Transactions

E8A. Managers and accountants often encounter transactions with which they are unfa-
miliar. Use your analytical skills to analyze and prepare journal entries for the following
transactions, which have not yet been discussed in the text.

May Purchased merchandise inventory on account, $1,200.

Purchased marketable securities for cash, $2,800.

Returned part of merchandise inventory purchased for full credit, $250.
Sold merchandise inventory on account, $800 (record sale only).

Purchased land and a building for $300,000. Payment is $60,000 cash, and
there is a 30-year mortgage for the remainder. The purchase price is allocated
as follows: $100,000 to the land and $200,000 to the building.

6 Received an order for $12,000 in services to be provided. With the order was

a deposit of $4,000.

92 W SNV (S I ]

LO4  Trial Balance
E9A. After recording the transactions in E6A, prepare a trial balance in proper sequence
for Ferdinand Repair Service as of June 30, 2014.

L04  Preparing a Trial Balance

E10A. The list that follows presents Shah Company’s accounts (in alphabetical order) as
of March 31, 2014. The list does not include the amount of Accounts Payable.

A. Shah, Capital $18,870 Equipment $ 7,200
Accounts Receivable 1,800 Land 3,120
Building 20,400 Notes Payable 12,000
Cash 5,400 Prepaid Insurance 660

Prepare a trial balance with the proper heading (see Exhibit 7) and with the accounts
listed in the chart of accounts sequence (see Exhibit 2). Compute the balance of
Accounts Payable.

LO 4 Effects of Errors on a Trial Balance

E11A. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Which of the following errors would cause a trial
balance to have unequal totals? Explain your answers.

a. A payment to a creditor was recorded as a debit to Accounts Payable for $258 and as
a credit to Cash for $204.

b. A payment of $300 to a creditor for an account payable was debited to Accounts
Receivable and credited to Cash.

¢. A purchase of office supplies of $840 was recorded as a debit to Office Supplies for
$84 and as a credit to Cash for $84.

d. A purchase of equipment for $900 was recorded as a debit to Supplies for $900 and
as a credit to Cash for $900.

l04  Correcting Errors in a Trial Balance

E12A. Hasson Services’ trial balance at the end of July 2014 follows. It does not balance
because of a number of errors. Hasson’s accountant compared the amounts in the trial
balance with the ledger, recomputed the account balances, and compared the postings.
He found the following errors:

The balance of Cash was understated by $400.

A cash payment of $210 was credited to Cash for $120.

A debit of $60 to Accounts Receivable was not posted.

Supplies purchased for $30 were posted as a credit to Supplies.

A debit of $90 to Prepaid Insurance was not posted.

The Accounts Payable account had debits of $2,660 and credits of $4,590.

The Notes Payable account, with a credit balance of $1,200, was not included on the
trial balance.

h. The debit balance of N. Hasson, Withdrawals was listed in the trial balance as a credit.

© e a0 o
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i A $100 debit to N. Hasson, Withdrawals was posted as a credit.
j. The actual balance of Utilities Expense, $130, was listed as $13 in the trial balance.

Hasson Services
Trial Balance
July 31,2014

Debits Credits
Cash 1,720
Accounts Receivable 2,830
Supplies 60
Prepaid Insurance 90
Equipment 3,700
Accounts Payable 2,270
N. Hasson, Capital 5,280
N. Hasson, Withdrawals 350
Revenues 2,960
Salaries Expense 1,300
Rent Expense 300
Advertising Expense 170
Utilities Expense 13

10,183 10,860

Prepare a corrected trial balance.

Recording Transactions in the General Journal
E13A. Record the transactions in E6A in the general journal.

Recording Transactions in the General Journal
and Posting to the Ledger Accounts

E14A. Open a general journal form like the one in Exhibit 8, and label it Page 10. Then
record the following transactions in the journal:

Dec. 14 Purchased equipment for $12,000, paying $4,000 as a cash down payment.
28 Paid $6,000 of the amount owed on the equipment.

Prepare three ledger account forms like the one shown in Exhibit 9. Use the following
account numbers: Cash, 111; Office Equipment, 146; and Accounts Payable, 212. Then
post the two transactions from the general journal to the ledger accounts, being sure to
make proper posting references. Assume that the Cash account has a debit balance of
$16,000 on the day prior to the first transaction.

Application of Recognition Point

E15A. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Affordable Flower Shop uses a large amount of sup-
plies in its business. The following table summarizes selected transaction data for sup-
plies that Affordable purchased:

Order Date Shipped Date Received Amount
a June 26 July 5 $ 600
b July 10 July 15 1,500
C July 16 July 22 800
d July 23 July 30 1,200
e July 27 Aug. 1 1,500
f Aug. 3 Aug. 7 1,000

Determine the total purchases of supplies for July alone under each of the following
assumptions:

1. Affordable recognizes purchases when orders are shipped.
2. Affordable recognizes purchases when orders are received.
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07  Cash Flow Analysis
@ E16A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » A company engaged in the following transactions:

Dec. Performed services for cash, $1,500.
Paid expenses in cash, $1,100.
Performed services on credit, $1,800.
Collected on account, $1,200.
Incurred expenses on credit, $1,300.

Paid on account, $700.

Enter the correct titles on the following T accounts and enter the above transactions in
the accounts. Determine the cash balance after these transactions, the amount still to be
received, and the amount still to be paid.

U N —

| Cash Sale | Cash Purchase |
- 5 B ————
1—| T Credit Purchase
Credit Collection on L Paymenton
Sale Account Account

— .

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion web site at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise Set B
for this chapter.

PROBLEMS

02 T Accounts, Normal Balance, and The Accounting Equation

¢ Total assets: $145,580  P1. Highland Design Company creates radio and television advertising for local busi-
nesses in the twin cities. The following alphabetical list shows Highland Design’s account
balances as of January 31, 2014:

Accounts Payable $ 6,420 Rent Expense $ 11,880

Accounts Receivable 78,000 R. Mehta, Capital 74,000

Cash 18,400 R. Mehta, Withdrawals 36,000

Design Revenue 210,000 Telephone Expense 960

Equipment ? Unearned Revenue 18,000

Loans Payable 10,000 Wages Expense 124,000
REQUIRED

Insert the account title at the top of its corresponding T account and enter the dollar
amount as a normal balance in the account. Determine the balance of Equipment and
then show that the accounting equation is in balance.

Owner's Equity
A
r A}

Assets = Liabilities + R.Mehta, — R.Mehta, + Revenues — Expenses
Capital Withdrawals

{+-
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Transaction Analysis

P2. The following accounts are applicable to George’s Warehouse Sweeps:

1. Cash 7. Accounts Payable

2. Accounts Receivable 8. R. Marcuson, Capital

3. Supplies 9. R. Marcuson, Withdrawals
4. Prepaid Insurance 10. Service Revenue

5. Equipment 11. Rent Expense

6. Notes Payable 12. Repair Expense

George’s Warchouse Sweeps completed the following transactions:
Debit Credit
Paid for supplies purchased on credit last month. 7 1
Received a bill for repairs.
Paid the current month’s rent.
Purchased supplies on credit.
Received cash from customers for services
performed but not yet billed.
Purchased equipment on account.
Billed customers for services performed.
Returned part of the equipment purchased in f for a credit.
Received payments from customers previously billed.
Paid the bill received in b.
Received an order for services to be performed.
Paid for repairs with cash.
m. Made a payment to reduce the principal of the note payable.
n. Made a cash withdrawal.

o0 ow

REQUIRED

Analyze each transaction and show the accounts affected by entering the corresponding
numbers in the appropriate debit or credit column as shown in transaction a. Indicate
no entry, if appropriate.

Transaction Analysis, T Accounts, and Trial Balance

P3. Jennifer Lopez opened a school for administrative skills called Lopez Office Training
and completed the following transactions:

a. Contributed the following assets to the business:

Cash $5,700
Computers 4,300
Office Equipment 3,600

b. Found a location for her business and paid the first month’s rent, $260.

Paid for an advertisement announcing the opening of the school, $190.

Received applications from three students for a four-week secretarial program and
two students for a ten-day keyboarding course. The students will be billed a total of
$1,300.

Purchased supplies on credit, $330.

Billed the enrolled students, $1,740.

Purchased a second-hand computer, $480, and office equipment, $380, on credit.
Paid for the supplies purchased on credit in e, $330.

Paid cash to repair a broken computer, $40.

Received partial payment from students previously billed, $1,080.

Paid the utility bill for the current month, $90.

. Paid an assistant one week’s salary, $440.

m. Made a cash withdrawal of $300.

an

S

(Continued)
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01,3,4

GENERAL LEDGER

103,4,5,7

REQUIRED

1.

Set up the following T accounts: Cash; Accounts Receivable; Supplies; Comput-
ers; Office Equipment; Accounts Payable; J. Lopez, Capital; J. Lopez, Withdraw-
als; Tuition Revenue; Salaries Expense; Utilities Expense; Rent Expense; Repair
Expense; and Advertising Expense.

. Record the transactions directly in the T accounts, using the transaction letter to

identify each debit and credit.

Prepare a trial balance using today’s date.

BUSINESS APPLICATION » Examine transactions f and j. What were the revenues,
and how much cash was received from the revenues? What business issues might
you see arising from the differences in these numbers?

Transaction Analysis, Journal Form, T Accounts, and Trial Balance

P4. Sid Patel bid for and won a concession to rent bicycles in the local park during the
summer. During the month of April, Patel completed the following transactions for his
bicycle rental business:

Apr. 2 Began business by placing $14,400 in a business checking account in the
name of the company.
3 Purchased supplies on account for $300.
4 Purchased 10 bicycles for $5,000, paying $2,400 down and agreeing to pay
the rest in 30 days.
5 Paid $5,800 in cash for a small shed to store the bicycles and to use for other
operations.
8 Paid $800 in cash for shipping and installation costs (considered an addition
to the cost of the shed) to place the shed at the park entrance.
9 Hired a part-time assistant to help out on weekends at $14 per hour.
10 Paid a maintenance person $150 to clean the grounds.
13 Received $1,940 in cash for rentals.
17  Paid $300 for the supplies purchased on April 3.
18 Taid a $110 repair bill on bicycles.
23  Billed a company $220 for bicycle rentals for an employee outing.
25 Paid the $200 fee for April to the Park District for the right to operate the
bicycle concession.
27  Received $1,920 in cash for rentals.
29  Paid the assistant $480.
30 Made a cash withdrawal of $1,000.
REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record these transactions.

2. Set up the following T accounts and post all the journal entries: Cash; Accounts
Receivable; Supplies; Shed; Bicycles; Accounts Payable; S. Patel, Capital; S. Patel,
Withdrawals; Rental Revenue; Wages Expense; Maintenance Expense; Repair
Expense; and Concession Fee Expense.

3. Prepare a trial balance for Patel Rentals as of April 30, 2014.

4. CONCEPT » Compare and contrast how the issues of recognition, valuation, and

classification are settled in the transactions of April 3 and 10.

Transaction Analysis, General Journal, Ledger Accounts, and Trial Balance

P5. Nordtown Company is a marketing firm. The company’s trial balance on August 31,
2014, follows.
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Nordtown Company
Trial Balance

August 31,2014
Cash (111) 10,590
Accounts Receivable (113) 5,500
Office Supplies (116) 610
Office Equipment (146) 4,200
Accounts Payable (212) 2,600
D. Guetta, Capital (311) 18,300

20,900 20,900

During the month of September, the company completed the following transactions:

Sept. 2 Paid rent for September, $650.

3 Received cash from customers on account, $2,300.
7  Ordered supplies, $380.

10  Billed customers for services provided, $2,800.

12 Made a payment on accounts payable, $1,300.

14  Received the supplies ordered on September 7 and agreed to pay for them in
30 days, $380.

17 Discovered some of the supplies were not as ordered and returned them for
full credit, $80.

19  Received cash from a customer for services provided, $4,800.

24 Paid the utility bill for September, $250.

26 Received a bill, to be paid in October, for advertisements placed in the local
newspaper during the month of September to promote Nordstrom Com-
pany, $700.

29  Billed a customer for services provided, $2,700.

30 Paid salaries for September, $3,800.

30 Made a cash withdrawal of $1,200.

REQUIRED

1.

Open accounts in the ledger for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following
accounts: D. Guetta, Withdrawals (313); Marketing Fees (411); Salaries Expense
(511); Utilities Expense (512); Rent Expense (514); and Advertising Expense
(516).

Enter the August 31, 2014, account balances from the trial balance.

Enter the September transactions in the general journal (page 22).

Post the journal entries to the ledger accounts. Be sure to make the appropriate
posting references in the journal and ledger as you post.

Prepare a trial balance as of September 30, 2014.

BUSINESS APPLICATION » Examine the transactions for September 3, 10, 19, and
29. What were the revenues, and how much cash was received from the revenues?
What business issues might you see arising from the differences in these numbers?

ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

02 T Accounts, Normal Balance, and the Accounting Equation

v Total assets: $57,880

P6. Carlson Construction Company builds foundations for buildings and parking lots.

The following alphabetical list shows Carlson’s account balances as of April 30, 2014:

(Continued)
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Accounts Payable $ 3,900 Notes Payable $20,000

Accounts Receivable 10,120 Revenue Earned 17,400

B. Carlson, Capital 40,000 Supplies 6,500

B. Carlson, Withdrawals 7,000 Supplies Expense 7,200

Cash ? Utilities Expense 420

Equipment 27,500 Wages Expense 8,800
REQUIRED

Insert the account at the top of its corresponding T account, and enter the dollar amount
as a normal balance in the account. Determine the balance of cash and then show that
the accounting equation is in balance.

Owner's Equity

r N
Assets = Liabilites + B.Carlson, —  B.Carlson, + Revenues — Expenses
Capital Withdrawals

14-

|

|
R
R

03  Transaction Analysis
P7. The following accounts are applicable to Raymond’s Chimney Sweeps:

1. Cash 7. Accounts Payable

2. Accounts Receivable 8. R. Foth, Capital

3. Supplies 9. R. Foth, Withdrawals
4. Prepaid Insurance 10. Service Revenue

5. Equipment 11. Rent Expense

6. Notes Payable 12. Repair Expense

Raymond’s Chimney Sweeps completed the following transactions:
Debit Credit
Paid for supplies purchased on credit last month. 7 1
Billed customers for services performed.
Paid the current month’s rent.
Purchased supplies on credit.
Received cash from customers for services performed
but not yet billed.
Purchased equipment on account.
Received a bill for repairs.
Returned part of the equipment purchased in f for a credit.
Received payments from customers previously billed.
Paid the bill received in g.
Received an order for services to be performed.
Paid for repairs with cash.
m. Made a payment to reduce the principal of the note payable.
n. Made a cash withdrawal.

REQUIRED

Analyze each transaction and show the accounts affected by entering the corresponding
numbers in the appropriate debit or credit column as shown in transaction a. Indicate
no entry, if appropriate.

oao0os

— o T S Tw
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L03,4,7 Transaction Analysis, T Accounts, and Trial Balance
C’D P8. B. Turner opened a school for administrative skills called Blitz Secretarial Training.

SPREADSHEET

a. Turner contributed the following assets to the business:

Cash $11,400
Computers 8,600
Office Equipment 7,200

b. Found a location for his business and paid the first month’s rent, $520.
Paid for an advertisement announcing the opening of the school, $380.
. Received applications from three students for a four-week secretarial program and
two students for a ten-day keyboarding course. The students will be billed a total of
$2,600.
Purchased supplies on credit, $660.
Billed the enrolled students, $3,480.
Purchased a second-hand computer, $960, and office equipment, $760, on credit.
Paid for the supplies purchased on credit in e, $660.
Paid cash to repair a broken computer, $80.
Received partial payment from students previously billed, $2,160.
Paid the utility bill for the current month, $180.
l. Paid an assistant one week’s salary, $880.
m. Made a cash withdrawal of $600.

REQUIRED
1. Set up the following T accounts: Cash; Accounts Receivable; Supplies; Comput-
ers; Office Equipment; Accounts Payable; B. Turner, Capital; B. Turner, Withdraw-
als; Tuition Revenue; Salaries Expense; Ultilities Expense; Rent Expense; Repair
Expense; and Advertising Expense.
2. Record the transactions directly in the T accounts, using the transaction letter to
identify each debit and credit.
3. Prepare a trial balance using today’s date.
4. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Examine transactions f and j. What were the revenues
and how much cash was received from the revenues? What business issues might
you see arising from the differences in these numbers?

oo

S R

l01,3,4 Transaction Analysis, T Accounts, and Trial Balances

— P9. David Roberts began an upholstery cleaning business on August 1 and engaged in
GENERAL LEDGER ; < -
the following transactions during the month:

Aug. 1 Began business by depositing $30,000 in a bank account in the name of the
company.
Ordered cleaning supplies, $6,000.
Purchased cleaning equipment for cash, $5,600.
Made two months’ van lease payment in advance, $2,400.
Received the cleaning supplies ordered on August 2 and agreed to pay half
the amount in 10 days and the rest in 30 days.
9 Paid for repairs on the van with cash, $2,160.
12 Received cash for cleaning upholstery, $1,920.
17  Paid half the amount owed on supplies received on August 7, $3,000.
21 Billed customers for cleaning upholstery, $2,680.
24 Paid cash for additional repairs on the van, $160.
27  Received $1,200 from the customers billed on August 21.
31 Made a cash withdrawal of $1,400.

REQUIRED

1. Set up the following T accounts: Cash; Accounts Receivable; Cleaning Supplies;
Prepaid Lease; Cleaning Equipment; Accounts Payable; D. Roberts, Capital;
D. Roberts, Withdrawals; Cleaning Revenue; and Repair Expense.

N R W

(Continued)
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D

Record transactions directly in the T accounts. Identify each entry by date.

Prepare a trial balance for Roberts Upholstery Cleaning as of August 31, 2014.

4. CONCEPT » Compare and contrast how the issues of recognition, valuation, and
classification are settled in the transactions of August 7 and 9.

w

L03,4,5,7 Transaction Analysis, General Journal, Ledger Accounts, and Trial Balance

P10. Mount Prospect Nursery School Company provides baby-sitting and child-care
programs. On January 31, 2014, the company had the following trial balance:

el Mount Prospect Nursery School Company

Trial Balance

08

GENERAL LEDGER
January 31, 2014

v 5:Trial balance: $23,805 Debits Credits
Cash (111) 1,870
Accounts Receivable (113) 1,700
Equipment (141) 1,040
Buses (143) 17,400
Notes Payable (211) 15,000
Accounts Payable (212) 1,640
J. Ziden, Capital (311) 5,370

22,010 22,010

During the month of February, the company completed the following transactions:

Feb. Paid this month’s rent, $270.

Received fees for this month’s services, $650.

Purchased supplies on account, $85.

Reimbursed the bus driver for gas expenses, $40.

Ordered playground equipment, $1,000.

Made a payment on account, $170.

Received payments from customers on account, $1,200.

10 Billed customers who had not yet paid for this month’s services, $700.

11  Paid for the supplies purchased on February 4.

13 Purchased and received playground equipment ordered on February 6 for
cash, $1,000.

17  Purchased equipment on account, $290.

19  Paid this month’s utility bill, $145.

22 Received payment for one month’s services from customers previously billed,
$500.

26 Daid part-time assistants for services, $460.

27  Purchased gas and oil for the bus on account, $325.

28 Made a cash withdrawal of $110.

REQUIRED
1. Open accounts in the ledger for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following
ones: Supplies (115); J. Ziden, Withdrawals (313); Service Revenue (411); Rent
Expense (511); Gas and Oil Expense (512); Wages Expense (513); and Ultilities
Expense (514).
. Enter the January 31, 2014, account balances from the trial balance.
. Enter the above transactions in the general journal (Pages 17 and 18).
4. Post the entries to the ledger accounts. Be sure to make the appropriate posting
references in the journal and ledger as you post.
. Prepare a trial balance as of February 28, 2014.
6. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Examine the transactions for February 3,9, 10, and 22.
What were the revenues, and how much cash was received from the revenues? What
business issue might you see arising from the differences in these numbers?
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CASES

01,3  Conceptual Understanding: Valuation and
Classification of Business Transactions

C1. CONCEPT » Tower Garden Center purchased two pre-owned trucks at a cash-only
auction for 15 percent below current market value. The owners have asked you to record
this purchase at current market value. You don’t think that is correct. Write the owners
a brief business memorandum in good form based on your knowledge of Chapter 2.
Explain how the purchase of the pre-owned trucks will affect the balance sheet, include
the entry to record the transaction, and explain why the amount must be at the price
paid for the trucks.

L01,3,6 Conceptual Understanding: Recording of Rebates

C2. CONCEPT > Is it revenue or a reduction of an expense? That is the question compa-
nies that receive manufacturer’s rebates for purchasing a large quantity of product must
answer. Food companies like Sara Lee, Kraft Foods, and Nestlé give supermarkets spe-
cial manufacturer’s rebates of up to 45 percent, depending on the quantities purchased.
Some firms recorded these rebates as revenue, and others recorded them as a reduction
of the cost until the SEC said that only one way is correct. What, then, is the correct way
for supermarkets to record these rebates? Does your answer change net income?

L01,2,3 Interpreting Financial Statements: Interpreting
a Bank’s Financial Statements

C3. Mellon Bank is a large bank holding company. Selected accounts from the com-
pany’s 2011 annual report are as follows (in millions):®

Cash and Due from Banks S 4175

Loans to Customers 43,585
Securities Available for Sale 78,467
Deposits by Customers 219,094

1. Indicate whether each of these accounts is an asset, a liability, or a component of
stockholders’ equity on Mellon Bank’s balance sheet.

2. Assume that you are in a position to do business with Mellon. Show how Mellon
Bank’s accountants would prepare the entry in T account form to record each of the
following transactions:

a. You sell securities in the amount of $2,000 to the bank.
b. You deposit in the bank the $2,000 received from selling the securities.
¢. You borrow $5,000 from the bank.

L07 Interpreting Financial Statements: Cash Flows

C:_D C4.BUSINESS APPLICATION » Having been promoted recently, you now have access to
your firm’s monthly financial statements. You notice that revenues are increasing rapidly
and that income is at an all-time high. The balance sheet shows growth in receivables,
and accounts payable have declined. However, the chief financial officer is concerned
because the firm’s cash flows from operating activities are decreasing. What are some
reasons why a company with a positive net income may fall short of cash from its operat-

ing activities? What could be done to improve this situation?

Annual Report Case: Recognition, Valuation, and Classification

C5. CONCEPT » Refer to the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes
to the financial statements in the CVS annual report in the Supplement to Chapter 16.

1. How does the concept of recognition apply to advertising costs?
2. How does the concept of valuation apply to inventories?
3. How does the concept of classification apply to cash and cash equivalents?
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01,6 Comparison Analysis: Revenue Recognition

C6. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Refer to the financial statements of CVS and Southwest
Airlines Co. in the Supplement to Chapter 16. What is the total revenue for CVS and
Southwest on the respective income statements! How do you think the nature of each
business will affect revenue recognition for prescriptions filled for CVS versus airline
tickets for Southwest? When do you think cash is received and revenues are earned for
each company?

L01,6  Ethical Dilemma: Recognition Point and Ethical Considerations

C7. BUSINESS APPLICATION > Robert Shah, a sales representative for Quality Office
Supplies Corporation, will receive a substantial bonus if he meets his annual sales goal.
The company’s recognition point for sales is the day of shipment. On December 31,
Shah realizes he needs sales of $2,000 to reach his sales goal and receive the bonus. He
calls a purchaser for a local insurance company, whom he knows well, and asks him to
buy $2,000 worth of copier paper today. The purchaser says, “But Robert, that’s more
than a year’s supply for us.” Shah says, “Buy it today. If you decide it’s too much, you
can return however much you want for full credit next month.” The purchaser says,
“Okay, ship it.” The paper is shipped on December 31 and recorded as a sale. On Janu-
ary 15, the purchaser returns $1,750 worth of paper for full credit (approved by Shah)
against the bill. Should the shipment on December 31 be recorded as a sale? Discuss the
cthics of Shah’s action.

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C8. CONCEPT » Using the most recent annual report of the company you have chosen
to study and that you have accessed online at the company’s website, identify in the first
note to the financial statements (usually labeled: Significant Accounting Policies) an
accounting policy that illustrates each of the following;:

1. Recognition
2. Valuation
3. Classification
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CHAPTER 3

Adjusting the Accounts

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Reliable Answering Service

Reliable Answering Service takes telephone messages for doctors, law- LEARNING OBJECTIVES
yers, and other professionals and relays them immediately when they

involve an emergency. At the end of any accounting period, Reliable Defing netincome, and

has many transactions that will affect future periods. Examples include explain the concepts

office supplies and prepaid expenses, which will benefit future periods underlying income measurement.
and, therefore, are recorded as assets. Another example is unearned rev- Distinguish cash basis of
enue, which represents receipts for services the company will not per- '-°2 accounting from accrual

form and earn until a future period. If prepaid expenses and unearned accounting, and explain how accrual
revenue are not accounted for properly at the end of a period, the com-  accounting is accomplished.

pany’s income will be misstated. Similar misstatements can occur when . . .
a company fails to record (accrue) expenses that it incurred or revenue 03 Identify four situations that
that it has earned but not yet received. Knowing the answers to the fol- . require adjus.tmg entries, and
lowing questions will help prevent such misstatements. illustrate typical adjusting entries.

Prepare financial statements

1. CONCEPT » Why are the concepts of continuity, periodicity, and from an adjusted trial balance.

accrual accounting necessary for Reliable to account for transactions that

span accounting periods? 105 Explain the importance of
ethical measurement of net

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » How does Reliable adjust its revenues ~ income and the relation of net income

and expenses so that its net income is properly measured? to cash flows.

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Which accounts on Reliable’s income
statement are potentially affected by adjusting entries? Which account on
Reliable’s balance sheet is never affected by an adjusting entry?
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SECTION 1

CONCEPTS

B Netincome
B Revenues
B Expenses
B Continuity
B Periodicity

B Accrual accounting
(matching rule)

B Revenue recognition

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

o 1 Define net income, and

explain the concepts
underlying income
measurement.

|.02 Distinguisljn cash basis
of accounting from
accrual accounting, and
explain how accrual
accounting is accomplished.

CONCEPTS

&J Concepts Underlying
Income Measurement

For a business to succeed or even survive, it must earn a profit. Profit, however, means
different things to different people. Accountants prefer to use the term net income
because it can be precisely defined as the net increase in owner’s equity that vesults from a
company’s operations. Exhibit 1 illustrates the concepts underlying the measurement of
net income.

Exhibit 1
Concepts Underlying Net Income

Net Income

Revenues minus Expenses

|

Accrual Accounting (Matching Rule)

1

Assumptions

Periodicity Continuity

© Cengage Learning 2014

Net Income

Net income is accumulated in the Owner’s Capital account and reported on the income

statement. Management, owners, and others use it to assess a company’s progress in

meeting the goal of profitability. Readers of income statements need to understand net

income and its strengths and weaknesses as an indicator of a company’s performance.
In its simplest form, net income results when revenues exceed expenses:

Net Income = Revenues — Expenses

When expenses exceed revenues, a net loss occurs.

Revenues are increases in owner’s equity resulting from selling goods, rendering ser-
vices, or performing other business activities. When a business delivers a product or
provides a service to a customer, it usually receives cash or a promise from customers to
pay cash in the near future. In other words, revenue may be earned through the sale of
goods or services, even though the cash may not be received until later. The promise to
pay is recorded in either Accounts Receivable or Notes Receivable. The total of these
accounts and the total cash received from customers in an accounting period are the
company’s revenues for that period.

Expenses arc decreases in owner’s equity resulting from the cost of selling goods or
rendering services and the cost of the activities necessary to carry on a business, such
as attracting and serving customers. Examples include salaries expense, rent expense,
advertising expense, utilities expense, and depreciation (allocation of cost) of a build-
ing or office equipment. These expenses are often called the cost of doing business or
expired costs. Note that the primary purpose of an expense is to generate revenue.
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STUDY NOTE: Accounting periods are
of equal length so that one period can
be compared with the next.
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Not all increases in owner’s equity arise from revenues, nor do all decreases in own-
er’s equity arise from expenses. Owner’s investments increase owner’s equity but are not
revenues, and withdrawals decrease owner’s equity but are not expenses.

Income Measurement Assumptions

Users of financial reports should be aware that estimates and assumptions play a major
role in the measurement of net income and other key indicators of performance. The
major assumptions made in measuring business income are continuity, periodicity, and
accrual accounting (the matching rule).

Continuity Certain expense and revenue transactions are allocated over several
accounting periods. Choosing the number of accounting periods raises the issue of
continuity. What is the expected life of the business? Many businesses last less than
five years, and in any given year, thousands of businesses go bankrupt. The majority
of companies present annual financial statements on the assumption that the business
will continue to operate indefinitely—that is, that the company is a going concern. The
continuity assumption is as follows.

Uniless there is evidence to the contrary, the accountant assumes that the business is
a going concern and will continue to operate indefinitely.

The continuity assumption allows the cost of certain assets to be held on the balance
sheet until a future accounting period, when the cost will become an expense. When a
firm is facing bankruptcy, the accountant may prepare financial statements based on the
assumption that the firm will go out of business and sell all of its assets.

Periodicity Not all transactions can be easily assigned to specific periods. For example,
when a company purchases a building, it must estimate the number of years the build-
ing will be in use. The portion of the cost of the building that is assigned to each period
depends on this estimate and requires an assumption about periodicity. The assumption
is as follows.

Although the lifetime of a business is uncertain, it is nonetheless useful to estimate
the business’s net income in terms of accounting periods.

Financial statements may be prepared for any time period, but generally, to
make comparisons easier, the periods are of equal length. A 12-month accounting
period is called a fiscal year; accounting periods of less than a year are called interim
periods. The fiscal year of many organizations is the calendar year, January 1 to Decem-
ber 31. However, retailers and other companies often end their fiscal years during a
slack season, so that the fiscal year corresponds to the yearly cycle of business activity.
For example, Toys “R” Us’s fiscal year ends in January and Apple Computer’s ends in
September.

Accrual Accounting (Matching Rule) Under accrual accounting (often referred to
as the matching rule) net income is measured by assigning:

Revenues to the accounting period in which the goods are sold or the services
performed.
Expenses to the accounting period in which they are used to produce revenue.

A direct relationship between expenses and revenues is often difficult to identify. When
there is no direct means of connecting expenses and revenues, costs are allocated among
the accounting periods that benefit from the costs. For example, a building’s cost is
expensed over the building’s expected useful life, and interest on investments is recorded
as income even though it may not have been received.
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Match the assumptions or actions with the concepts that follow. SOLUTION

1. Increases in owner’s equity resulting from selling goods, rendering a. Netincome 1.b; 2.3; 3.c
services, or performing other business activities. b. Revenues

2. Increase in owner’s equity that results from a company’s opera- c. Expenses
tions.

3. Decreases in owner’s equity resulting from the cost of selling
goods, rendering services, and other business activities.

TRY IT! SE1,E1A,E1B

Concepts Underlying
Accrual Accounting

The cash basis of accounting is the practice of accounting for revenues in the
period in which cash is received and for expenses in the period in which cash is
paid. With this method, taxable income is calculated as the difference between cash
receipts from revenues and cash payments for expenses. Although this method works
well for some small businesses and many individuals, it does not fit the needs of most
businesses.

In contrast, as noted above, in accrual accounting, revenues and expenses are
recorded when they are earned or incurred rather than when they are received or paid.
Adjusting the accounts is a technique used to accomplish accrual accounting.

Recognizing Revenues

As you may recall, the process of determining when revenue should be recorded is called
revenue recognition. The Securities and Exchange Commission requires that all the
following conditions be met before revenue is recognized:!

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.

A product or service has been delivered.

The seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable.
Collectibility is reasonably ensured.

For example, suppose Blue Design Studio has created a brochure for a customer and
that the transaction meets the SEC’s four criteria:

The company and the customer agree that the customer owes for the service.
The service has been rendered.

Both parties understand the price.

There is a reasonable expectation that the customer will pay the bill.

When Blue bills the customer, it records the transaction as revenue by debiting Accounts
Receivable and crediting Design Revenue. Note that revenue can be recorded because
there is a reasonable expectation that cash will be received.

International Perspective
C Revenue Recognition: Principles Versus Rules

Revenue recognition highlights the differences between international and U.S. accounting standards. Although U.S. standards are referred to as gener-
ally accepted accounting principles, the FASB has issued extensive rules (specific guidance) for revenue recognition in various situations and industries.
The IASB, on the other hand, generally has a few broad IFRS for revenue recognition and leaves it to companies and their auditors to determine how to
apply the broad principle in specific situations. The FASB and IASB are currently working together to converge on a single standard for revenue recogni-
tion; but it is a challenge, given the very different approaches.
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Recognizing Expenses
Expenses are recorded when all of the following conditions are met:

There is an agreement to purchase goods or services.

The goods have been delivered or the services rendered.
A price has been established or can be determined.

The goods or services have been used to produce revenue.

For example, when Blue Design Studio receives its utility bill, it recognizes the expense
as having been incurred and as having helped produce revenue. Blue records this transac-
tion by debiting Utilities Expense and crediting Accounts Payable. Until the bill is paid,
Accounts Payable serves as a holding account. Note that recognition of the expense does
not depend on the payment of cash.

Four conditions must be met before revenue can be recognized. Identify which of SOLUTION

these conditions applies to the following actions: a. Collectibility is reasonably assured.

a. Determines that the firm has a good credit rating. b. The seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable.
b. Agrees to a price for services before it performs them. ¢. A product or service has been delivered.

c. Performs services. d. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.

d. Signs a contract to perform services. TRY ITIE1A, E2A, E1B, E2B
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SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS
B Prepare adjusting entries

B Prepare financial
statements from an
adjusted trial balance

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

L0 3 Identify four situations

that require adjusting
entries, and illustrate typical
adjusting entries.

|.o4 Prepare financial
statements from an
adjusted trial balance.

(

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

The Adjustment Process

Accrual accounting also involves adjusting the accounts. Adjustments are necessary
because the accounting period, by definition, ends on a particular day. The balance sheet
must list all assets and liabilities as of the end of that day, and the income statement must
contain all revenues and expenses applicable to the period ending on that day. Although
operating a business is a continuous process, there must be a cutoff point for the peri-
odic reports. Some transactions invariably span the cutoff point, and therefore, some
accounts need adjustment.

In Exhibit 2, some of the accounts in Blue Design Studio’s trial balance as of July 31
do not show the correct balances for preparing the financial statements. The trial balance
lists prepaid rent of $3,200 for the months of July and August. So, on July 31, one-half
of the $3,200 represents rent expense for July, and the remaining $1,600 represents an
asset that will be used in August. An adjustment is needed to reflect the $1,600 balance
in the Prepaid Rent account and the $1,600 rent expense. As you will see, several other
accounts in Blue’s trial balance do not reflect their correct balances. Like the Prepaid
Rent account, they need to be adjusted.

Exhibit 2
Trial Balance for Blue Design Studio

Blue Design Studio
Trial Balance

July 31,2014

Cash 22,480
Accounts Receivable 4,600
Office Supplies 5,200
Prepaid Rent 3,200
Office Equipment 16,320
Accounts Payable 6,280
Unearned Design Revenue 1,400
J. Blue, Capital 40,000
J. Blue, Withdrawals 2,800
Design Revenue 12,400
Wages Expense 4,800
Utilities Expense 680

60,080 60,080

When transactions span more than one accounting period, accrual accounting
requires the use of adjusting entries. Exhibit 3 shows the four situations in which
adjusting entries must be made. Each adjusting entry affects one balance sheet account
and one income statement account. Note that adjusting entries provide information
about past or future cash flows but never involve an entry to the Cash account.
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Exhibit 3
The Four Types of Adjustments

STUDY NOTE: The expired portion
of a prepayment is converted to an
expense; the unexpired portion remains
an asset.

91

Balance Sheet

Asset Liability
1. Allocating recorded 2. Recognizing

€ costs between two unrecorded

o Expense .

£ or more accounting expenses.

g periods.
: 8
b v
2 v .. .
€ £ 4. Recognizing 3. Allocating recorded,
§ S Revenue unrecorded, unearned revenues
S £ earned revenues. between two or more
§ accounting periods.
&)

The four types of adjusting entries are as follows.

Type 1. Allocating recorded costs between two or more accounting periods.
Examples of these costs are prepayments of rent, insurance, and supplies and the
depreciation of plant and equipment. The adjusting entry involves an asset account
and an expense account.

Type 2. Recognizing unrecorded expenses. Examples of these expenses are wages
and interest that have been incurred but are not recorded during an accounting
period. The adjusting entry involves an expense account and a liability account.
Type 3. Allocating recorded, unearned revenues between two or more account-
ing periods. Examples include payments received in advance and deposits made for
goods or services to be delivered or provided in the future. The adjusting entry
involves a liability account and a revenue account.

Type 4. Recognizing unrecorded, earned revenues. An example is revenue that
a company has earned for providing a service but for which it has not billed or col-
lected a fee by the end of the accounting period. The adjusting entry involves an
asset account and a revenue account.

Adjusting entries are either deferrals or accruals.

A deferral is the postponement of the recognition of an expense already paid (Type
1 adjustment) or of revenue received in advance (Type 3 adjustment). The cash pay-
ment or receipt is recorded before the adjusting entry is made.

An accrual is the recognition of expense (Type 2 adjustment) or a revenue (Type 4
adjustment) that has arisen but not been recorded during the accounting period.
The cash payment or receipt occurs in a future accounting period, after the adjust-
ing entry has been made.

Type 1 Adjustment: Allocating Recorded
Costs (Deferred Expenses)

Companies often make expenditures that benefit more than one period. These costs are
debited to an asset account. At the end of an accounting period, the amount of the asset
that has been used is transferred from the asset account to an expense account. Two
important adjustments of this type are for prepaid expenses and the depreciation of plant
and equipment.

Prepaid Expenses Companies customarily pay some expenses, including those for
rent, supplies, and insurance, in advance. These costs are called prepaid expenses.
By the end of an accounting period, a portion or all of the prepaid services or goods
will have been used. The required adjusting entry reduces the asset and increases the
expense, as shown in Exhibit 4. The amount of the adjustment equals the cost of the
goods or services used or expired.
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Balance Sheet

Asset
1. Allocating recorded costs between two or more accounting periods.
Asset Account Expense Account
. Adjusting Adjusting Liability
c Expense Entry Entry
g Credit Debit
% | Amount equals cost 1 2. Recognizing
& of goods or services unrecorded
g used up or expired. expenses.
o
v
£
4. Recognizing 3. Allocating recorded,
unrecorded, unearned revenues
Revenue
earned revenues. between two or more
accounting periods.

Exhibit 4
Adjustment for Prepaid

(Deferred) Expenses If adjusting entries for prepaid expenses are not made at the end of an accounting

period, both the balance sheet and the income statement will present incorrect informa-
tion. The company’s assets will be overstated, and its expenses will be understated. Thus,
owner’s equity on the balance sheet and net income on the income statement will be
overstated. Examples of adjusting entries for Blue Design Studio follow.

Adjustment for Prepaid Rent

Transaction Blue Design Studio paid two months’ rent in advance at the beginning of
July. The advance payment resulted in an asset—the right to occupy the office for two
months. As each day in the month passed, part of the asset’s cost expired and became an
expense. By July 31, one-half of the asset’s cost ($1,600) had expired.

Analysis The journal entry to record the expiration of prepaid rent
V decreases the asset account Prepaid Rent with a credit
A increases the expense account Rent Expense with a debit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Prepaid Rent Rent Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July3 3,200 | July31 1,600 July31 1,600
Bal. 1,600

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July31  Rent Expense >1,600
Prepaid Rent > 1,600

Comment The Prepaid Rent account now has a balance of $1,600, which represents
one month’s rent that will be expensed during August.
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The Adjustment Process
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Think of accounting for sup-
plies as using a storage cabinet
in an office. Supplies are put

in the cabinet when purchased
(assets). Employees take some
out and use them during the
accounting period (expenses).
At the end of the accounting
period, the supplies left in the
cabinet can be used in the next
period (assets).

STUDY NOTE: In accounting,
depreciation refers only to the allocation
of an asset’s cost, not to any decline in
the asset’s value.

STUDY NOTE: The difficulty in
estimating an asset’s useful life is further
evidence that the net income figure is, at
best, an estimate.

Adjustment for Supplies

Transaction Blue Design Studio purchased $5,200 of
office supplies in early July. At the end of July, an inven-
tory shows that office supplies costing $3,660 are still on
hand. This means that of the $5,200 of supplies originally
purchased, $1,540 worth were used (became an expense)
by July 31.

Analysis The journal entry to record the consumption of
office supplies

V decrenses the asset account Office Supplies with a credit

A increases the expense account Office Supplies Expense with

a debit
Application of Double Entry
Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Office Supplies Office Supplies Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July5 5,200 | July31 1,540 July 31 1,540
Bal. 3,660
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July31  Office Supplies Expense > 1,540
Office Supplies > 1,540

Comment The asset account Office Supplies now reflects the correct balance of $3,660
of supplies yet to be consumed.

Depreciation of Plant and Equipment When a company buys a long-term asset—
such as a building, truck, computer, or store fixture—it is, in effect, prepaying for the
usefulness of that asset for as long as it benefits the company. Because a long-term
asset is a deferral of an expense, the accountant must allocate the cost of the asset over
its estimated useful life. The amount allocated to any one accounting period is called
depreciation (or depreciation expense).

It is often impossible to tell exactly how long an asset will last or how much of the
asset has been used in any one period. For this reason, depreciation must be estimated.
Accountants have developed a number of methods for estimating depreciation.?

To maintain historical costs, separate accounts are used to accumulate the depre-
ciation on each long-term asset. These Accumulated Depreciation accounts are called
contra accounts. A contra account is paired with a related account—in our example, an
asset account. The balance of a contra account is shown on a financial statement as a
deduction from its related account. The net amount is called the carrying value (or book
value) of the asset. As time passes, the accumulated depreciation grows, and the carrying
value of the asset declines.

Adjustment for Plant and Equipment

Transaction On July 31, Blue Design Studio records $300 of depreciation of office
equipment.
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STUDY NOTE: Remember that in
accrual accounting, an expense must
be recorded in the period in which it is

incurred regardless of when payment is

made.

Analysis The journal entry to record depreciation

A increases the contra account Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment with a
credit

A increases the expense account Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment with a
debit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities I Owner’s Equity
Depreciation Expense—
Office Equipment Office Equipment
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July6 16,320 July31 300
Accumulated Depreciation—
Office Equipment
Dr. Cr.
July31 300
Journal Entry
Dr. @n
July31  Depreciation Expense—
Office Equipment 300 «—
Accumulated Depreciation—
Office Equipment > 300

Comment The carrying value of Office Equipment is $16,020 ($16,320 — $300) and
is presented on the balance sheet as follows.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Office equipment $16,320

Less accumulated depreciation 300 $16,020

Business Application Netflix has prepaid expenses and property and equipment
similar to those in the examples we have presented. Among Netflix’s prepaid expenses
are payments to movie companies for rights to DVDs called Prepaid Content. By paying
in advance, Netflix is able to negotiate lower prices. These fixed payments are debited
to Prepaid Content. When the movies produce revenue, the prepaid amounts are trans-
ferred to expense through adjusting entries.?

Type 2 Adjustment: Recognizing Unrecorded
Expenses (Accrued Expenses)

Usually, at the end of an accounting period, some expenses incurred during the period
have not been recorded in the accounts. These expenses require adjusting entries.
One such expense is interest on borrowed money. Each day, interest accumulates on
the debt. As shown in Exhibit 5, an adjusting entry records the accumulated interest,
which is an expense of the period, and the corresponding liability to pay the interest.
Other common unrecorded expenses are wages and utilities. As the expense and the
corresponding liability accumulate, they are said to accrue—hence the term accrued
expenses.
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Income Statement

Balance Sheet

Liability
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Asset Adjusting Adjusting
Entry Entry
Credit Debit

1. Allocating recorded

2. Recognizing unrecorded expenses.

Liability Account

| Amount equals cost I

Expense Account

Expense costs between two
Bl TETE SERe T g of expense incurred.
periods.
4. Recognizing 3. Allocating recorded,
Revenue unrecorded, unearned revenues

earned revenues.

between two or more

accounting periods.
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Exhibit 5
Adjustment for Unrecorded
(Accrued) Expenses

Adjustment for Unrecorded (Accrued) Wages

Transaction Suppose Blue Design Studio has two pay periods a month rather than one.
In July, its pay periods end on the 12th and the 26th, as indicated in the calendar below.

July

Sun| M T W | Th F Sa
1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 |10 | 11 | 12 | 13
14 15 16 17 18 19 | 20
21 22 | 23 | 24 | 25 | 26 | 27
28 [ 29 | 30 | 31

By the end of business on July 31, Blue’s assistant will have worked three days (Mon-
day, Tuesday, and Wednesday) beyond the last pay period. The employee has earned the
wages for those days but will not be paid until the first payday in August. The wages for
these three days are rightfully an expense for July, and the liabilities should reflect that
the company owes the assistant for those days. Because the assistant’s wage rate is $2,400
every two weeks, or $240 per day ($2,400 +10 working days), the expense is $720
($240 X 3 days). On July 31, Blue would record the $720 accrual of unrecorded wages.

Analysis The journal entry to record the accrual of wages
A increases the owner’s equity account Wages Expense with a debit
A increases the liability account Wages Payable with a credit
Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Wages Payable Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July31 720 July 26 4,800
31 7201
Bal. 5,520
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July31  Wages Expense 720 «————
Wages Payable S — P10
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STUDY NOTE: Unearned revenue is a

Comment Note that the increase in Wages Expense will decrease owner’s equity and
that total wages for the month are $5,520, of which $720 will be paid next month.

Business Application In 2011, Netflix had accrued expenses of $63,693,000. If the
expenses had not been accrued, Netflix’s liabilities would be significantly understated, as
would the corresponding expenses on Netflix’s income statement. The end result would
be an overstatement of the company’s earnings.

Type 3 Adjustment: Allocating Recorded,
Unearned Revenues (Deferred Revenues)

When a company receives revenues in advance, it has an obligation to deliver goods or

liability because there is an obligation to
deliver goods or perform a service, or to
return the payment. Once the goods have
been delivered or the service performed,

perform services. Unearned revenues are therefore shown in a liability account.
For example, publishing companies usually receive cash in advance for magazine
subscriptions. These receipts are recorded in a liability account, Unearned Subscrip-

the liability is transferred to revenue.

tions. If the company fails to deliver the magazines, subscribers are entitled to their
money back. As the company delivers each issue of the magazine, it earns a part of the
advance receipts. This earned portion must be transferred from the Unearned Subscrip-

Exhibit 6
Adjustment for Unearned
(Deferred) Revenues

Asset

tions account to the Subscription Revenue account, as shown in Exhibit 6.

Balance Sheet

Liability

1. Allocating recorded

2. Recognizing

unrecorded
expenses.

Expense costs between two
or more accounting
periods.

4. Recognizing

Revenue unrecorded,

earned revenues.

3. Allocating recorded, unearned revenues between two or more
accounting periods.

Liability Account Revenue Account

Income Statement

Adjusting Adjusting
Entry Entry
Debit Credit

Amount equals price T
of services performed
or goods delivered.

Adjustment for Unearned Revenue

Transaction During July, Blue Design Studio received $1,400 from another firm as
advance payment for a series of brochures. By the end of the month, it had completed
$800 of work on the brochures, and the other firm had accepted the work. On July
31, Blue would record the performance of services for which $800 cash was received in
advance.

Analysis The journal entry to record performing services for which cash was received
in advance

A increases the owner’s equity account Design Revenue with a credit

V decreases the liability account Unearned Design Revenue with a debit
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Exhibit 7
Adjustment for Unrecorded
(Accrued) Revenues

Income Statement

Revenue
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity

Unearned Design Revenue Design Revenue

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July31 800 | July19 1,400 July 10 2,800
Bal. 600 15 9,600

31 800 —
Bal. 13,200
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July31  Unearned Design Revenue L > 800
Design Revenue 800 =

Comment Unearned Design Revenue now reflects the amount of work still to be per-
formed, $600.

Business Application Netflix has a current liability account called Deferred (Unearned)
Revenue. Deferred revenue consists of subscriptions (monthly payments) billed in advance
to customers. Subscription revenues are pro-rated over each subscriber’s monthly sub-
scription period. As time passes and customers use the service, the revenue is transferred
from Netflix’s Deferred Revenue account to its Subscription Revenue account.

Type 4 Adjustment: Recognizing Unrecorded,
Earned Revenues (Accrued Revenues)

Accrued revenues are revenues that a company has earned by performing a service or
delivering goods but for which no entry has been made in the accounting records. Any
revenues earned but not recorded during an accounting period require an adjusting
entry that debits an asset account and credits a revenue account, as shown in Exhibit 7.
For example, the interest on a note receivable is earned day by day but may not be
received until another accounting period. In this case, Interest Receivable should be

Balance Sheet

Expense

Asset

Liability

1. Allocating recorded
costs between two
or more accounting
periods.

2. Recognizing
unrecorded
expenses.

4. Recognizing unrecorded, earned revenues.

Asset Account

Revenue Account

3. Allocating recorded,
unearned revenues
between two or more
accounting periods.

Adjusting Adjusting
Entry Entry
Debit Credit

Amount equals price
of goods delivered or

services performed.
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debited and Interest Income should be credited for the interest accrued at the end of
the current period.

When a company earns revenue by performing a service—such as designing a series
of brochures—but will not receive the revenue until a future accounting period, it must
make an adjusting entry. This type of adjusting entry involves an asset account and a
revenue account.

Adjustment for Design Revenue

Transaction During July, Blue Design Studio agrees to create two advertisements for
Maggio’s Pizza Company and to finish the first advertisement by July 31. By the end
of July, Blue has earned $400 for completing the first advertisement, but it will not bill
Maggio’s until the entire project has been completed. On July 31, Blue records the
accrual of $400 of unrecorded revenue.

Analysis The journal entry to record the accrual of unrecorded revenue
A increases the owner’s equity account Design Revenue with a credit
A increases the asset account Accounts Receivable with a debit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity

Accounts Receivable Design Revenue

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
July 15 9,600 | July22 5,000 July 10 2,800
31 400 15 9,600
Bal. 5,000 31 800

31 400 —
Bal. 13,600
Journal Entry
Dr. @n
July31  Accounts Receivable —> 400
Design Revenue 400 <=

Comment Design Revenue now reflects the total revenue earned during July, $13,600.
On the balance sheet, revenues that have been earned but not recorded are usually com-
bined with accounts receivable.

Business Application Since Netflix’s subscribers pay their subscriptions in advance
by credit card, Netflix does not need to bill customers for services provided but not paid.
The company is in the enviable position of having no accounts receivable and thus a
high degree of liquidity.

A Note About Business Transactions

Thus far, we have presented a full analysis of each journal entry and showed you the
thought process behind each entry. Because you should now be fully aware of the effects
of transactions on the accounting equation and the rules of debit and credit, we present
simplified journal entries in the rest of the book.
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On December 31, the end of the current fiscal year, the following information is available to assist
Bora Company’s accountants in making adjusting entries:

a. Bora’s Supplies account shows a beginning balance of $6,000. Purchases during the year were 1. Identify each adjustment as a Type 1, 2, 3, or 4
$10,300. The end-of-year inventory reveals supplies on hand of $3,000. adjusting entry.
b. On July 1, the company completed negotiations with a client and accepted an advance of 2. Prepare adjusting entries for each item listed.

$4,800 for services to be performed monthly for a year. The $4,800 was credited to Unearned
Services Revenue.

¢. Among the assets of the company is a note receivable in the amount of $100,000. On Decem-
ber 31, the accrued interest on this note amounted to $6,000.

d. On Saturday, January 3, the company, which is on a six-day workweek, will pay its regular
employees their weekly wages of $9,000.

SOLUTION
1. a.Type 1; b. Type 3; c. Type 4; d. Type 2

2.
Dr. Cr.
a. Dec.31  Supplies Expense 13,300
Supplies 13,300
To record supplies used
(86,000 + $10,300 - $3,000 = $13,300)
b. Dec.31 Unearned Services Revenue 2,400
Services Revenue 2,400
To record service revenue earned
[($4,800/12 months) X 6 months = $2,400]
¢. Dec.31 Interest Receivable 6,000
Interest Income 6,000
To record interest earned but not received

d. Dec.31  Wages Expense 4,500
Wages Payable 4,500

To record wages incurred but not paid
[($9,000/6 days) X 3 days = $4,500]

TRY IT! SE2, SE3, SE4, SE5, SE6, E1A, E3A, E4A, E5A, E6A, E7A, E8A, E9A, E1B, E3B, E4B, E5B, E6B, E7B, E8B, E9B

Using the Adjusted Trial Balance
to Prepare Financial Statements

After adjusting entries have been recorded and posted, an adjusted trial balance is pre-
pared by listing all accounts and their balances. If the adjusting entries have been posted
to the accounts correctly, the adjusted trial balance will have equal debit and credit
totals. Exhibit 8 shows the adjusted trial balance for Blue Design Studio and its rela-
tionship to the company’s income statement, balance sheet, and statement of owner’s
equity. Some accounts in Exhibit 8, such as Cash and Accounts Payable, have the same
balances as in the trial balance in Exhibit 2 because no adjusting entries affected them.
The balances of other accounts, such as Office Supplies and Prepaid Rent, differ from
those in the trial balance because adjusting entries did affect them. The adjusted trial
balance also includes accounts that do not appear in the trial balance—for example,
depreciation accounts and Wages Payable.
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Exhibit 8

Relationship of the Adjusted Trial Balance to the Income
Statement, Statement of Owner’s Equity, and Balance Sheet

Blue Design Studio
Adjusted Trial Balance

July 31,2014
Cash 22,480
Accounts Receivable 5,000
Office Supplies 3,660
Prepaid Rent 1,600
Office Equipment 16,320
Accumulated Depreciation—

Office Equipment 300
Accounts Payable 6,280
Unearned Design Revenue 600
Wages Payable 720
J. Blue, Capital 40,000
J. Blue, Withdrawals 2,800
Design Revenue 13,600
Wages Expense 5,520
Utilities Expense 680
Rent Expense 1,600
Office Supplies Expense 1,540
Depreciation Expense—

Office Equipment 300

61,500 61,500

STUDY NOTE: The net income figure
from the income statement is needed
to prepare the statement of owner’s
equity, and the bottom-line figure of
that statement is needed to prepare the
balance sheet. This dictates the order in
which the statements are prepared.

Blue Design Studio
Income Statement
For the Month Ended July 31,2014

Revenues:
Design revenue $13,600
Expenses:
Wages expense $5,520
Utilities expense 680
Rent expense 1,600
Office supplies expense 1,540
Depreciation expense—
office equipment 300
Total expenses 9,640
Net income $ 3,960
Blue Design Studio
Statement of Owner’s Equity
For the Month Ended July 31, 2014
J. Blue, capital, July 1, 2014 S 0
Investment by J. Blue 40,000
Net income 3,960«—
Subtotal $43,960
Less withdrawals 2,800
J. Blue, capital, July 31,2014 $41,160 —
Blue Design Studio
Balance Sheet
July 31,2014
Assets
Cash $22,480
Accounts receivable 5,000
Office supplies 3,660
Prepaid rent 1,600
Office equipment $16,320
Less accumulated depreciation 300 16,020
Total assets $48,760
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 6,280
Unearned design revenue 600
Wages payable 720
Total liabilities $ 7,600 z
Owner’s Equity g
J. Blue, capital 41,160« 3
Total liabilities and owner’s equity $48,760 g
[&]
°

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



101

Exhibit 9
Effects of Adjusting Entries on the Financial Statements

Balance Sheet
Income Statement Statement of 12/31/14
Owner’s Capital
For Year Ended 12/31/14 g heERs LI )
For Year Ended 12/31/14 Gl Accounts payable
Revenues : X Receivables ~ Wages payable
— Costs and expenses Own'\t]:-r s capital, (1|2/3)1/ 13 Inventory etc.
_— _,—> + Net income (loss Building —T T
: Wi : otal liabilities
Net income (loss) Withdrawals E?cumment Owner's Equity

Owner's capital, 12/31/14 ——n1—>

Owner's capital
Total owner's equity

Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Equity

<+
=1
«
o
£
IS
@
®
pt
@
o
@
=)
c
5}
(&)
©

The adjusted trial balance facilitates the preparation of the income statement, the
statement of owner’s equity, and the balance sheet. As shown in Exhibit 8, the revenue
and expense accounts are used to prepare the income statement, and the asset and liabil-
ity accounts are used to prepare the balance sheet.

Notice that the net income from the income statement is combined with the With-
drawals account on the statement of owner’s equity to give the net change in the J. Blue,
Capital account. The balance of J. Blue, Capital at July 31 is used in preparing the bal-
ance sheet.

Adjusting Entries and the
Financial Statements

Exhibit 9 shows that adjusting entries always affect at least one balance sheet account
and one income statement account but not the statement of cash flows.

The adjusted trial balance for Carroll Company SOLUTION

on December 31, 2014, contains the following Net income = Service Revenue — Rent Expense — Wages Expense — Telephone Expense

accounts and balances: D. Carroll, Capital, $300 = $1,000 — $300 — $400 — $100

(as of December 1, 2014); D. Carroll, Withdrawals, = $1,000 — $800

$100; Service Revenue, $1,000; Rent Expense, = $200

$300; Wages Expense, $400; and Telephone Carroll Company

Expense, $100. Compute net income and prepare Statement of Owner’s Equity

a statement of owner’s equity in proper form for For the Month Ended December 31,2014

the month of December. D. Carroll, capital, December 1, 2014 $300
Net income 200
Subtotal $500
Less withdrawals _100
D. Carroll, capital, December 31,2014 $400

TRY IT! SE7, SE8, E10A, E10B
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SECTION 3

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS
B Ethics

B Cash flows

B Liquidity

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

L05 .Explain the :
importance of ethical
measurement of netincome
and the relation of net
income to cash flows.

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

Net Income: Ethical Measurement
and Cash Flows

In this section, we consider the ethical measurement of net income and the relation of
accrual-based net income to cash flows.

Ethical Considerations for Business

Account adjustments take time to calculate and enter in the records. Also, adjusting
entries do not affect cash flows in the current period because they never involve the
Cash account. You might ask, “Why go to all the trouble of making them? Why worry
about them?” For one thing, the SEC has identified issues related to accrual accounting
and adjustments as an area of utmost importance because of the potential for abuse and
misrepresentation.*

All adjustments are important because of their effect on profitability and liquidity.
Adjusting entries affect net income, and they affect profitability comparisons from one
period to the next. They also affect assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and thus
provide information about a company’s future cash inflows and outflows. This informa-
tion is needed to assess the need for cash to pay ongoing obligations. The potential for
abuse arises because judgment underlies the adjusting entries. When this judgment is
misused, performance measures can be misleading.

Applying accrual accounting involves making assumptions. It also involves exercis-
ing judgment. Consider the assumptions and judgment involved in estimating the useful
life of a building. The estimate should be based on realistic assumptions, but manage-
ment has latitude in making that estimate, and its judgment will affect the final net
income that is reported.

The manipulation of revenues and expenses to achieve a specific outcome is called
earnings management. Rescarch has shown that companies that manage their earnings
are much more likely to exceed projected earnings targets by a little than to fall short by
a little. Management may want to manage carnings to keep them from falling short in
order to:

Meet a previously announced goal and thus meet the expectations of the market.
Keep the company’s stock price from dropping.

Meet a goal that will enable it to earn bonuses.

Avoid embarrassment.

Earnings management, though not the best practice, is not always illegal. However,
when the estimates involved in earnings management begin moving outside a reasonable
range, the financial statements become misleading. For instance, net income is mislead-
ing when revenue is overstated by a significant amount or when expenses are under-
stated by a significant amount. As noted earlier in the text, the preparation of financial
statements that are intentionally misleading constitutes fraudulent financial reporting.
Evidence of fraudulent financial reporting is often evidenced by lack of sufficient cash
flows as explained in the next section.
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4
. Business Perspective

Adjusting Entries and Fraudulent Financial Reporting

Improper adjusting entries often play an important role in companies that fraudulently prepare the financial statements. The reason is that adjustments
may easily be falsely prepared or ignored. The most common fraud technique involved improper revenue recognition, followed by the overstatement of
existing assets or capitalization of expenses. Revenue may be overstated by simply debiting Accounts Receivable and crediting Revenue. Expenses may
be understated by recording expenses as assets or keeping on the balance sheet assets that have been used up. The SEC investigated 347 alleged cases
of public company fraudulent financial reporting from 1998 to 2007. Consistent with the high-profile frauds at Enron, WorldCom, etc., the dollar
magnitude of fraudulent financial reporting soared in the last decade, with an average of nearly $400 million per case.®

© Alija / iStockphoto.com

€I Using Accrual-Based Information to
Make Management Decisions

Management has the short-range goal of ensuring that it has sufficient cash to ensure
the company’s liquidity. Ultimately, cash must flow from income-producing activities
for a company to be successful. To plan payments to creditors and assess the need for
short-term borrowing, managers must know how to use accrual-based information to
analyze cash flows.

Almost every revenue or expense account on the income statement has one or more
related accounts on the balance sheet. For instance, Supplies Expense is related to Sup-
plies, Wages Expense is related to Wages Payable, and Design Revenue is related to
Unearned Design Revenue. As we have shown, these accounts are related by making
adjusting entries, the purpose of which is to apply accrual accounting to the measure-
ment of net income.

A company’s cash inflows and cash outflows can also be determined by analyzing
these relationships. For example, suppose that after receiving the financial statements in
Exhibit 8, management wants to know how much cash was expended for office supplies.
On the income statement, Office Supplies Expense is $1,540, and on the balance sheet,
Oftice Supplies is $3,660. Because July was the company’s first month of operation,
there was no prior balance of office supplies, so the amount of cash expended for office
supplies during the month was $5,200 ($1,540 + $3,660 = $5,200). Thus, the cash
flow used in purchasing office supplies—$5,200—was much greater than the amount
expensed in determining income—$1,540. Management can anticipate that the cash
needed may be less than the amount expensed because the company will probably not
have to buy office supplies in August. Understanding these cash flow effects enables
management to better predict the business’s need for cash.

The general rule for determining the cash flow received from any revenue or paid
for any expense (except depreciation, which is a special case) is to determine the poten-
tial cash payments or cash receipts and deduct the amount not paid or not received. As
shown in Exhibit 10, the application of the general rule varies with the type of asset or
liability account.

4
.. Business Perspective

Are Misstatements of Earnings Always Overstatements?

Not all misstatements of earnings are overstatements. For instance, privately held companies, which do not have to be concerned about the effect of
their earnings announcements on owners or investors, may understate income to reduce or avoid income taxes. In an unusual case involving a public
company, the SEC cited and fined Microsoft for understating its income. Microsoft, a very successful company, accomplished this by overstating its
unearned revenue on the balance sheet. The company’s motive in trying to appear less successful than it actually was may have been that it was facing
government charges of being a monopoly.®

© Alija / iStockphoto.com
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Type of Account Potential Payment or Receipt Not Paid or Received Result
§ Prepaid Expense Ending Balance ~ + Expense for the Period — Beginning Balance = Cash Payments for Expenses
g Unearned Revenue Ending Balance  + Revenue for the Period — Beginning Balance = Cash Receipts from Revenues
% Accrued Payable Beginning Balance + Expense for the Period — Ending Balance = Cash Payments for Expenses
§ Accrued Receivable Beginning Balance + Revenue for the Period — Ending Balance = Cash Receipts from Revenues
o
EXhibi_t 19 For instance, suppose that on May 31, the balance of Prepaid Insurance was $480,
< Determination of Cash FIOWS, and that on June 30, the balance was $670. If the insurance expense during June was
from Accrual-Based Information $120, the amount of cash expended on insurance during June can be computed as

____APPLY IT! 2

Supplies had a balance of $400 at the end of May and $360 at SOLUTION
the end of June. Supplies Expense was $550 for the month of
June. How much cash was paid for supplies during June?

TriLevel Problem

Reliable Answering Service

Jasmin Awad/iStockphoto

follows.

Prepaid Insurance at June 30 $670
Insurance Expense during June 120
Potential cash payments for insurance $790
Less Prepaid Insurance at May 31 480
Cash payments for insurance during June $3£

The beginning balance is deducted because it was paid in a prior period. Note that the
cash payments equal the expense plus the increase in the balance of the Prepaid Insur-
ance account [$120 + ($670 — $480) = $310]. In this case, the cash paid was almost
three times the amount of insurance expense. In future months, cash payments are likely
to be less than the expense.

Supplies at June 30 $360
Supplies Expense during June 550
Potential cash payments for supplies $910
Less Supplies at May 31 400
Cash payments for supplies during June $5_10
TRY IT! SE9, SE10,E11A,E12A,E11B,E12B

The beginning of this chapter focused on Reliable Answering Service, a company that has
many transactions that span accounting periods. Complete the following requirements in
order to answer the questions posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Section 1: Concepts

As we learned in the chapter opener, Reliable has many transactions that will affect future
periods like office supplies, prepaid expenses, and unearned revenue. Why are the concepts
of continuity, periodicity, and accrual accounting necessary for Reliable to account for transac-
tions that span accounting periods?

Section 2: Accounting Applications
How does Reliable adjust its revenues and expenses so that its net income is properly
measured?
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Reliable’s trial balance follows.

AlB]| [ | D | E

1 Reliable Answering Service
2] Trial Balance
3] December 31,2014

4
5 |Cash 2,160

6 |Accounts Receivable 1,250
7 Office Supplies 180

8 |Prepaid Insurance 240
? Office Equipment 3,400
10|Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 600
F Accounts Payable 700
12|Unearned Revenue 460
ET. Ramos, Capital 4,870
ET. Ramos, Withdrawals 400
[15|Answering Service Revenue 2,900
|16|Wages Expense 1,500

17|Rent Expense 400
118, 9,530 9,530
19

The following information is also available for the company on December 31, 2014:

Insurance that expired during December amounted to $40.

. Office supplies on hand on December 31 totaled $75.

Depreciation for December totaled $100.

. Accrued wages on December 31 totaled $120.

Revenues earned for services performed in December but not billed by the end of the
month totaled $300.

Revenues received in advance of services still to be performed totaled $300 at the end
of the year.

PonoTw

bana

Required
In order to understand how Reliable adjusts its revenues and expenses so that its net
income is properly measured, complete the following:

1. Determine the required adjusting entries, and record them in the general journal.

2. Post the entries to the T accounts. Open new T accounts as needed.

3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance.

4. Prepare an income statement, a statement of owner’s equity, and a balance sheet for
the month ended December 31, 2014.

Section 3: Business Applications
Which accounts on Reliable’s income statement are potentially affected by adjusting entries?
Which account on Reliable’s balance sheet is never affected by an adjusting entry?

SOLUTION  Section 1: Concepts

Reliable applies the concept of continuity when its accountants assume that it will con-
tinue to operate indefinitely. The company applies the concept of periodicity by estimating
its net income in terms of accounting periods. Reliable uses accrual accounting to measure
net income by recognizing revenues when they are earned, and recognizing expenses when
they are incurred. This process may require adjustment of income statement and balance
sheet accounts except Cash.
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Chapter 3: Adjusting the Accounts

Section 2: Accounting Applications

1.
Dr. Cr.
a. Dec.31 Insurance Expense 40
Prepaid Insurance 40
To record expired insurance
b. Dec.31 Office Supplies Expense 105
Office Supplies 105
To record office supplies used (5180 — $75 = $105)
c. Dec.31 Depreciation Expense 100
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 100
To record depreciation expense
d. Dec.31 Wages Expense 120
Wages Payable 120
To record wages incurred but not paid
e. Dec.31 Accounts Receivable 300
Answering Service Revenue 300
To record revenues earned but not received
f. Dec.31 Unearned Revenues 160
Answering Service Revenue 160
To record revenues earned by end of year
(5460 — $300 = $160)
2.
Al B lcl b EHrl e vl o+ Pkl L [m] N
1 Cash Accounts Receivable Office Supplies
2|Bal. 2160 Bal. 1,250 Ba. 180 | (b) 105
3 (e) 300 Bal. 75
4 Bal. 1,550
? Accumulated Depreciation—|
6 Prepaid Insurance Office Equipment Office Equipment
7|Bal.  240] (a) 40 Bal. 3400| Bal. 600
8 | Bal. 200 (c) 100
9 n Bal. 700
10
11 Accounts Payable Unearned Revenue Wages Payable
12 \ |Bal. 700 @ () 160 | Bal. | 460 \ [ @ 120
13 Bal. 300
14 Answering
15 T. Ramos, Capital T. Ramos, Withdrawals Service Revenue
16] | | Bal. 4870 Bal. 400] | Bal. 2,900
17| (e) 300
18] [0} 160
19) Bal. 3,360
20
21 Wages Expense Rent Expense Insurance Expense
22[Bal. 1,500 Ba. 400 | @ 40|
23| (d) 120
24| Bal. 1,620
25 Depreciation Expense—
26| Office Supplies Expense Office Equipment
27l ) | 105 (© 100
28
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3.
AlB] E D E
1 Reliable Answering Service
2 Adjusted Trial Balance
3 December 31, 2014
4] |
5 |Cash 2,160
6 |Accounts Receivable 1,550
7 |Office Supplies 75
? Prepaid Insurance 200
9 |Office Equipment 3,400
10|Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 700
11|Accounts Payable 700
12|Unearned Revenue 300
E Wages Payable 120
14|T. Ramos, Capital 4,870
15|T. Ramos, Withdrawals 400
16[{Answering Service Revenue 3,360
17|Wages Expense 1,620
18|Rent Expense 400
19|Insurance Expense 40
20|Office Supplies Expense 105
21|Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 100
22 10,050 10,050
23
4.
AlB] C | D | E
1 Reliable Answering Service
2 Income Statement
8 For the Month Ended December 31, 2014
al
5 |[Revenues
6 Answering service revenue $3,360
7 |
8 |[Expenses
9 Wages expense $1,620
10 Rent expense 400
11 Insurance expense 40
12 Office supplies expense 105
13 Depreciation expense—office equipment 100
14 Total expenses 2,265
15|/Net income $1,095
16
Al B] © | D | E
1 Reliable Answering Service
2 Statement of Owner’s Equity
3 For the Month Ended December 31, 2014
al
5 | T. Ramos, capital, November 30, 2014 $4,870
6 | Net income 1,095
7 | subtotal $5,965
8 | Less T. Ramos, withdrawals 400
9 | T. Ramos, capital, December 31, 2014 $5,565
o
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Chapter Review

Define net income, and R 1
explain the concepts

underlying income measurement.

Distinguish cash basis of Lo 2
accounting from accrual
accounting, and explain how

accrual accounting is accomplished.

Chapter 3: Adjusting the Accounts

A[B | C |l o [ E
1 Reliable Answering Service
2 Balance Sheet
8 December 31, 2014
al |
5 Assets
6 [Cash $2,160
7 |Accounts receivable 1,550
8 |Office supplies 75
9 |Prepaid insurance 200
10| Office equipment $3,400
11 ‘Less accumulated depreciation 700 2,700
12|Total assets $6,685
13
14 Liabilities
15|Accounts payable $ 700
16/Unearned revenue 300
17|Wages payable 120
18| Total liabilities $1,120
19 |
20 Owner’s Equity
21|T. Ramos, capital, December 31, 2014 5,565
22| Total liabilities and owner's equity $6,685
23
24

Section 3: Business Applications

All accounts on the income statement are potentially affected by adjusting entries. On the
other hand, cash on the balance sheet is never affected by an adjusting entry.

Net income is the net increase in owner’s equity that results from a company’s opera-
tions. Net income equals revenues minus expenses; when expenses exceed revenues, a
net loss results. Revenues equal the price of goods sold or services rendered during a
specific period. Expenses are the costs of goods and services used in the process of pro-
ducing revenues.

The continuity assumption recognizes that, without evidence to the contrary,
accountants must assume that a business will continue to operate indefinitely. The peri-
odicity assumption recognizes that it is useful to estimate the business’s net income in
terms of accounting periods. Accrual accounting holds that revenues must be assigned
to the period in which the goods are sold or the services performed, and expenses must
be assigned to the period in which they are used to produce revenue.

The cash basis of accounting is based on cash received and cash paid. In contrast, accrual
accounting consists of all the techniques accountants use to measure net income, which
include recognizing revenues when they are earned, expenses when they are incurred,
and adjusting the accounts.
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Identify four situations
that require adjusting

entries, and illustrate

typical adjusting entries.

Prepare financial
statements from an
adjusted trial balance.

Explain the importance .
. Lo 5
of ethical measurement
of netincome and the relation
of netincome to cash flows.
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Adjusting entries are required when (1) recorded costs must be allocated between two
or more accounting periods; (2) unrecorded expenses exist; (3) recorded, unearned rev-
enues must be allocated between two or more periods; and (4) unrecorded, earned rev-
enues exist. The preparation of adjusting entries is summarized as follows.

Type of Account
Examples of Balance
Type of Adjusting Entry Debited Credited Sheet Accounts
1. Allocating recorded costs  Expense  Asset (or Prepaid rent

(previously paid, expired) contra-asset) Prepaid insurance

Office supplies

Accumulated depreciation—
office equipment

2. Accrued expenses Expense  Liability Interest payable
(incurred, not paid) Wages payable

3. Allocating recorded, Liability ~ Revenue Unearned revenue
unearned revenues (previ-
ously received, earned)

4. Accrued revenues Asset Revenue Accounts receivable

(earned, not received) Interest receivable

An adjusted trial balance is prepared after adjusting entries have been posted to the
accounts. Its purpose is to test whether total debits equal total credits after the adjust-
ing entries have been posted and before the financial statements are prepared. The
balances in the revenue and expense accounts in the adjusted trial balance are used to
prepare the income statement. The balances in the asset and liability accounts in the
adjusted trial balance and in the statement of owner’s equity are used to prepare the
balance sheet.

Because applying accrual accounting involves making assumptions and exercising judg-
ment, it can lead to earnings management, which is the manipulation of revenues and
expenses to achieve a specific outcome. When the estimates involved in earnings man-
agement move outside a reasonable range, financial statements become misleading.
Financial statements that are intentionally misleading constitute fraudulent financial
reporting.

To ensure a company’s liquidity, managers must know how to use accrual-based
information to analyze cash flows. The general rule for determining the cash flow
received from any revenue or paid for any expense (except depreciation) is to deter-
mine the potential cash payments or cash receipts and deduct the amount not received
or not paid.
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going concern 87 (LOI1)

Chapter Assignments

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1. When a company has net income, what happens to its assets and /or to its liabili-
ties?

DQ2. Will the carrying value of a long-term asset normally equal its market value?

DQ3. If, at the end of the accounting period, you were looking at the T account for a
prepaid expense like supplies, would you look for the amounts expended in cash on the

debit or credit side? On which side would you find the amount expensed during the
period?

DQ4. BUSINESS APPLICATION [ Is accrual accounting more closely related to a
company’s goal of profitability or liquidity?

DQ5. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Would you expect net income to be a good measure
of a company’s liquidity? Why or why not?

DQ6. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Can you think of some situations when carnings
management is acceptable?

SHORT EXERCISES

Accrual Accounting Concepts

SE1.CONCEPT » Match the concepts of accrual accounting that follow with the appro-
priate assumptions or actions.

1. Assumes expenses should be assigned to the accounting  a. Periodicity
period in which they are used to produce revenues

2. Assumes a business will last indefinitely

3. Assumes revenues are earned at a point in time

4. Assumes net income that is measured for a short period
of time, such as one quarter

b. Continuity
¢. Accrual accounting

d. Revenue recognition

Adjustment for Prepaid Insurance

SE2. The Prepaid Insurance account began the year with a balance of $460. During the
year, insurance in the amount of $1,040 was purchased. At the end of the year (Decem-
ber 31), the amount of insurance still unexpired was $700. Prepare the year-end journal
entry to record the adjustment for insurance expense for the year.
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Adjustment for Supplies

SE3. The Supplies account began the year with a balance of $380. During the year, sup-
plies in the amount of $980 were purchased. At the end of the year (December 31), the
inventory of supplies on hand was $440. Prepare the year-end journal entry to record
the adjustment for supplies expense for the year.

Adjustment for Depreciation

SE4. The depreciation expense on office equipment for the month of March is $100.
This is the third month that the office equipment, which cost $1,900, has been owned.
Prepare the adjusting entry to record depreciation for March and show the balance sheet
presentation for office equipment and related accounts after the March 31 adjustment.

Adjustment for Accrued Wages

SE5. Wages are paid each Saturday for a six-day workweek. Wages are currently $1,380
per week. Prepare the adjusting entry required on June 30, assuming July 1 falls on a
Tuesday.

Adjustment for Unearned Revenue

SE6. During the month of August, deposits in the amount of $1,100 were received for
services to be performed. By the end of the month, services in the amount of $760 had
been performed. Prepare the necessary adjustment for Service Revenue at the end of the
month.

Preparation of an Income Statement and Statement of
Owner’s Equity from an Adjusted Trial Balance

SE7.Shah Company’s adjusted trial balance on December 31, 2014, contains the follow-
ing accounts and balances: A. Shah, Capital, $8,600; A. Shah, Withdrawals, $350; Ser-
vice Revenue, $2,600; Rent Expense, $400; Wages Expense, $900; Utilities Expense,
$200; and Telephone Expense, $50. Prepare an income statement and statement of
owner’s equity for the month of December.

Preparation of an Income Statement and Statement of
Owner’s Equity from an Adjusted Trial Balance

SE8. Malesherbes Company’s adjusted trial balance on June 30, 2014, contains the fol-
lowing accounts and balances: C. Fondren, Capital, $12,750; C. Fondren, Withdrawals,
$580; Service Revenue, $6,300; Rent Expense, $900; Wages Expense, $1,050; Utilities
Expense, $300; and Telephone Expense, $90. Prepare an income statement and state-
ment of owner’s equity for the month of June.

Determination of Cash Flows
SE9. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Unecarned Revenue had a balance of $650 at the end
of November and $450 at the end of December. Service Revenue was $2,550 for the

month of December. How much cash was received for services provided during Decem-
ber?

Determination of Cash Flows

SE10. BUSINESS APPLICATION Unearned Revenue had a balance of $1,120 at the
end of November and $890 at the end of December. Service Revenue was $4,600 for
the month of December. How much cash was received for services provided during
December?
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LO2

LO3

LO3

EXERCISES: SETA

Applications of Accounting Concepts Related to Accrual Accounting

E1A. CONCEPT » Carlos Company’s accountant makes the assumptions or performs the
activities listed below. Tell which of the following concepts of accrual accounting most
directly relates to each assumption or action: (a) periodicity, (b) continuity, (c¢) accrual
accounting, (d) revenue recognition, (e) deferral, and (f) accrual.

1. Recognizes the usefulness of financial statements prepared on a monthly basis even
though they are based on estimates.

2. Prepares an income statement that shows the revenues earned and the expenses
incurred during the accounting period.

3. In estimating the life of a building, assumes that the business will last indefinitely.

4. Postpones the recognition of a one-year insurance policy as an expense by initially

recording the expenditure as an asset.

Records a sale when the customer is billed.

6. Recognizes, by making an adjusting entry, wages expense that has been incurred but
not yet recorded.

921

Application of Conditions for Revenue Recognition

E2A. CONCEPT » Four conditions must be met before revenue should be recognized. In
cach of the following cases, tell which condition has 7ot been met:

a. Company Alpha accepts a contract to perform services in the future for $4,000.

b. Company Beta ships products worth $6,000 to another company without an order
from the other company but tells the company it can return the products if it does not
sell them.

c. Company Centric performs $20,000 of services for a firm with financial problems.

d. Company Radiant agrees to work out a price later for services that it performs for
another company.

Adjusting Entry for Unearned Revenue

E3A. Stardust publishes a monthly magazine featuring local restaurant reviews and
upcoming social, cultural, and sporting events. Subscribers pay for subscriptions either
one year or two years in advance. Cash received from subscribers is credited to an
account called Magazine Subscriptions Received in Advance. On December 31, 2014,
the end of the company’s fiscal year, the balance of this account is $750,000. Expiration
of subscriptions revenue is as follows.

During 2014 $150,000
During 2015 375,000
During 2016 225,000

Prepare the adjusting entry for December 31, 2014.

Adjusting Entries for Prepaid Insurance

E4A. An examination of the Prepaid Insurance account shows a balance of $10,280 at
the end of an accounting period, before adjustment. Prepare journal entries to record
the insurance expense for the period under the following independent assumptions:

1. An examination of the insurance policies shows unexpired insurance that cost $4,935
at the end of the period.

2. An examination of the insurance policies shows insurance that cost $1,735 has expired
during the period.
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L03  Adjusting Entries for Supplies: Missing Data

E5A. Each of the following columns represents a Supplies account:

a b 4 d
Supplies on hand at June 1 $264 $217 $196 $ ?
Supplies purchased during the month 52 ? 174 1,928
Supplies consumed during the month 194 972 ? 1,632
Supplies on hand at June 30 ? 436 56 1,118

1. Determine the amounts indicated by the question marks.
2. Make the adjusting entry for column a, assuming supplies purchased are debited to an
asset account.

L03  Adjusting Entry for Accrued Salaries
E6A. Kindle Company has a five-day workweek and pays salaries of $70,000 each Friday.

1. Prepare the adjusting entry required on May 31, assuming that June 1 falls on a
Wednesday.

2. Prepare the journal entry to pay the salaries on June 3, including the amount of sala-
ries payable from requirement 1.

L03  Revenue and Expense Recognition

E7A. Lacoma Company produces computer software that Kozuch Company sells.
Lacoma receives a royalty of 15 percent of sales. Kozuch pays royalties to Lacoma semi-
annually—on May 1 for sales made in July through December of the previous year and
on November 1 for sales made in January through June of the current year. Royalty
expense for Kozuch and royalty income for Lacoma in the amount of $12,000 were
accrued on December 31, 2013. Cash in the amounts of $12,000 and $20,000 was paid
and received on May 1 and November 1, 2014, respectively. Software sales during the
July to December 2014 period totaled $300,000.

1. Calculate the amount of royalty expense for Kozuch and royalty income for Lacoma
during 2014.
2. Record the adjusting entry that each company made on December 31, 2014.

103  Accounting for Revenue Received in Advance

E8A. Chris Gayle, a lawyer, received $72,000 on October 1 to represent a client in real
estate negotiations over the next 12 months.

1. Prepare the journal entries required in Gayle’s records on October 1 and at the end
of the fiscal year, December 31.

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION How would this transaction be reflected on the
income statement and balance sheet on December 312

03  Adjusting Entries
E9A. Prepare year-end adjusting entries for each of the following:

1. Office Supplies has a balance of $168 on January 1. Purchases debited to Office
Supplies during the year amount to $830. A year-end inventory reveals supplies of
$570 on hand.

2. Depreciation of office equipment is estimated to be $4,260 for the year.

3. Property taxes for six months, estimated at $1,750, have accrued but have not been
recorded.

4. Unrecorded interest income on U.S. government bonds is $1,700.

5. Unearned Revenue has a balance of $1,800. Services for $600 received in advance
have now been performed.

6. Services totaling $400 have been performed; the customer has not yet been billed.
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L04  Preparation of Financial Statements

E10A. Prepare the monthly income statement, monthly statement of owner’s equity, and
the balance sheet at August 31, 2014, for Krishna Cleaning Company from the data
provided in the adjusted trial balance that follows. The owner made no investments

during the period.
Krishna Cleaning Company
Adjusted Trial Balance
August 31,2014
Cash 4,590
Accounts Receivable 2,592
Prepaid Insurance 380
Prepaid Rent 200
Cleaning Supplies 152
Cleaning Equipment 3,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Cleaning Equipment 320
Truck 7,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Truck 720
Accounts Payable 420
Wages Payable 80
Unearned Janitorial Revenue 920
A. Ambrose, Capital 15,034
A. Ambrose, Withdrawals 2,000
Janitorial Revenue 14,620
Wages Expense 5,680
Rent Expense 1,200
Gas, Oil, and Other Truck Expenses 580
Insurance Expense 380
Supplies Expense 2,920
Depreciation Expense—Cleaning Equipment 320
Depreciation Expense—Truck 720

32,114 32,114

LO5 Determination of Cash Flows

@ E11A. BUSINESS APPLICATION [» After adjusting entries had been made, Infosys Com-
pany’s balance sheets showed the following asset and liability amounts at the end of
2013 and 2014:

2014 2013
Prepaid insurance $1,200 $1,450
Wages payable 600 1,100
Unearned fees 2,100 950

The following amounts were taken from the 2014 income statement:

Insurance expense $1,900
Wages expense 9,750
Fees earned 4,450

Calculate the amount of cash paid for insurance and wages and the amount of cash
received for fees during 2014.
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o5 Relationship of Expenses to Cash Paid

m E12A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Wipro Company’s income statement included the
following expenses for 2014:

Rent expense $ 78,000
Interest expense 11,700
Salaries expense 124,500
The related balance sheet account balances at year end for last year and this year
follow.
Last Year This Year
Prepaid rent — $1,350
Interest payable $1,800 —
Salaries payable 7,500 18,000
1. Compute the cash paid for rent during the year.

D

Compute the cash paid for interest during the year.
3. Compute the cash paid for salaries during the year.

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion web site at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise Set
B for this chapter.

PROBLEMS

03  Determining Adjustments

 d:Revenue balance: $9,150  P1. At the end of the first three months of operation, Kubose Answering Service’s trial bal-
ance appears as follows. Dhaval Bose, Kubose’s owner, has hired an accountant to prepare
financial statements to determine how well the company is doing after three months. Upon
examining the accounting records, the accountant finds the following items of interest:

a. An inventory of office supplies reveals supplies on hand of $133.

b. The Prepaid Rent account includes the rent for the first three months plus a deposit
for April’s rent.

¢. Depreciation on the equipment for the first three months is $208.

d. The balance of the Unecarned Answering Service Revenue account represents a
12-month service contract paid in advance on February 1.

e. On March 31, accrued wages total $80.

Kubose Answering Service
Trial Balance

March 31,2014

Cash 3,482
Accounts Receivable 4,236
Office Supplies 903
Prepaid Rent 800
Equipment 4,700
Accounts Payable 2,673
Unearned Answering Service Revenue 888
D. Bose, Capital 5,933
D. Bose, Withdrawals 2,130
Answering Service Revenue 9,002
Wages Expense 1,900
Office Cleaning Expense 345

18,496 18,496

(Continued)
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GENERAL LEDGER

REQUIRED

All adjustments affect one balance sheet account and one income statement account.
For each of these situations, show the accounts affected, the amount of the adjustment
(using a + or — to indicate an increase or decrease), and the balance of the account after
the adjustment in the following format:

Balance Amount of Balance Income Amount of Balance
Sheet Adjustment After Statement Adjustment After
Account (+or-) Adjustment Account (+or-) Adjustment

Preparing Adjusting Entries

P2. On November 30, the end of the current fiscal year, the following information is

available to assist Allerton Company’s accountants in making adjusting entries:

a. Allerton’s Supplies account shows a beginning balance of $2,350. Purchases dur-
ing the year were $4,218. The end-of-year inventory reveals supplies on hand of
$1,397.

b. The Prepaid Insurance account shows the following on November 30:

Beginning balance $4,720
July 1 4,200
October 1 7,272

The beginning balance represents the unexpired portion of a one-year policy purchased
in September of the previous year. The July 1 entry represents a new one-year policy,
and the October 1 entry represents additional coverage in the form of a three-year
policy.

c. The following table contains the cost and annual depreciation for buildings and
equipment, all of which Allerton purchased before the current year:

Account Cost Annual Depreciation
Buildings $298,000 $16,000
Equipment 374,000 40,000

d. On October 1, the company completed negotiations with a client and accepted an
advance of $18,600 for services to be performed monthly for a year. The $18,600
was credited to Unearned Services Revenue.

¢. The company calculated that, as of November 30, it had carned $7,000 on an
$11,000 contract that would be completed and billed in January.

f. Among the liabilities of the company is a note payable in the amount of $300,000.
On November 30, the accrued interest on this note amounted to $18,000.

g. On Saturday, December 2, the company, which is on a six-day workweek, will pay its
regular employees their weekly wages of $15,000.

h. On November 29, the company completed negotiations and signed a contract to
provide services to a new client at an annual rate of $23,000.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare adjusting entries for each item listed above.
2. CONCEPT » Explain how the conditions for revenue recognition are applied to
transactions e and h.
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v 3: Adjusted trial balance:
$106,167

Determining Adjusting Entries, Posting to T Accounts,
and Preparing an Adjusted Trial Balance

117

P3. Kinokawa Consultants Company’s trial balance on December 31, 2014, follows.

Kinokawa Consultants Company

Trial Balance
December 31,2014

Cash

Accounts Receivable
Office Supplies
Prepaid Rent

Office Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation—

Accounts Payable

Notes Payable

Unearned Service Revenue
K. Wah, Capital

K. Wah, Withdrawals
Service Revenue

Salaries Expense

Utilities Expense

Rent Expense

12,786
24,840
991
1,400
6,700
Office Equipment

1,600
1,820
10,000
2,860
29,387

58,500

104,167

The following information is also available:

®W Mo an TP

Ending inventory of office supplies, $86

Prepaid rent expired, $700

Depreciation of office equipment for the period, $600
Interest accrued on the note payable, $600

Salaries accrued at the end of the period, $200

Service revenue still unearned at the end of the period, $1,410
Service revenue earned but not billed, $600

REQUIRED
Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Interest
Payable; Salaries Payable; Office Supplies Expense; Depreciation Expense—Office

1.

Equipment; and Interest Expense. Enter the account balances.

Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.
Prepare an adjusted trial balance.
ACCOUNTING CONNECTION p» Which financial statements do each of the
above adjustments affect? What financial statement is not affected by the

adjustments?
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03,4 Determining Adjusting Entries and Tracing
Their Effects to Financial Statements

A DSHEET P4. Hertz Limo Service was organized to provide limousine service between the airport
and various suburban locations. It has just completed its second year of business. Its trial

balance follows.

v 4: Adjusted trial balance: Hertz Limo Service
$633,209 Trial Balance
June 30, 2014
Cash (111) 9,812
Accounts Receivable (113) 14,227
Prepaid Rent (117) 12,000
Prepaid Insurance (118) 4,900
Prepaid Maintenance (119) 12,000
Spare Parts (140) 11,310
Limousines (148) 200,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Limousines (149) 25,000
Notes Payable (211) 45,000
Unearned Passenger Service Revenue (212) 30,000
A. Phylum, Capital (311) 78,211
A. Phylum, Withdrawals (313) 20,000
Passenger Service Revenue (411) 428,498
Gas and Oil Expense (510) 89,300
Salaries Expense (511) 206,360
Advertising Expense (513) 26,800

606,709 606,709

The following information is also available:

a. To obtain space at the airport, Hertz paid two years’ rent in advance when it began
the business.

b. An examination of insurance policies reveals that $2,800 expired during the year.

¢. To provide regular maintenance for the vehicles, Hertz deposited $12,000 with a
local garage. An examination of maintenance invoices reveals charges of $10,944
against the deposit.

d. An inventory of spare parts shows $1,902 on hand.

¢. Hertz depreciates all of its limousines at the rate of 12.5 percent per year. No limou-
sines were purchased during the year. (Round answer to the nearest dollar.)

f. A payment of $1,500 for one full year’s interest on notes payable is now due.

g. Unearned Passenger Service Revenue on June 30 includes $17,815 for tickets that
employers purchased for use by their executives but which have not yet been redeemed.

REQUIRED

1. Determine the adjusting entries and enter them in the general journal (Page 14).

2. Open ledger accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following:
Interest Payable (213); Rent Expense (514); Insurance Expense (515); Spare Parts
Expense (516); Depreciation Expense—Limousines (517); Maintenance Expense
(518); and Interest Expense (519). Record the balances shown in the trial balance.

3. Post the adjusting entries from the general journal to the ledger accounts, showing
proper references.

4. Prepare an adjusted trial balance, an income statement, a statement of owner’s
equity, and a balance sheet. The owner made no investments during the period.

5. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION p» What effect do the adjusting entries have on the
income statement?
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O3

v e: Unearned Cleaning Revenue
balance: $1,200

Determining Adjustments

P5. At the end of its fiscal year, Berwyn Cleaners’ trial balance is as follows.

Berwyn Cleaners
Trial Balance

119

September 30,2014

Cash 11,788
Accounts Receivable 26,494
Prepaid Insurance 3,400
Cleaning Supplies 7,374
Land 18,000
Building 185,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 45,600
Accounts Payable 20,400
Unearned Cleaning Revenue 1,600
Mortgage Payable 110,000
F. Berwyn, Capital 56,560
F. Berwyn, Withdrawals 10,000
Cleaning Revenue 157,634
Wages Expense 101,330
Cleaning Equipment Rental Expense 6,000
Delivery Truck Expense 4,374
Interest Expense 11,000
Other Expenses 7,034

391,794 391,794

The following information is also available:

a. A study of the company’s insurance policies shows that $680 is unexpired at the end

of the year.

An inventory of cleaning supplies shows $1,244 on hand.

Estimated depreciation on the building for the year is $12,800.

Accrued interest on the mortgage payable is $1,000.

On September 1, the company signed a contract, effective immediately, with

Hope County Hospital to dry clean, for a fixed monthly charge of $400, the uniforms

used by doctors in surgery. The hospital paid for four months’ service in advance.

f. Sales and delivery wages are paid on Saturday. The weekly payroll is $2,520. Septem-
ber 30 falls on a Thursday, and the company has a six-day pay week.

o an o

REQUIRED

All adjustments affect one balance sheet account and one income statement account. For
cach of the above situations, show the accounts affected, the amount of the adjustment
(using a + or — to indicate an increase or decrease), and the balance of the account after
the adjustment in the following format:

Balance Amount of Balance Income Amount of Balance
Sheet Adjustment After Statement Adjustment After
Account (+or-) Adjustment Account (+or-) Adjustment
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GENERAL LEDGER

v 3: Adjusted trial balance:
$121,792

02,3

GENERAL LEDGER

v 1d: Debit to Supplies Expense:
$4,195

Chapter 3: Adjusting the Accounts

Determining Adjusting Entries, Posting to T Accounts,
and Preparing an Adjusted Trial Balance

P6. Brave Advisors Service’s trial balance on December 31, 2014, is as follows.

Brave Advisors Service
Trial Balance

December 31,2014
Cash 16,500
Accounts Receivable 8,250
Office Supplies 2,662
Prepaid Rent 1,320
Office Equipment 9,240
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 1,540
Accounts Payable 5,940
Notes Payable 11,000
Unearned Service Revenue 2,970
B. Cooper, Capital 24,002
B. Cooper, Withdrawals 22,000
Service Revenue 72,600
Salaries Expense 49,400
Rent Expense 4,400
Utilities Expense 4,280

118,052 118,052

The following information is also available:

”w Mmoo A0 o

Ending inventory of office supplies, $264

Prepaid rent expired, $440

Depreciation of office equipment for the period, $660
Accrued interest expense at the end of the period, $550
Accrued salaries at the end of the period, $330

Service revenue still unearned at the end of the period, $1,166
Service revenue earned but unrecorded, $2,200

REQUIRED

1.

w

Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Interest
Payable; Salaries Payable; Oftice Supplies Expense; Depreciation Expense—Office
Equipment; and Interest Expense. Enter the balances shown on the trial balance.
Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.

Prepare an adjusted trial balance.

ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Which financial statements do each of the above
adjustments affect? Which financial statement is not affected by the adjustments?

Preparing Adjusting Entries

P7.On June 30, the end of the current fiscal year, the following information is available
to BND Company’s accountants for making adjusting entries:

a.

b.

Among the liabilities of the company is a mortgage payable in the amount of
$240,000. On June 30, the accrued interest on this mortgage amounted to $12,000.
On Friday, July 2, the company, which is on a five-day workweek and pays employees
weekly, will pay its regular salaried employees $19,200.

On June 29, the company completed negotiations and signed a contract to provide
monthly services to a new client at an annual rate of $3,600.

The Supplies account shows a beginning balance of $1,615 and purchases during the
year of $3,766. The end-of-year inventory reveals supplies on hand of $1,186.
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e. The Prepaid Insurance account shows the following entries on June 30:

Beginning balance $1,530
January 1 2,900
May 1 3,366

The beginning balance represents the unexpired portion of a one-year policy pur-
chased in April of the previous year. The January 1 entry represents a new one-year
policy, and the May 1 entry represents the additional coverage of a three-year policy.
(Round final answer to the nearest dollar.)

f. The following table contains the cost and annual depreciation for buildings and
equipment, all of which were purchased before the current year:

Account Cost Annual Depreciation
Buildings $185,000 $ 7,300
Equipment 218,000 21,800

g. On June 1, the company completed negotiations with another client and accepted an
advance of $21,000 for services to be performed for a year. The $21,000 was cred-
ited to Unearned Service Revenue.

h. The company calculates that, as of June 30, it had earned $3,500 on a $7,500 con-
tract that will be completed and billed in August.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare adjusting entries for each item listed above.
2. CONCEPT » Explain how the conditions for revenue recognition are applied to
transactions ¢ and h.

03,4 Determining Adjusting Entries and Tracing
Their Effects to Financial Statements

< P8. Kevin Steven opened a small tax-preparation service. Steven Tax Service’s trial

balance at the end of its second year of operation is as follows.

v 3: Adjusted trial balance: $29,778

Steven Tax Service
Trial Balance

December 31,2014

Cash 2,268
Accounts Receivable 1,031
Prepaid Insurance 240
Office Supplies 782
Office Equipment 7,100
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 770
Accounts Payable 635
Unearned Tax Fees 219
K. Steven, Capital 5,439
K. Steven, Withdrawals 6,000
Tax Fees Revenue 21,926
Office Salaries Expense 8,300
Advertising Expense 650
Rent Expense 2,400
Telephone Expense 218

28,989 28,989

(Continued)
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The following information is also available:

o0 os

Office supplies on hand, December 31, 2014, $227

Insurance still unexpired, $120

Estimated depreciation of office equipment, $770

Telephone expense for December, $19; the bill was received but not recorded.
The services for all unearned tax fees had been performed by the end of the year.

REQUIRED

1.

@ 1

Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Office Sup-
plies Expense; Insurance Expense; and Depreciation Expense—Oftice Equipment.
Record the balances shown in the trial balance.

Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.

. Prepare an adjusted trial balance, an income statement, a statement of owner’s

cquity, and a balance sheet. The owner made no investments during the period.
ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Why is it not necessary to show the effects of the
above transactions on the statement of cash flows?

ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

103  Determining Adjustments

 e:Wages Expense balance: $3,748 P9, At the end of the first three months of operation, Evergreen Repair’s trial balance is
as follows.

Evergreen Repair
Trial Balance

March 31, 2014
Cash 7,983
Accounts Receivable 5,872
Office Supplies 970
Prepaid Rent 1,500
Equipment 5,200
Accounts Payable 2,629
Unearned Repair Revenue 1,146
J. Kita, Capital 11,314
J. Kita, Withdrawals 1,800
Repair Revenue 12,236
Wages Expense 3,580
Office Cleaning Expense 420

27,325 27,325

Jonah Kita, Evergreen’s owner, has hired an accountant to prepare financial statements
to determine how well the company is doing after three months. Upon examining the
accounting records, the accountant finds the following items of interest:

a.

b.

An inventory of office supplies reveals supplies on hand of $469.

The Prepaid Rent account includes the rent for the first three months plus a deposit
for April’s rent.

Depreciation on the equipment for the first three months is $560.

The balance of the Unearned Repair Revenue account represents a 12-month service
contract paid in advance on February 1.

On March 31, accrued wages total $168.
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REQUIRED

All adjustments affect one balance sheet account and one income statement account.
For each of these situations, show the accounts affected, the amount of the adjustment
(using a + or — to indicate an increase or decrease), and the balance of the account after
the adjustment in the following format:

Balance Amount of Balance Income Amount of Balance
Sheet Adjustment After Statement Adjustment After
Account (+or-) Adjustment Account (+or-) Adjustment

02,3  Preparing Adjusting Entries

P10. On March 31, the end of the current fiscal year, the following information is avail-
able to assist Zun Cleaning Company’s accountants in making adjusting entries:

a. Zun’s Supplies account shows a beginning balance of $5,962. Purchases during
the year were $10,294. The end-of-year inventory reveals supplies on hand of
$3,105.

b. The Prepaid Insurance account shows the following on March 31:

Beginning balance $ 5,990
September 1 6,480
January 1 10,080

The beginning balance represents the unexpired portion of a one-year policy pur-
chased in January of the previous year. The September 1 entry represents a new one-
year policy, and the January 1 entry represents additional coverage in the form of a
three-year policy.

¢. The following table contains the cost and annual depreciation for buildings and
equipment, all of which Zun purchased before the current year:

Account Cost Annual Depreciation
Buildings $ 804,000 $34,000
Equipment 1,029,000 52,000

d. On December 1, the company completed negotiations with a client and accepted an
advance of $32,000 for services to be performed monthly for a year. The $32,000
was credited to Unearned Services Revenue. (Round to the nearest dollar.)

¢. The company calculated that, as of March 31, it had earned $9,200 on a $17,000
contract that would be completed and billed in January.

f. Among the liabilities of the company is a note payable in the amount of $600,000.
On March 31, the accrued interest on this note amounted to $17,470.

g. On Saturday, April 3, the company, which is on a six-day workweek, will pay its regu-
lar employees their weekly wages of $22,000. (Round to the nearest dollar.)

h. On March 31, the company completed negotiations and signed a contract to provide
services to a new client at an annual rate of $19,000, beginning April 1.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare adjusting entries for each item listed above.
2. CONCEPT » Explain how the conditions for revenue recognition are applied to
transactions e and h.
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Chapter 3: Adjusting the Accounts

03,4 Determining Adjusting Entries, Posting to T Accounts,
and Preparing an Adjusted Trial Balance

v 3: Adjusted trial balance: 208,345 P11. Lee Technology Corporation’s trial balance on December 31, 2014, is as follows.

Lee Technology Corporation
Trial Balance

December 31,2014
Cash 35,572
Accounts Receivable 59,680
Office Supplies 2,443
Prepaid Rent 2,400
Office Equipment 14,300
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 3,200
Accounts Payable 2,640
Notes Payable 15,000
Unearned Service Revenue 5,650
E. Lee, Capital 88,705
E. Lee, Withdrawals 15,000
Service Revenue 89,000
Salaries Expense 58,000
Utilities Expense 3,600
Rent Expense 13,200

204,195 204,195

The following information is also available:

Ending inventory of office supplies, $538

Prepaid rent expired, $1,200

Depreciation of office equipment for the period, $800
Interest accrued on the note payable, $750

Salaries accrued at the end of the period, $800

Service revenue still unearned at the end of the period, $3,675
Service revenue earned but not billed, $1,800

®Wme an op

REQUIRED

1. Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Interest
Payable; Salaries Payable; Office Supplies Expense; Depreciation Expense—Office
Equipment; and Interest Expense. Enter the account balances.
Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.
Prepare an adjusted trial balance.
ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Which financial statements do each of the above
adjustments affect? What financial statement is not affected by the adjustments?

el e
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03,4 Determining Adjusting Entries and Tracing
Their Effects to Financial Statements

e P12. USA Car Rental Service was organized to provide car rental service at the airport.

It has just completed its second year of business. Its trial balance follows.

v 4: Adjusted trial balance: $749,468

USA Car Rental Service
Trial Balance

June 30,2014
Cash (111) 15,708
Accounts Receivable (113) 19,830
Prepaid Rent (117) 18,000
Prepaid Insurance (118) 6,400
Prepaid Maintenance (119) 13,620
Spare Parts (140) 12,200
Cars (148) 270,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Car (149) 35,000
Notes Payable (211) 78,000
Unearned Rental Service Revenue (212) 42,000
S. Navarro, Capital (311) 66,567
S. Navarro, Withdrawals (313) 30,000
Rental Service Revenue (411) 492,151
Gas and Oil Expense (510) 104,900
Salaries Expense (511) 206,360
Advertising Expense (513) 16,700

713,718 713,718

The following information is also available:

a. To obtain space at the airport, USA paid two years’ rent in advance when it began
the business.

b. An examination of insurance policies reveals that $2,000 expired during the year.

¢. To provide regular maintenance for the vehicles, USA deposited $13,620 with a local
garage. An examination of maintenance invoices reveals charges of $7,890 against
the deposit.

d. An inventory of spare parts shows $2,170 on hand.

e. USA depreciates all of its cars at the rate of 12.5 percent per year. No cars were
purchased during the year.

f. A payment of $2,000 for one full year’s interest on notes payable is now due.

g. Unearned Rental Service Revenue on June 30 includes $20,325 for cars that
customers prepaid but have not yet been rented.

REQUIRED

1. Determine the adjusting entries and enter them in the general journal (Page 14).

2. Open ledger accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following:
Interest Payable (213); Rent Expense (514); Insurance Expense (515); Spare Parts
Expense (516); Depreciation Expense—Cars (517); Maintenance Expense (518);
and Interest Expense (519). Record the balances shown in the trial balance.

3. Post the adjusting entries from the general journal to the ledger accounts, showing
proper references.

4. Prepare an adjusted trial balance, an income statement, a statement of owner’s
equity, and a balance sheet. The owner made no investments during the period.

5. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » What effect do the adjusting entries have on the
income statement?
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02,3 Determining Adjustments

 e:Upholstery Revenue P13, Gonzales Upholstery’s trial balance at the end of its fiscal year follows.
balance: $158,034

Gonzales Upholstery
Trial Balance

September 30,2014
Cash 16,288
Accounts Receivable 16,494
Prepaid Insurance 1,900
Upholstery Supplies 4,370
Land 18,000
Building 125,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 26,300
Accounts Payable 17,400
Unearned Upholstery Revenue 1,600
Mortgage Payable 90,000
C. Gonzales, Capital 7,756
C. Gonzales, Withdrawals 10,000
Upholstery Revenue 157,634
Wages Expense 81,930
Upholstery Equipment Rental Expense 6,000
Delivery Truck Expense 4,374
Interest Expense 9,300
Other Expenses 7,034

300,690 300,690

The following information is also available:

a. A study of the company’s insurance policies shows that $380 is unexpired at the end

of the year.

An inventory of upholstery supplies shows $1,040 on hand.

Estimated depreciation on the building for the year is $9,800.

Accrued interest on the mortgage payable is $960.

On September 1, the company signed a contract, effective immediately, with County

Community Bank to repair and reupholster office furniture, for a fixed monthly

charge of $400. The bank paid for four months’ service in advance.

f. Sales and delivery wages are paid on Saturday. The weekly payroll is $1,530.
September 30 falls on a Thursday, and the company has a six-day pay week.

ocan o

REQUIRED

All adjustments affect one balance sheet account and one income statement account. For
each of the above situations, show the accounts affected, the amount of the adjustment
(using a + or — to indicate an increase or decrease), and the balance of the account after
the adjustment in the following format:

Balance Amount of Balance Income Amount of Balance
Sheet Adjustment After Statement Adjustment After
Account (+or-) Adjustment Account (+or-) Adjustment
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03,4 Determining Adjusting Entries, Posting to T Accounts,
and Preparing an Adjusted Trial Balance
v 3: Adjusted trial balance: P14, Scoop Consulting Service’s trial balance on December 31, 2014, is as follows.
$128,191
Scoop Consulting Service
Trial Balance

December 31,2014
Cash 19,250
Accounts Receivable 7,360
Office Supplies 2,861
Prepaid Rent 1,820
Office Equipment 9,240
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 2,140
Accounts Payable 5,940
Notes Payable 11,000
Unearned Service Revenue 4,120
A. Chase, Capital 24,111
A. Chase, Withdrawals 22,000
Service Revenue 76,200
Salaries Expense 51,300
Rent Expense 5,400
Utilities Expense 4,280

The following information is also available:

Ending inventory of office supplies, $564

Prepaid rent expired, $470

Depreciation of office equipment for the period, $820
Accrued interest expense at the end of the period, $730
Accrued salaries at the end of the period, $630

Service revenue still unearned at the end of the period, $2,722
Service revenue earned but unrecorded, $2,500

® oo a0 ow

REQUIRED

1. Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Interest
Payable; Salaries Payable; Office Supplies Expense; Depreciation Expense—Office
Equipment; and Interest Expense. Enter the balances shown on the trial balance.

2. Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.

3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance.

4. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Which financial statements do each of the above
adjustments affect? Which financial statement is not affected by the adjustments?

02,3  Preparing Adjusting Entries

P15.On June 30, the end of the current fiscal year, the following information is available

to Axel Company’s accountants for making adjusting entries:
v 1e: Debit to Insurance Expense: $2,781 o . .
a. Among the liabilities of the company is a mortgage payable in the amount of

$280,000. On June 30, the accrued interest on this mortgage amounted to
$14,000.

b. On Friday, July 2, the company, which is on a five-day workweek and pays employees
weekly, will pay its regular salaried employees $23,100.

¢. On June 29, the company completed negotiations and signed a contract to provide
monthly services to a new client at an annual rate of $6,645.

d. The Supplies account shows a beginning balance of $1,975 and purchases during the
year of $2,846. The end-of-year inventory reveals supplies on hand of $1,984.

(Continued)
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LO3,4

SPREADSHEET

v 3: Adjusted trial balance: $45,198

Chapter 3: Adjusting the Accounts

e. The Prepaid Insurance account shows the following entries on June 30:
Beginning balance $1,333
January 1 2,544
May 1 3,168
The beginning balance represents the unexpired portion of a one-year policy purchased
in April of the previous year. The January 1 entry represents a new one-year policy,
and the May 1 entry represents the additional coverage of a three-year policy.
f. The following table contains the cost and annual depreciation for buildings and
equipment, all of which were purchased before the current year:
Account Cost Annual Depreciation
Buildings $235,000 $ 6,301
Equipment 198,000 11,520
g. On June 1, the company completed negotiations with another client and accepted an
advance of $31,080 for services to be performed for a year. The $31,080 was cred-
ited to Unearned Service Revenue.
h. The company calculates that, as of June 30, it had earned $3,600 on a $9,600 con-
tract that will be completed and billed in August.
REQUIRED

1. Prepare adjusting entries for each item listed above.
2. CONCEPT » Explain how the conditions for revenue recognition are applied to

transactions ¢ and h.

Determining Adjusting Entries and Tracing
Their Effects to Financial Statements

P16.Simone Jacobs opened a small tax-preparation service. At the end of its second year
of operation, Jacobs Financial Advisors Service had the following trial balance.

Jacobs Financial Advisors Service
Trial Balance

December 31,2014
Cash 11,265
Accounts Receivable 2,191
Prepaid Insurance 520
Office Supplies 682
Office Equipment 7,980
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 790
Accounts Payable 437
Unearned Tax Fees 519
S. Jacobs, Capital 5,474
S. Jacobs, Withdrawals 7,500
Tax Fees Revenue 36,926
Office Salaries Expense 9,700
Advertising Expense 650
Rent Expense 3,200
Telephone Expense 458

44,146

EN
=
(o)}

The following information is also available:

oao0os

Office supplies on hand, December 31, 2014, $319

Insurance still unexpired, $180

Estimated depreciation of office equipment, $870

Telephone expense for December, $182; the bill was received but not recorded.
The services for all unearned tax fees had been performed by the end of the year.
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REQUIRED

1. Open T accounts for the accounts in the trial balance plus the following: Office Sup-
plies Expense; Insurance Expense; and Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment.
Record the balances shown in the trial balance.

2. Determine the adjusting entries and post them directly to the T accounts.

3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance, an income statement, a statement of owner’s
equity, and a balance sheet. The owner made no investments during the period.

4. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Why is it not necessary to show the effects of the
above transactions on the statement of cash flows?

CASES

02,3  Conceptual Understanding: Importance of Adjustments

C1. Never Flake Company provided a rust-prevention coating for the underside of new
automobiles. The company advertised widely and offered its services through new-car
dealers. When a dealer sold a new car, the salesperson attempted to sell the rust-
prevention coating as an option. A key selling point was Never Flake’s warranty, which
stated that it would repair any damage due to rust at no charge for as long as the buyer
owned the car.

For several years, Never Flake had been very successful, but in 2013, the company
suddenly declared bankruptcy. Company officials said that the firm had only $5.5 mil-
lion in assets against liabilities of $32.9 million. Most of the liabilities represented poten-
tial claims under the company’s lifetime warranty. It seemed that owners were keeping
their cars longer than they had previously. Therefore, more damage was being attributed
to rust.

Discuss what accounting decisions could have helped Never Flake to survive under
these circumstances.

102,3,5 Conceptual Understanding: Earnings Management
and Fraudulent Financial Reporting

C2.BUSINESS APPLICATION > In recent years, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) has been waging a public campaign against corporate accounting practices that
manage or manipulate earnings to meet the expectations of Wall Street analysts. Cor-
porations engage in such practices in the hope of avoiding shortfalls that might cause
serious declines in their stock price.

For each of the following cases that the Securities and Exchange Commission chal-
lenged, explain why each was a violation of the accrual accounting;:

a. Lucent Technologies sold telecommunications equipment to companies from which
there was no reasonable expectation of payment because of the companies’ poor
financial condition.

b. America Online (AOL) recorded advertising as an asset rather than as an expense.

c. Eclipsys recorded software contracts as revenue even though it had not yet rendered
the services.

d. Xerox Corporation recorded revenue from lease agreements at the time the leases
were signed rather than over the lease term.

e. KnowledgeWare recorded revenue from sales of software even though it told
customers they did not have to pay until they had the software.

L02,3 Interpreting Financial Reports: Application of Accrual Accounting

C3. The Lyric Opera of Chicago is one of the largest and best-managed opera com-
panies in the United States. Managing opera productions requires advance planning,
including the development of scenery, costumes, and stage properties and the sale of
tickets. To measure how well the company is operating in any given year, management
must apply accrual accounting to these and other transactions. At year-end, April 30,
2011, Lyric Opera’s balance sheet showed deferred production costs and other assets of
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02,3

LO3

LO5

$1,978,322 and deferred ticket and other revenue of $12,710,639.7 What accounting
policies and adjusting entries are applicable to these accounts? Why are they important
to Lyric Opera’s management?

Interpreting Financial Reports: Analysis of an Asset Account

C4. The Walt Disney Company is engaged in the financing, production, and distribu-
tion of motion pictures and television programming. In Disney’s 2011 annual report,
the balance sheet contains an asset called “film and television costs.” Film and television
costs, which consist of the costs associated with producing films and television programs
less the amount expensed, were $4,357 million. The notes reveal that the amount of
film and television costs expensed (amortized) during the year was $3,521 million. The
amount spent for new film productions was $3,184 million.®

1. CONCEPT » What are film and television costs, and why would they be classified as
an asset?

2. Prepare T accounts to record the amount the company spent on new film and televi-
sion production during the year (assume all expenditures are paid for in cash).

3. Prepare an adjusting entry in T account form to record the expense for film and tele-
vision productions.

4. CONCEPT > Suggest a method by which The Walt Disney Company might have
determined the amount of the expense in 3 in accordance with accrual accounting.

Annual Report Case: Analysis of Balance Sheet and Adjusting Entries

C5. In the CVS annual report in the Supplement to Chapter 16, refer to the balance
sheet and the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the financial
statements.

1. Examine the accounts in the current assets, property and equipment, and current liabili-
ties sections of CVS’s balance sheet. Which are most likely to have had year-end adjust-
ing entries? Describe the nature of the adjusting entries. For more information about
the property and equipment section, refer to the notes to the financial statements.

2. Where is depreciation (and amortization) expense disclosed in CVS’s financial statements?

3. CVS has a statement on the “Use of Estimates” in its Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. Read this statement, and tell how important estimates are in
determining depreciation expense. What assumptions do accountants use in estimat-
ing depreciation?

Ethical Dilemma: Importance of Adjustments

C6. BUSINESS APPLICATION > Central Appliance Service Co., Inc., has achieved fast
growth by selling service contracts on large appliances, such as washers, dryers, and
refrigerators. For a fee, the company agrees to provide all parts and labor on an appli-
ance after the regular warranty runs out. For example, by paying a fee of $200, a person
who buys a dishwasher can add two years to the regular one-year warranty on the appli-
ance. In 2014, the company sold service contracts in the amount of $1.8 million, all of
which applied to future years. Management wanted all the sales recorded as revenues
in 2014, contending that the amount of the contracts could be determined and the
cash had been received. Do you agree with this logic? How would you record the cash
receipts? What assumptions do you think Central Appliance should make? Would you
consider it unethical to follow management’s recommendation? Who might be hurt or
helped by this action?

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C7. Using the most recent annual report of the company you have chosen to study and
that you have accessed online at the company’s website, examine the current assets and
current liabilities of your company. Identify accounts that would likely fall into one of
the following two categories:

1. Deferral
2. Accrual
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CHAPTER 4
Completing the Accounting Cycle

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Speedy Movers

Speedy Movers provides moving and storage services for the local college LEARNING OBJECTIVES
and its students and employees. Speedy’s busiest times are generally in

the late spring and early fall. Thus, to keep an eye on fluctuations in earn- Desgrib.e the role of clqsing
ings and cash flows, Speedy prepares financial statements each quarter. . entries in the preparation of
As you know from Chapter 3, before a company prepares financial financial statements.

statements, it must make adjusting entries to the income statement Prepare closing entries.
and owner’s equity accounts. After those entries have been made, an
adjusted trial balance is prepared. Accounts from the adjusted trial bal-
ance are then used to prepare the financial statements. For example,
in preparing its income statement, Speedy would use the revenue and e
expense accounts from its adjusted trial balance.

In addition, Speedy, like all other companies, must prepare its accounts Prepare a work sheet.
for the next accounting period by making closing entries. Doing all this m
takes time and effort, but the results benefit both management and
external users of the company’s financial statements. To accomplish these
tasks, Speedy needs to be able to answer the following questions.

3 Prepare reversing entries.

105 Explain the importance of the
work sheet and closing entries

when managing a business.
1. CONCEPT » Why are the concepts of permanent and temporary ging

accounts important to making closing entries?

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » What steps must a company follow
to prepare its accounts for the next accounting period?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Why are closing entries important to
good financial reporting in the current accounting period and the next
accounting period?

mangostock/Shutterstock
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SECTION 1

CONCEPTS
B Periodicity
B Accrual accounting

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Describe the role of

closing entries in the
preparation of financial
statements.

Lo

CONCEPTS

Concepts Underlying
Closing Entries

All companies prepare financial statements annually, but interim reports prepared
quarterly or even monthly give management an ongoing view of a company’s financial
performance. Up this point, you have studied the first five steps of the accounting cycle.
In this chapter, the final step, preparation of closing entries and the post-closing trial
balance, is covered.

Closing Entries

Closing entries are journal entries made at the end of an accounting period. They have
two purposes:

Setting the stage for the next accounting period: Since the income statement
reports net income (or loss) for a single accounting period and shows revenues and
expenses for only that period, it is necessary to clear revenue and expense accounts
and the withdrawals accounts of their balances. This step enables them to start over
with a zero balance in the next accounting period.

Summarizing a period’s revenues and expenses: The Income Summary
account is a temporary account that summarizes all revenues and expenses for
the period. It is used only in the closing process, and its balance equals the net
income or loss.

The preparation of closing entries is an important step in achieving two important
concepts introduced in Chapter 3. Closing entries assist in achieving both periodicity
and accrual accounting by being the process by which the life of the business is divided
into equal time periods. Further, they summarize the effects of each accounting period
on owner’s equity and set the stage for the next accounting period.

To accomplish the closing process, it is important to understand the concepts of
permanent and temporary accounts. Balance sheet accounts, such as Cash and Accounts
Payable, are considered permanent accounts (or real accounts) because they carry
their end-of-period balances into the next accounting period. In contrast, revenue
and expense accounts, such as Revenues Earned and Wages Expense, are considered
temporary accounts (or nominal accounts). Temporary accounts begin each accounting
period with a zero balance, accumulate a balance during the period, and are then cleared
by means of closing entries.

The net income or loss is transferred from the Income Summary account to
the owner’s Capital account because revenues and expenses represent increases and
decreases in owner’s equity. Exhibit 1 shows an overview of the closing process. For
corporations, the net income or loss is transferred from the Income Summary account
to the Retained Earnings account, which is part of the stockholders’ (owner’s) equity
of a corporation.
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Exhibit 1
Overview of the Closing Process

Expense Accounts

Revenue Accounts
XXX —| li XXX
Step 2: Step 1:
To close the To close the
expense revenue
accounts Income Summary accounts
I—> XXX | Xxx <—|
XX
Step 3:
To close
Income Summary
v (Net Income)
£ Withdrawals Capital
% Step 4:
g XX ————  Joclose =) XX | XX <
8 Withdrawals
©
Match the concepts that follow to the related statements. SOLUTION
1. Important in assuring that owner’s equity is affected properly by revenues a. periodicity 1.b; 2,¢; 3.d; 4.2
and expenses. b. accrual accounting TRY IT! SE1
Usually begin the accounting period with a balance. C. permanent accounts
Begin each period with a zero balance. d. temporary accounts
Divides the life of the business into equal time periods.
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SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS
B Prepare closing entries

B Prepare reversing entries
B Prepare a work sheet

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

L0 2 Prep.are closing
entries.

Prepare reversing
entries.

Prepare a
work sheet.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

Preparing Closing Entries
The steps involved in making closing entries are as follows.

Step 1. Close the credit balances on the income statement accounts to the Income
Summary account.

Step 2. Close the debit balances on the income statement accounts to the Income
Summary account.

Step 3. Close the Income Summary account balance to the owner’s Capital
account. (Although it is not necessary to use the Income Summary account when
preparing closing entries, it does simplify the procedure.)

Step 4. Close the Withdrawals account balance to the owner’s Capital account.

You will learn in later chapters that not all credit balance accounts are revenues and
not all debit balance accounts are expenses. Therefore, we often use the term credit
balances instead of revenue accounts and the term debit balances instead of expense
ACCOUNLS.

An adjusted trial balance provides all the data needed to record the closing entries.
Exhibit 2 shows the relationships of the four kinds of closing entries to Blue Design
Studio’s adjusted trial balance.

Exhibit 2
Preparing Closing Entries from
the Adjusted Trial Balance

Blue Design Studio
Adjusted Trial Balance
July 31,2014

Cash 22,480
Accounts Receivable 5,000
Office Supplies 3,660
Prepaid Rent 1,600
Office Equipment 16,320
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 300
Accounts Payable 6,280
Unearned Design Revenue 600
Wages Payable 720
J. Blue, Capital 40,000
J. Blue, Withdrawals 2,800
Design Revenue 13,600
Wages Expense 5,520
Utilities Expense 680
Rent Expense 1,600
Office Supplies Expense 1,540
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 300

61,500 61,500
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Exhibit 2
Preparing Closing Entries from Entry 1
the Adjusted Trial Balance July 31| Design Revenue 411 13,600
(Continued) Income Summary 314 13,600 —

To close the revenue account

Entry 2
July 31| Income Summary 314 9,640
Wages Expense 511 5,520
Utilities Expense 512 680
Rent Expense 514 1,600
Office Supplies Expense 517 1,540
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 520 300
To close the expense accounts

Income Summary
Dr. Cr.
—— > July31 9,640 | July31 13,600 <=
July31 3,960

Bal. —

Entry 3 \ 4

July 31| Income Summary 314 3,960
J. Blue, Capital 311 3,960
To close the Income Summary account (net income)

Entry 4

July 31| J.Blue, Capital 311 2,800
J. Blue, Withdrawals 313 2,800
To close the Withdrawals account

Step 1: Closing the Credit Balances

In the adjusted trial balance in Exhibit 2, Design Revenue shows a credit balance of
$13,600 and is closed by debiting it for $13,600 and crediting the Income Summary
account for the same amount.

Closing the Revenue Account

Accounts On July 31, Design Revenue of $13,600 credit balance is closed to Income
Summary.
Analysis The journal entry to close Revenue

V decreases the owner’s equity account Design Revenune with a debit

A increases the owner’s equity account Income Summary with a credit
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Application of Double Entry

Assets Liabilities e Owner’s Equity

Design Revenue

Dr. Cr.
July31 13,600
I

Income Summary
| July31 13,600

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
July31  Design Revenue 411 513,600
Income Summary 314 13,600
To close the revenue account

Comment Design Revenue now has a zero balance in preparation for the next
accounting period and Income Summary reflects revenue for the period. Exhibit 3
shows Design Revenue and Income Summary ledger accounts at this point in the
closing process.

Exhibit 3
Posting the Closing Entry of a Design Revenue Account No. 411
Credit Balance Account to the
Income Summary Account Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 10 J1 2,800 2,800
15 N 9,600 12,400
31 | Adj. J3 800 13,200
31 | Adj. J3 400 13,600
31 | Closing J4 | 13,600 —
Income Summary Account No. 314
Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit|| Credit | Debit | Credit
July |31 Closing )4 15.13,600 13,600

Step 2: Closing the Debit Balances

Several expense accounts show balances in the adjusted trial balance in Exhibit 2.
A compound entry is needed to credit each of these expense accounts for its balance and
to debit the Income Summary account for the total, as follows.

Closing the Expense Accounts

Accounts On July 31, expenses accounts shown in the trial balance in Exhibit 2 are
closed to Income Summary.
Analysis The journal entry to close the expense accounts

V decreases the owner’s equity account Income Summary with a debit

V decreases the owner’s equity expense accounts with a credit
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity

Income Summary

Dr. Cr.
July31 9,640

Wages Expense

Dr. Cr.
July 31 5,5|20

Utilities Expense

Dr. Cr.
July31 680
Rent Expense
Dr. Cr.
July 31 1,6|00
Office Supplies Expense
Dr. Cr.
July31 1,540
Depreciation Expense—
Office Equipment
Dr. Cr.
July31 300
|
Journal Entry
STUDY NOTE: The Income Summary
account now reflects the account Dr. cr.
balance of the Design Revenue account July31  Income Summary 314 | 519,640
before it was closed. Wages Expense 511 > 5,520
Utilities Expense 512 680 <=
Rent Expense 514 > 1,600
Office Supplies Expense 517 1,540 «————
Depreciation Expense—
Office Equipment 520 > 300

To close the expense accounts

Comment All expense accounts now have zero balances in preparation for the next

Closing entries bring the accounting period and Income Summary reflects revenue and expenses for the period.

temporary account balances to Exhibit 4 shows all expense ledger accounts and the Income Summary ledger account
zero, allowing a fresh start for at this point in the accounting cycle.

the next accounting period.
T EI -y
3
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Wages Expense Account No. 511 Office Supplies Expense Account No. 517
Post. Balance Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July |26 J1 | 4800 4,800 July |31 Adj. J3 | 1,540 1,540
31 | Adi. 3 720 5,520 31 | Closing J4 1,540 —
31 | Closing J4 5,520 —
Utilities Expense Account No. 512 Depreciation Expense—
Office Equipment Account No. 520
Post. Balance I
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit Post. SalanEs
July 30 I 680 680 Date I.tem Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
31 | Closing J4 300 —
Rent Expense Account No. 514 Income Summary Account No. 314
Post. Balance Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 31 | Adj. 13 1,600 1,600 July 31 | Closing J4 13,600 13,600
31 | Closing 14 1,600 — 31 | Closing J4 9,640* 3,960

*Total of all credit closing entries to expense accounts is debited to the Income Summary account.

Exhibit 4

Posting the Closing Entry of
Debit Balance Accounts to the
Income Summary Account

Step 3: Closing the Income Summary Account Balance

A credit balance in the Income Summary account represents a net income (i.e., revenues
exceed expenses), and a debit balance represents a net loss (i.e., expenses exceed revenues).
The balance, whatever its nature, is closed to the owner’s Capital account, as follows.

Closing the Income Summary Account

Accounts On July 31, Income Summary account balance of $3,960 credit is closed to
J. Blue, Capital.

Analysis The journal entry to close Income Summary
V decreases the owner’s equity account Income Summary with a debit
A increases the owner’s equity account J. Blue, Capital with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities I Owner’s Equity
Income Summary
Dr. Cr.
July31 3,960
J. Blue, Capital
Dr Cr.
July31 3,960
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July31  Income Summary 314 53,960
J. Blue, Capital 311 3,960

To close the Income Summary account
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Preparing Closing Entries 139

STUDY NOTE: At this point, Comment Income Summary now has a zero balance in preparation for the next
the credit balance of the Income accounting period and J. Blue, Capital reflects the income for the period. Exhibit 5

) account (33,960) represents shows Income Summary and J. Blue, Capital ledger accounts at this point in the
net income—the key measure of .
closing process.

performance. When a net loss occurs,
debit the owner’s Capital account

(to reduce it) and credit the Income
Summary account (to close it).

Exhibit 5
Posting the Closing Entry of the Income Summary Account No. 314
Income :ummary Account Balance P Balance
tothe O ‘s Equity A t : 9 q
0 the Dwners Equity Accoun Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 31 | Closing J4 13,600 13,600
31 | Closing J4 9,640 3,960
31 | Closing J4 3,960 —
. J.Blue, Capital Account No. 311
g Post. Balance
£ Date Item Ref. || Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
s July 1 Y 40,000 40,000
g 31 | Closing Ja 3,960 43,960
©

Step 4: Closing the Withdrawals Account Balance

STUDY NOTE: In a corporation, The Withdrawals account shows the amount by which owner’s Capital decreased during
payments to owners are called an accounting period. The debit balance of the Withdrawals account is closed to the

d/VId? T i (hey are closed to the owner’s Capital account, as follows.
Retained Earnings account.

Closing the Withdrawals Account

Account On July 31, Withdrawals in the amount of $2,800 debit is closed to J. Blue,
Capital.

Analysis The journal entry to close Withdrawals
V decreases the owner’s equity account J. Blue, Capital with a debit
V decreases the owner’s equity account Withdrawals with a credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
J. Blue Capital
Dr. Cr.
July31 2,800
B
Withdrawals
[ July31 2,800
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
July 31 J. Blue, Capital 311 2,800 <
Withdrawals 313 2,800 <=
To close the Withdrawals account
STUDY NOTE: Note that the Comment Withdrawals now has a zero balance in preparation for the next accounting

Withdrawals account is closed to the
owner’s Capital account, not to the
Income Summary account.

period and J. Blue, Capital reflects the income minus the withdrawals for the period.
Exhibit 6 shows Income Summary and J. Blue, Capital ledger accounts at this point in
the closing process.
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Exhibit 6

Posting the Closing Entry of the
Withdrawals Account Balance to
the Owner’s Capital Account

Exhibit 7
Post-Closing Trial
Balance

© Alija / iStockphoto.com

J. Blue, Withdrawals Account No. 313
Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 31 J2 2,800 2,800
31 | Closing J4 2,800 —
J. Blue, Capital Account No. 311
Post. Balance
Date Item Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 1 n / 40,000 40,000
31 | Closing J4 3,960 43,960
31 | Closing J4 2,800 41,160

The Accounts After Closing

After all the steps in the closing process have been completed and all closing entries have
been posted, everything is ready for the next accounting period. The revenue, expense,
and withdrawals accounts (temporary accounts) have zero balances. The owner’s Capital
account has been increased or decreased to reflect net income or net loss (net income in
our example) and has been decreased for withdrawals. The balance sheet accounts (perma-
nent accounts) show the correct balances, which are carried forward to the next period, as

shown in the post-closing trial balance in Exhibit 7.

Cash
Accounts Receivable

Office Supplies
Prepaid Rent
Office Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment

Accounts Payable
Unearned Design Revenue
Wages Payable
J. Blue, Capital

.. Business Perspective
(losing Process in the Internet Age

Just a few years ago, it took companies eleven to fourteen days to close the accounts at the end of the year, but today the average is five to eight days.
In fact, Cisco Systems, the big software company, is able to close its books in just one day. The company’s CEO says this enables his managers to “spot
problems and opportunities at any time” and that it has an important impact on a company’s future success. The key to the success is for financial
systems to work together seamlessly over the Internet so that companies have real-time transactions with real-time reporting.’

Blue Design Studio
Post-Closing Trial Balance
July 31,2014

22,480
5,000
3,660
1,600
16,320

300

6,280

600

720

41,160

49,060 49,060
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Refer to the following partial adjusted trial balance for Fountas SOLUTION
Recreational Park. (Except for K. Fountas, Capital, balance sheet 1.
accounts have been omitted.) June30 Campsite Rentals 88,200
Income Summary 88,200

Fountas Recreational Park

. . . To close the credit balance account
Partial Adjusted Trial Balance

June 30,2014 30 Income Summary 36,754
K. Fountas, Capital 93,070 Wages Expense 23,850
K. Fountas, Withdrawals 36,000 Insjlfr.ance Expense 3,784
Campsite Rentals 88,200 Utl|lt|?$ Expense 1,800
Wages Expense 23,850 SUPP“G.S FXPQ”SG o 1,320
Insurance Expense 3,784 Depreciation Exper)se—BwIdmg 6,000
el Brparse 1,800 To close the debit balance accounts
Supplies Expense 1320 30 Income Summary 51,446
Depreciation Expense—Building 6,000 K. Fountas, Capital 51,446
To close the Income Summary account

1. Prepare the necessary closing entries. $88,200 — $36,754 = $51,446
2. Compute the ending balance of the owner’s Capital 30 K. Fountas, Capital 36,000

account. K. Fountas, Withdrawals 36,000

To close the Withdrawals account

K. Fountas, Capital

Dr. Cr.
June30 36,000 |Beg.Bal. 93,070
June30 51,446
End.Bal. 108,516

TRY IT! SE3, SE4, SE5, SE6, SE10, E1A, E3A, E1B, E3B

Reversing Entries: An Optional First Step

A reversing entry is an optional journal entry made on the first day of an accounting
period. It has the opposite effect of an adjusting entry made at the end of the previous
period—that is, it debits the credits and credits the debits of an earlier adjusting entry.
The sole purpose of reversing entries is to simplify routine bookkeeping procedures, and
they apply only to certain adjusting entries. As used in this text, reversing entries apply
only to accruals (accrued revenues and expenses).

To see how reversing entries can be helpful, consider this adjusting entry to accrue
wages expense made in Blue Design Studio’s records.

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Wages Payable Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

July31 720 July31 720

Journal Entry

Dr. cr.

July31  Wages Expense 720 =
> Wages Payable 720
Accrued unrecorded wages
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When the company pays its assistant on the next regular payday, its accountant

would make the journal entry that follows.

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Cash Wages Payable Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.9 2,400 Aug.9 720|— Aug.9 1,680 | —

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
Aug.9 Wages Payable < 720
Wages Expense 1,680 «—————
+————————> Cash 2,400

Paid two weeks wages to assistant, $720 of
which accrued in the previous period

If no reversing entry is made at the time of payment, the accountant would have

to find out how much of the $2,400 applies to the current accounting period and how
much applies to the previous period. That may seem casy in our example, but think
how difficult and time-consuming it would be if a company had hundreds of employees
working on different schedules. A reversing entry helps solve the problem of applying
revenues and expenses to the correct accounting period.

For example, consider the following sequence of entries and their effects on the

Wages Expense account:

1. Adjusting Entry
July31  Wages Expense
Wages Payable
2. Closing Entry
July31  Income Summary
Wages Expense
3. Reversing Entry
Aug.1  Wages Payable
Wages Expense
4. Payment Entry
Aug.9  Wages Expense
Cash

Dr. Cr.
720 ——— Wages Expense Account No.511
720 Post. Balance
5,520 Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
5,520 July 26 1| 4,800 4,800
| L——— 31 J3 720 5,520
720 31 J4 5,520 —
720 ————> Aug. 1 J5 720 720
—|—> 9 J6 2,400 1,680
2,400
2,400

Here, you can see that

Entry 1 adjusted Wages Expense to accrue $720 in the July accounting period.
Entry 2 closed the $5,520 in Wages Expense for July to Income Summary, leaving
a zero balance.

Entry 3, the reversing entry, set up a credit balance of $720 on August 1 in Wages
Expense, which is the expense recognized through the adjusting entry in July (and
also reduced the liability account Wages Payable to a zero balance). The reversing
entry always sets up an abnormal balance in the income statement account and pro-
duces a zero balance in the balance sheet account.

Entry 4 recorded the $2,400 payment of wages as a debit to Wages Expense, auto-
matically leaving a balance of $1,680, which represents the correct wages expense
to date in August. The reversing entry simplified the process of making the payment
entry on August 9.
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Reversing entries apply to any accrued expenses or revenues. Blue Design Studio’s
only accrued expense was wages expense. An adjusting entry for the company’s accrued
revenue (Design Revenue) would require the reversing entry that follows.

Which of the following accounts, after adjustment, will most likely require reversing entries? SOLUTION

a. Salaries Payable
b. Accumulated Depreciation
c. Interest Payable

STUDY NOTE: The work sheet is not a
financial statement, it is not required,
and it is not made public.

STUDY NOTE: The Trial Balance
columns of a work sheet take the place
of a separate trial balance.

Dr. Cr.
Aug.1 Design Revenue 400
Accounts Receivable 400
Reversed the adjusting entry for accrued revenue earned
d. Supplies a, c,ande.
e. Taxes Payable TRY IT! SES, SE9, E2A, E6A, E2B, E6B

The Work Sheet:
An Accountant’s Tool

To organize data and important information, accountants use working papers. Because
working papers provide evidence of past work, they also enable accountants to retrace
their steps when they need to verify information in the financial statements.

A work sheet is a special kind of working paper. It serves as a preliminary step in
preparing financial statements. Using a work sheet lessens the possibility of omitting an
adjustment and helps the accountant check the arithmetical accuracy of the accounts.
The work sheet is never published and is rarely seen by management.

Because preparing a work sheet is a mechanical process, many accountants use a
computer for this purpose. Some accountants use a spreadsheet program to prepare the
work sheet. Others use a general ledger system to prepare financial statements from the
adjusted trial balance.

Preparing the Work Sheet

A common form of work sheet has one column for account names and multiple columns
with headings like the ones shown in Exhibit 8. A heading that includes the name of
the company and the period of time covered (as on the income statement) identifies the
work sheet. As Exhibit 8 shows, preparation of a work sheet involves five steps.

Step 1. Enter and Total the Account Balances in the Trial Balance
Columns The debit and credit balances of the accounts on the last day of an account-
ing period are copied from the ledger into the Trial Balance columns (the green columns
in Exhibit 8). When accountants use a work sheet, they do not have to prepare a separate
trial balance.

Step 2. Enter and Total the Adjustments in the Adjustments Columns The
required adjustments are entered in the Adjustments columns of the work sheet (the
purple columns in Exhibit 8). As each adjustment is entered, a letter is used to identify
its debit and credit parts. For example, in Exhibit 8, the letter (a) identifies the adjust-
ment made for the rent that Blue Design Studio prepaid on July 3, which results in a
debit to Rent Expense and a credit to Prepaid Rent. These identifying letters may be
used to reference supporting computations or documentation for the related adjusting
entries.
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144 Chapter 4: Completing the Accounting Cycle

Blue Design Studio
Work Sheet
For the Month Ended July 31, 2014

Adjusted Income
Trial Balance Adjustments Trial Balance Statement Balance Sheet

Account Name Debit | Credit Debit Credit Debit | Credit Debit | Credit Debit | Credit
Cash 22,480
Accounts Receivable (f) 400 5,000
Office Supplies (b) 1,540 3,660
Prepaid Rent (a) 1,600 1,600
Office Equipment 16,320
Accumulated

Depreciation—Office

Equipment (c) 300 300
Accounts Payable 6,280
Unearned Design

Revenue (e) 800 600
J. Blue, Capital 40,000
J. Blue, Withdrawals 2,800
Design Revenue (e) 800 13,600

(f) 400

Wages Expense (d) 720 5,520
Utilities Expense 680
Rent Expense (a) 1,600 1,600
Office Supplies

Expense (b) 1,540 1,540
Depreciation Expense—

Office Equipment (c) 300 300
Wages Payable (d) 720 720

5,360 5,360 | 61,500 | 61,500
Net Income
Note: The columns of the work sheet are prepared in the following order. (1) Trial Balance, (2) Adjustments, (3) Adjusted Trial Balance,
and (4) Income Statement and Balance Sheet columns. In the fifth step, the Income Statement and Balance Sheet columns are totaled.
( Exhibit 8
The Work Sheet A trial balance includes only accounts that have balances. If an adjustment involves

an account that does not appear in the trial balance, the new account is added below
the accounts listed on the work sheet. For example, Rent Expense has been added to
Exhibit 8. Accumulated depreciation accounts, which have a zero balance only in the
initial period of operation, are the sole exception to this rule. They are listed immediately
after their associated asset accounts.

When all the adjustments have been made, the two Adjustments columns must be
totaled. This procedure proves that the debits and credits of the adjustments are equal,
and it generally reduces errors in the work sheet.
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Step 3. Enter and Total the Adjusted Account Balances in the Adjusted
Trial Balance Columns The adjusted trial balance in the work sheet is prepared by
combining the amount of cach account in the Trial Balance columns with the corre-
sponding amount in the Adjustments columns and entering each result in the Adjusted
Trial Balance columns (the beige columns in Exhibit 8).

Exhibit 8 contains examples of crossfooting, or adding and subtracting a group of
numbers horizontally.

The first line shows Cash with a debit balance of $22,480. Because there are no
adjustments to the Cash account, $22,480 is entered in the debit column of the
Adjusted Trial Balance columns.

On the second line, Accounts Receivable shows a debit of $4,600 in the Trial
Balance columns. Because there is a debit of $400 in the Adjustments columns, it
is added to the $4,600 and carried over to the debit column of the Adjusted Trial
Balance columns at $5,000.

On the next line, Office Supplies shows a debit of $5,200 in the Trial Balance
columns and a credit of $1,540 in the Adjustments columns. Subtracting $1,540
from $5,200 results in a $3,660 debit balance in the Adjusted Trial Balance columns.

This process is followed for all the accounts, including those added below the trial
balance totals. The Adjusted Trial Balance columns are then footed (totaled) to check the
accuracy of the crossfooting.

Step 4. Extend the Account Balances from the Adjusted Trial Balance
Columns to the Income Statement or Balance Sheet Columns Each account in
the adjusted trial balance is extended to its proper place as a debit or credit in either the
Income Statement columns or the Balance Sheet columns (the blue columns in Exhibit 8).
As shown in Exhibit 8, revenue and expense accounts are extended to the Income State-
ment columns, and asset, liability, Capital, and Withdrawals accounts are extended to
the Balance Sheet columns.

To avoid overlooking an account, the accounts are extended line by line, beginning
with the first line (Cash). For instance, the Cash debit balance of $22,480 is extended
to the debit column of the Balance Sheet columns; then, the Accounts Receivable debit
balance of $5,000 is extended to the debit column of the Balance Sheet columns; and
so forth.

Step 5. Total the Income Statement Columns and the Balance Sheet
Columns. Enter the Net Income or Net Loss in Both Pairs of Columns as a
Balancing Figure, and Recompute the Column Totals. This last step, shown in
the orange columns at the bottom of Exhibit 8, is necessary to compute net income or
net loss and to prove the arithmetical accuracy of the work sheet.

Net income (or net loss) is equal to the difference between the total debits and
credits of the Income Statement columns.

Revenues (Income Statement credit column total) $13,600
Expenses (Income Statement debit column total) (9,640)
Net Income $ 3,960

In this case, revenues (credit column) exceed expenses (debit column). Thus, Blue
Design Studio has a net income of $3,960. The same difference occurs between the
total debits and credits of the Balance Sheet columns.

The $3,960 is entered in the debit side of the Income Statement columns and in
the credit side of the Balance Sheet columns to balance the columns. Remember that
the excess of revenues over expenses (net income) increases owner’s equity and that
increases in owner’s equity are recorded by credits.

When a net loss occurs, the opposite rule applies. The excess of expenses over
revenues—net loss—is placed in the credit side of the Income Statement columns as a
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Exhibit 9
Adjustments from the Work Sheet
Entered in the General Journal

balancing figure. It is then placed in the debit side of the Balance Sheet columns because
a net loss decreases owner’s equity, and decreases in owner’s equity are recorded by
debits.

As a final check, the four columns are totaled again. If the Income Statement
columns and the Balance Sheet columns do not balance, an account may have been
extended or sorted to the wrong column, or an error may have been made in adding
the columns. Of course, equal totals in the two pairs of columns are not absolute proof
of accuracy. If an asset has been carried to the Income Statement debit column (or an
expense has been carried to the Balance Sheet debit column) or a similar error with rev-
enues or liabilities has been made, the work sheet will balance, but the net income figure
will be wrong.

General Journal Page 2
Post.
Date Description Ref. Debit | Credit
2014
(@) July | 31 | Rent Expense 514 1,600
Prepaid Rent 117 1,600
To recognize expiration of one month’s rent
(b) 31 | Office Supplies Expense 517 1,540
Office Supplies 116 1,540
To recognize office supplies used during
the month
(c) 31 | Depreciation Expense—Office
Equipment 520 300
Accumulated Depreciation— 147 300
Office Equipment
To record depreciation of office
equipment for a month
(d) 31 | Wages Expense 511 720
Wages Payable 214 720
To accrue unrecorded wages
(e) 31 | Unearned Design Revenue 213 800
Design Revenue 411 800
To recognize payment for services
not yet performed
(f) 31 | Accounts Receivable 113 400
Design Revenue 411 400
To accrue design fees earned
but unrecorded

Closing Entries and the
Financial Statements

Closing entries set the accounts on the income statement to zero and transfer the result-
ing balance of net income or loss to the owner’s Capital account on the balance sheet as
depicted in Exhibit 10. Closing entries do not affect cash flows.
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Closing Entries and the Financial Statements

Exhibit 10
The Effect of Closing Entries on the Financial Statements

© Cengage Learning 2014

Place the following columns of a work sheet in the proper order:

a. Balance Sheet columns d. Adjusted Trial Balance columns
b. Trial Balance columns e. Adjustments columns
¢. Income Statement columns

147

SOLUTION
b.,e,d.,c,a.

TRY IT! SE11, E4A, E6A, E7A, E8A, E4B, E6B,
E7B, ES8B
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SECTION 3 BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

BUSINESS APPLICATION

B Using a work sheet The Importance Of

RELEVANT the Work Sheet and Closing
LEARNING OBJECTIVE Entries for Managers

L0 5 Fxplain the

importance of the
work sheet and closing
entries when managing a
business.

Preparing the work sheet and recording closing entries may seem like technical account-
ing topics without much function, but in fact they are important steps that save money
and prevent mistakes. They also help in understanding the business by providing the
mechanism for dividing its financial life into accounting periods; thus, applying the con-
cept of periodicity.

Using the Work Sheet

Accountants use the completed work sheet in performing three principal tasks. These
tasks are as follows.

Recording the adjusting entries in the general journal: Because the informa-
tion needed to record the adjusting entries can be copied from the work sheet,
entering the adjustments in the journal is an easy step, as shown in Exhibit 9. The
adjusting entries are then posted to the general ledger.

Recording the closing entries in the general journal: The Income Statement
columns of the work sheet show all the accounts that need to be closed, except for
the Withdrawals account. Exhibits 2 through 6 show how the closing entries are
entered in the journal and posted to the ledger.

Preparing the financial statements: Once the work sheet has been completed,
preparing the financial statements is simple because the account balances have been
sorted into the Income Statement and Balance Sheet columns.

Closing entries are important to managing a business for the following reasons:

The owners of the business expect periodic reports of the progress of the business.
In planning a business’ future operations, management needs to prepare budgets for
future time periods.

For management to evaluate a company’s process in achieving its profitability
goals, it is necessary to divide the life of the business into relatively short time
periods.

International Perspective
D Why Are IFRS Important to Multinational Companies?

Many U.S. companies, both private and public, operate in different countries. If these companies were able to use IFRS for all their operations through-
out the world (including in the United States), it would simplify the process of preparing combined or consolidated financial statements. Currently,
these companies face a difficult task every time they need to prepare financial statements for combined or consolidated operations because the
accounting records of the foreign divisions often follow the accounting standards of their respective countries or IFRS. In either case, their financial
statements must be converted to U.S. GAAP before they can be combined with the accounts of the U.S. company. The use of IFRS for the entire
company would save money and enable the company to report more timely results. This is one reason many U.S. multinational companies favor the
adoption of IFRS in the United States.

© loops7 / iStockphoto.com
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Indicate whether each of the following items is associated with a purpose of (a) the work sheet or

(b) closing entries:

1. Preparing the financial statements.
2. Financial statements that are up to date for measuring financial progress.
3. Recording adjusting entries.
4. Recording closing entries.
5.Preparing budgets.

TriLevel Problem

Speedy Movers

mangostock/Shutterstock
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SOLUTION
1.a; 2.b; 3.a; 4.a; 5.b

TRY IT! SE11, E5A, E6A, E7A, E8A, E5B,
E6B, E7B, ES8B

The beginning of this chapter focused on Speedy Movers. At the end of an accounting
period, Speedy Movers, like all other companies, must prepare its accounts for the next
accounting period. Complete the following requirements in order to answer the questions
posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Section 1: Concepts
Why are the concepts of permanent and temporary accounts important to making closing
entries?

Section 2: Accounting Applications
What steps must a company follow to prepare its accounts for the next accounting period?
Refer to Speedy Movers’ partial adjusted trial balance below.

A | B | ¢C
1 Speedy Movers
2 Partial Adjusted Trial Balance
3 June 30, 2014
4
5 | J. Thomas, Capital 24,740
6 | J. Thomas, Withdrawals 18,000
7 | Moving Services Revenue 185,400
8 | Driver Wages Expense 88,900
9 | Fuel Expense 19,000
10| Other Wages Expense 14,400
11| Packing Supplies Expense 6,200
12| Office Equipment Rental Expense 3,000
13| Utilities Expense 4,450
14| Insurance Expense 4,200
15| Interest Expense 5,100
16| Depreciation Expense 10,040
17

1. Prepare the necessary closing entries. (Note that this adjusted trial balance is "partial”
in that it omits all balance sheet accounts except the owner’s equity accounts.)

2. Compute the ending balance of the owner’s Capital account.

Section 3: Business Applications
Why are closing entries important to good financial reporting in the current accounting period
and the next accounting period?
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Chapter 4: Completing the Accounting Cycle

SOLUTION  Section 1: Concepts

Permanent accounts and temporary accounts are used in the process of achieving
periodicity and accrual accounting. Permanent accounts (or real accounts) are accounts that
carry forward their balances into the next accounting period. They are the balance sheet
accounts. On the other hand, temporary accounts (or nominal accounts) are accounts
that begin each accounting period with a zero balance, accumulate a balance during the
period, and are then cleared by means of closing entries. Thus, temporary accounts show
a company'’s revenues and expenses for a particular period of time. They are the income
statement accounts and the owner's withdrawal accounts.

Section 2: Accounting Applications

1.
A B C D E
1| June 30 Moving Serivces Revenue 185,400
12| Income Summary 185,400
8 To close the credit balance account
4 30 Income Summary 155,290
? Driver Wages Expense 88,900
6 Fuel Expense 19,000
7 Other Wages Expense 14,400
8 Packing Supplies Expense 6,200
9 Office Equipment Rental Expense 3,000
10 Utilities Expense 4,450
11 Insurance Expense 4,200
12 Interest Expense 5,100
13 Depreciation Expense 10,040
14 To close the debit balance accounts
15 30 Income Summary 30,110
16 J. Thomas, Capital 30,110
17 To close the Income Summary account
18 $185,400 — $155,290 = $30,110
19 30 J. Thomas, Capital 18,000
5 J. Thomas, Withdrawals 18,000
E To close the Withdrawals account
22|
2.
A [ B] C | D | E] F
1 J. Thomas, Capital
2| June 30 18,000 Beg. Bal. 24,740
3 June 30 30,110
4 End. Bal. 36,850

Section 3: Business Applications

Closing entries are helpful for business owners who expect periodic reports of the prog-
ress of the business. These entries also help management to prepare budgets for future
time periods in planning a business’ future operation. Finally, closing entries help divide
the life of the business into relatively short time periods so that management can evaluate
a company’s progress in achieving its profitability goals.
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Chapter Review

Chapter Review

Describe the role of closing o .I
entries in the preparation
of financial statements.

Prepare closing entries.
p 9 Lo 2

Prepare reversing entries.
P 9 Lo 3

Prepare a work sheet.

Explain the importance of
the work sheet and closing

entries when managing a business.

Key Terms

closing entries 132 (LO1)
crossfooting 145 (LO4)
Income Summary

account 132 (LO1)
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Closing entries have two purposes: (1) They clear the balances of all temporary accounts
(revenue, expense, and Withdrawals accounts) so that they have zero balances at the
beginning of the next accounting period, and (2) they summarize a period’s revenues
and expenses in the Income Summary account so that the net income or loss for the
period can be transferred as a total to owner’s Capital.

The first two steps in preparing closing entries are to transfer the balances of the revenue
and expense accounts to the Income Summary account. The balance of the Income
Summary account is then transferred to the owner’s Capital account. Finally, the balance
of the Withdrawals account is transferred to owner’s Capital. After the closing entries
have been posted to the ledger accounts, a post-closing trial balance is prepared as a final
check on the balance of the ledger and to ensure that all temporary (nominal) accounts
have been closed.

Reversing entries are optional journal entries made on the first day of an accounting
period. Reversing entries have the opposite effect of adjusting entries made at the end of
the previous period—that is, a reversing entry debits the credits and credits the debits of
an carlier adjusting entry. The sole purpose of reversing entries is to simplify routine
bookkeeping procedures, and they apply only to accruals.

The five steps in preparing a work sheet are (1) enter and total the account balances in
the Trial Balance columns; (2) enter and total the adjustments in the Adjustments col-
umns; (3) enter and total the adjusted account balances in the Adjusted Trial Balance
columns; (4) extend the account balances from the Adjusted Trial Balance columns to
the Income Statement or Balance Sheet columns; and (5) total the Income Statement
and Balance Sheet columns, enter the net income or net loss in both pairs of columns as
a balancing figure, and recompute the column totals.

A work sheet is useful in recording both adjusting and closing entries and in preparing
the financial statements. The income statement and balance sheet can be prepared directly
from the Income Statement and Balance Sheet columns of the completed work sheet.
The statement of owner’s equity is prepared using owner’s Withdrawals, net income,
additional investments, and the beginning balance of the owner’s Capital account.

The work sheet assists in preparing adjusting and closing entries as well as the financial
statements. Closing entries are useful for (1) owners of the business who expect periodic
reports of the progress of the business, (2) management to prepare budgets for future
time periods in planning a business’ future operations, and (3) management to evaluate a
company’s progress in achieving its profitability goals.

permanent accounts 132 (LO1) work sheet 143 (LO4)
post-closing trial balance 140 (LO2)  working papers 143 (LO4)
reversing entry 141 (LO3)

temporary accounts 132 (LO1)
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Chapter Assignments

LO1
02
02
LO3
o4

LO1

LO1

02

02

02

02

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1. Why is the accounting cycle called a “cycle”?

DQ2. Could closing entries be made without using the Income Summary account?
DQ3. Why does the post-closing trial balance contain only balance sheet accounts?
DQ4. Why are reversing entries helpful?

DQ5. Under what circumstances would the Income Statement and Balance Sheet col-
umns on a work sheet balance when they are initially totaled?

SHORT EXERCISES

Concepts Underlying Closing Entries

SE1. CONCEPT » Match the following concepts to the related statements:
a. periodicity C. permanent accounts

b. accrual accounting d. temporary accounts

1. Encompasses all the techniques that determine income for an accounting period.

2. Accumulate from zero each accounting period.

3. Concept that embodies assumption that life of business can be divided into account-
ing periods.

4. Have a balance that carries forwarded from one accounting period to another.

Accounting Cycle
SE2. Resequence the following activities to indicate the usual order of the accounting cycle:

a. Close the accounts. f. Record the transactions in the journal.
b. Analyze the transactions. g. Prepare the post-closing trial balance.
c. Post the entries to the ledger. h. Prepare the initial trial balance.

d. Prepare the financial statements. i. Prepare the adjusted trial balance.

c. Adjust the accounts.

Closing Revenue Accounts

SE3. Assume that at the end of the accounting period there are credit balances of
$3,400 in Patient Services Revenues and $1,800 in Laboratory Fees Revenues. Prepare
the required closing entry. The accounting period ends December 31.

Closing Expense Accounts

SE4. Assume that debit balances at the end of the accounting period are $1,400 in Rent
Expense, $1,100 in Wages Expense, and $500 in Other Expenses. Prepare the required
closing entry. The accounting period ends December 31.

Closing the Income Summary Account

SE5. Assuming that total revenues were $5,200 and total expenses were $3,000, pre-
pare the journal entry to close the Income Summary account to the P. Mehta, Capital
account. The accounting period ends December 31.

Closing the Withdrawals Account

SE6. Assuming that withdrawals during the accounting period were $800, prepare
the journal entry to close the P. Mehta, Withdrawals account to the P. Mehta, Capital
account. The accounting period ends December 31.
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LO3

O3

LO2

L02,4,5

153

Posting Closing Entries

SE7. Show the effects of the transactions in SE3, SE4, SE5, and SE6 by entering begin-
ning balances in appropriate T accounts and recording the transactions. Assume that the
P. Mehta, Capital account had a beginning balance of $1,300.

Preparation of Reversing Entries

SE8. Below, indicated by letters, are the adjusting entries at the end of March.

Account Name Debit Credit

Prepaid Insurance (@) 180

Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment (b)1,050

Salaries Expense (c) 360

Insurance Expense (a) 180

Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment (b)1,050

Salaries Payable () 360
1,590 1,590

Prepare the required reversing entry or entries.

Effects of Reversing Entries

SE9. Assume that prior to the adjustments in SE8, Salaries Expense had a debit balance
of $1,800 and Salaries Payable had a zero balance. Prepare a T account for each of these
accounts. Enter the beginning balance. Post the adjustment for accrued salaries, the
appropriate closing entry, and the reversing entry. Then, enter the transaction in the
T accounts for a payment of $480 for salaries on April 3.

Preparation of Closing Entries

SE10. Katsu Company’s adjusted trial balance on December 31, 2014, contains the fol-
lowing accounts and balances: F. Katsu, Capital, $8,600; F. Katsu, Withdrawals, $350;
Service Revenue, $2,600; Rent Expense, $400; Wages Expense, $900; Utilities Expense,
$200; and Telephone Expense, $50. Prepare the closing entries.

Preparation of Closing Entries from a Work Sheet

SE11. Prepare the required closing journal entries for the year ended December 31,
using the items from the Income Statement columns of a work sheet that follow and
assuming that withdrawals by the owner, A. Riley, were $7,000.

Account Name Debit Credit
Repair Revenue 35,860
Wages Expense 13,260
Rent Expense 2,800
Supplies Expense 6,390
Insurance Expense 1,370
Depreciation Expense—Repair Equipment 3,020

26,840 35,860
Net Income 9,020

35,860 35,860
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EXERCISES: SET A

02  Preparation of Closing Entries

E1A. Hamilton Realty Company’s income statement accounts at the end of its fiscal
year, December 31, follow. Prepare the required closing entries. Lewis Hamilton is the

owner.
Account Name Debit Credit
Commission Revenue $25,620
Wages Expense $8,110
Rent Expense 1,200
Supplies Expense 4,260
Insurance Expense 915
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 1,345
Total Expenses 15,830
Net Income $ 9,790

L03  Reversing Entries
E2A. Seclected September T accounts for Kalgan Company follow.

Supplies Supplies Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
9/1 Bal. 1,720 | 9/30 Adj. 2,560 9/30 Adj. 2,560 | 9/30 Closing 2,560
Sept. purchases 1,880
Bal. 1,040 Bal. —
Wages Payable Wages Expense
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
9/30 Adj. 1,280 Sept. wages 7,880 | 9/30 Closing 9,160
9/30 Adj. 1,280
Bal. 1,280 Bal. —

1. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » In which of the accounts would a reversing entry be

helpful? Why?

Prepare the appropriate reversing entry.

3. Prepare the journal entry to record a payment on October 25 for wages totaling
$6,280. How much of this amount represents wages expense for October?

N

L02  Preparation of a Trial Balance

E3A. An alphabetical list presenting the accounts and balances for Ken’s Cleaners on
June 30, 2014, follows. All the accounts have normal balances.

Accounts Payable $ 30,840
Accounts Receivable 15,300
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 2,700
Advertising Expense 3,600
Cash 15,270
Office Equipment 31,020
Prepaid Insurance 3,360
Rent Expense 14,400
Revenue from Cleaning 115,800
I. Bell, Capital 61,260
I. Bell, Withdrawals 54,000
Supplies 1,650
Wages Expense 72,000
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Prepare the trial balance by listing the accounts in the correct order, with the balances in
the appropriate debit or credit column.

L04 Completion of a Work Sheet

E4A. A highly simplified alphabetical list of trial balance accounts and their normal bal-
ances for the month ended March 31, 2014, follows.

Accounts Payable 8
Accounts Receivable 14
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 2
Cash 8
K. Pollard, Capital 24
K. Pollard, Withdrawals 12
Office Equipment 16
Prepaid Insurance 4
Service Revenue 46
Supplies 8
Unearned Revenues 6
Utilities Expense 4
Wages Expense 20

1. Prepare a work sheet, entering the trial balance accounts in the order in which they
would normally appear and entering the balances in the correct debit or credit
column.

2. Complete the work sheet using the following information: expired insurance, $2;
estimated depreciation on office equipment, $2; accrued wages, $2; and unused
supplies on hand, $2. In addition, $4 of the unearned revenues balance had been
earned by the end of the month.

L05  Preparation of Statement of Owner’s Equity

E5A. The Capital, Withdrawals, and Income Summary accounts for Strauss’s Hair Salon
are shown in the T accounts that follow. The closing entries have been recorded for the
year ended December 31, 2014.

B. Strauss, Capital

Dr. Cr.
12/31/14 9,000 | 12/31/13 26,000
12/31/14 19,000
Bal. 36,000

Income Summary

Dr. Cr.
12/31/14 43,000 | 12/31/14 62,000
12/31/14 19,000
Bal. —

B. Strauss, Withdrawals

Dr. Cr.
4/1/14 3,000 | 12/31/14 9,000
7/1/14 3,000
10/1/14 3,000
Bal. —

Prepare a statement of owner’s equity for Strauss’s Hair Salon.
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L03,4,5 Preparation of Adjusting and Reversing Entries from Work Sheet Columns

E6A. The items that follow are from the Adjustments columns of a work sheet dated
June 30, 2014.

Adjustments
Account Name Debit Credit
Prepaid Insurance (@) 480
Office Supplies (b) 1,260
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment (c) 2,800
Accumulated Depreciation—Store Equipment (d) 4,400

Office Salaries Expense (e) 480
Store Salaries Expense (e) 960
Insurance Expense (@) 480

(

(

(

Office Supplies Expense b) 1,260

Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment c) 2,800
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment d) 4,400
Salaries Payable (e) 1,440

10,380 10,380

1. Prepare the adjusting entries.
2. Where required, prepare appropriate reversing entries.

L02,4,5 Preparation of Closing Entries from the Work Sheet

E7A. The items that follow are from the Income Statement columns of Winter’s Repair
Shop’s work sheet for the year ended December 31, 2014. Prepare journal entries to
close the revenue, expense, Income Summary, and Withdrawals accounts. The owner,
A. Winter, withdrew $2,500 during the year.

Income Statement

Account Name Debit Credit
Repair Revenue 12,810
Wages Expense 4,055
Rent Expense 600
Supplies Expense 2,130
Insurance Expense 458
Depreciation Expense—Repair EQuipment 672

7,915 12,810
Net Income 4,895

12,810 12,810

L04,5  Adjusting Entries and Preparation of a Balance Sheet

E8A. In the partial work sheet for K. Joe Company that follows, the Trial Balance and
Income Statement columns have been completed. All amounts are in dollars.

Trial Balance Income Statement
Account Name Debit Credit Debit Credit
Cash 28
Accounts Receivable 48
Supplies 44
Prepaid Insurance 32
Building 100
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 32
Accounts Payable 16
Unearned Revenues 8
K. Joe, Capital 128
Revenues 176 184
Wages Expense 108 120
360 360
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Trial Balance Income Statement
Account Name Debit Credit Debit Credit
Insurance Expense 16
Supplies Expense 32
Depreciation Expense—Building 8
Wages Payable
176 184
Net Income 8
184 184

1. Show the adjusting entries without giving an explanation.
2. Prepare a balance sheet for December 31, 2014.

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion web site at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise
Set B for this chapter.

PROBLEMS
01,2  Preparation of Closing Entries

P1. Salinas Trailer Rental rents small trailers by the day for local moving jobs. Its adjusted
trial balance at the end of the current fiscal year follows.

Salinas Trailer Rental
Adjusted Trial Balance

June 30,2014
Cash 1,384
Accounts Receivable 1,944
Supplies 238
Prepaid Insurance 720
Trailers 24,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Trailers 14,400
Accounts Payable 542
Wages Payable 400
D. Anatole, Capital 11,388
D. Anatole, Withdrawals 14,400
Trailer Rentals Revenue 91,092
Wages Expense 46,800
Insurance Expense 1,440
Supplies Expense 532
Depreciation Expense—Trailers 4,800
Other Expenses 21,564

117,822 117,822

REQUIRED
1. From the information given, record closing entries.
2. CONCEPT p» If closing entries were not prepared at the end of the accounting period,
what problems would result in the next accounting period?
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01,2  Closing Entries Using T Accounts and Preparation of Financial Statements

¢ 3:Netincome: $103,150 P2, Carlton Tennis Club’s adjusted trial balance at the end of its fiscal year follows.
v 3:Total assets: $627,800

Carlton Tennis Club
Adjusted Trial Balance

June 30, 2014
Cash 26,200
Prepaid Advertising 9,600
Supplies 1,200
Land 100,000
Building 645,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 260,000
Equipment 156,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 50,400
Accounts Payable 73,000
Wages Payable 9,000
Property Taxes Payable 22,500
Unearned Revenue—Locker Fees 3,000
J. Kojas, Capital 471,150
J. Kojas, Withdrawals 54,000
Revenue from Court Fees 678,100
Revenue from Locker Fees 9,600
Wages Expense 351,000
Maintenance Expense 51,600
Advertising Expense 39,750
Utilities Expense 64,800
Supplies Expense 6,000
Depreciation Expense—Building 30,000
Depreciation Expense—Equipment 12,000
Property Taxes Expense 22,500
Miscellaneous Expense 6,900

1,576,750 1,576,750

REQUIRED

1. Prepare T accounts and enter the balances for J. Kojas, Capital; J. Kojas, Withdraw-
als; Income Summary, and all revenue and expense accounts.

2. Enter the four required closing entries in the T accounts, labeling the components
a (credit balances), & (debit balances), ¢ (Income Summary), and 4 (withdrawals), as
appropriate.

3. Prepare an income statement, a statement of owner’s equity, and a balance sheet for
Carlton Tennis Club.

4. CONCEPT > Explain why it is necessary to make closing entries at the end of an
accounting period.

L02  Preparation of Closing Entries

P3. Primorsk is a global specialized staffing firm. Information adapted from the state-
ment of earnings (in thousands, without earnings per share information) in its annual
report for the year ended December 31, 2014, follows. The firm reported distributing
cash (dividends) in the amount of $95,562,000 to the owners in 2014.
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Revenues

Service revenues $6,676,878
Interest income 21,896
Total revenues $6,698,774
Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits $3,930,780
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 1,983,646
Income taxes 308,608
Total expenses $6,223,034
Net income S 475,740

REQUIRED

1. Prepare the closing entries Primorsk would have made on December 31, 2014.
Treat income taxes as an expense and cash distributions to owners as withdrawals.

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION }» Based on your handling of requirement 1 and the
cffect of expenses and cash distributions on owner’s capital, what theoretical reason
can you give for not including expenses and cash distributions in the same closing
entry?

l02,3,4,5 Preparation of a Work Sheet, Financial Statements, and Adjusting, Closing,
and Reversing Entries

P4. At the end of the fiscal year, Siglo Delivery Service’s trial balance appeared as follows.

v 2: Net income: $62,392 Siglo Delivery Service
v 2:Total assets: $247,148 Trial Balance
August 31,2014

Cash 10,072
Accounts Receivable 29,314
Prepaid Insurance 5,340
Delivery Supplies 14,700
Office Supplies 2,460
Land 15,000
Building 196,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 53,400
Trucks 103,800
Accumulated Depreciation—Trucks 30,900
Office Equipment 15,900
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 10,800
Accounts Payable 9,396
Unearned Lockbox Fees 8,340
Mortgage Payable 72,000
R. Siglo, Capital 128,730
R. Siglo, Withdrawals 30,000
Delivery Service Revenue 283,470
Lockbox Fees Earned 28,800
Truck Drivers’ Wages Expense 120,600
Office Salaries Expense 44,400
Gas, Oil, and Truck Repairs Expense 31,050
Interest Expense 7,200

625,836 625,836

(Continued)
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REQUIRED

1. Enter the trial balance amounts in the Trial Balance columns of a work sheet and
complete the work sheet using the information that follows.

. Expired insurance, $3060

. Inventory of unused delivery supplies, $1,430

. Inventory of unused office supplies, $186

. Estimated depreciation on the building, $14,400

. Estimated depreciation on the trucks, $15,450
Estimated depreciation on the office equipment, $2,700

. The company credits the lockbox fees of customers who pay in advance to the
Unearned Lockbox Fees account. Of the amount credited to this account during
the year, $5,630 had been earned by August 31.

h. Lockbox fees earned but unrecorded and uncollected at the end of the account-

ing period, $816
i. Accrued but unpaid truck drivers’ wages at the end of the year, $1,920

w e AN o

2. Prepare an income statement, a statement of owner’s equity, and a balance sheet for
the company. Assume the owner, Raul Siglo, made no additional investments.

3. Prepare adjusting, closing, and, when necessary, reversing entries from the work sheet.

4. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Can the work sheet be used as a substitute for the finan-
cial statements? Explain your answer.

01,2 The Complete Accounting Cycle Without a Work Sheet:
Two Months (second month optional)

P5. On May 1, 2014, Leon Stoker opened Stoker’s Repair Service. During the month,
he completed the following transactions for the company:

May 1 Began business by depositing $10,000 in a bank account in the name of the
company.
1 DPaid the rent for the store for current month, $850.
Paid the premium on a one-year insurance policy, $960.
2 Purchased repair equipment from Latin Company, $8,400. Terms were
$1,200 down and $600 per month for one year. First payment is due June 1.
5 Purchased repair supplies from Tanaka Company on credit, $936.
8 Paid cash for an advertisement in a local newspaper, $120.
15 Received cash repair revenue for the first half of the month, $800.
21  Paid Tanaka Company on account, $450.
31 Received cash repair revenue for the last half of May, $1,950.
31 Made a withdrawal, $600.

REQUIRED FOR MAY

1. Prepare journal entries to record the May transactions. Include the Post. Ref. col-
umn and fill in using the account numbers listed in requirement 2.

2. Open the following accounts: Cash (111); Prepaid Insurance (117); Repair Supplies
(119); Repair Equipment (144); Accumulated Depreciation—Repair Equipment
(145); Accounts Payable (212); L. Stoker, Capital (311); L. Stoker, Withdrawals
(313); Income Summary (314); Repair Revenue (411); Store Rent Expense (511);
Advertising Expense (512); Insurance Expense (513); Repair Supplies Expense
(514); and Depreciation Expense—Repair Equipment (515). Post the May journal
entries to the ledger accounts.

3. Using the following information, record adjusting entries in the general journal and
post to the ledger accounts:

p—i

a. One month’s insurance has expired.
b. The remaining inventory of unused repair supplies is $338.
¢. The estimated depreciation on repair equipment is $140.

4. From the accounts in the ledger, prepare an adjusted trial balance.
(Note: Normally, a trial balance is prepared before adjustments but is omitted here
to save time.)
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5. From the adjusted trial balance, prepare an income statement, a statement of own-
er’s equity, and a balance sheet for May.
6. Prepare and post closing entries.
7. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.
(Optional)
During June, Leon Stoker completed these transactions for Stoker’s Repair Service.
June 1 DPaid the monthly rent, $850.
1 Made the monthly payment to Latin Company, $600.
6 DPurchased additional repair supplies on credit from Tanaka Company,
$1,726.
15 Received cash repair revenue for the first half of the month, $1,828.
20 Paid cash for an advertisement in the local newspaper, $120.
23 Paid Tanaka Company on account, $1,200.
30 Received cash repair revenue for the last half of the month, $1,634.
30 Recorded a withdrawal by owner, $600.
8. Prepare and post journal entries to record the June transactions.
9. Using the following information, record adjusting entries in the general journal and
post to the ledger accounts.

a. One month’s insurance has expired.
b. The inventory of unused repair supplies is $826.
¢. The estimated depreciation on repair equipment is $140.

10. From the accounts in the ledger, prepare an adjusted trial balance.

11. From the adjusted trial balance, prepare the June income statement, statement of
owner’s equity, and balance sheet.

12. Prepare and post closing entries.

13. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

L01,2  Preparation of Closing Entries
P6. Villa Consultant Company’s adjusted trial balance at the end ofits fiscal year follows.

Villa Consultant Company
Adjusted Trial Balance

December 31,2014

Cash 14,550
Accounts Receivable 4,650
Prepaid Insurance 1,170
Office Supplies 880
Office Equipment 12,600
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 1,530
Automobile 13,500
Accumulated Depreciation—Automobile 1,500
Accounts Payable 3,400
Unearned Consulting Fees 3,000
J.Villa, Capital 29,070
J. Villa, Withdrawals 14,000
Consulting Fees Earned 66,430
Office Salaries Expense 27,000
Advertising Expense 5,050
Rent Expense 5,300
Telephone Expense 3,200
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 1,530
Depreciation Expense—Automobile 1,500

104,930 104,930

(Continued)
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Chapter 4: Completing the Accounting Cycle

REQUIRED
1. Prepare the required closing entries.
2. CONCEPT > Explain why closing entries are necessary at the end of the accounting
period.

01,2  Closing Entries Using T Accounts and Preparation of Financial Statements

 3:Netincome: $206,300  P7. Kilda Recreational Club’s adjusted trial balance at the end of its fiscal year follows.
v 3:Total assets: $1,255,600

Kilda Recreational Club
Adjusted Trial Balance

June 30, 2014

Cash 52,400
Prepaid Advertising 19,200
Supplies 2,400
Land 200,000
Building 1,290,400
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 520,000
Equipment 312,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 100,800
Accounts Payable 146,000
Wages Payable 18,000
Property Taxes Payable 45,000
Unearned Revenue—Locker Fees 6,000
M. Kilda, Capital 942,300
M. Kilda, Withdrawals 108,000
Revenue from Court Fees 1,356,200
Revenue from Locker Fees 19,200
Wages Expense 702,000
Maintenance Expense 103,200
Advertising Expense 79,500
Utilities Expense 129,600
Supplies Expense 12,000
Depreciation Expense—Building 60,000
Depreciation Expense—Equipment 24,000
Property Taxes Expense 45,000
Miscellaneous Expense 13,800

3,153,500 3,153,500

REQUIRED
1. Prepare T accounts and enter the balances for M. Kilda, Capital; M. Kilda, With-
drawals; Income Summary, and all revenue and expense accounts.
2. Enter the four required closing entries in the T accounts, labeling the components
a (credit balances), & (debit balances), ¢ (Income Summary), and 4 (withdrawals), as
appropriate.

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




Chapter Assignments 163

3. Prepare an income statement, a statement of owner’s equity, and a balance sheet for
Kilda Recreational Club.

4. CONCEPT > Explain why it is necessary to make closing entries at the end of an
accounting period.

02  Preparation of Closing Entries

P8. Change Painting Company’s adjusted trial balance at December 31, 2014, follows.
The owner made no investments during the period.

Change Painting Company
Adjusted Trial Balance

December 31,2014
Cash 9,500
Accounts Receivable 5,184
Prepaid Insurance 760
Prepaid Rent 400
Painting Supplies 304
Painting Equipment 7,750
Accumulated Depreciation—Painting Equipment 640
Truck 14,400
Accumulated Depreciation—Truck 1,440
Accounts Payable 840
Wages Payable 590
Unearned Painting Revenue 3,380
G. Ranke, Capital 30,068
G. Ranke, Withdrawals 4,000
Painting Revenue 29,240
Wages Expense 11,360
Rent Expense 2,700
Gas, Oil, and Other Truck Expenses 1,160
Insurance Expense 760
Supplies Expense 5,840
Depreciation Expense—Painting Equipment 640
Depreciation Expense—Truck 1,440

66,198 66,198

REQUIRED
Prepare the required closing entries.
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Chapter 4: Completing the Accounting Cycle

L02,3,4,5 Preparation of a Work Sheet, Financial Statements,
and Adjusting, Closing, and Reversing Entries

T — P9. Julio Theater Company’s trial balance at the end of its current fiscal year follows.

Julio Theater Company

Trial Balance

v 2:June 30, 2014, net income: $197,244 June 30,2014
v’ 2:June 30, 2014, total assets: $1,403,472
Cash 63,600
Accounts Receivable 37,088
Prepaid Insurance 39,200
Office Supplies 1,560
Cleaning Supplies 7,180
Land 40,000
Building 800,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Building 78,800
Theater Furnishings 740,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Theater Furnishings 130,000
Office Equipment 63,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Office Equipment 31,120
Accounts Payable 91,012
Gift Books Liability 83,800
Mortgage Payable 600,000
P. Julio, Capital 625,296
P. Julio, Withdrawals 120,000
Ticket Sales Revenue 822,800
Theater Rental Revenue 90,400
Usher Wages Expense 314,000
Office Wages Expense 48,000
Utilities Expense 225,400
Interest Expense 54,000
REQUIRED

1. Enter Julio Theater’s trial balance amounts in the Trial Balance columns of a work

sheet and complete the work sheet using the following information:

. Expired insurance, $34,800.

. Inventory of unused office supplies, $488.

. Inventory of unused cleaning supplies, $936.

. Estimated depreciation on the building, $28,000.

. Estimated depreciation on the theater furnishings, $72,000.

Estimated depreciation on the office equipment, $6,320.

. The company credits all gift books sold during the year to the Gift Books Liability
account. A gift book is a booklet of ticket coupons that is purchased in advance
as a gift. The recipient redeems the coupons at some point in the future. On June
30 it was estimated that $75,600 worth of the gift books had been redeemed.

h. Accrued but unpaid usher wages at the end of the accounting period, $1,720.

w e AN o

2. Prepare an income statement, a statement of owner’s equity, and a balance sheet.
Assume no additional investments by the owner, P. Julio.

3. Prepare adjusting, closing, and, when necessary, reversing entries from the work sheet.

4. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Can the work sheet be used as a substitute for the finan-
cial statements? Explain your answer.
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01,2 The Complete Accounting Cycle Without a Work Sheet:
Two Months (second month optional)

P10. On June 1, 2014, Bob Lutz opened Lutz Repair Service. During the month, he
completed the following transactions for the company:

June 1 Began business by depositing $20,000 in a bank account in the name of the

company.
1 Paid the rent for the store for current month, $1,700.
1  Paid the premium on a one-year insurance policy, $1,920.
2 Purchased repair equipment from Bilbao Company, $16,800. Terms were
$2,400 down and $1,200 per month for one year. First payment is due
June 1.
5 Purchased repair supplies from Rusin Company on credit, $1,872.
8  Paid cash for an advertisement in a local newspaper, $240.
15 Received cash repair revenue for the first half of the month, $1,600.
21  Paid Rusin Company on account, $900.
30 Received cash repair revenue for the last half of May, $3,900.
30 Made a withdrawal, $1,200.

REQUIRED FOR JUNE

1.

2.

Prepare journal entries to record the June transactions. Include the Post. Ref.
column and fill in using the account numbers listed in requirement 2.

Open the following accounts: Cash (111); Prepaid Insurance (117); Repair Sup-
plies (119); Repair Equipment (144); Accumulated Depreciation—Repair Equip-
ment (145); Accounts Payable (212); B. Lutz, Capital (311); B. Lutz, Withdrawals
(313); Income Summary (314); Repair Revenue (411); Store Rent Expense (511);
Advertising Expense (512); Insurance Expense (513); Repair Supplies Expense
(514); and Depreciation Expense—Repair Equipment (515). Post the May journal
entries to the ledger accounts.

Using the following information, record adjusting entries in the general journal and
post to the ledger accounts:

d. One month’s insurance has expired.
¢. The remaining inventory of unused repair supplies is $676.
f. The estimated depreciation on repair equipment is $280.

. From the accounts in the ledger, prepare an adjusted trial balance.

( Note: Normally, a trial balance is prepared before adjustments but is omitted here
to save time.)

. From the adjusted trial balance, prepare an income statement, a statement of own-

er’s equity, and a balance sheet for June.

Prepare and post closing entries.

Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

(Optional)

During July, Bob Lutz completed these transactions for Lutz Repair Service:

July 1 DPaid the monthly rent, $1,700.
1 Made the monthly payment to Bilbao Company, $1,200.
6 DPurchased additional repair supplies on credit from Rusin Company,
$3.452.
15 Received cash repair revenue for the first half of the month, $3,656.
20 Paid cash for an advertisement in the local newspaper, $240.
23 Paid Rusin Company on account, $2,400.
30 Received cash repair revenue for the last half of the month, $3,268.
30 Recorded a withdrawal by owner, $1,200.

(Continued)
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8. Prepare and post journal entries to record the July transactions.
9. Using the following information, record adjusting entries in the general journal and
post to the ledger accounts.

d. One month’s insurance has expired.
e. The inventory of unused repair supplies is $1,652.
f. The estimated depreciation on repair equipment is $280.

10. From the accounts in the ledger, prepare an adjusted trial balance.

11. From the adjusted trial balance, prepare the July income statement, statement of
owner’s equity, and balance sheet.

12. Prepare and post closing entries.

13. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

CASES

Conceptual Understanding: Interim Financial Statements

C1. Gulf Coast Drilling Company provides services for drilling operations off the coast
of Louisiana. The company has a significant amount of debt to National Bank of New
Orleans. The bank requires the company to provide it with quarterly financial state-
ments. Explain what is involved in preparing financial statements every quarter.

Conceptual Understanding: Purpose of Closing Entries

C2. Pamela Turnbow, owner of Turnbow Fashions Company, notices the amount of
time it takes the company’s accountant to prepare closing entries. She suggests that the
company could save time and money by not doing closing entries. She argues that only
adjusting entries are needed to determine the company’s earnings. Explain the purposes
of closing entries and why they are worth doing.

Conceptual Understanding: Accounting Efficiency

C3. Turner Cabinets Company manufactures storage cabinets used in industry. It sells
its cabinets to some customers on credit with generous terms specifying payment six
months after purchase and an interest rate based on current bank rates. Because the
interest on the loans accrues a little every day but is not paid until the note’s due date,
an adjusting entry must be made at the end of each accounting period to debit Interest
Receivable and credit Interest Income for the amount of the interest accrued but not
received to date. The company prepares financial statements every month. Keeping track
of' what has been accrued in the past is time-consuming because the notes carry different
dates and interest rates.

Form in-class groups to determine what the accountant can do to simplify the
process of making the adjusting entry for accrued interest each month. Compare the
groups’ solutions in a class discussion.

Ethical Dilemma: Ethics and Time Pressure

C4. Thomas Odzer, an accountant for Mennix Company, has made adjusting entries
and is preparing the adjusted trial balance for the first six months of the year. Financial
statements must be delivered to the bank by 5 p.Mm. to support a critical loan agreement.
By noon, Odzer has been unable to balance the adjusted trial balance. The figures are
off by $1,320, so he increases the balance of the owner’s Capital account by $1,320.
He closes the accounts, prepares the statements, and sends them to the bank on time.
He hopes that no one will notice the problem and believes that he can find the error
and correct it by the end of next month. Are Odzer’s actions ethical? Why or why not?
Did he have other alternatives?
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Annual Report Case: Fiscal Year, Closing Process, and Interim Reports

C5. Refer to the notes to the financial statements in the CVS annual report in the Sup-
plement to Chapter 16. When does CVS end its fiscal year? For what reasons might it
have chosen this date? From the standpoint of completing the accounting cycle, what
advantage does this date have? Does CVS prepare interim financial statements? What are
the implications of interim financial statements for the accounting cycle?

Comparison Analysis: Interim Financial Reporting and Seasonality

C6. Both CVS and Southwest Airlines provide quarterly financial information in their
financial statements. Quarterly financial reports provide important information about
the “seasonality” of a company’s operations. Seasonality refers to how dependent a com-
pany is on sales during different seasons of the year, and how that affects a company’s
need to plan for cash flows and inventory. From the quarterly financial information for
CVS in the Supplement to Chapter 16, determine the effects of seasons on CVS’s net
revenues and net earnings by calculating for the most recent year the percentage of
quarterly net sales and net earnings to annual net sales and net earnings. Discuss the
results. How do you think the effect of seasons might differ for Southwest’s operating
revenues and income?

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C7. Using the most recent annual report of the company you have chosen to study and
that you have accessed online at the company’s website, examine all four of the financial
statements. Identify the accounts in these statements that would be affected by closing
entries. Describe how they would be affected.
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CHAPTER 5

Foundations of Financial Reporting
and the Classified Balance Sheet

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Surf-With-Park Company

Surf-With-Park Company is a retailer of casual beach wear for college stu- LEARNING OBJECTIVES

dents. It has two stores, and the owner, Alan Park, now wants to open a

third. To obtain a loan, he will have to present a balance sheet to his bank. Describe the objective of financial
In the past, he has simply provided a list of the post-closing account bal- reporting, and identify the

ances at the end of the year and not prepared a balance sheet. In other conceptual framework underlying
words, he is looking for answers to the questions that appear below. accounting information.

1. CONCEPT » Why are relevance and faithful representation as well L02 ::ien:::z\::?sieffflir:\ ea::liea??essor ting

as enhancing qualitative characteristics important to understanding and prepare a classified balance sheet.

financial statements? o .
o 3 Use classified financial statements

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » How should the balance sheet be to evaluate liquidity and
organized to provide the best information? profitability.

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » What key measures best capture a
company’s financial performance?

Tim Mantoani/Masterfile
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SECTION 1 CONCEPTS

CONCEPTS
® Relevance & Concepts Underlying

B Predictive valu o o o

il ——— Financial Reporting
value

B Materiality

B Faithful
representation

The FASB and the IASB are working toward convergence of U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) with international financial reporting standards (IFRS). Their
goal is “to increase the international comparability and the quality of standards used in the
United States [which] is consistent with the FASB’s obligation to its domestic constituents,
M Completeness who benefit from comparability across national borders.”! An important part of this conver-
B Neutrality gence project is agreement on the objective of financial reporting and conceptual framework
B Free from material underlying it. Exhibit 1 illustrates these factors, which we discuss in this section.
error
B Enhancing qualita- Exhibit 1
tive characteristics Concepts Underlying Financial Reporting
B Comparability
[ Verifiability Objective of General Purpose Financial Statements:

To provide financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to present and potential equity

M Timeliness investors, lenders, and other creditors in making decisions in their capacity as capital providers.

B Understandability

LEARNING OBJECTIVE

B Cost constraint T T T T
Accounting Fundamental Qualitative Enhancing Qualitative Accounting Ethical Financial
conventions Characteristics Characteristics Conventions Reporting
[ | Consistency * Relevance ¢ Comparability e Consistency Certification
Il discl o Predictive value o Verifiability e Full disclosure Chief Executive Officer,
Bl Full disclosure < © Confirmative value ® Timeliness o Conservatism Chief Financial Officer, and
i 2 o Materialit * Understandabilit auditors must certify that
M Conservatism S T Y . 2 financial statements are
£]° aithiul Representation accurate, complete, and
g o Completeness Subject to not misleading.
-
q) o Neutrality cost constraint
j=]
RELEVANT % o Free from material error (cost-benefit)
8
©

o -I Describe the objective
of financial reporting, . . . . .
and identify the conceptual Objectlve of Financial Reporting
framework underlying
accounting information.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) emphasizes the needs of current and
potential investors (owners) and creditors while recognizing the needs of other users
when it defines the objective of financial reporting as follows.?

To provide financial information about the veporting entity that is useful to present
and potential equity investors, lenders, and other creditors in making decisions in their
capacity as capital providers. Information that is decision-useful to capital providers
may also be useful to other users of financial veporting who are not capital providers.

To be useful for decision making, financial reporting must enable the user to:

Assess cash flow prospects. The ultimate value of a business and its ability to pay
dividends, interest, or otherwise provide returns to capital providers depends on
its ability to generate future cash flows. Capital providers and other users therefore
need information about the business’s ability to generate cash flows.

Assess management’s stewardship. Capital providers and others need information
about the business’s resources (assets), claims against them (liabilities and owner’s
[stockholders’] equity), and changes in these resources and claims resulting from
transactions (earnings and cash flows) and other economic events.
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Financial reporting includes the financial statements (balance sheet, income state-
ment, statement of owner’s equity, and statement of cash flows) that are periodically
presented to parties outside the business. Management’s underlying assumptions and
methods and estimates used in the financial statements are also important components
of financial reporting. Because of a potential conflict of interest between managers, who
must prepare the statements, and investors or creditors, who invest in or lend money to
the business, financial statements usually are audited by outside accountants.

Qualitative Characteristics of
Accounting Information

Introductory textbooks simplify basic accounting concepts to help students. All the prob-
lems can be solved, and all the numbers add up. In practice, however, accounting informa-
tion is neither simple nor precise. The FASB emphasizes this fact in the following statement:

The information provided by financial veporting often vesults from approximate,
rather than exact, measures. The measures commonly involve numerous estimates,
classifications, summarizations, judgments, and allocations. The outcome of eco-
nomic activity in a dynamic economy is uncertain and vesults from combinations
of many factors. Thus, despite the aura of precision that may seem to surround
financial veporting in general and financial statements in particular, with few
exceptions the measures ave approximations, which may be based on rules and con-
ventions, rather than exact amounts.’

The goal of generating accounting information is to provide data that different users
need to make informed decisions for their unique situations. How this goal is achieved
provides much of the interest and controversy in accounting. To facilitate interpretation of
accounting information, the FASB has established standards, or qualitative characteristics,
by which to judge the information.* The most fundamental of these characteristics are 7e/-
evance and foithful vepresentation. Comparability, verifinbility, timeliness, and understand-
ability are enhancing characteristics that assist in interpreting accounting information.

Relevance Relevance means that the information has a direct bearing on a decision.
In other words, if the information were not available, a different decision would be
made. To be relevant, information must have predictive value, confirmative value, or
both. Further, it is subject to materiality.

Predictive value: Information has predictive value if it helps capital providers make
decisions about future actions. For example, the statement of cash flows can provide
information as to whether the company has sufficient funds to expand or if it will
need to raise funds from capital providers.

Confirmative value: Information has confirmative value if it confirms or changes
previous evaluations. For example, the income statement provides information as to
whether or not a company met earnings expectations.

Materiality: Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influ-
ence the user’s economic decisions taken on the basis of the specific entity’s finan-
cial statements. Materiality is related to both the nature of an item and its size
or misstatement. Immaterial items are not relevant to the economic decision. The
materiality of an item normally is determined by relating its dollar value to an ele-
ment of the financial statements, such as net income or total assets. As a rule, when
an item is worth 5 percent or more of net income, accountants treat it as material.
However, materiality depends not only on the value of an item but also on its nature.
For example, in a multimillion-dollar company, a mistake of $5,000 in recording an
item may not be important, but the discovery of even a small bribe or theft can be
very important. Moreover, many small errors can add up to a material amount.

The financial statements may provide information that is both predictive and confirma-
tive. For example, the statement of cash flows not only helps to project future cash flows
but also confirms expectations about various prior actions.
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.. Business Perspective
How Much Is Material?

The materiality issue was long a pet peeve of the SEC, which contended that companies were increasingly abusing the convention to protect their
stocks from taking a pounding when earnings did not reach their targets. Thus, the SEC issued a rule that includes both quantitative and qualitative
guides. The traditional rule of thumb of 5 percent or more of net income is acceptable as an initial screening. However, companies cannot decline to
book items in the interest of meeting earnings estimates, preserving a growing earnings trend, converting a loss to a profit, increasing management
compensation, or hiding an illegal transaction, such as a bribe.®

STUDY NOTE: Theoretically, a S10
stapler is a long-term asset and should
therefore be capitalized and depreciated
over its useful life. However, the concepts
of materiality and cost constraint allow
the stapler to be expensed entirely in the
year of purchase.

Faithful Representation Faithful representation mecans that the financial informa-
tion is complete, nemntral, and free from material ervor.

Completeness: Complete information provides all information necessary for a reli-
able decision.

Neutrality: Neutral information is free from bias intended to achieve a certain
result or to bring about a particular behavior.

Free from material error: To be free from material error means information meets
a minimum level of accuracy so it does not distort what is being reported. Free from
material error does not mean that information is absolutely accurate because most
financial information is based on estimates and judgments.

If major uncertainties about faithful representation exist, they should be disclosed in a
note to the financial statements.

Enhancing Qualitative Characteristics Other qualitative characteristics that the
FASB has established for interpreting accounting information include:

Comparability: Comparability is the quality that enables users to identify similari-
ties and differences between two sets of financial data.

Verifiability: Verifiability is the quality that different knowledgeable and indepen-
dent observers could reach consensus, although not necessarily complete agree-
ment, that a particular depiction is a faithful representation.

Timeliness: Timeliness is the quality that enables users to receive information in
time to influence their decisions.

Understandability: Understandability is the quality that enables users to compre-
hend the meaning of the information.

These enhancing characteristics are subject to the cost constraint (or cost-benefit),
which holds that the benefits to be gained from providing accounting information
should be greater than the costs of providing it. Of course, minimum levels of relevance
and faithful representation must be reached if accounting information is to be useful.
Beyond the minimum levels, however, it is up to the FASB and the SEC, which stipulate
the information that must be reported, and the accountant, who provides the informa-
tion, to judge the costs and benefits in each case.

Accounting Conventions

For accounting information to be understandable, accountants must prepare financial
statements in accordance with accepted practices, which include some concepts that are
not formally part of the agreed-upon conceptual framework and which may conflict with
it at times. Familiarity with the accounting conventions, or constraints, used in prepar-
ing financial statements enables the user to better understand accounting information.
Among these accounting conventions are consistency, full disclosure, and conservatism.

Consistency Consistency requires that once a company has adopted an accounting
procedure, it must use it from one period to the next unless a note to the financial state-
ments informs users of a change. Generally accepted accounting principles specify what
the note must contain:
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STUDY NOTE: The purpose of
conservatism is not to produce the
lowest net income and lowest asset
value. It is a guideline for choosing
among GAAP alternatives, and it should
be used with care.
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The nature of and justification for a change in accounting principle and its effect
on income should be disclosed in the financial statements of the period in which
the change is made. The justification for the change should explain clearvly why the
newly adopted accounting principle is preferable.

For example, in the notes to its financial statements, Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company
disclosed that it had changed its method of accounting for inventories because manage-
ment felt it improved the matching of revenues and costs. Without such an acknowledg-
ment, users of financial statements can assume that the treatment of a particular transac-
tion, account, or item has not changed since the last period.

Full Disclosure (Transparency) Full disclosure (or transparency) requires that
financial statements present all the information relevant to users’ understanding of the
statements. The statements must include any explanation needed to keep them from
being misleading. For instance, the notes should disclose any change that a company has
made in its accounting procedures.

A company must also disclose significant events arising after the balance sheet date.
For example, suppose that a firm has purchased a piece of land for a future subdivision.
Shortly after the end of its fiscal year, the firm is ordered to halt construction because
the Environmental Protection Agency asserts that the land was once a toxic waste dump.
This information, which obviously affects the users of the financial statements, must be
disclosed in the statements for the fiscal year just ended.

Additional disclosures required by the FASB and other official bodies include the
accounting procedures used in preparing the financial statements and important terms
of'a company’s debt and commitments. Beyond the required disclosures, the application
of the full-disclosure convention is based on the judgment of management and of the
accountants who prepare the financial statements.

In recent years, independent auditors, the stock exchanges, and the SEC have made
more demands for disclosure by publicly owned companies. As a result, more and better
information about corporations is now available to investors and creditors than ever before.

Conservatism When accountants are uncertain about the judgments or estimates
they must make, they look to the convention of conservatism. This convention holds
that, when faced with choosing between two equally acceptable procedures or estimates,
accountants should choose the one that is least likely to overstate assets and income.
One of the most common applications of conservatism is the use of the lower-of-cost-
or-market method in accounting for inventories. Under this method, if an item’s market
value is greater than its original cost, the more conservative cost figure is used. If the
market value is below the original cost, the more conservative market value is used. The
latter situation often occurs in the computer industry.

Conservatism can be a useful tool, but if abused, it can lead to incorrect and mis-
leading financial statements. For example, there is no uncertainty about how a long-
term asset of material cost should be treated. As explained in Chapter 3, the cost of such

.. Business Perspective
| When Is“Full Disclosure” Too Much?

Ernst & Young, a large accounting firm, reported that over a 20-year period, the total number of pages in the annual reports of 25 large, well-known
companies increased an average of 84 percent, and the number of pages of notes increased 325 percent—from 4 to 17 pages. Management’s discus-
sion and analysis increased 300 percent, from 3 pages to 12.” Because some people feel that “these documents are so daunting that people don't read
them at all," the SEC allows companies to issue to the public “summary reports”in which the bulk of the notes can be reduced.

Summary reports are controversial because many analysts feel that the notes provide the detailed information necessary to understand complex
business operations. One analyst remarked, “To banish the notes for fear they will turn off readers would be like eliminating fractions from math books
on the theory that the average student prefers to work with whole numbers."”® Detailed reports still must be filed with the SEC, but more and more
companies are providing summary reports to the public.
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an asset should be spread over the asset’s useful life. When conservatism is used to justify
expensing a long-term asset in the period of purchase, income and assets for the current
period will be understated, and income in future periods will be overstated. Accountants
therefore apply the conservatism convention only when they are uncertain about which
accounting procedure or estimate to use.

Ethical Financial Reporting

As noted earlier, under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, chief executive officers and chief financial
officers of all publicly traded companies must certify that, to their knowledge, their quar-
terly and annual statements are accurate and complete. After this legislation passed, an
investigation by the audit committee of Dell’s board of directors and management disclosed
weaknesses in the company’s controls and led to restatements of the financial statements
for the prior four years. After extensive improvements in control and the restatements, the
company’s chief executive officer, Michael S. Dell, made the following certifying statement
in the company’s annual report to the SEC:

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa-
tion included in this veport, fairly present in all material rvespects the financinl
condition, vesults of operations and cash flows . . . for the periods represented in this
report.’

Fraudulent financial reporting can have high costs for investors, lenders, employees,
and customers. It can also have high costs for the people who condone, authorize, or
prepare misleading reports—even those at the highest corporate levels. In March 2005,
Bernard J. Ebbers, former CEO of WorldCom, was convicted of seven counts of filing false
reports with the SEC and one count each of securities fraud and conspiracy.’® In 20006,
both Kenneth Lay, Enron Corporation’s former chairman, and Jeffrey Skilling, Enron’s
former CEQO, were convicted on charges similar to the ones of which Ebbers was convicted.

International Perspective
CD What Is the Future of the Conservatism Convention?

Conservatism, which has been the bedrock of U.S. accounting practice for many decades, clearly conflicts with the agreed upon concept of neutral-
ity in the conceptual framework. The practice under IFRS, for example, of writing up the value of an asset, such as inventory or equipment, that has
increased in fair value and recording the increase as income violates the conservatism convention under U.S. GAAP. Thus, the convergence of IFRS
with GAAP may well influence the way accountants in the United States prepare financial statements, but it will likely take a generation for this

to change.

Match each concept that follows with the category in which it belongs.

. Objective of accounting information

. Underlies relevant financial information
Underlies faithful representation

. Enhancing qualitative characteristics

oD o n T o

. Accounting convention
. Consistency

. Verifiability

. Predictive value

A w N =

. Timeliness

SOLUTION
. Neutrality 1l.e; 2.d; 3.b; 4.d; 5.¢ 6. 7.d; 8.¢
9.b; 10.b; 11.d; 12.a

. Comparability

. Completeness

9. Materiality
10. Confirmative value
11. Understandability

12. Furnishing information that is useful to
capital providers

5

6. Conservatism
7 TRY IT! SE1, SE2,E1A, E2A, E1B, E2B
8
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SECTION 2 ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

ACCOUNTII(\;G

APPLICATIONS o '

ot components Classified Balance Sheet
of a classified balance

sheet As you know, a balance sheet presents a company’s financial position at a particular

time. The balance sheets presented thus far categorize accounts as assets, liabilities, and
owner’s equity. Because even a fairly small company can have hundreds of accounts,
subcategories within the major categories can make financial statements much more
useful. General-purpose external financial statements that are divided into subcatego-

B Prepare a classified
balance sheet

RELEVANT ries are called classified financial statements. Exhibit 2 depicts the subcategories into
LEARNING OBJECTIVE which the principal elements of assets, liabilities, and owner’s equity are broken down.
This format enables owners and creditors to study and evaluate relationships among the
G Identify and define the subcategories.
basic components of
financial reporting, and
prepare a classified balance Exhibit 2
sheet. Classified Balance Sheet
Assets Liabilities
+ Current assets + Current liabilities
+ Investments + Long-term liabilities

* Property, plant, and
equipment = +

* Intangible assets
9 Owner’s Equity

+ Capital

© Cengage Learning 2014

The subcategories of Bonali Company’s classified balance sheet, shown in Exhibit 3,
are those used by most U.S. corporations. The subcategories under owner’s equity would,
of course, be different if Bonali were a corporation or partnership rather than a sole pro-
prietorship.

Assets

As shown in Exhibit 3, the classified balance sheet of a U.S. company typically divides
assets into four categories: current assets; investments; property, plant, and equipment;
and intangible assets. These categories are listed in the order of how easily they can be
converted into cash. For example, current assets are usually more easily converted to
cash than are property, plant, and equipment. For simplicity, some companies group
investments, intangible assets, and other miscellaneous assets into a category called
other assets.

Current Assets Current assets include cash and other assets that a company can rea-
sonably expect to convert to cash, sell, or consume within one year or its normal operat-
ing cycle, whichever is longer. A company’s normal operating cycle is the average time
it needs to go from spending cash to receiving cash. For example, suppose a company
uses cash to buy inventory and sells the inventory to a customer on credit. To classify the
resulting receivable as a current asset, there must be a reasonable expectation that it will
be collected in cash before the normal operating cycle ends.

As discussed, cash is a current asset. Short-term investments, notes and accounts
receivable, and inventory that a company expects to convert to cash (by selling it) within
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Exhibit 3
Classified Balance Sheet Bonali Company
for Bonali Company Balance Sheet
December 31,2014
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 41,440
Short-term investments 28,000
Notes receivable 32,000
Accounts receivable 141,200
Merchandise inventory 191,600
Prepaid insurance 26,400
Supplies 6,784
Total current assets $467,424
Investments:
Land held for future use 50,000
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land $ 18,000
Building $ 82,600
Less accumulated depreciation 34,560 48,040
Equipment $108,000
Less accumulated depreciation 57,800 50,200
Total property, plant, and equipment 116,240
Intangible assets:

Trademark 2,000
Total assets $635,664
Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Notes payable $ 60,000

Accounts payable 102,732

Salaries payable 8,000

Total current liabilities $170,732
Long-term liabilities:

Mortgage payable 71,200
Total liabilities $241,932
Owner’s Equity

J. Bonali, capital $393,732
Total owner’s equity 393,732
Total liabilities and owner’s equity $635,664

Business Perspective
Normal Operating (ycles Can Be Long

The normal operating cycle for most companies is less than one year, but there are exceptions. For example, because of the length of time it takes The
Boeing Company to build aircraft, its normal operating cycle exceeds one year. The inventory used in building the planes is nonetheless considered
a current asset because the planes will be sold within the normal operating cycle. Another example is a company that sells on an installment basis. The
payments for a television set or a refrigerator can extend over 24 or 36 months, but these receivables are still considered current assets.
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Classified Balance Sheet

STUDY NOTE: Investments classified
as current must be readily marketable—
i.e, management must expect to sell
them within the next year or within the
current operating cycle.

Intangible assets can be worth
an enormous amount for some
companies. Consider the value

of Coca-Cola’s trademark, which
over the years has become a
familiar and easily recognizable
symbol worldwide.
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the next year or the normal operating cycle are also current assets. On the balance sheet,
they are listed in order of how easily they can be converted to cash.

Prepaid expenses, such as rent and insurance paid in advance, and supplies bought for
use rather than for sale should be classified as current assets. These assets are current in the
sense that if they had not been paid for earlier, they would require a current outlay of cash.

Investments Investments include assets, usually long-term, that are not used in
normal business operations and that management does not plan to convert to cash
within the next year. Examples of items in this category include the following:

Securities held for long-term investment

Long-term notes receivable

Land held for future use

Plant or equipment not used in the business

Special funds established to pay off a debt or buy a building

Large permanent investments (those a company does not intend to sell) made in
another company for the purpose of controlling that company

Property, Plant, and Equipment Property, plant, and equipment (also called oper-
ating assets, fixed assets, tangible assets, long-lived assets, or plant assets) include tangible
long-term assets used in a business’s day-to-day operations. They represent a place to
operate (land and buildings) and the equipment used to produce, sell, and deliver goods
or services. Through depreciation, the costs of these assets (except the cost of land) are
spread over the periods they benefit. Past depreciation is recorded in the Accumulated
Depreciation accounts and deducted from their related asset accounts on the balance sheet.

To reduce clutter on the balance sheet, property, plant, and equipment accounts
and related accumulated depreciation accounts are often combined—for example:

Property, plant, and equipment (net) $116,240

The company provides the details in a note to the financial statements.

The property, plant, and equipment category also includes natural resources owned by
the company, such as forest lands, oil and gas properties, and coal mines, if they are used in
the regular course of business. If they are not, they are listed in the investments category.

Intangible Assets Intangible assets arc long-term assets with no physical substance.
Their value stems from the rights or privileges accruing to their owners. Examples
include patents, copyrights, franchises, and trademarks. These assets are recorded at
cost, which is spread over the expected life of the right or privilege. Goodwill, which
arises in an acquisition of another company, is another intangible asset that is recorded at
cost, but the cost is not allocated (amortized) over future periods. Goodwill is reviewed
each year for possible loss of value, or impairment.

L] oge o
Liabilities
Liabilities are divided into two categories: current liabilities
and long-term liabilities.

Current Liabilities Current liabilities arc obligations
that must be satisfied within one year or within the com-
pany’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. These
liabilities are typically paid out of current assets or by incur-
ring new short-term liabilities. Examples include:

Notes payable

Accounts payable

The current portion of long-term debt
Salaries and wages payable

Customer advances (unearned revenues)
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STUDY NOTE: The portion of a
mortgage due during the next year or
the current operating cycle is classified
as a current liability. The portion

due after the next year or the current
operating cycle is classified as a long-
term liability.

STUDY NOTE: Equity in a sole
proprietorship and a partnership differs
only in the number of Capital accounts.

Long-Term Liabilities Long-term liabilities arc debts that fall due more than one
year in the future or beyond the normal operating cycle and thus will be paid out of
noncurrent assets. Examples include:

Mortgages payable
Long-term notes

Bonds payable

Employee pension obligations
Long-term lease liabilities

Owner’s Equity

The terms owner’s equity, proprictorship, owner’s capital, and net worth are used to refer
to the owner’s interest, or equity, in a company. However, the first three terms are pre-
ferred to net worth because many assets are recorded at their original cost rather than at
their current value.

Although the form of business organization does not usually affect the accounting
treatment of assets and liabilities, the equity section of the balance sheet differs depend-
ing on whether the business is a sole proprietorship, a partnership, or a corporation.

Sole Proprietorship The owner’s equity section of a sole proprietorship would be
similar to the one shown for Bonali Company in Exhibit 3:

Owner’s Equity

J. Bonali, capital $393,732

Partnership The equity section of a partnership’s balance sheet is called partners’ equity.
It is much like that in a sole proprietorship’s balance sheet. It might appear as follows.
Partners’ Equity
$168,750
224,982

R. Hay, capital
J. Bonali, capital

Total partners’ equity $393,732

Corporation Corporations are by law separate, legal entities that are owned by
their stockholders. The equity section of a balance sheet for a corporation is called
stockholders’ equity (or sharcholders’ equity) and has two parts: contributed capital and
retained earnings. It might appear as follows.

Stockholders’ Equity
Contributed capital:
Common stock, $10 par value, 20,000 shares

authorized, issued, and outstanding $200,000
Additional paid-in capital 40,000
Total contributed capital $240,000
Retained earnings 153,732

Total stockholders’ equity $393,732

Remember that owner’s equity accounts show the sources of and claims on assets.
These claims are not on any particular asset but on the assets as a whole. It follows, then,
that a corporation’s contributed and earned capital accounts measure its stockholders’
claims on assets and also indicate the sources of the assets. The Contributed Capital (or
Paid-in Capital) accounts reflect the amounts of assets invested by stockholders. Gener-
ally, contributed capital is shown on corporate balance sheets by two amounts: (1) the
face, or par, value of issued stock and (2) the amounts paid in, or contributed, in excess
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. Business Perspective
Terminology In Financial Statements Is Not Consistent

Although balance sheets generally resemble the one shown in Exhibit 3 for Bonali Company, no two companies have financial statements that are
exactly alike. CVS’s balance sheet is a good example of some of the variations. As shown in the Supplement to Chapter 16, it provides data for two years
(three years for the income statement) so that users can evaluate changes from one year to the next. Note that its major classifications are similar but
not identical to those of Bonali. For instance, Bonali has asset categories for investments, and CVS has an asset category called “other assets,” which is a
small amount of its total assets. Also note that CVS has various accounts listed in the liabilities under “Total Current Liabilities.” Because these accounts
are listed after current liabilities, they represent longer-term liabilities, due more than one year after the balance sheet date.

Exhibit 4
Classified Balance Sheet Groups
Accounts into Useful Categories

of the par value per share. In the previous illustration, stockholders invested amounts
equal to the par value of the outstanding stock ot $200,000 plus $40,000 in additional
paid-in capital for a total of $240,000.

The Retained Earnings account is sometimes called Earned Capital because it repre-
sents the stockholders’ claim to the assets that are earned from operations and reinvested
in corporate operations. Distributions of assets to shareholders, which are called dividends,
reduce the Retained Earnings account just as withdrawals of assets by the owner of a business
reduce the Capital account. Thus, the Retained Earnings balance represents the earnings of
the corporation less dividends paid to stockholders over the life of the business.

Overview of Classified Balance Sheet Accounts

Like accounts on the balance sheet and income statement can be grouped, as shown in
Exhibit 4. Such groupings aid in analysis of the statements.

Balance Sheet
December 31,2014
Assets Liabilities
Current assets Current liabilities
Investments Long-term liabilities
Property, plant, and equipment Total liabilities

Intangible assets

5 Owner’s Equity
g Owner’s capital
[
3 Total owner’s equity
;‘;’ Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
o
Match each account title that follows with the category that appears on a balance sheet or indicate that it SOLUTION
does not appear on the balance sheet. 1.d; 2.a; 3.b; 4.¢ 5.f 6.g;
. Current assets . Land Held for Future Use 7.¢ 8¢ 9.a; 10.h; 11.e; 12.a
. Investments . Property Taxes Payable TRY IT! SE3, SE4, E3A, E4A, E3B, E4B

Property, plant, and equipment
. Intangible assets
. Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
. Owner’s capital
. Not on balance sheet

S o an o w

1. Trademark
2. Supplies

. Note Payable in Five Years

. Investment by Owner

. Land Used in Operations

. Accumulated Depreciation
9. Accounts Receivable

10. Interest Expense

11. Unearned Revenue

12. Prepaid Rent

0 N O L1 W
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SECTION 3

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS
B Liquidity
B Working capital
B Current ratio
B Profitability
B Profit margin
B Asset turnover
B Return on assets
B Debt to equity ratio
B Return on equity

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

o 3 Use classified financial
statements to evaluate
liquidity and profitability.

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

Using Classified Financial Statements

Owners and creditors base decisions largely on their assessments of a firm’s potential
liquidity and profitability, often relying on ratios. Ratios use the components of classified
financial statements to reflect how well a firm has performed in terms of maintaining
liquidity and achieving profitability. Accounts must be classified correctly before the
ratios are computed. Otherwise, the ratios will be incorrect.

Evaluation of Liquidity

Liquidity means having enough money on hand to pay bills when they are due and to
take care of unexpected needs for cash. Two measures of liquidity are working capital
and current ratio.

Working Capital Working capital, which uses two elements of the classified balance

sheet, is the amount by which current assets exceed current liabilities. It is an impor-

tant measure of liquidity because current liabilities must be satisfied within one year or

one operating cycle, whichever is longer, and current assets are used to pay the current

liabilities. Thus, the working capital is what is on hand to continue business operations.
For Bonali Company, working capital is computed as follows.

Current assets $467,424
Less current liabilities 170,732
Working capital $296,692

Working capital can be used to buy inventory, obtain credit, and finance expanded
sales. Lack of working capital can lead to a company’s failure.

Current Ratio The current ratio is closely related to working capital. Many bankers
and other creditors believe it is a good indicator of a company’s ability to pay its debts
on time. The current ratio is the ratio of current assets to current liabilities. For Bonali
Company, it is computed as follows.

D N

Current Ratio: How Did Current Assets Compare to Current Liabilities?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet
Numbers Flows Number Numbers
r A N\ r A N\ r A hY
Cash Flows
Revenues Net Income from. Total Assets 'To't.a I Tot.a I
Operating Liabilities Equity
Activities

. Current Assets
CurrentRatio = ——F—————
Current Liabilities

_$467,424

= = 2.74 times
$170,732
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Advertising Agencies 1.10

Scheduled Air Transportation 0.95

Clothing Stores 1.80

Grocery Stores 1.05

Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 2.00

Computer and Peripheral 1.00

Equipment Manufacturing
0 1 2 3 4 5 6
I Service Industries HEl Merchandising Industries Bl Manufacturing Industries

Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.
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Thus, Bonali has $2.74 of current assets for each $1.00 of current liabilities. Is this
good or bad? The answer requires a comparison of this year’s current ratio with ratios
for earlier years and with similar measures for companies in the same industry, which
for Bonali is clothing. The average current ratio varies from industry to industry. For
the advertising industry, which has large receivables, the current ratio is 1.10. The
industrial machinery manufacturing industry, in which companies carry large mer-
chandise inventories, has an average current ratio of 2.00. The current ratio for Bonali,
2.74, exceeds the average for its industry, 1.80.

A very low current ratio can be unfavorable, indicating that a company will not be
able to pay its debts on time. But that is not always the case. For example, McDonald’s
and various other successful companies have low current ratios because they carefully
plan their cash flows. A very high current ratio may indicate that a company is not using
its assets to the best advantage. In other words, it could probably use its excess funds
more effectively to increase its overall profit.

Evaluation of Profitability

Just as important as paying bills on time is profitability—the ability to earn a satisfac-
tory income. As a goal, profitability competes with liquidity for attention because liquid
assets are not the best profit-producing resources. Cash means purchasing power; but a
satisfactory profit can be made only if purchasing power is used to buy profit-producing
(and less liquid) assets, such as inventory and long-term assets.

To evaluate a company’s profitability, you must relate its current performance to its
past performance and prospects for the future, as well as to the averages of other com-
panies in the same industry. The following are the ratios commonly used to evaluate a
company’s ability to earn income:

Profit margin

Asset turnover
Return on assets
Debt to equity ratio
Return on equity

Profit Margin The profit margin shows the percentage of each sales dollar that results
in net income. It is an indication of how well a company is controlling its costs: the
lower its costs, the higher its profit margin. The profit margin uses two elements of the
income statements: net income and revenues (often called et sales or net revenues). If
Bonali Company had $71,524 of net income and $1,248,624 of revenues, its profit
margin would be computed as follows.
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Profit Margin: How Much Income Does Each Dollar of Sales Generate?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet
Numbers Flows Number Numbers
r A hY r A hY r A A
Cash Flows
from Total Total
Revenues Net Income Operating Total Assets Liabilities Equity
Activities

'

Net Income

Profit Margin =
9 Revenues

_ $71,524
$1,248,624

= 0.057,0r5.7%

Advertising Agencies 5.8

Scheduled Air Transportation 1.1
Clothing Stores 42

Grocery Stores 14

Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 6.0
Computer and Peripheral 74

Equipment Manufacturing
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

N Service Industries Ml Merchandising Industries HE Manufacturing Industries

\ Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011. /

Thus, on each dollar of revenue, Bonali makes 5.7 cents. Is this a satisfactory profit?
The answer requires a comparison with the profit margin ratios of other companies in
the clothing industry, which is 4.2. A difference of 1 or 2 percent in a company’s profit
margin can be the difference between a fair year and a very profitable one.

Asset Turnover The asset turnover ratio measures how efficiently assets are used to
produce sales. In other words, how much revenue is generated by each dollar of assets?
A company with a high asset turnover uses its assets more productively than one with a
low asset turnover.

The asset turnover ratio uses revenues from the income statement and total assets
from the balance sheet. It is computed by dividing revenues by average total assets. Since
revenues take place over the year, they are compared with average total assets, which is
intended to represent the usual level of assets over the year. Average total assets are the
sum of assets at the beginning and end of the period divided by 2. If Bonali Company
had $1,248,624 of revenues, and $594,480 of assets at the beginning of the year, its
asset turnover would be computed as follows.
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Asset Turnover: How Much Revenue Is Generated by Each Dollar
of Assets?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet

Nunlbers Flows ﬂumber Nunlbers
r hY r hY r A

Cash Flows
from Total Total
Revenues Net Income Operating Total Assets Liabilities Equity

Activities

\

Revenues

AssetTurnover = ————————————
Average Total Assets

B $1,248,624
" ($635,664 + $594,480) + 2

_$1,248,624
"~ $615,072

= 2.03Times

Advertising Agencies 0.8
Scheduled Air Transportation 0.6
Clothing Stores 1.5

Grocery Stores 27

Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 0.8

Computer and Peripheral 06
Equipment Manufacturing .
0 1 2 3 4 5 6

I Service Industries HEl Merchandising Industries Bl Manufacturing Industries

Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.
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Thus, Bonali produces $2.03 in sales for each dollar invested in assets. Its asset turn-
over of 2.03 times is greater than the industry average of 1.5 times. In other words, the
company is more productive in producing revenue than other companies in the clothing
industry.

Return on Assets The profit margin and asset turnover ratios are important mea-
sures, but they have limitations. For example, the profit margin ratio does not con-
sider the assets necessary to produce income, and the asset turnover ratio does not take
into account the amount of income produced. The return on assets ratio overcomes
these deficiencies by relating net income to average total assets. If Bonali Company had
$71,524 of net income, its return on assets would be computed as follows.
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Return on Assets: How Much Income Did Each Dollar of Assets
Generate?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet

Nunlbers Flows NAumber Nun}\bers
r hY r hY r hY

Cash Flows

Revenues Net Income L) Total Assets Loz Lz

Operating Liabilities Equity

Activities
Net Income
Average Total Assets

B §71,524
(635,664 + $594,480) + 2

_§71,524
$615,072

Return on Assets =

= 0.116,0r 11.6%

Advertising Agencies 4.6
Scheduled Air Transportation 0.6
Clothing Stores 6.3

Grocery Stores 38

Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 4.8

Computer and Peripheral 44
Equipment Manufacturing
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

I Service Industries M Merchandising Industries Bl Manufacturing Industries

Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.
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For each dollar of invested assets, Bonali earned 11.6 cents of net income. This ratio
combines the firm’s income-generating strength (profit margin) and its revenue-
generating effectiveness (asset turnover):

Net Income Net Sales _ Net Income
NetSales ~ Average Total Assets ~ Average Total Assets

Profit Margin X  AssetTurnover = Return on Assets

5.7% X 2.03Times 11.6%

A company’s management can improve overall profitability by increasing the profit mar-
gin, the asset turnover, or both. A financial statement user must consider how these two
ratios interact to produce return on assets.

Bonali’s profit margin of 5.7 percent is above the clothing industry’s average of 4.2
percent. Its asset turnover of 2.03 times is greater than the industry average of 1.5 per-
cent. Bonali is able to achieve a higher profit margin than the industry norm without
sacrificing asset turnover. Clearly, its strategy is working because the company’s return
on assets of 11.6 percent is also greater than the industry average of 6.3 percent.

You can see the different ways in which various industries combine profit margin
and asset turnover to produce return on assets. For instance, by comparing the return
on assets for grocery stores and computer companies, you can see how they achieve that
return in very different ways. The grocery store industry has a profit margin of 1.4 per-
cent, which when multiplied by an asset turnover of 2.7 times gives a return on assets of
3.8 percent. The computer industry has a higher profit margin, 7.4 percent, and a lower
asset turnover, 0.6 time, and produces a return on assets of 4.4 percent.
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Debt to Equity Ratio The debt to equity ratio reflects a company’s strategy for
financing its operations. It shows the proportion of a company’s assets financed by cred-
itors and the proportion financed by the owner. It is thus a measure of financial risk; the
more debt a company has in relation to its owner’s equity, the greater its financial risk.
Creditors and interest on debt must be paid on time regardless of how well or poorly a
company is performing. Owner’s equity, on the other hand, does not have to be repaid,
and withdrawals can be deferred when a company’s performance is poor.

The debt to equity ratio uses two elements of the balance sheet: total liabilities and
total equity. Since the balance sheets of most companies do not show total liabilities, a
short way of determining them is to deduct the total owner’s equity from total assets.
For Bonali Company, it is computed as follows.

DD N

Debt to Equity Ratio: What Is the Company’s Level of Financial Risk?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet
Nuqbers Flows uumber Nuqbers

r hY r N

Total Liabilities

Debt to Equity Ratio = -
Total Equity
$241,932
$393,732
= 0.614, or 61.4%
Advertising Agencies 170%
Scheduled Air Transportation 880%
Clothing Stores 112%
Grocery Stores 146%
Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 60%
Computer and Peripheral 70%

Equipment Manufacturing
100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900

I Service Industries HEl Merchandising Industries Bl Manufacturing Industries

Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.
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A debt to equity ratio of 1.0 means that equal amounts of liabilities and owner’s equity
are used to finance a company’s assets. A ratio of 0.5 means that if a company has 50
cents of liabilities for every dollar of equity, one-third of a company’s total assets are
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financed by creditors. Bonali’s debt to equity ratio of 61.4 percent means that Bonali
relied more on owners than on creditors to finance its assets.

The debt to equity ratio does not fit neatly into either the liquidity or profitability
category. It is clearly very important to liquidity analysis because it relates to debt and its
repayment. It is also relevant to profitability for two reasons:

Creditors are interested in the proportion of the business that is debt-financed
because the more debt a company has, the more profit it must earn to ensure the
payment of interest to creditors.

Owners are interested in the proportion of the business that is debt-financed because
the amount of interest paid on debt affects the amount of profit left to provide a
return on the owner’s investment.

The debt to equity ratio also shows how much expansion is possible through borrowing
additional long-term funds.

Return on Equity Returnon equity is the ratio of net income to average owner’s equity.
It indicates whether a company has earned a favorable return for the owner. Return on
equity will always be greater than return on assets because total equity will always be less
than total assets. While greater return on assets is an advantage, the more debt a company
has, the greater its financial risk. A company must, therefore, carefully balance the amount
of financial risk it assumes with its desire to increase its return to the owner.

Using the ending owner’s equity from Bonali Company’s balance sheet and assum-
ing that the beginning owner’s equity was $402,212, and that the company had net
income of $71,524, Bonali’s return on equity is computed as follows.

D \

Return on Equity: How Much Net Income Does a Company
Make for Each Dollar Invested by the Owner?

Income Statement  Statement of Cash Balance Sheet
Numbers Flows Number Numbers
r A N\ r A N\ r A hY
Cash Flows
from Total Total
Revenues Net Income o . Total Assets . o.t.a . ot?
Operating Liabilities Equity
Activities
L
Ret Equit Net Income
eturn on ul =
auty Average Owner's Equity
B $71,524
(5393,732 4+ $402,212) + 2
$71,524
= _—-=20.180,0r 18.0%

$397,972
Advertising Agencies 10.0
Scheduled Air Transportation 8.6
Clothing Stores 14.4
Grocery Stores 10.0
Industrial Machinery Manufacturing 8.6
Computer and Peripheral 9.2

Equipment Manufacturing
3 6 9 12 15 18
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Based on Bizmin Industry Financial Report, December 2011.
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International Perspective

CO How Has the Goal of Convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS Made
Financial Analysis More Difficult?

Although the SEC believes that the ideal outcome of an international standard-setting process would be worldwide use of a single set of accounting
standards for both domestic and international financial reporting, the reality is that such consistency does not now exist and will be a challenge to
implement.’ For a period of time, financial statement users will have difficulty comparing companies’ performance. Profitability measures of foreign
firms that file in the United States using IFRS will not be comparable to profitability measures of companies that file using U.S. GAAP. For instance, con-
sider the reporting earnings of the following European companies under both standards in a recent year (earnings in millions of euros):

IFRS Earnings GAAP Earnings % Diff.
Bayer AG 1,695 269 530.1%
Reed Elsevier 625 399 56.6
Benetton Group 125 100 25.0

Given that assets and equity for these companies are also likely to differ as well as the use of fair value in valuing assets and liabilities, all profitability
ratios—profit margin, asset turnover, return on assets, debt to equity ratio, and return on equity—will be affected.

Bonali earned 18.0 cents for every dollar invested by the owner. Is this is an acceptable
return? Bonali’s average return on equity of 18.0 percent is better than the average of
14 .4 percent for the clothing industry. Although the air transportation industry’s return
on equity of 8.6 percent is one of the lowest of the selected industries, it also has the
highest debt to equity ratio (880 percent).

Roth Company is considering applying for a bank loan. Various data from Roth’s classified financial statements follows.

2014 2013 2014 2013
Current assets $200,000 $170,000 Owner’s equity $ 640,000 $ 610,000
Total assets 880,000 710,000 Sales 1,200,000 1,050,000
Current liabilities 90,000 50,000 Net income 60,000 80,000
Long-term liabilities 150,000 50,000

Its total assets and owner’s equity at the beginning of 2013 were $690,000 and $590,000, respectively.
1. Use (a) liquidity analysis and (b) profitability analysis to document Roth’s financial position.
2. Discuss Roth’s profitability and liquidity. Do you think it will qualify for a bank loan?

SOLUTION
1. (a) Liquidity analysis
Current Assets Current Liabilities Working Capital Current Ratio
2013 $170,000 $50,000 $120,000 3.40
2014 200,000 90,000 110,000 2.22
Decrease in working capital $ 10,000 -
Decrease in current ratio - 1.18
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(b) Profitability analysis

Profit Average Assets Return on Average Return

Net Income Sales Margin Total Assets  Turnover Assets Owner’s Equity on Equity
2013 $80,000 $1,050,000 7.6% $700,000? 1.50 11.4% $600,000° 13.3%
2014 60,000 1,200,000 5.0% 795,000° 1.51 7.5% 625,000¢ 9.6%
Increase (decrease) ($20,000) $ 150,000 (2.6)% $ 95,000 0.01 (3.9)% $ 25,000 (3.7)%

2($710,000 + $690,000) + 2

£($880,000 + $710,000) + 2

¢($610,000 + $590,000) + 2

4(5640,000 + $610,000) + 2

2. Both working capital and the current ratio declined between 2013 and 2014 because the $40,000 increase in current liabilities (590,000 — $50,000) was
greater than the $30,000 increase in current assets.

Net income decreased by $20,000 despite an increase in sales of $150,000 and an increase in average total assets of $95,000. Thus, the profit margin
fell from 7.6 percent to 5.0 percent, and return on assets fell from 11.4 percent to 7.5 percent. Asset turnover showed almost no change and so did not
contribute to the decline in profitability. The decrease in return on equity, from 13.3 percent to 9.6 percent, was not as great as the decrease in return on
assets because the growth in total assets was financed mainly by debt, as shown in the capital structure analysis below.

Total Liabilities Owner’s Equity Debt to Equity Ratio
2013 $100,000 $610,000 16.4%
2014 240,000 640,000 37.5%
Increase $140,000 $ 30,000 211%

Total liabilities increased by $140,000, while owner’s equity increased by $30,000. Thus, the amount of the business financed by debt increased between
2013 and 2014.
Both liquidity and profitability have declined. Roth will probably have to focus on improving current operations before expanding or getting a bank loan.

TRY IT! SE5, SE6, SE7, E5A, E6A, E7A, E8A, E5B, E6B, E7B, ES8B

TriLevel Problem

The beginning of this chapter focused on Alan Park, who was considering expanding Surf-
With-Park Company. Complete the following requirements in order to answer the ques-
tions posed at the beginning of the chapter.

Section 1: Concepts
Why are relevance and faithful representation as well as enhancing qualitative characteristics
important to understanding financial statements?

Section 2: Accounting Applications
How should the balance sheet be organized to provide the best information? From the infor-
mation provided, prepare a classified balance sheet for Surf-With-Park Company.

Tim Mantoani/Masterfile
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A | B | ¢C

1 Surf-With-Park Company
Z Post-Closing Trial Balance

3 December 31, 2014

4 Account Name Debit Credit
5| Cash 16,000

6 | Short-Term Investments 16,500
7 Notes Receivable 5,000

8 | Accounts Receivable 138,000
? Merchandise Inventory 72,500

10| Prepaid Rent 800
F Prepaid Insurance 2,400

12| Sales Supplies 640
G Office Supplies 220

14| Deposit for Future Advertising 1,840

15| Building, Not in Use 24,800

16| Land 11,700

17| Delivery Equipment 20,600

18| Accumulated Depreciation—Delivery Equipment 14,200
19| Trademark 2,000

120| Accounts Payable 57,300
21| Salaries Payable 2,600
22| Interest Payable 420
23| Long-Term Notes Payable 40,000
ﬁ A. Park, Capital 198,480
25 313,000 313,000
26

Section 3: Business Applications
What key measures best capture a company’s financial performance? To answer this ques-
tion, complete the following requirements:

1. Compute Surf-With-Park’s: (a) current ratio, and (b) debt to equity ratio.
2. As a user of the classified balance sheet, why would you want to know the current ratio
or the debt to equity ratio?

SOLUTION  section 1: Concepts

Understanding of the conceptual framework helps accountants prepare financial state-
ments that users can understand and use to make decisions. Relevance means that the
information has a direct bearing on a decision and includes the concepts of predictive
value and confirmative value, and materiality, subject to the cost constraint. Faithful repre-
sentation means that the financial information is complete, neutral, and free from material
error. Enhancing qualitative characteristics include comparability to enable users to iden-
tify similarities and differences between two sets of financial data, verifiability to assure
users that information as presented can be substantiated, timeliness to enable users to
receive information in time to influence their decisions, and understandability to enable
users to comprehend the meaning of the information. Further, the benefits of informa-
tion must exceed the costs of providing it. The accounting conventions of consistency,
full disclosure, and conservatism help accountants to decide what information to present
when uncertainties exist.
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Chapter 5: Foundations of Financial Reporting and the Classified Balance Sheet

Section 2: Accounting Applications

A [ B [ ¢ [ Db T E
1 Surf-With-Park Company
2 Balance Sheet
) June 30, 2014
4 Assets
5| Current assets:
6 Cash $ 16,000
7 Short-term investments 16,500
8 Notes receivable 5,000
9 Accounts receivable 138,000
10 Merchandise inventory 72,500
11 Prepaid rent 800
12 Prepaid insurance 2,400
13 Sales supplies 640
14 Office supplies 220
15 Deposit for future advertising 1,840
16 Total current assets $253,900
17| Investments:
18 Building, not in use 24,800
19| Property, plant, and equipment:
20 Land $ 11,700
21 Delivery equipment $ 20,600
22 Less accumulated depreciation 14,200 6,400
23 Total property, plant, and equipment 18,100
24| Intangible assets:
25 Trademark 2,000
26| Total assets $298,800
27 Liabilities
28| Current liabilities:
29| Accounts payable $ 57,300
30| Salaries payable 2,600
31| Interest payable 420
32| Total current liabilities $ 60,320
33| Long-term liabilities:
34| Long-term notes payable 40,000
35| Total liabilities $100,320
36 Owner’s Equity
37| A.Park, capital $198,480
38| Total owner's equity 198,480
39| Total liabilities and owner's equity $298,800

Section 3: Business Applications

. Current Assets
1. a. CurrentRatio B ———
Current Liabilities

_$253,900
$60,320

Total Liabilities
b. Debitto Equity Ratio =———————

Owner's Equity
$100,320
=———=505%
$198,480
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Chapter Review

Chapter Review

Describe the objective of o .I
financial reporting, and
identify the conceptual framework

underlying accounting information.

Identify and define the L0 2
basic components of
financial reporting, and prepare

a classified balance sheet.
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2. A user of the classified balance sheet would want to know the current ratio because
it is a good indicator of a company’s ability to pay its bills and to repay outstanding
loans. The other measure, the debt to equity ratio, shows the proportion of the
company financed by creditors in comparison with that financed by owners. That
measure is very important to liquidity analysis because it is related to debt and its
repayment. It is also relevant to profitability analysis because the amount of debt
affects the amount of interest expense and the owner’s return on investment.

The objective of financial reporting is to provide financial information about the report-
ing entity to present and potential equity investors, lenders, and other creditors in their
capacity as capital providers. Financial information must enable the reader to assess cash
flow prospects and management’s stewardship. Financial information must exhibit the
concepts of relevance and faithful representation. To be relevant, it must have predictive
value, confirmative value, or both, subject to materiality. To be faithfully represented, it
must be complete, neutral, and free from error. Enhancing qualitative characteristics are
comparability, verifiability, timeliness, and understandability, all subject to the cost con-
straint. Because accountants’ measurements are not exact, certain conventions are
applied to help users interpret financial statements. Consistency requires the use of the
same accounting procedures from period to period and enhances the comparability of
financial statements. Full disclosure means including all relevant information in the
financial statements. Conservatism entails using the procedure that is least likely to over-
state assets and income. Since the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, CEOs and CFOs
have been required to certify that their companies’ financial statements are accurate and
complete.

The basic components of a classified balance sheet are as follows.

Assets Liabilities Owner’s Equity
Current assets Current liabilities Owner’s capital
Investments Long-term liabilities

Property, plant, and equipment
Intangible assets

Current assets are cash and other assets that a firm can reasonably expect to convert to
cash or use up during the next year or the normal operating cycle, whichever is longer.
Investments are assets, usually long-term, that are not used in the normal operation of
a business. Property, plant, and equipment are tangible long-term assets used in day-to-
day operations. Intangible assets are long-term assets with no physical substance whose
value stems from the rights or privileges they are accruing to their owners.

A current liability is an obligation that must be satisfied within the next year or the
normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. Long-term liabilities are debts that fall due
more than one year in the future or beyond the normal operating cycle.

The equity section of a sole propricetorship’s balance sheet differs from the equity
section of a partnership’s or corporation’s balance sheet in that it does not have
subcategories for contributed capital (the assets invested by stockholders) and retained
carnings (stockholders’ claim to assets earned from operations and reinvested in
operations).

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



192

Use classified financial o 3
statements to evaluate
liquidity and profitability.

classified financial

statements 175 (LO2)
comparability 172 (LO1)
complete information 172 (LO1)
confirmative value 171 (LO1)
conservatism 173 (LO1)
consistency 172 (LO1)
Contributed Capital 178 (LO2)
cost-benefit 172 (LO1)
cost constraint 172 (LO1)
currentassets 175 (LO2)
current liabilities 177 (LO2)
dividends 179 (LO2)
faithful representation 172 (LO1)

free from material error 172 (L.O1)

full disclosure 173 (LO1)

accounting conventions 172 (LO1)

Chapter 5: Foundations of Financial Reporting and the Classified Balance Sheet

In evaluating a company’s performance, investors (owners) and creditors rely on the data
provided in financial statements. Two measures of liquidity are working capital and the
current ratio. Five measures of profitability are profit margin, asset turnover, return on
assets, debt to equity ratio, and return on equity. Data from multiple years and industry
averages are useful in interpreting these ratios.

Key Terms and Ratios

goodwill 177 (LO2)
intangible assets 177 (LO2)
investments 177 (LO2)
liquidity 180 (LO3)
long-term liabilities 178 (LO2)
material 171 (LO1)
materiality 171 (LO1)
neutral information 172 (LO1)
normal operating cycle 175 (L.O2)
other assets 175 (L.O2)
partners’ equity 178 (LO2)
predictive value 171 (LO1)
profitability 181 (LO3)
property, plant, and

equipment 177 (LO2)
qualitative characteristics 171 (LO1)
relevance 171 (LO1)

Retained Earnings 179 (LO2)
stockholders’ equity 178 (LO2)
timeliness 172 (LO1)
transparency 173 (LO1)
understandability 172 (LO1)
verifiability 172 (LO1)

RATIOS

asset turnover 182 (LO3)
current ratio 180 (LO3)

debt to equity ratio 185 (LO3)
profit margin 181 (LO3)
return on assets 183 (LO3)
return on equity 186 (LO3)
working capital 180 (LO3)

Chapter Assignments

LO1

LO1

LO1
LO1

02

LO3

O3

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1. CONCEPT » How do the four basic financial statements meet the stewardship
objective of financial reporting?

DQ2. CONCEPT » What are some areas that require estimates to record transactions
under the matching rule?

DQ3. CONCEPT » How can financial information be consistent but not comparable?
DQ4. CONCEPT » When might an amount be material to management but not to the
CPA auditing the financial statements?

DQ5. Why is it that land held for future use and equipment not currently used in the
business are classified as investments rather than as property, plant, and equipment?
DQ6. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Why is it important to compare a company’s financial
performance with industry standards?

DQ7. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Is the statement “Return on assets is a better measure
of profitability than profit margin” true or false and why?
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SHORT EXERCISES

L01  Objectives and Qualitative Characteristics

SE1. CONCEPT Identify each of the following statements as related to either an
objective (O) of financial information or as a qualitative (Q) characteristic of accounting
information:

a. Information about business resources, claims to those resources, and changes in them
should be provided.

b. Decision makers must be able to interpret accounting information.

¢. Information that is useful in making investment and credit decisions should be
furnished.

d. Accounting information must exhibit relevance and faithful representation.

¢. Information useful in assessing cash flow prospects should be provided.

L01  Enhancing Qualitative Characteristics and Accounting Conventions

SE2. CONCEPT » State which of these selected enhancing qualitative characteristics and
accounting conventions—comparability, verifiability, timeliness, cost constraint, consis-
tency, full disclosure, materiality, or conservatism—is being followed in each case that
follows.

1. Management provides detailed information about the company’s long-term debt in
the notes to the financial statements.

2. A company does not account separately for discounts received for prompt payment
of accounts payable because few of these transactions occur and the total amount of
the discounts is small.

3. Management eliminates a weekly report on property, plant, and equipment acquisi-
tions and disposals because no one finds it useful.

4. A company follows the policy of recognizing a loss on inventory when the market
value of an item falls below its cost but does nothing it the market value rises.

5. When several accounting methods are acceptable, management chooses a single
method and follows that method from year to year.

6. The internal audit department comes up with similar estimates to management’s
determination of fair value of investments.

7. The company makes every effort to complete its financial statements within one
week after the end of the accounting period.

02 Classification of Accounts: Balance Sheet

SE3. Tell whether each of the following accounts is a current asset; an investment;
property, plant, and equipment; an intangible asset; a current liability; a long-term liabil-
ity; owner’s equity; or not on the balance sheet:

1. Delivery Trucks 6. Prepaid Insurance

2. Accounts Payable 7. Trademark

3. Note Payable (due in 90 days) 8. Investment to Be Held Six Months
4. Delivery Expense 9. Factory Not Used in Business

5. Owner’s Capital

LO2 Classified Balance Sheet

SE4. Using the following accounts, prepare a classified balance sheet at year end, May 31,
2014: Accounts Payable, $1,600; Accounts Receivable, $2,200; Accumulated Depre-
ciation—Equipment, $1,400; Cash, $400; Owner’s Investment, $2,000; Equipment,
$6,000; Franchise, $400; Investments (long-term), $1,000; Merchandise Inventory,
$1,200; Notes Payable (long-term), $800; Owner’s Capital, $2; Wages Payable, $200.
Assume that this is the company’s first year of operations.
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Chapter 5: Foundations of Financial Reporting and the Classified Balance Sheet

Liquidity Ratios
SE5. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Using the following accounts and balances taken from
a year-end balance sheet, compute working capital and the current ratio:

Accounts Payable $3,500 Merchandise Inventory $ 6,000
Accounts Receivable 5,000 Notes Payable in Three Years 6,500
Cash 2,000 Owner’s Capital 24,000
Marketable Securities 1,000 Property, Plant, and Equipment 20,000

Profitability Ratios

SE6. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Using the following information from a balance
sheet and an income statement, compute the (1) profit margin, (2) asset turnover,
(3) return on assets, (4) debt to equity ratio, and (5) return on equity. The previous
year’s total assets were $200,000, and owner’s equity was $140,000. (Round to one
decimal place.)

Total Assets $240,000 Net Sales $260,000
Total Liabilities 60,000 Cost of Goods Sold 140,000
Total Owner’s Equity 180,000 Operating Expenses 80,000

Profitability Ratios

SE7. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Assume that a company has a profit margin of 12.0
percent, an asset turnover of 6.4 times, and a debt to equity ratio of 50 percent.
What are the company’s return on assets and return on equity? (Round to one deci-
mal place.)

EXERCISES: SETA

Financial Accounting Concepts

E1A.CONCEPT » The lettered items that follow represent a classification scheme for the
concepts of financial accounting. Match each numbered term in the list that follows with
the letter of the category in which it belongs.

a. Qualitative characteristics 7. Cost-benefit
b. Financial statements 8. Predictive value
c. Objective of accounting information 9. Business transactions
d. Accounting measurement 10. Consistency
considerations 11. Full disclosure
e. Accounting processing considerations ~ 12. Furnishing information that is useful
f. Decision makers (users of accounting to investors and creditors
information) 13. Specific business entities
g. Accounting conventions 14. Classification
h. Business activities or entities relevant to  15. Management
accounting measurement 16. Neutrality
17. Internal accounting control
1. Conservatism 18. Valuation
2. Verifiability 19. Investors
3. Statement of cash flows 20. Completeness
4. Materiality 21. Relevance
5. Faithful representation 22. Furnishing information that is useful
6. Recognition in assessing cash flow prospects
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01  Qualitative Characteristics and Accounting Conventions

E2A. CONCEPT > Each of the statements that follow violates one or more accounting con-
cepts. State which of these selected qualitative characteristics and accounting conventions—
relevance, faithful representation, comparability, verifiability, timeliness, understandability,
cost constraint, consistency, materiality, conservatism, or full disclosure—is (are) violated.

1. A company changes its method of accounting for depreciation.

2. The asset account for a pickup truck still used in the business is written down to
what the truck could be sold for, even though the carrying value under conventional
depreciation methods is higher.

3. A series of reports that are time-consuming and expensive to prepare are presented
to the owner each month, even though they are never used.

4. The company in 1 does not indicate in the financial statements that the method of
depreciation was changed, nor does it specify the effect of the change on net income.

5. A company’s new office building, which is built next to the company’s existing

factory, is debited to the factory account because it represents a fairly small dollar

amount in relation to the factory.

Information is presented in a way that is not useful to users.

A transaction is recorded that does not represent the substance of the economic event.

Information is presented in a way that is confusing to users.

Similar transactions are recorded using different accounting principles.

10. Information is reported long after the economic events they represent.

11. Various experts come up with widely different estimates of an amount.

S 0o N

LO2 Classification of Accounts: Balance Sheet

E3A. The lettered items that follow represent a classification scheme for a balance sheet,
and the numbered items in the list are account titles. Match each account with the letter
of the category in which it belongs.

a. Current liabilities 5. Note Payable in Five Years
b. Owner’s equity 6. Building Used in Operations
c. Current assets 7. Fund Held to Pay Off Long-Term
d. Intangible assets Debt
e. Property, plant, and equipment 8. Inventory
f. Investments 9. Prepaid Insurance
g. Long-term liabilities 10. Depreciation Expense
h. Not on balance sheet 11. Accounts Receivable
12. Interest Expense

1. Patent 13. Unearned Revenue

2. Building Held for Sale 14. Short-Term Investments

3. Prepaid Rent 15. Accumulated Depreciation

4. Wages Payable 16. Owner’s Capital

L02  Classified Balance Sheet Preparation

E4A. The following data pertain to Wagoner Company: Accounts Payable, $20,400;
Accounts Receivable, $15,200; Accumulated Depreciation—Building, $5,600; Accumu-
lated Depreciation—Equipment, $6,800; Bonds Payable, $24,000; Building, $28,000;
Cash, $12,480; Copyright, $2,480; Equipment, $60,800; Inventory, $16,000; Invest-
ment in Corporate Securities (long-term), $8,000; Investment in Six-Month Govern-
ment Securities, $6,560; Y. Wagoner, Capital, $95,280; Land, $3,200; Prepaid Rent,
$480; and Revenue Received in Advance, $1,120. Prepare a classified balance sheet at
December 31, 2014. Assume that this is Wagoner’s first year of operations.
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Liquidity Ratios

E5A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » The accounts and balances that follow are from
Kellman Company’s general ledger. Compute the (1) working capital and (2) current

ratio. (Round to one decimal place.)

Accounts Payable

Accounts Receivable

Cash

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt
K. Kellman, Capital

Long-Term Investments
Marketable Securities
Merchandise Inventory

Notes Payable (90 days)

Notes Payable (2 years)

Notes Receivable (90 days)
Notes Receivable (2 years)
Prepaid Insurance

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property Taxes Payable

Salaries Payable

Supplies

Unearned Revenue

Profitability Ratios

$13,280
8,160
1,200
8,000
22,640
8,320
10,080
20,320
12,000
16,000
20,800
8,000
320
48,000
1,000
680
280
600

E6A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » The following amounts are from Shimura Company’s
financial statements at the end of the current year: total assets, $426,000; total liabilities,
$172,000; owner’s equity, $254,000; net sales, $782,000; cost of goods sold, $486,000;
operating expenses, $178,000; and withdrawals, $40,000. During the current year, total
assets increased by $75,000. Total owner’s equity was affected only by net income and
withdrawals. Compute the (1) profit margin, (2) asset turnover, (3) return on assets,
(4) debt to equity ratio, and (5) return on equity. (Round to one decimal place.)

Liquidity and Profitability Ratios

E7A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » A company’s simplified balance sheet and income

statement follow.

Balance Sheet

December 31,2014
Assets Liabilities

Current assets $ 50,000 Current liabilities $ 20,000
Investments 10,000 Long-term liabilities 30,000
Property, plant, and equipment 146,500 Total liabilities $ 50,000
Intangible assets 13,500 Owner’s Equity

Owner’s capital 170,000
Total assets $220,000 Total liabilities and owner’s equity $220,000

Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31,2014

Net sales

Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Operating expenses
Net income

$410,000
250,000
$160,000
135,000
$ 25,000
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Total assets and owner’s equity at the beginning of 2014 were $180,000 and $140,000,
respectively. The owner made no investments or withdrawals during the year.

1. Compute the following liquidity measures: (a) working capital and (b) current ratio.
(Round to one decimal place.)

2. Compute the following profitability measures: (a) profit margin, (b) asset turnover,
(c) return on assets, (d) debt to equity ratio, and (e) return on equity. (Round to one
decimal place.)

L03  Liquidity and Profitability Ratios

E8A. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Villegas Company is considering applying for a bank
loan. Various data from Villegas’s classified financial statements follow.

2014 2013
Current assets $100,000 $ 85,000
Total assets 440,000 355,000
Current liabilities 45,000 25,000
Long-term liabilities 75,000 25,000
Owner’s equity 320,000 305,000
Sales 600,000 525,000
Net income 30,000 40,000

Its total assets and owner’s equity at the beginning of 2013 were $345,000 and
$295,000, respectively.

1. Use (a) liquidity analysis and (b) profitability analysis to document Villegas’s
financial position. (Round to two decimal places.)

2. Discuss Villegas’s profitability and liquidity. Do you think it will qualify for a bank
loan?

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion website at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise Set B
for this chapter.

PROBLEMS

01  Qualitative Characteristics and Accounting Conventions

P1. CONCEPT » In each case that follows, qualitative characteristics and accounting
conventions may have been violated.

1. After careful study, Schuss Company, which has offices in 40 states, has determined
that its method of depreciating office furniture should be changed. The new method
is adopted for the current year, and the change is noted in the financial statements.

2. In the past, Waldemar Company has recorded operating expenses in general accounts
(e.g., Salaries Expense and Utilities Expense). Management has determined that
despite the additional recordkeeping costs, the company’s income statement should
break down each operating expense into its components of selling expense and
administrative expense.

3. Leon Company’s auditor discovered that a company official had authorized the pay-
ment of a $1,200 bribe to a local official. Management argued that because the item
was so small in relation to the size of the company ($1,700,000 in sales), the illegal
payment should not be disclosed.

4. J&J Bookstore built a small addition to its main building to house a new computer
games section. Because no one could be sure that the computer games section would
succeed, the accountant took a conservative approach and recorded the addition as
an expense.

(Continued)
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v 1:Total assets: $597,600

O3
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SPREADSHEET

v/ 1b: 2014 current ratio: 2.3
v/ 2e: 2014 return on equity: 15.6%

Chapter 5: Foundations of Financial Reporting and the Classified Balance Sheet

. Since it began operations ten years ago, Reed Company has used the same generally

accepted inventory method. The company does not disclose in its financial state-
ments what inventory method it uses.

Go-Fast Gas has a number of aged service stations around the local community. The
company has not included the buildings at these locations on its financial statements
because it does not plan on selling them.

Social Internet Company is planning to ask the bank for a loan. It asks its accoun-
tants to make its financial prospects look as attractive as possible.

. Acre Company’s auditors are having difficulty reproducing estimates in Acre’s finan-

cial statements due to estimates that cannot be substantiated.

REQUIRED

In each of these cases, identify the qualitative characteristic or accounting convention
that applies, state whether or not the treatment is in accord with the accounting concept
and generally accepted accounting principles, and briefly explain why.

Classified Balance Sheet

P2. The information that follows is from Jason’s Hardware Company’s June 30, 2014,
post-closing trial balance.

Account Name Debit Credit

Cash 32,000

Short-Term Investments 33,000

Notes Receivable 10,000

Accounts Receivable 276,000

Merchandise Inventory 145,000

Prepaid Rent 1,600

Prepaid Insurance 4,800

Sales Supplies 1,280

Office Supplies 440

Deposit for Future Advertising 3,680

Building, Not in Use 49,600

Land 23,400

Delivery Equipment 41,200

Accumulated Depreciation—Delivery Equipment 28,400

Trademark 4,000

Accounts Payable 114,600

Salaries Payable 5,200

Interest Payable 840

Long-Term Notes Payable 80,000

J. Smith, Capital 396,960
626,000 626,000

REQUIRED

1.
2.

3.

Prepare a classified balance sheet for Jason’s Hardware Company.

BUSINESS APPLICATION » Compute Jason’s Hardware’s current ratio and debt to
equity ratio. (Round to one decimal place.)

BUSINESS APPLICATION » As a user of the classified balance sheet, why would you
want to know the current ratio or the debt to equity ratio?

Liquidity and Profitability Ratios
P3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Julio Company has had poor operating results for

the past two years. As Julio’s accountant, you have the following information available
to you:
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2014 2013

Current assets $ 45,000 $ 35,000
Total assets 145,000 110,000
Current liabilities 20,000 10,000
Long-term liabilities 20,000 —

Owner’s equity 105,000 100,000
Net sales 262,000 200,000
Net income 16,000 11,000

Total assets and owner’s equity at the beginning of 2013 were $90,000 and $80,000,
respectively. The owner made no investments in 2013 or 2014.

REQUIRED

1. Compute the following measures of liquidity for 2013 and 2014: (a) working capi-
tal and (b) current ratio. Comment on the differences between the years. (Round to
one decimal place.)

2. Compute the following measures of profitability for 2013 and 2014: (a) profit mar-
gin, (b) asset turnover, (c) return on assets, (d) debt to equity ratio, and (e) return
on equity. Comment on the change in performance from 2013 to 2014. (Round to
one decimal place.)

02,3 Classified Balance Sheet

P4. The information that follows is from Cullen’s Hardware Company’s June 30, 2014,

post-closing trial balance.
v 1:Total assets: $625,800

Account Name Debit Credit
Cash 42,800
Short-Term Investments 34,300
Sales Supplies 1,280
Merchandise Inventory 145,000
Prepaid Rent 2,100
Prepaid Insurance 4,800
Accounts Receivable 287,000
Office Supplies 440
E. Cullen, Capital 412,660
Notes Receivable 10,000
Land 31,400
Delivery Equipment 43,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Delivery Equipment 28,400
Trademark 4,000
Accounts Payable 124,600
Salaries Payable 7,700
Deposit for Future Advertising 3,680
Interest Payable 840
Long-Term Notes Payable 80,000
Building, Not in Use 44,200

654,200 654,200

REQUIRED

1. Prepare a classified balance sheet for Cullen’s Hardware Company.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Compute Cullen’s Hardware’s current ratio and debt to
equity ratio. (Round to one decimal place.)

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » As a user of the classified balance sheet, why would you
want to know the current ratio or the debt to equity ratio?
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ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

01  Accounting Conventions

P5. CONCEPT > In each case that follows, qualitative characteristics and accounting con-
ventions may have been violated.

1.

Elite Manufacturing Company uses the cost method for computing the balance
sheet amount of inventory unless the market value of the inventory is less than the
cost, in which case the market value is used. At the end of the current year, the mar-
ket value is $302,000 and the cost is $324,000. The company uses the $302,000
figure to compute the value of inventory because management believes it is the
more cautious approach.

. Livery Service Company has annual sales of $20,000,000. It follows the practice

of recording any items costing less than $500 as expenses in the year purchased.
During the current year, it purchased several chairs for the executive conference
room at $490 each, including freight. Although the chairs were expected to last for
at least ten years, they were recorded as an expense in accordance with company
policy.

. Stardust Company closed its books on October 31, 2013, before preparing its

annual report. On November 3, 2013, a fire destroyed one of the company’s two
factories. Although the company had fire insurance and would not suffer a loss on
the building, it seemed likely that it would suffer a significant decrease in sales in
2014 because of the fire. It did not report the fire damage in its 2013 financial state-
ments because the fire had not affected its operations during that year.

. Primal Drug Company spends a substantial portion of its profits on research and

development. The company had been reporting its $12,000,000 expenditure for
research and development as a lump sum, but management recently decided to
begin classifying the expenditures by project, even though its recordkeeping costs
will increase.

During the current year, Ziegler Company changed from one generally accepted method
of accounting for inventories to another method, without disclosing the change.

. Due to pressing business issues, Judson Products is consistently behind schedule in

preparing its financial statements.
Thomas Electronics is a complex global business whose financial statements use
many technical terms not known by the typical investor.

. Siro Company produces financial statements that are not helpful in assessing the

company’s prospects in the future.

REQUIRED
For cach of these cases, identify the accounting concept that applies, state whether or
not the treatment is in accord with the concept, and briefly explain why.

L02,3 Classified Balance Sheet

T P6. The information that follows is from Matt’s Hardware Company’s April 30, 2014,

SPREADSHEET

v 1:Total assets: $595,600

post-closing trial balance.

Account Name Debit Credit
Cash 31,000
Short-Term Investments 33,000
Notes Receivable 10,000
Accounts Receivable 276,000
Merchandise Inventory 145,000
Prepaid Rent 1,600

Prepaid Insurance 4,800
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Sales Supplies 1,280
Office Supplies 440
Deposit for Future Advertising 3,680
Building, Not in Use 49,600
Land 22,400
Delivery Equipment 41,200
Accumulated Depreciation—Delivery Equipment 28,400
Trademark 4,000
Accounts Payable 114,600
Salaries Payable 5,200
Interest Payable 840
Long-Term Notes Payable 80,000
M. Shah, Capital 394,960
REQUIRED

1. Prepare a classified balance sheet for Matt’s Hardware.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION p» Compute Matt’s Hardware’s current ratio and debt to
equity ratio. (Round to one decimal place.)

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION [» As a user of the classified balance sheet, why would you
want to know the current ratio or the debt to equity ratio?

03 Liquidity and Profitability Ratios

P7. BUSINESS APPLICATION [» A summary of data from Pinder Construction Supply
Company’s income statements and balance sheets for 2014 and 2013 follows.

v/ 1b: 2014 current ratio: 2.0 2014 2013
v’ 2c: 2014 return on assets: 14.8% Current assets $ 366,000 $ 310,000
Total assets 2,320,000 1,740,000
Current liabilities 180,000 120,000
Long-term liabilities 800,000 580,000
Owner’s equity 1,340,000 1,040,000
Net sales 4,600,000 3,480,000
Net income 300,000 204,000

Total assets and owner’s equity at the beginning of 2013 were $1,360,000 and
$840,000, respectively.

REQUIRED

1. Compute the following liquidity measures for 2013 and 2014: (a) working capital
and (b) current ratio. Comment on the differences between the years. (Round to
one decimal place.)

2. Compute the following measures of profitability for 2013 and 2014: (a) profit mar-
gin, (b) asset turnover, (c) return on assets, (d) debt to equity ratio, and (e) return
on equity. Comment on the change in performance from 2013 to 2014. (Round to
one decimal place.)

02,3 Classified Balance Sheet

P8. The information that follows is from Rodriguez’s Tools Company’s April 30, 2014,

post-closing trial balance.
v 1:Total assets: $571,470

(Continued)

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




202

LO1

LO1

Account Name Debit Credit
Cash 31,000
Short-Term Investments 43,500
Accounts Receivable 239,000
Merchandise Inventory 113,000
Notes Receivable 10,000
Interest Payable 930
Sales Supplies 1,280
Office Supplies 540
Deposit for Future Advertising 3,120
Long-Term Notes Payable 99,000
Land 34,700
Delivery Equipment 42,230
Accumulated Depreciation—Delivery Equipment 28,400
Building, Not in Use 72,100
Accounts Payable 129,600
Salaries Payable 4,600
Prepaid Rent 1,800
Prepaid Insurance 3,600
C. Rodriguez, Capital 337,340
Trademark 4,000
REQUIRED

1. Prepare a classified balance sheet for Rodriguez’s Tools.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Compute Rodriguez’s Tools’ current ratio and debt to
equity ratio. (Round to one decimal place.)

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION [» As a user of the classified balance sheet, why would you
want to know the current ratio or the debt to equity ratio?

CASES

Conceptual Understanding: Consistency, Full Disclosure, and Materiality

C1. CONCEPT » Metro Parking, which operates a seven-story parking building, has a cal-
endar year-end. It serves daily and hourly parkers, as well as monthly parkers who pay a
fixed monthly rate in advance. The company traditionally has recorded all cash receipts as
revenues when received. Most monthly parkers pay in full during the month prior to that
in which they have the right to park. The company’s auditors have said that beginning
in 2014, the company should consider recording the cash receipts from monthly park-
ing on an accrual basis, crediting Unearned Revenues. Total cash receipts for 2014 were
$1,250,000, and the cash receipts received in 2014 and applicable to January 2015 were
$62,500. Discuss the relevance of the accounting concepts of consistency, full disclosure,
and materiality to the decision to record the monthly parking revenues on an accrual basis.

Conceptual Understanding: Materiality

C2. CONCEPT > Laskowski, Inc., operates a chain of consumer electronics stores. This
year, the company achieved annual sales of $75 million, on which it earned a net income
of $3 million. At the beginning of the year, management implemented a new inventory
system that enabled it to track all purchases and sales. At the end of the year, a physical
inventory revealed that the actual inventory was $120,000 below what the new system
indicated it should be. The inventory loss, which probably resulted from shoplifting, was
reflected in a higher cost of goods sold. The problem concerns management but seems
to be less important to the company’s auditors. What is materiality? Why might the
inventory loss concern management more than it does the auditors? Do you think the
amount of inventory loss is material?
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L03  Interpreting Financial Reports: Comparison of Profitability

C3. BUSINESS APPLICATION Two of the largest chains of clothing stores in the
United States are The Gap, Inc. and Abercrombie & Fitch Co. In fiscal 2011, Gap had
net income of $833 million, and Abercrombie & Fitch had net income of $128 million.
It is difficult to judge from these figures alone which company is more profitable because
they do not take into account the relative sales, sizes, and investments of the companies.
Data (in millions) needed for a complete financial analysis of the two companies follow:

Abercrombie

Gap & Fitch*
Net sales $14,549 $4,158
Beginning total assets 7,065 2,941
Ending total assets 7,422 3,048
Beginning total liabilities 2,985 1,051
Ending total liabilities 4,667 1,186
Beginning stockholders’ equity 4,080 1,891
Ending stockholders’ equity 2,755 1,862

*Abercrombie & Fitch's data is rounded to the nearest dollar.

1. Determine which company was more profitable by computing profit margin, asset
turnover, the debt to equity ratio, return on assets, and return on equity for the two
companies. Comment on the relative profitability of the two companies. (Round to
one decimal place or the nearest tenth of a percent.)

2. What do the ratios tell you about the factors that go into achieving an adequate
return on assets in the clothing retail industry? For industry data, refer to the graphs
in the ratio boxes throughout the chapter.

3. How would you characterize the use of debt financing in the clothing retail industry
and the use of debt by these two companies?

L02,3  Annual Report Case: Classified Balance Sheet

C4. BUSINESS APPLICATION [» Refer to the CVS annual report in the Supplement to
Chapter 16 to answer the following questions.

1. Does CVS use a classified balance sheet?

2. Did CVS’s debt to equity ratio change from 2010 to 2011? (Round to the nearest
tenth of a percent.)

3. What is the contributed capital for 20112 How does contributed capital compare
with retained earnings?

L03  Comparison Case: Financial Performance

C5. BUSINESS APPLICATION Compare the financial performance of CVS and
Southwest Airlines Co. on the basis of profitability in 2011 and 2010. Use the follow-
ing ratios: profit margin, asset turnover, return on assets, and return on equity. (Round
to one decimal place or to the nearest tenth of a percent.) In 2009, total assets, total
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows from operating activities for CVS were $61,141
million, $35,768 million, and $4,035 million, respectively. Southwest’s total assets were
$14,269 million in 2009, and its total stockholders’ equity and cash flow from operating
activities were $5,454 million and $985 million, respectively. Comment on the rela-
tive performance of the two companies. In general, how does Southwest’s performance
compare to CVS’s with respect to profitability? What distinguishes Southwest’s profit-
ability performance from that of CVS?

LO1 Ethical Dilemma: Ethics and Financial Reporting

C6. Beacon Systems develops computer software and licenses it to financial institutions.
The firm records revenues from the software it has developed on a percentage of com-

(Continued)
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Chapter 5: Foundations of Financial Reporting and the Classified Balance Sheet

pletion basis. For example, if a project is 50 percent complete, then 50 percent of the
contracted revenue is recognized. Preliminary estimates for a $7 million project now in
development are that the project is 75 percent complete. Estimates of completion are a
matter of judgment, and management therefore feels justified in asking for a new report
showing that the project is 90 percent complete. The change will enable senior managers
to meet their financial goals for the year and thus receive substantial year-end bonuses.
Do you think management’s action is ethical? If you were the company controller and
were asked to prepare the new report, would you do it? What action would you take?

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C7. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Using the most recent annual report of the company
you have chosen to study and that you have accessed online at the company’s website,
use the classified balance sheet together with the income statement to compute the fol-
lowing ratios for the last two years and indicate whether each has improved. (Round to
one decimal place or to the nearest tenth of a percent.)

a. Current ratio

b. Profit margin

c. Asset turnover

d. Return on assets

e. Debt to equity ratio
f. Return on equity
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CHAPTER 6

Accounting for Merchandising

Operations

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Mink Company

Mink Company is a fast-growing, discount merchandising company
that specializes in selling stylish, low-priced fashions to young people.
Like all other merchandisers, Mink has two key decisions to make: the
price at which it will sell goods and the level of service it will provide.
A department store may set the price of its merchandise at a relatively
high level and provide a great deal of service. A discount store, on the
other hand, may price its merchandise at a relatively low level and
provide limited service.

1. CONCEPT » How do faithful representation and classification apply
to merchandise operations?

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » How can merchandising transactions
be recorded to reflect the company’s performance?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » How can Mink manage its operating
cycle so that it has adequate cash to maintain liquidity?

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Define merchandising accounting,
and differentiate perpetual from
periodic inventory systems.

f 2 Describe the features of multistep
and single-step classified income
statements.

o 3 Describe the terms of sale related to
merchandising transactions.

Prepare an income statement, and
record merchandising transactions
under the perpetual inventory system.

105 Prepare an income statement, and
record merchandising transactions
under the periodic inventory system.

Explain the role of the operating

cycle and foreign business
transactions in evaluating the liquidity of
a merchandising company.

ent may be suppre!
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SECTION 1

CONCEPTS
B Faithful representation

B Classification

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Define merchandising
accounting and
differentiate perpetual from
periodic inventory systems.

Lo

CONCEPTS

Concepts Underlying
Merchandising Accounting

A merchandising company earns income by buying and selling goods, which are called
merchandise inventory. Whether a merchandiser is a wholesaler or a retailer, it uses
the same basic accounting methods as a service company. However, the buying and
selling of goods adds to the complexity of the accounting process. One complexity is
the classification of items on the merchandising income statement so that the statement
Sfaathfully represents the operations of the company. Further, merchandise inventory is an
important component on the operating cycle, which is the cycle of buying and holding
merchandise until it is sold and then collecting payment for the sales.

To faithfully represent accounting for merchandising inventories, two basic systems
of'accounting for merchandise inventory are used: the perpetual inventory system and the
periodic inventory system.

Under the perpetual inventory system, continuous records are kept of the quan-
tity and, usually, the cost of individual items as they are bought and sold. The
cost of each item is recorded in the Merchandise Inventory account when it is
purchased. As merchandise is sold, its cost is transferred from the Merchandise
Inventory account to the Cost of Goods Sold account. Thus, at all times the bal-
ance of the Merchandise Inventory account equals the cost of goods on hand,
and the balance in Cost of Goods Sold equals the cost of merchandise sold to
customers.

Under the periodic inventory system, the inventory not yet sold is counted
periodically. This physical count is called physical inventory, which is usually
taken at the end of the accounting period. No detailed records of the inventory
are maintained during the accounting period. The figure for inventory is accurate
only on the balance sheet date. (Note that the value of ending inventory on the
balance sheet is determined by multiplying the quantity of each inventory item
by its unit cost.) As soon as any purchases or sales are made in the new account-
ing period, the inventory figure becomes a historical amount, and it remains so
until the new ending inventory amount is entered at the end of this accounting
period.

Note that the perpetual inventory system does not eliminate the need for a physical
count of the inventory. One should be taken periodically to ensure that the actual num-
ber of goods on hand matches the quantity indicated by the computer records.

Each system has advantages. Managers use the detailed data from the perpet-
ual inventory system to respond to customers’ inquiries about product availability,
to order inventory more effectively in order to avoid running out of stock, and to
control the costs associated with investments in inventory. Managers may choose
the periodic inventory system because it reduces the amount of clerical work. If a
business is fairly small, management can maintain control over its inventory simply
through observation or by use of an offline system of cards or computer records.
However, for larger companies, the lack of detailed records may lead to lost sales or
high operating costs.
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r
.. Business Perspective

| How Have Bar Codes Influenced the Choice of Inventory Systems?

Most grocery stores, which traditionally used the periodic inventory system, now employ bar coding to update the physical inventory as items are sold.
At the checkout counter, the cashier scans into the cash register the electronic marking, called a bar code or universal product code (UPC), that appears
on each product. The cash register is linked to a computer that records the sale. Bar coding has become common in all types of retail companies,
manufacturing firms, and hospitals. It has also become a major factor in the increased use of the perpetual inventory system. Interestingly, some retail
businesses now use the perpetual inventory system for keeping track of the physical flow of inventory and the periodic inventory system for preparing
their financial statements.

Because of the difficulty and expense of accounting for the purchase and sale of each
item, companies that sell items of low value in high volume have traditionally used the
periodic inventory system. Examples of such companies include small retailers, drug-
stores, and grocery stores. In contrast, companies that sell items that have a high unit
value, such as appliances, have tended to use the perpetual inventory system. The dis-
tinction between high and low unit value for inventory systems has blurred considerably
in recent years. Although the periodic inventory system is still widely used, computeriza-
tion has led to an increase in the use of the perpetual inventory system.

Indicate whether each of the statements that follow is more applicable to (a) perpetual inventory system, SOLUTION

(b) periodic inventory system, or (c) both systems. 1.¢ 2.b; 3.3 4.b; 5.3 6.2; 7.b
Requires a physical count of inventory at end of period. TRY IT! SE1, E1A, E1B

No detailed records of the inventory are maintained during the accounting period.

Continuous records are kept of the quantity.

Inventory figure is accurate only on the balance sheet date.

The balance in Cost of Goods Sold equals the cost of merchandise sold to customers at all times.
Helps to manage inventory more effectively and thus avoid running out of stock.

Is less costly to maintain but may lead to lost sales.

Soen @ gs Y =
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SECTION 2

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

B Prepare a multistep
income statement

B Prepare a single-step
income statement

B Record inventory
transactions under the
perpetual method

B Record inventory
transactions under the
periodic method

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

0 2 Describe the features

of multistep and
single-step classified income
statements.

3 Describe the terms of
sale related to
merchandising transactions.

I_04 Prepare an income

statement, and record
merchandising transactions
under the perpetual
inventory system.

L0 5 Prepare an income

statement, and record
merchandising transactions
under the periodic inventory
system.

ACCOUNTING APPLICATIONS

Forms of the Income Statement

In the income statements we have presented thus far, expenses have been deducted from
revenue in a single step to arrive at net income. Here, we look at a multistep income
statement and a more complex single-step format.

Multistep Income Statement

A multistep income statement goes through a series of steps, or subtotals, to arrive at
net income. In a service company’s multistep income statement, the operating expenses
are deducted from revenues in a single step to arrive at income from operations. In
contrast, because manufacturing and merchandising companies make or buy goods for
sale, their income statements include an additional step of calculating gross margin by
subtracting the cost of goods from net sales. Exhibit 1 compares the multistep income
statement of a service company (which provides services as opposed to products) with
that of' a merchandising company (which buys and sells products) and a manufacturing
company (which makes and sells products).

Exhibit 1
A Comparison of the Components of Multistep Income Statements for
Service and Merchandising or Manufacturing Companies

Service Company Merchandising or
Multistep Manufacturing Company
Income Statement Multistep Income Statement
Revenues | | Net Sales |
|
minus
I Cost of Goods Sold I
minus equals

| Step 1: Gross Margin |
|

minus
L 4
I Operating Expenses I I Operating Expenses I
equals equals
| Step 1:Income from Operations | | Step 2: Income from Operations |
plus or minus plus or minus
s
I Step 2: Other Revenues and Expenses I I Step 3: Other Revenues and Expenses I i
c
c
equals equals 3
5
&
Step 3: Net Income Step 4: Net Income Ié)
©
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We will use Davila Company, a merchandising company, to illustrate the multistep
income statement. Davila’s multistep income statement is presented in Exhibit 2. Like
balance sheets, income statements vary among companies. You will rarely, if ever, find
an income statement exactly like the one presented for Davila Company. Companies use
different terms and different structures.

Exhibit 2
Multistep Income Statement

for Davila Company Davila Company

Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31,2014

Gross sales $1,300,924
Less Sales returns and allowances 52,300
Step 1 Net sales $1,248,624
Cost of goods sold 815,040
Gross margin $ 433,584
Operating expenses:
Selling expenses $ 219,120
Step 2 General and administrative expenses 138,016
Total operating expenses 357,136
Income from operations S 76,448
- Other revenues and expenses:
& Interest income $ 5600
g Step 3 .
£ Less interest expense 10,524
g’ Excess of other expenses over other revenues 4,924
% Step 4 Net income $ 71,524
8 e
©

Net Sales (or Net Revenue) Netsales (or net revenue) is computed as follows.

Net Sales = Gross Sales — Sales Returns and Allowances

Gross sales consist of the total revenue from cash and credit sales during a period.
Under the revenue recognition concept, even when cash from a credit sale is not
received during the current period, it is recorded if title to the merchandise has
passed to the buyer.

Sales returns and allowances include cash refunds and credits on account. They
also include any discounts from selling prices made to customers who have returned
defective products or products that are otherwise unsatisfactory. If other types of
discounts are given to customers, they also should be deducted from gross sales.

For Davila, net sales is computed as follows.

$1,300,924 — $52,300 = $1,248,624
Cost of Goods Sold (or Cost of Sales) Cost of goods sold (or cost of sales or cost of
revenne) is the amount a merchandiser paid for the merchandise it sold during a period.

For a manufacturer, it is the cost of making the products it sold during a period. Davila’s
cost of goods sold is $815,040.

Gross Margin (or Gross Profit) Gross margin (or gross profit) is computed as follows.

Gross Margin = Net Sales — Cost of Goods Sold
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International Perspective
C Income Statements Under IFRS May Not Show Cost of Goods Sold

Under U.S. GAAP, the Cost of Goods Sold account is needed because the income statement requires listing costs and expense by function, such as cost
of goods sold, selling expenses, and general and administrative expenses. IFRS, on the other hand, give companies the option of listing by function, like
U.S. GAAP, or by nature, such as materials costs, labor costs, and so forth. Most European companies choose the latter option, thus not showing any cost
of goods sold, gross margin, or operating income on their income statements.

STUDY NOTE: Gross margin measures
profitability. When it is less than
operating expenses, the company suffers
a net loss from operations.

A company’s gross margin must be sufficient to cover operating expenses and provide an

adequate net income. Davila’s gross margin is computed as follows (as shown in Step 1
in Exhibit 2).

$1,248,624 — $815,040 = $433,584

Managers and owners are interested in both the amount and percentage of gross
margin. The percentage is computed as follows.

Percentage of Gross Margin = Gross Margin + Net Sales
For Davila, percentage of gross margin is computed as follows.

$433,584 + $1,248,624 = 34.7* %
*Rounded

Business Application Gross margin information is useful in planning business
operations.

For instance, management may try to increase total sales of a product by reducing
the selling price. Although this strategy reduces the percentage of gross margin, it
will work if the number of items sold increases enough to raise the absolute amount
of gross margin. Discount warehouse stores like Sam’s Club and Costco Wholesale
Corporation follow this strategy.

On the other hand, management may decide to keep a high gross margin from
sales and try to increase sales and the amount of gross margin by increasing operat-
ing expenses, such as advertising. Upscale specialty stores like Neiman Marcus and
Tiffany & Co. use this strategy.

Other strategies to increase gross margin include using better purchasing methods to
reduce the cost of goods sold.

Operating Expenses Operating expenses are the cxpenses, other than the cost of
goods sold, that are incurred in running a business. They are often grouped into the cate-
gories of selling expenses and general and administrative expenses and computed as follows.

Operating Expenses = Selling Expenses + General and Administrative Expenses

Selling expenses include the costs of storing goods and preparing them for sale;
preparing displays, advertising, and otherwise promoting sales; and delivering goods
to a buyer if the seller has agreed to pay the cost of delivery.

General and administrative expenses include expenses for accounting, personnel,
credit checking, collections, and any other expenses that apply to overall operations.
Although occupancy expenses, such as expenses of rent, insurance, and utilities, are
often classified as general and administrative expenses, they can also be allocated
between selling expenses and general and administrative expenses.

For Davila, operating expenses are computed as follows.

$219,120 + $138,016 = $357,136

Business Application Carcful planning and control of operating expenses can improve
a company’s profitability.

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.

© Cengage Learning 2014



STUDY NOTE: Income from operations
is a key measure of profitability for
financial analysts.

STUDY NOTE: If you encounter income
statement components not covered in
this chapter, refer to the index at the end
of the book to find the topic and read
about it.

Exhibit 3
Single-Step Income Statement
for Davila Company

© Cengage Learning 2014
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Income from Operations (or Operating Income) Income from operations (or
operating income) is the income from a company’s main business and is computed as
follows.

Income from Operations = Gross Margin — Operating Expenses

For Davila, income from operations is computed as follows (as shown in Step 2 in
Exhibit 2).
$433,584 — $357,136 = $76,448

Business Application Income from operations is often used to compare the profit-
ability of two or more companies or divisions within a company.

Other Revenues and Expenses (or Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses)
Other revenues and expenses (or nonoperating revenues and expenses) are not related
to a company’s operating activities. Among the items included in this section are rev-
enues from investments (such as dividends and interest on stocks, bonds, and savings
accounts) and interest expense and other expenses that result from borrowing money.
Davila’s other revenues and expenses appear in Step 3 of Exhibit 2.

Net Income (or Net Earnings) Netincome (or ner earnings) is the final figure, or
“bottom line,” of an income statement and is computed as follows.

Net Income = Gross Margin — Operating Expenses +/— Other Revenues and Expenses

For Davila, net income is computed as follows (as shown in Step 4 of Exhibit 2).
$433,584 — $357,136 — $4,924 = $71,524

Net income is an important performance measure because it represents the amount of
earnings that accrue to owners. It is the amount transferred to owner’s capital from all
the income that business operations have generated during a period.

Single-Step Income Statement

Exhibit 3 shows a single-step income statement for Davila Company. In this state-
ment, net income is derived in a single step by putting the major categories of revenues
in the first part of the statement and the major categories of costs and expenses in the
second part. Both the multistep form and the single-step form have advantages: the
multistep form shows the components used in deriving net income, and the single-step
form has the advantage of simplicity.

Davila Company
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Revenues:

Net sales $1,248,624

Interest income 5,600

Total revenues $1,254,224
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold $815,040

Selling expenses 219,120

General and administrative expenses 138,016

Interest expense 10,524

Total costs and expenses 1,182,700
Net income $ 71,524
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____APPLY IT! 2

A single-step income statement follows. Present the information in a SOLUTION
multistep income statement, and indicate what insights can be obtained Diviney Company
from the multistep form as opposed to the single-step form. Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014
Diviney Company
Net sales $500,000
Income Statement
Cost of goods sold 300,000
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014 . —_—
Gross margin $200,000
Revenues. Operating expenses:
Net sale§ 3500,000 Selling expenses $100,000
Interest income ﬂ General and administrative expenses 75,000
Total revenues 3550,000 Total operating expenses 175,000
Costs and expenses: Income from operations $ 25,000
Cos.t of goods sold 3300,000 Other revenues and expenses:
Selling expenses o ) 100,000 Interest income $ 50,000
General and administrative expenses 75,000 Less interest expense 25,000
Interest expense 25,000 Excess of other revenues over other
Total costs and expenses 500,000 expenses 25,000
Net income $ 50,000 Net income $ 50,000

STUDY NOTE: A trade discount
applies to the list or catalogue price. A
sales discount applies to the sales price.

TRY IT! SE2, SE3, E1A, E2A, E3A, E4A, E1B, E2B, E3B, E4B

Terms of Sale

When goods are sold on credit, both parties should understand the amount and timing
of payment as well as other terms of the purchase. Sellers quote prices in different ways.
Many merchants quote the price at which they expect to sell their goods. Others, par-
ticularly manufacturers and wholesalers, quote prices as a percentage (usually 30 percent
or more) off their list or catalogue prices. Such a reduction is called a trade discount.

For example, if an article is listed at $1,000 with a trade discount of 40 percent, or
$400, the seller records the sale at $600, and the buyer records the purchase at $600.
The seller may raise or lower the trade discount depending on the quantity purchased.
The list price and related trade discount are used only to arrive at an agreed-upon price.
They do not appear in the accounting records.

Sales and Purchases Discounts

The terms of sale are usually printed on the sales invoice and are part of the sales agree-
ment. Terms differ from industry to industry. In some industries, payment is expected
in a short period of time. In these cases, the invoice is marked “n/10” (“net 10”) or
“n/30” (“net 30”), meaning that the amount of the invoice is due either 10 days or 30
days after the invoice date. If the invoice is due 10 days after the end of the month, it is
marked “n/10 eom.”

Sales Discount In some industries, it is customary to give a sales discount for carly
payment. An invoice that offers a sales discount might be labeled “2 /10, n/30,” which
means that the buyer either can pay within 10 days of the invoice date and take a 2 per-
cent discount or can wait 30 days and pay the full amount. It is often advantageous for
a buyer to take the discount because the saving of 2 percent over a period of 20 days
(from the 11th day to the 30th day) represents an effective annual rate of 36.5 percent
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STUDY NOTE: Early collection also
reduces the probability of a customer’s
defaulting.

213

(365 days + 20 days X 2% = 36.5%). Most companies would be better oft borrowing
money from a lender so that they can take advantage of the discount from the supplier.

Because it is not possible to know at the time of a sale whether the customer will take
advantage of a sales discount, the discounts are recorded by the seller only at the time
the customer pays. For example, suppose Kawar Motor Company sells merchandise to a
customer on September 20 for $600 on terms of 2 /10, n/30. Kawar records the sale on
September 20 for the full amount of $600. If the customer pays on or before September
30, Kawar will receive $588 in cash and will reduce its accounts receivable by $600. The
difference of $12 ($600 X 0.02) will be debited to an account called Sales Discounts.
Sales Discounts is a contra-revenue account with a normal debit balance that is deducted
from sales on the income statement.

Although sales discounts were intended to increase the seller’s liquidity by reducing
the amount of money tied up in accounts receivable, the practice of giving sales discounts
has been declining. Sales discounts are costly to the seller, and from the buyer’s viewpoint,
the amount of the discount is usually very small in relation to the price of the purchase.

Purchase Discounts Purchase discounts are discounts that a buyer takes for the early
payment of merchandise. For example, the buyer that purchased the merchandise from
Kawar Motor Company will record the purchase on September 20 at $600. If the buyer
pays on or before September 30, it will record cash paid of $588 and reduce its Accounts
Payable by $600. The difference of $12 is recorded as a credit to an account called
Purchases Discounts. The Purchases Discounts account reduces the Cost of Goods Sold
account or the Purchases account, depending on the inventory method used. As a result
of the decline in the use of sales discounts, the use of purchase discounts is also declining.

Transportation Costs

In some industries, the seller usually pays transportation costs and charges a price that
includes those costs. In other industries, it is customary for the purchaser to pay trans-
portation charges. The following special terms designate whether the seller or the pur-
chaser pays the freight charges.

FOB shipping point means that the seller places the merchandise “free on board”
at the point of origin and the buyer bears the shipping costs. The title to the mer-
chandise passes to the buyer at that point. For example, when the sales agreement
for the purchase of a car says “FOB factory,” the buyer must pay the freight from
the factory where the car was made to wherever he or she is located, and the buyer
owns the car from the time it leaves the factory.

FOB destination means that the seller bears the transportation costs to the delivery
point. The seller retains title until the merchandise reaches its destination and usu-
ally prepays the shipping costs, in which case the buyer makes no accounting entry
for freight.

The eftects of these special shipping terms are summarized as follows.

Who Pays the Cost of
Shipping Term Where Title Passes Transportation
FOB shipping point At origin Buyer
FOB destination At destination Seller

When the buyer pays the transportation charge, it is called freight-in, and it is added
to the cost of merchandise purchased. Thus, freight-in increases the buyer’s cost of
inventory, as well as the cost of goods sold after they are sold. When freight-in is a rela-
tively small amount, most companies include the cost in the cost of goods sold on the
income statement rather than allocating part of it to merchandise inventory.
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When the seller pays the transportation charge, it is called
delivery expense (or freight-out). Because the seller incurs this
cost to facilitate the sale ofits product, the cost is included in sell-
ing expenses on the income statement.

Terms of Debit and Credit Card Sales

Many retailers allow customers to use debit or credit cards to
charge their purchases. Debit cards deduct directly from a per-
son’s bank account, whereas a credit card allows for payment
later. Three of the most widely used credit cards are American
Express, MasterCard, and Visa. The customer establishes
credit with the lender (the credit card issuer) and receives a
card to use in making purchases. If a seller accepts the card,
Shi.pping terms affect the.fin:an- the customer signs an invoice at the time of the sale. The sale
ctalstatements. FOB shipping is communicated to the seller’s bank, resulting in a cash deposit in the seller’s bank
point means the buyer pays the . 5 .
frdightharg e enlralativaly account. Thus, the sellffr does not h.ave to establish .the customer’s credit, collf:.ct
small, these charges are usually from the customer, or tie up money in accounts re.celvable. The lend.er takes a dis-
included in the cost of goods count, which is a selling expense for the merchandiser. For example, if a restaurant
sold on the buyer’s income makes sales of $1,000 on Visa credit cards and Visa takes a 4 percent discount on
statement. FOB destination the sales, the restaurant would record Cash in the amount of $960 and Credit Card
means the seller pays the freight Expense in the amount of $40.
charges. They are included in
selling expenses on the seller’s
income statement.

4
.. Business Perspective

Are We Becoming a Cashless Society?

Are checks and cash obsolete? Do you “swipe it"? Most Americans do. About 71 percent of Americans (including 41 percent of college students) use
credit or debit cards rather than checks. Consumers who have cards like the convenience and have on average 3.5 cards. Retailers, like McDonald’s
and Starbucks, like the cards, even though there are fees, because the use of cards usually increases the amount of sales.’

A local appliance dealer sells refrigerators that it buys from the manufacturer. SOLUTION

1. The manufacturer sets a list or catalogue price of $1,200 for a refrigerator. The manufacturer offers 1. $1,200 — (51,200 X 0.40) = $720
its dealers a 40 percent trade discount. 2. $720 + $120 = $840

2. Assume the same terms as 1, except the manufacturer sells the machine under terms of FOB ship- 3. $840 — ($720 X 0.02) = $825.60

ping point. The cost of shipping is $120.
3. Assume the same terms as 2, except the manufacturer offers a sales discount of 2/10, n/30. Sales
discounts do not apply to shipping costs.

TRY IT! SE4, SES, E5A, E5B

What is the net cost of the refrigerator to the dealer, assuming payment is made within 10 days of
purchase?
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Perpetual Inventory System

We will use Kawar Motor Company to illustrate merchandising transactions under the
perpetual inventory system. Kawar’s income statement is presented in Exhibit 4. The
focal point of the statement is cost of goods sold, which is deducted from net sales to
arrive at gross margin. Under the perpetual inventory system, the Merchandise Inven-
tory and Cost of Goods Sold accounts are continually updated during the accounting
period as purchases, sales, and other inventory transactions occur.

Exhibit 4
Income Statement Under the
Perpetual Inventory System Kawar Motor Company
Income Statement
STUDY NOTE: On the income For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

statement, freight-in is included as Net sales $957,300
part of cost of goods sold, and delivery Cost of goods sold* 525 440
expense (freight-out) is included as an . —
operating (selling) expense. Gross margin 2431860
Operating expenses 313,936
Net income $117,924

*Freight-in has been included in cost of goods sold.

© Cengage Learning 2014

Purchases of Merchandise

Exhibit 5 shows how transactions involving purchases of merchandise are recorded under

Exhibit 5 the perpetual inventory system. The focus of these journal entries is Accounts Payable.
Recording Purchase Transactions In this section, we present a summary of the entries made for merchandise purchases.?
Under the Perpetual Inventory System
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Cash Accounts Payable
Aug. 10 4,410<—| TamsaaEiion 5 —>»Aug. 6 480 | Aug. 3 4,890 €—
Payment —T—> 10 4410
on Account
Transaction 2:
Purchases
Returns and
Allowances
% Merchandise Inventory I
£1 Aug.3 4890 | Aug. 6 480 <
g
S
§ Transaction 1:
g Purchases on Credit

The examples that follow show how Kawar Motor Company would record purchase
transactions under the perpetual inventory system.

Purchase on Credit
Transaction 1 On August 3, Kawar received merchandise purchased on credit, invoice
dated August 1, terms n/10, $4,890.

Analysis Under the perpetual inventory system, the cost of merchandise is recorded in
the Merchandise Inventory account at the time of purchase, which

A increases the Merchandise Inventory account

A increases the Accounts Payable account

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



216

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Merchandise Inventory Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.3 4,890 Aug.3 4,890
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.3  Merchandise Inventory 4,890
Accounts Payable 4,890 =

Purchased merchandise on credit

Comment In this transaction, payment is due ten days from the invoice date. If an
invoice includes a charge for shipping or if shipping is billed separately, it should be
recognized as a debit to Freight-In.

Purchases Returns and Allowances

Transaction 2 On August 6, Kawar returned part of merchandise received on August 3
for credit, $480.

Analysis Under the perpetual inventory system, when a buyer is allowed to return all or
part of a purchase or is given an allowance, accounts payable is reduced and merchandise
inventory is decreased for the cost of the merchandise returned. This journal entry

V decreases the Accounts Payable account
V decreases the Merchandise Inventory account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity

Merchandise Inventory Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Aug.6 480 Aug.6 480

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

Aug.6  Accounts Payable 480 <=

' Merchandise Inventory 480

Returned merchandise from purchase

Comment Note that under the perpetual inventory method, the Purchase Returns and
Allowances account is not used and does not appear as a separate item on a merchandis-
ing company income statement.

Payments on Account

Transaction 3 On August 10, Kawar paid amount in full due for the purchase of August
3, part of which was returned on August 6, $4,410.

Analysis The journal entry to record the payment for the net amount due of $4,410
($4,890 - $480)

V decrenses the Accounts Payable account

V decreases the Cash account
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Assets
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Cash Accounts Payable

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Aug.10 4,410 Aug.10 4,410
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.10  Accounts Payable 4,410 <=
l—————> (Cash 4,410

Made payment on account

Comment Kawar pays the purchase price less the price of merchandise returned. After

the payment, the balance of accounts payable for the purchase recorded on August 3
is zero.

Sales of Merchandise

Exhibit 6 shows how transactions involving sales of merchandise are recorded under the
perpetual inventory system. These transactions involve several accounts, including Cash,
Accounts Receivable, Merchandise Inventory, Sales Returns and Allowances, and Cost
of Goods Sold. The following sections present a summary of the entries made for sales
of merchandise.

= Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Cash Sales
Sept. 5 900 Aug. 7 1,200 <€—
Transaction 6:
Receipts on Account

Accounts Receivable

Sales Returns and Allowances

Aug. 7 1,200

!

Aug. 9 300
Sept. 5 900

Transaction 5: Sales Returns and Allowances ==—%Aug. 9 300

Merchandise Inventory

Transaction 4: Sales on Credit

Cost of Goods Sold

Aug. 9 180

I

Aug. 7

720 €= Transaction 4: Sales on Credit === Aug. 7 720 | Aug. 9 180

I
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Transaction 5: Sales Returns and Allowances

Sales on Credit
Transaction 4 On August 7, Kawar sold merchandise on credit, terms n/30, FOB ship-
ping point, $1,200. The cost of the merchandise was $720.

Analysis Under the perpetual inventory system, sales always require two entries, as
shown in Exhibit 6. First, the sale is recorded, which

A increases the Accounts Receivable account

A increases the Sales account
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STUDY NOTE: Because the Sales
account is established with a credit,

its contra account, Sales Returns and
Allowances, is established with a debit.

Second, Cost of Goods Sold is updated by a transfer from Merchandise Inventory, which
A increases the Cost of Goods Sold account
V decreases the Merchandise Inventory account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Accounts Receivable Sales
Dr. cr. Dr. cr.
Aug.7 1,200 Aug.7 1,200
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.7  Account Receivable 1,200
Sales 1,200 <=

Sold merchandise on credit

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities F Owner’s Equity
Merchandise Inventory Cost of Goods Sold
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.7 720 Aug.7 720

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

Aug.7  Cost of Goods Sold 720 =
> Merchandise Inventory 720
Transferred cost of merchandise
inventory sold to Cost of Goods Sold

Comment In the case of cash sales, Cash is debited for the amount of the sale. If the
seller pays for the shipping, it should be recognized as a debit to Delivery Expense.

Sales Returns and Allowances

Transaction 5 On August 9, Kawar accepted, for full credit, a return of part of mer-
chandise sold on August 7, and returned it to merchandise inventory, $300. The cost of
the merchandise was $180.

Analysis Under the perpetual inventory system, when a seller allows the buyer to return
all or part of a sale or gives an allowance, two journal entries are necessary. First, the
original sale is reversed using a contra-revenue account, which

A increases the Sales Returns and Allowances account

V decreases the Accounts Receivable account
The Sales Returns and Allowances account gives management a readily available mea-
sure of unsatisfactory products and dissatisfied customers. This account is a contra-rev-
enue account with a normal debit balance, and it is deducted from sales on the income
statement.

Second, the cost of the merchandise must also be transferred from the Cost of
Goods Sold account back into the Merchandise Inventory account, which

A increases the Merchandise Inventory account
V decreases the Cost of Goods Sold account
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Assets = Liabilities
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4 Owner’s Equity

Accounts Receivable

Sales Returns
and Allowances

Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.9 300 Aug.9 300
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.9  Sales Returns and Allowances 300 =
t————————> Accounts Receivable 300
Accepted returns of merchandise
Application of Double Entry
Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Merchandise Inventory Cost of Goods Sold
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug. 9 180 Aug. 9 180——
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.9  Merchandise Inventory 180
Cost of Goods Sold 180 <

Transferred cost of merchandise returned

to Merchandise Inventory

Comment If the company makes an allowance instead of accepting a return, or if the
merchandise cannot be returned to inventory and resold, this second entry transferring
into Merchandise Inventory and reducing Cost of Goods Sold is not made.

Receipts on Account

Transaction 6 On September 5, Kawar collected in full for sale of merchandise on

August 7, less the return on August 9, $900.

Analysis The journal entry to record the collection for the net amount due of $900

($1,200 — $300)
A increases the Cash account

V decreases the Accounts Receivable account
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Cash

Dr. Cr.
——Sept.5 900

Accounts Receivable
Dr. Cr.

Sept.5 900

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.
_—> Sept.5 Cash 900

Accounts Receivable 900 =
Received payment on account

Comment After the payment on the account, the balance in accounts receivable for the
August 7 transaction is zero.

., Business Perspective
How Are Web Sales Doing?

In spite of the demise of many Internet retailers, merchandise sales over the Internet continue to thrive. U.S. Internet sales are expected to reach almost
$300 billion in 2014.3 The companies that have been most successful in using the Internet are established mail-order retailers like Lands’ End and L.L.
Bean. Other retailers have also used the Internet to enhance their operations. For example, Office Depot, which focuses primarily on business-to-
business Internet sales, has set up customized webpages for tens of thousands of corporate clients. These webpages allow customers to make online
purchases and check store inventories. Although Internet transactions are recorded in the same way as on-site transactions, the technology adds a level
of complexity to the transactions.

For each lettered transaction that follows, indicate which numbered SOLUTION
accounts are debited or credited by placing the account numbers in the

appropriate columns, assuming the use of a perpetual inventory system. Accqunt Acco_unt
(Note: Some may require more than one transaction.) Debited Credited
1. Cash 5 Sales a. Purchase on credit _3 _4
2. Accounts Receivable 6. Sales Returns and Allowances b. Purchase return for credit —4 B
3. Merchandise Inventory 7. Cost of Goods Sold € PR D) ca —3 1
d. Sale on credit 2,7 3,5
4. Accounts Payable
e. Sale for cash 1,7 3,5
lI;cecb(:::c: 2:::;‘::; f. Sales return for credit 3,6 2,7
. g. Payment on account 4 1
Purchase on credit — — h. Receipt on account 1 2

. Purchase return for credit
Purchase for cash TRY IT! SE6, E6A, E8A, E9A, E10A, E6B, E8B, E9B, E10B
. Sale on credit

. Sale for cash

Sales return for credit

o Payment on account

SQ "o an oW

. Receipt on account
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Exhibit 7
Income Statement Under the
Periodic Inventory System

STUDY NOTE: Most published financial
statements are condensed, eliminating
the detail shown here under cost of
goods sold.
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Periodic Inventory System

To illustrate merchandising transactions under the periodic inventory system, we will
continue with the Kawar Motor Company example. Kawar’s income statement appears
in Exhibit 7. A major feature of this statement is the computation of cost of goods sold.
The cost of goods sold must be computed on the income statement because it is not
updated for purchases, sales, and other transactions during the accounting period, as it is
under the perpetual inventory system.

Kawar Motor Company
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Net sales $957,300
Cost of goods sold:

Merchandise inventory, December 31, 2013 $211,200

Purchases $505,600

Less purchases returns and allowances 31,104

Net purchases $474,496

Freight-in 32,944

Net cost of purchases 507,440

Cost of goods available for sale $718,640

Less merchandise inventory, December 31, 2014 193,200

Cost of goods sold 525,440
Gross margin $431,860
Operating expenses 313,936
Net income $117,924

It is important to distinguish between the cost of goods available for sale and the
cost of goods sold. The cost of goods available for sale is the total cost of merchandise
that could be sold in the accounting period. The cost of goods sold is the cost of merchan-
dise actually sold. The difference between the two numbers is the amount #ot sold, or
the ending merchandise inventory. The cost of goods available for sale is the sum of the
following two factors.

The amount of merchandise on hand at the beginning of the period.

The net cost of purchases during the period. (Net cost of purchases consist of total
purchases plus freight-in less any deductions such as purchases returns and allow-
ances and discounts from suppliers for early payment.)

In Exhibit 7, Kawar has cost of goods available for sale of $718,640 ($211,200 +
$507,440). The ending inventory of $193,200 is deducted from this figure to deter-
mine the cost of goods sold of $525,440 ($718,640 — $193,200). Exhibit 8 illustrates
these relationships.
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Exhibit 8
The Components of
Cost of Goods Sold

STUDY NOTE: Purchases and
Purchases Returns and Allowances
accounts are used only in a periodic
inventory system.

Exhibit 9
Recording Purchase Transactions
Under the Periodic Inventory System

N N
Beginning Cost of
inventory goods sold
LR in 2014: Merchandise sold
$211,200 $525,440 to customers
Cost of goods
Net cost of available
purchases gf;'&o < §
for 2014: ’ Ending g
$507,440 inventory Merchandise g&
12/31/2014: ¢~ carried over 8
to next year o
$193,200 3
J J )

Purchases of Merchandise

Exhibit 9 shows how purchases of merchandise are recorded under the periodic inven-
tory system. In the perpetual inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account is
adjusted each time a purchase, a sale, or another inventory transaction occurs. In the
periodic inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account stays at its beginning bal-
ance until the physical inventory is recorded at the end of the period. The periodic
system uses a Purchases account to accumulate purchases and a Purchases Returns and
Allowances account to accumulate returns of and allowances on purchases.

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Transaction 1:
Cash Accounts Payable Purchases Purchases
on Credit
Aug. 10 4,410 —>Aug. 6 480 | Aug. 3 4,890<———Aug. 3 4,890
10 4,410 7 230 €

Transaction 4:

Payment on Purchases Returns
Account and Allowances
Transaction 2:
Purchases Returns » | Aug. 6 480
and Allowances
Transaction 3:
Freight on
Purchase

| Freight-In
Aug. 7 230
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The examples that follow show how Kawar Motor Company would record purchase
transactions under the periodic inventory system.

Purchases on Credit
Transaction 1 On August 3, Kawar received merchandise purchased on credit, invoice

dated August 1, terms n/10, $4,890.

Analysis Under the periodic inventory system, the cost of merchandise is recorded in
the Purchases account at the time of purchase. The Purchases account does not indicate
whether merchandise has been sold or is still on hand. The journal entry to record pur-
chases made by a company

A increases the Purchases account

A increases the Accounts Payable account
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STUDY NOTE: Because debits establish
the Purchases account, credits create its
contra account, Purchases Returns and
Allowances.
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities I Owner’s Equity
Purchases Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.3 4,890 Aug.3 4,890
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.3  Purchases 4,890
Accounts Payable 4,890 =

Purchased merchandise on credit

Comment Under the periodic inventory system, purchased merchandise is temporarily
classified as Purchases. Its sole purpose is to accumulate the total cost of merchandise
purchased for resale during a period. (Purchases of other assets, such as equipment, are
recorded and classified in the appropriate asset account, not in the Purchases account.)

Purchases Returns and Allowances
Transaction 2 On August 6, Kawar returned part of merchandise received on August 3
for credit, $480.

Analysis Purchases Returns and Allowances is a contra-purchases account with a nor-
mal credit balance, and it is deducted from purchases on the income statement to arrive
at net purchases, which

V decreases the Accounts Payable account
A increases the Purchases Returns and Allowances account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities e Owner’s Equity
Purchases Returns and
Allowances Accounts Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Aug.6 480 Aug.6 480

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

Aug.6  Accounts Payable 480 =
> Purchases Returns and Allowances 480
Returned merchandise from purchase

Comment The Purchases Returns and Allowances account is used in a periodic inven-
tory system.

Freight-In
Transaction 3 On August 7, Kawar received a bill for freight costs of the purchases on
August 3, $230.
Analysis The journal entry to record freight costs on purchases
A increases the Freight-In account

A increases the Accounts Payable account
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Application of Double Entry

Assets Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity

Accounts Payable Freight-In
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Aug.7 230 Aug.7 230

Journal Entry

Aug.7  Freight-In 230 =

> Accounts Payable 230

Recorded freight costs on August 3 purchase

Comment Freight-in is added on the income statement to net purchases to arrive at the
net cost of purchases under the periodic method.

Payments on Account

Transaction 4 On August 10, Kawar paid amount in full due for the purchase of August
3, part of which was returned on August 6, $4,410.

Analysis The journal entry to record payment for the net amount due of $4,410
($4,890 - $480)

V decreases the Accounts Payable account

V decreases the Cash account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity

Cash Account Payable
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Aug. 10 4,410 Aug.10 4,410

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

Aug. 10  Accounts Payable 4,410 =

———> Cash 4,410

Made payment on account

Comment Kawar pays the purchase price less the price of merchandise returned. After
the payment, the balance of accounts payable with the supplier is zero.

Sales of Merchandise

Exhibit 10 shows how transactions involving sales of merchandise are recorded under
the periodic inventory system.
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Assets = Liabilities

Cash

Sept. 5 900

Transaction 7:
Receipts on Account ]

Exhibit 10
Recording Sales Transactions Under
the Periodic Inventory System

Sales on Credit

Transaction 5: Sales on Credit

225

Owner’s Equity

Sales

Aug. 7 1,200 <€

2 Accounts Receivable Sales Returns and Allowances
S Transaction 6:

£ Aug. 7 1,200 | Aug. 9 300 = Sales Returns =3 Aug. 9 300

3 Sept. 5 900 < and Allowances

g

8

©

Transaction 5 On August 7, Kawar sold merchandise on credit, terms n/30, FOB des-
tination, $1,200. The cost of the merchandise was $720.

Analysis As shown in Exhibit 10, under the periodic inventory system, credit sales

require only one entry, which

A increases the Accounts Receivable account

A increases the Sales account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Accounts Receivable Sales
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.7 1,200 Aug.7 1,200
Journal Entry
Dr. Cr.
Aug.7  Account Receivable 1,200
Sales 1,200 <=

Sold merchandise on credit

Comment In the case of cash sales, Cash is debited for the amount of the sale. If the
seller pays for the shipping, the amount should be debited to Delivery Expense.

Sales Returns and Allowances

Transaction 6 On August 9, Kawar accepted return of part of merchandise sold on
August 7 for full credit and returned it to merchandise inventory, $300. The cost of the

merchandise was $180.

Analysis Under the periodic inventory system, when a seller allows the buyer to return
all or part of a sale or gives an allowance, only one journal entry is needed, which

A increases the Sales Returns and Allowances account

V decreases the Accounts Receivable

account
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Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities 4 Owner’s Equity
Sales Returns
Accounts Receivable and Allowances
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Aug.9 300 Aug.9 300

Journal Entry

Dr. Cr.

Aug.9  Sales Returns and Allowances 300 =
> Accounts Receivable 300
Accepted return of merchandise

Comment The Sales Returns and Allowances account is a contra-revenue account with
a normal debit balance and is deducted from sales on the income statement.

Receipts on Account
Transaction 7 On September 5, Kawar collected in full for sale of merchandise on
August 7, less the return on August 9, $900.

Analysis The journal entry to record collection for the netamount due of $900 ($1,200 -
$300)

A increases the Cash account
V decreases the Accounts Receivable account

Application of Double Entry

Assets = Liabilities I Owner’s Equity
Cash

Dr. Cr.
—— Sept.5 900

Accounts Receivable
Dr. cr.

Sept.5 900

Journal Entry

L—>Sept.5 Cash 900

Accounts Receivable 900
Received payment on account

Comment After the payment on the account, the balance in accounts receivable for that
transaction is zero.
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?
.. Business Perspective

Are Sales Returns Worth Accounting For?

Some industries routinely have a high percentage of sales returns. More than 6 percent of all nonfood items sold in stores are eventually returned to
vendors. This amounts to over $100 billion a year, or more than the gross national product of two-thirds of the world’s nations.* Book publishers like
Simon & Schuster often have returns as high as 30 to 50 percent because to gain the attention of potential buyers, they must distribute large num-
bers of copies to many outlets. Magazine publishers like AOL Time Warner expect to sell no more than 35 to 38 percent of the magazines they send to
newsstands and other outlets. In all these businesses, it pays management to scrutinize the Sales Returns and Allowances account for ways to reduce
returns and increase profitability.

© Alija / iStockphoto.com

Merchandising Transactions and
the Financial Statements

Merchandising transactions can affect all the financial statements as shown in Exhibit 11.

Exhibit 11
Merchandising Income
Statement Groups Accounts
in Useful Categories

Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Net sales
Cost of goods sold

z Gross margin
‘é‘» Operating expenses
£ Income from operations
3 Other revenues and expenses
g Net income
8
[©)
For each lettered transaction that follows, indicate which numbered SOLUTION
accounts are debited or credited by placing the account numbers in the
appropriate columns, assuming the use of a periodic inventory system. Account Account
Debited Credited
1. Cash 5. Sales .
. a. Purchase on credit 7 4
2. Accounts Receivable 6. Sales Returns and Allowances .
. b. Purchase return for credit 4 8
3. Merchandise Inventory 7. Purchases
c. Purchase for cash 7 1
4. Accounts Payable 8. Purchases Returns and Allowances .
d. Sale on credit 2 5
fscount Account e. Sale for cash 1 5
Debited Credited f. Sales return for credit 6 2
a. Purchase on credit — — g. Payment on account 4 1
b. Purchase return for credit _ _ h. Receipt on account 1 2
c. Purchase for cash - -
d. sal dit TRY IT! SE7, SE8, SE9, E7A,E11A,E12A,E13A, E14A,E7B,
- >aleoncredi — — E11B, E12B, E13B, E14B
e. Sale for cash _ S
f. Sales return for credit _ _
g. Payment on account _ -
h. Receipt on account
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SECTION 3 BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

BUSINESS APPLICATIONS

M Calculating operating @ The Operating Cycle and Foreign

cycle

B Liquidity Business Transactions

Maintaining adequate liquidity in the operating cycle is important to managing a mer-
RELEVANT chandising company.
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Lo 6 Explain the role of the CD operating CVCIe

operating cycle and Merchandising businesses engage in a series of transactions to buy, sell, and collect for
the effect of foreign business merchandise inventory called the operating cycle. Exhibit 12 shows these transactions.
transactions in evaluating the Some companies buy merchandise for cash and sell it for cash, but these companies are
liquidity of a merchandising usually small companies, such as a produce market or a hot dog stand. Most companies
company. buy merchandise on credit and sell it on credit, thereby engaging in the following four
transactions:

1. Purchase of merchandise inventory for cash or on credit
2. Sales of merchandise inventory for cash or on credit

3. Collection of cash from credit sales

4. Payment for purchases made on credit

The first three transactions represent the time it takes to purchase inventory, sell it, and
collect for it. Merchandisers must be able to do without the cash for this period of time
either by relying on cash flows from other sources within the company or by borrowing.
If they lack the cash to pay bills when they come due, they can be forced out of business.
Thus, managing cash flow is a critical concern.

Exhibit 12
Cash Flows in the Operating Cycle
Purchases
for cash
A 4
Payment Accounts Purchases Merchandise
Cash = >
of cash Payable on credit Inventory

Sales for cash

<

S

o

Collection Sales on 2
. c

of cash credit 5
3

S

Accounts P g

. - c

Receivable S

&)

The suppliers that sell the company the merchandise usually also sell on credit,
thus helping alleviate the cash flow problem by providing financing for a period of time
before they require payment (transaction 4). However, this period is rarely as long as the
operating cycle. The period between the time the supplier must be paid and the end of
the operating cycle is called the financing period (or cash gap).

The financing period, illustrated in Exhibit 13, is the amount of time from the
purchase of inventory until it is sold and payment is collected, less the amount of time

earning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
ht any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




Exhibit 13
The Financing Period

STUDY NOTE: A company must
provide financing for the average days’
inventory plus the average number

of days to collect credit sales less the
average number of days it is allowed to
pay its suppliers.

229

1. Inventory 2. Inventory
Purchased Sold
Operatihg Cycle
Inventory Receivables
< '
g Payables Financing Period
2
§0 20 40 60 80 100 120
Q
‘@j 4. Cash Paid Days 3. Cash Received

creditors give the company to pay for the inventory. Thus, if it takes 60 days to sell the
inventory, 60 days to collect for the sale, and creditors’ payment terms are 30 days, the
financing period is 90 days [(60 + 60) — 30]. During the financing period, the company
will be without cash from this series of transactions and will need either to have funds
available internally or to borrow from a bank.

The way in which a merchandising company manages its inventories, receivables,
and payables will affect its financing period. For example, compare Costco’s financing
period with that of a traditional discount store chain, Target Corporation:

Target Costco Difference
Days’ inventory 58 days 29 days (29) days
Days’ receivables 35 4 (31)
Less days’ payable (60) (31) 29
Financing period 33 days 2 days (31) days

Costco has an advantage over Target because it sells inventory and collects receivables
much faster. Its very short financing period is one of the reasons Costco can charge such
low prices.5

By reducing its financing period, a company can improve its cash flow. Many mer-
chandisers, including Costco, do this by selling as much as possible for cash. Cash sales
include sales made on bank credit cards, such as Visa or MasterCard, and on debit cards,
which draw directly on the purchaser’s bank account. They are considered cash sales
because funds from them are available to the merchandiser immediately. Small retail
stores may have mostly cash sales and very few credit sales, whereas large wholesale con-
cerns may have almost all credit sales.

Foreign Business Transactions

Most large merchandising and manufacturing firms and even many small ones transact
some of their business overseas. For example, a U.S. manufacturer may expand by sell-
ing its product to foreign customers, or it may lower its product cost by buying a less
expensive part from a source in another country. Such sales and purchase transactions
may take place in Japanese yen, British pounds, or some other foreign currency.

While all transactions involve money measures, an international transaction is mea-
sured in two different currencies, and one currency has to be translated into another by
using an exchange rate. As noted earlier, the values of other currencies in relation to the
dollar rise and fall daily according to supply and demand. Thus, if there is a delay between
the date of sale or purchase and the date of payment, the amount of cash involved in an
international transaction may differ from the originally agreed-upon amount.

If the billing of an international sale and the payment for it are both in the domes-
tic currency, no accounting problem arises. For example, it a U.S. maker of precision

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



230

____APPLY IT! 2

tools sells $160,000 worth of its products to a British company and bills the British
company in dollars, the U.S. company will receive $160,000 when it collects payment.
However, if the U.S. company bills the British company in pounds and accepts pay-
ment in pounds, it will incur an exchange gain or loss if the exchange rate between
dollars and pounds changes between the date of sale and the date of payment, as shown
in the following examples.

Sale in foreign currency: Assume that a U.S. company billed a sale of $200,000 at
£100,000, reflecting an exchange rate of 2.00 (that is, $2.00 per pound) on the sale
date. Now assume that by the date of payment, the exchange rate has fallen to 1.90.
When the U.S. company receives its £100,000, it will be worth only $190,000
(£100,000 X $1.90 = $190,000). It will have incurred an exchange loss of $10,000
because it agreed to accept a fixed number of British pounds in payment for its
products, and the value of each pound dropped before the payment was made. Had
the value of the pound in relation to the dollar increased, the company would have
made an exchange gain.

Purchase in foreign currency: The same logic applies to purchases as to sales.
Assume that a U.S company purchases products from a British company for
$200,000. If the payment is to be made in U.S. dollars, no accounting problem
arises. However, if the British company expects to be paid in pounds, the U.S.
company will have an exchange gain of $10,000 because it agreed to pay a fixed
£100,000, and between the dates of purchase and payment, the exchange value of
the pound decreased from $2.00 to $1.90. To make the £100,000 payment, the
U.S. company has to expend only $190,000.

Exchange gains and losses are reported on the income statement. Because of their bear-
ing on financial performance, they are of interest to managers and investors.

Rola Company’s management made the following decisions. Indicate whether each decision SOLUTION
pertains primarily to (a) cash flow management, (b) choice of inventory system, or (c) foreign 1.a; 2.¢; 3.b; 4.a

transactions.

1. Decided to decrease the credit terms offered to customers from 30 days to 20 days to speed up
collection of accounts.

2. Decided to purchase goods made by a supplier in India.

3. Decided that sales would increase if salespeople knew how much inventory was on hand at
any one time.

4. Decided to try to negotiate a longer time to pay suppliers than had been previously granted.

TRY IT! SE10, SE11, E1A, E15A, E1B, E15B
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TriLevel Problem

101imges/Shutterstock

Mink Company

D

SOLUTION
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The beginning of this chapter focused on Mink Company, a merchandiser. Complete the
following requirements in order to answer the questions posed at the beginning of the
chapter.

Section 1: Concepts
How do faithful representation and classification apply to merchandise operations?

Section 2: Accounting Applications
How can merchandising transactions be recorded to reflect the company’s performance?

To answer this question, prepare journal entries to record the transactions that follow,
assuming that Mink uses (1) the perpetual inventory system and (2) the periodic inventory
system.

July 1 Sold merchandise to Eric Ortega on credit, terms n/30, FOB shipping point,
$2,100 (cost, $1,260).
2 Purchased merchandise on credit from Debra Company, terms n/30, FOB ship-
ping point, $3,800.
2 Paid Custom Freight $290 for freight charges on merchandise received.
9 Purchased merchandise on credit from RBT Company, terms n/30, FOB shipping
point, $3,600, including $200 freight costs paid by RBT Company.
11 Accepted from Eric Ortega a return of merchandise, which was returned to
inventory, $300 (cost, $180).
14 Returned for credit $600 of merchandise purchased on July 2.
16  Sold merchandise for cash, $1,000 (cost, $600).
22 Paid Debra Company for purchase of July 2 less return on July 14.
23 Received full payment from Eric Ortega for his July 1 purchase, less return on
July 11.

Section 3: Business Applications
How can Mink manage its operating cycle so that it has adequate cash to maintain liquidity?

Section 1: Concepts

Classification of items on the merchandising company financial statements is important
because how the amount of goods available for sale is split between ending inventory
and cost of goods sold impacts both the income statement and the balance sheet. Thus,
a merchandising company needs to classify its accounts properly so that the state-
ments faithfully represent the operations of the company. In order to faithfully represent
accounting for merchandising inventories, a company can choose between the perpet-
ual inventory system and the periodic inventory system. The perpetual inventory system
is a system in which continuous records are kept of the quantity and the cost of individ-
ual items as they are bought and sold. The periodic inventory system is a system in which
continuous records are not kept but the inventory not yet sold is counted periodically.
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Section 2: Accounting Applications

Chapter 6: Accounting for Merchandising Operations

(1) and (2). (Note: Accounts that differ under the two systems are in bold type.)

A|B|C|D|E| F G H|I|J|K| L | M|N
1 1. Perpetual Inventory System 2. Periodic Inventory System
2 | July| 1 Accounts Receivable 2,100 Accounts Receivable 2,100
5 Sales 2,100 Sales 2,100
4 Sold merchandise on Sold merchandise on
B account to Eric Ortega, account to Eric Ortega,
6 terms n/30, FOB shipping terms n/30, FOB shipping
7 point point
8 1 Cost of Goods Sold 1,260
9 Merchandise Inventory 1,260
10 Transferred cost of
11 merchandise sold to Cost
12 of Goods Sold account
13 2 Merchandise Inventory 3,800 Purchases 3,800
14 Accounts Payable 3,800 Accounts Payable 3,800
15 Purchased merchandise Purchased merchandise
16 on account from Debra on account from Debra
17 Company, terms n/30, FOB Company, terms n/30, FOB
18 shipping point shipping point
19 2 Freight-In 290 Freight-In 290
20 Cash 290 Cash 290
21 Paid freight on July 2 Paid freight on July 2
22 purchase purchase
23 9 Merchandise Inventory 3,400 Purchases 3,400
24 Freight-In 200 Freight-In 200
25 Accounts Payable 3,600 Accounts Payable 3,600
26 Purchased merchandise on Purchased merchandise on
27 account from RBT Company, account from RBT Company,
28 terms n/30, FOB shipping terms n/30, FOB shipping
29 point, freight paid by supplier point, freight paid by supplier
30 1 Sales Returns and Allowances 300 Sales Returns and Allowances 300
31 Accounts Receivable 300 Accounts Receivable 300
32 Accepted return of Accepted return of
33 merchandise from Eric merchandise from Eric
34 Ortega Ortega
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TriLevel Problem

A |B|c|p|E] F G Ho (1] ]k] L | ™[N
1 1. Perpetual Inventory System 2. Periodic Inventory System
2 | July | 11 Merchandise Inventory 180
3 Cost of Goods Sold 180
4 Transferred cost of
5 merchandise returned to
6 Merchandise Inventory
7 account
8 14 Accounts Payable 600 Accounts Payable 600
9 Merchandise Inventory 600 Purchases Returns and Allowances 600
10 Returned portion of Returned portion of
11 merchandise purchased merchandise purchased
12 from Debra Company from Debra Company
13 16 Cash 1,000 Cash 1,000
14 Sales 1,000 Sales 1,000
15 Sold merchandise for cash Sold merchandise for cash
16 16 Cost of Goods Sold 600
17 Merchandise Inventory 600
18 Transferred cost of
19 merchandise sold to Cost of
20 Goods Sold account
21 22 Accounts Payable 3,200 Accounts Payable 3,200
22 Cash 3,200 Cash 3,200
23 Made payment on account to Made payment on account to
24 Debra Company Debra Company
25 $3,800 — $600 = $3,200 $3,800 — $600 = $3,200
26 23 Cash 1,800 Cash 1,800
27 Accounts Receivable 1,800 Accounts Receivable 1,800
28 Received payment on Received payment on
29 account from Eric Ortega account from Eric Ortega
30 $2,100 — $300 = $1,800 $2,100 — $300 = $1,800

Section 3: Business Applications
Mink engages in all parts of the merchandising cycle. It buys goods on credit, which gives
it time to carry the goods in inventory until customers buy them. It sells the goods both
for cash and on credit. When it sells on credit, it must wait to collect payment. Thus, the
company must arrange for short-term financing to ensure that it has enough cash on hand

to maintain liquidity.
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Chapter Review

Define merchandising Lo 1
accounting, and
differentiate perpetual from
periodic inventory systems.

Describe the features of Lo 2
multistep and single-step
classified income statements.

Describe the terms .
3
of sale related to

merchandising transactions.

Prepare an income

statement, and record
merchandising transactions under
the perpetual inventory system.

Prepare an income

statement, and record 5
merchandising transactions under
the periodic inventory system.

Explain the role of the

operating cycle and
foreign business transactions
in evaluating the liquidity of
a merchandising company.

Chapter 6: Accounting for Merchandising Operations

Merchandising companies differ from service companies in that they earn income by
buying and selling goods. The buying and selling of goods adds to the complexity of the
business and requires choosing whether to use the perpetual or the periodic inventory
system. Using these systems and use of the multistep income statement, properly classi-
fied, results in faithful representation of the company’s operations.

Classified income statements for external reporting can be in multistep or single-step
form. The multistep form arrives at net income through a series of steps, usually with a
separate section for other revenues and expenses; the single-step form arrives at net
income in a single step.

A trade discount is a reduction from the list or catalogue price of a product. A sales dis-
count is a discount given for early payment of a sale on credit. Terms of 2/10, n/30
mean that the buyer can take a 2 percent discount if the invoice is paid within 10 days of
the invoice date. Otherwise, the buyer is obligated to pay the full amount in 30 days.
Discounts on sales are recorded in the Sales Discounts account, and discounts on pur-
chases are recorded in the Purchases Discounts account. FOB shipping point means that
the buyer bears the cost of transportation and that title to the goods passes to the buyer
at the shipping origin. FOB destination means that the seller bears the cost of transpor-
tation and that title does not pass to the buyer until the goods reach their destination.
Debit and credit card sales are considered cash sales and involve a fee paid by the seller
for convenience.

Under the perpetual inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account is continu-
ously adjusted by entering purchases, sales, and other inventory transactions as they
occur. Purchases increase the Merchandise Inventory account, and purchases returns
decrease it. As goods are sold, their cost is transferred from the Merchandise Inventory
account to the Cost of Goods Sold account.

When the periodic inventory system is used, the cost of goods sold section of the income
statement must include the following elements.

Purchases — Purchases Returns and Allowances + Freight-In = Net Cost of Purchases

Beginning Merchandise Inventory + Net Cost of Purchases = Cost of Goods Available for
Sale

Cost of Goods Available for Sale — Ending Merchandise Inventory = Cost of Goods Sold

Under the periodic inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account stays at the
beginning level until the physical inventory is recorded at the end of the period. A Pur-
chases account is used to accumulate purchases of merchandise during the period, and
a Purchases Returns and Allowances account is used to accumulate returns of purchases
and allowances on purchases.

The series of transactions (the operating cycle) of a merchandising company requires
careful cash flow management. Also, if a company has international transactions, it must
deal with changing exchange rates.
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Chapter Assignments

Key Terms

cost of goods available for
sale 221 (LO5)
cost of goods sold 209 (LO2)
delivery expense 214 (LO3)
exchange gain orloss 230 (LO6)
financing period 228 (LO6)
FOB destination 213 (LO3)
FOB shipping point 213 (LO3)
freight-in 213 (LO3)
general and administrative
expenses 210 (LO2)
gross margin 209 (LO2)
gross sales 209 (LO2)
income from operations 211 (LO2

merchandising company 208 (LO1) purchase discounts 213 (LO3)

multistep income Purchases account 222 (LO5)
statement 208 (LO2) Purchases Returns and Allowances
net cost of purchases 221 (LO5) account 223 (LO5)
netincome 211 (LO2) sales discount 212 (LO3)
netsales 209 (LO2) sales returns and
operating cycle 206 (LO1) allowances 209 (LO2)
operating expenses 210 (LO2) Sales Returns and Allowances
other revenues and account 218 (LO4)
expenses 211 (LO2) selling expenses 210 (LO2)
percentage of gross single-step income
margin 210 (LO2) statement 211 (LO2)

periodic inventory system 206 (LO1) tradediscount 212 (LO3)
) perpetual inventory

manufacturing company 208 (LO2) system 206 (LO1)

merchandise inventory 206 (LO1)

physical inventory 206 (LO1)

Chapter Assignments

LO1

LO1

LO2

LO3

o4

LO6
LO6

LO1
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

DQ1.CONCEPT » In what ways does having merchandise inventory impact faithful rep-
resentation and classification?

DQ2. Why is a physical inventory needed under both the periodic and perpetual inven-
tory systems?

DQ3. Which is the better measure of a company’s performance—income from opera-
tions or net income?

DQ4. Assume a large shipment of uninsured merchandise to your company is destroyed
when the delivery truck has an accident and burns. Would you want the terms to be
FOB shipping point or FOB destination?

DQ5. Under the perpetual inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account is con-
stantly updated. What would cause it to have the wrong balance?

DQ6. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Can a company have a “negative” financing period?

DQ7. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Suppose you sold goods to a company in Europe at a
time when the exchange rate for the dollar was declining in relation to the euro. Would
you want the European company to pay you in dollars or euros?

SHORT EXERCISES

Characteristics of Inventory Systems

SE1.Indicate whether each of the statements that follow is more applicable to a perpetual
inventory system, periodic inventory system, or both.
1. Inventory figure is not accurate until the balance sheet date.
2. Requires a physical count of inventory at end of period.
(Continued)
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LO2

LO2

LO3

LO3

LO4

LOS5

LO5

No detailed records of the inventory are maintained during the accounting period.
Continuous records are kept of the quantity of inventory on hand.

Cost of Goods Sold is calculated only at the end of the accounting period.
Effective system for managing inventory and thus avoiding running out of stock.
Is more costly to maintain but may lead to increased sales.

AR

N

Single-Step Income Statement

SE2. Using the following accounts, prepare a single-step income statement at year end,
May 31, 2014: Cost of Goods Sold, $1,680; General Expenses, $900; Interest Expense,
$420; Interest Income, $180; Net Sales, $4,800; Selling Expenses, $1,110.

Multistep Income Statement

SE3. Using the accounts presented in SE2, prepare a multistep income statement.

Terms of Sale
SE4. A dealer buys tooling machines from a manufacturer and resells them to its customers.

a. The manufacturer sets a list or catalogue price of $6,000 for a machine. The manufac-
turer offers its dealers a 20 percent trade discount.

b. The manufacturer sells the machine under terms of FOB shipping point. The cost of
shipping is $350.

¢. The manufacturer offers a sales discount of 2 /10, n/30. The sales discount does not
apply to shipping costs.

What is the net cost of the machine to the dealer, assuming it is paid for within 10 days
of purchase?

Sales and Sales Returns

SE5. On April 15, Sanborn Company sold merchandise to Barr Company for $3,000 on
terms of 2/10, n/30. Assume a return of merchandise on April 20 of $600 and collec-
tion in full on April 25. What is the amount collected by Sanborn on April 25?

Purchases of Merchandise: Perpetual Inventory System

SE6. Record each of the following transactions using T accounts, assuming the perpetual
inventory system is used:

Aug. 2 Purchased merchandise on credit from Vera Company, invoice dated August 1,
terms n/10, FOB shipping point, $1,150.
3 Received bill from Strauss Shipping Company for transportation costs on
August 2 shipment, invoice dated August 1, terms n/30, $105.
7 Returned damaged merchandise received from Vera on August 2 for credit,
$180.
10 Paid in full the amount due to Vera for the purchase of August 2, part of
which was returned on August 7.

Purchases of Merchandise: Periodic Inventory System

SE7. Record the transactions in SE6 using T accounts, assuming the periodic inventory
system is used.

Cost of Goods Sold: Periodic Inventory System

SE8. Using the data that follows and assuming cost of goods sold is $273,700, prepare
the cost of goods sold section of a merchandising income statement (periodic inventory
system). Include the amount of purchases for the month of October.

Freight-in $13,800
Merchandise inventory, Sept. 30, 2014 37,950
Merchandise inventory, Oct. 31, 2014 50,600
Purchases ?

Purchases returns and allowances 10,350
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L05  Sales of Merchandise: Periodic Inventory System

SE9. Record the following transactions using T accounts, assuming the periodic inventory
system is used:

Aug. 4 Sold merchandise on credit to Rock Company, terms n/30, FOB destina-
tion, $2,520.
Paid transportation costs for sale of August 4, $231.
9  Part of the merchandise sold on August 4 was accepted back from Rock for
full credit and returned to merchandise inventory, $735.
Sept. 3 Collected in full the amount due from Rock for merchandise sold on
August 4, less the return on August 9.

ul

L06  Operating Cycle

SE10. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» On average, Obras Company holds its inventory 40
days before it is sold, waits 25 days for customers’ payments, and takes 33 days to pay
suppliers. For how many days must it provide financing in its operating cycle?

01,6 Identification of Management Issues

SE11. BUSINESS APPLICATION Identify each of the following decisions as most
directly related to (a) cash flow management, (b) choice of inventory system, or (¢) for-
cign merchandising transactions:

1. Determination of the amount of time from the purchase of inventory until it is sold
and the amount due is collected.

2. Determination of the effects of changes in exchange rates.

3. Determination of policies governing sales of merchandise on credit.

4. Determination of whether to use the periodic or the perpetual inventory system.

EXERCISES: SETA

01,2  Concept Identification

C:_D E1A. CONCEPT p» Sutton Hills Company’s management made the decisions that follow.
Indicate which of the decisions relates primarily to (a) classification, (b) merchandising
inventory, (c) periodic inventory system, or (d) operating cycle.

1. Decided to purchase and sell goods.

2. Decided to use a form of income statement that would show gross margin sepa-
rately from operating income.

3. Decided to reduce the credit terms offered to customers from 30 days to 20 days to
speed up collection of accounts.

4. Decided that the benefits of keeping track of each item of inventory as it is bought
and sold would exceed the costs of such a system.

LO2 Classification of Accounts: Income Statement

E2A. Using the classification scheme below for a multistep income statement, match
each account with the letter of the category in which it belongs.

a. Other revenues and expenses 1. Sales Discounts
b. Cost of sales 2. Cost of Goods Sold
¢. General and administrative expenses 3. Dividend Income
d. Selling expenses 4. Advertising Expense
e. Net sales 5. Office Salaries Expense
f. Not on income statement 6. Freight Out Expense
7. Prepaid Insurance
8. Utilities Expense
9. Sales Salaries Expense
10. Rent Expense
11. Depreciation Expense—Delivery

Equipment
12. Interest Expense
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Chapter 6: Accounting for Merchandising Operations

Preparation of Income Statements

E3A. A company has the following data: net sales, $405,000; cost of goods sold,
$220,000; selling expenses, $90,000; general and administrative expenses, $60,000;
interest expense, $4,000; and interest income, $3,000.

1. Prepare a single-step income statement.
2. Prepare a multistep income statement.

Multistep Income Statement

E4A. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » A single-step income statement follows. Present the
information in a multistep income statement, and indicate what insights can be obtained
from the multistep form as opposed to the single-step form.

Nomar Parra Company
Income Statement
For the Year Ended December 31,2014

Revenues:

Net sales $1,197,132

Interest income 5,720

Total revenues $1,202,852
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold $777,080

Selling expenses 203,740

General and administrative expenses 100,688

Interest expense 13,560

Total costs and expenses 1,095,068
Net income $ 107,784

Terms of Sale

E5A. A household appliance dealer buys microwave ovens from a manufacturer and
resells them to its customers.

a. The manufacturer sets a list or catalogue price of $1,500 for a microwave. The manu-
facturer offers its dealers a 30 percent trade discount.

b. The manufacturer sells the machine under terms of FOB destination. The cost of
shipping is $150.

¢. The manufacturer offers a sales discount of 2 /10, n/30. Sales discounts do not apply
to shipping costs.

What is the net cost of the microwave to the dealer, assuming it is paid for within 10
days of purchase?

Purchases Involving Discounts: Perpetual Inventory System

E6A. Linear Company engaged in the following transactions:

July 2 Purchased merchandise on credit from Green Company, terms 2 /10, n/30,
FOB destination, invoice dated July 1, $2,000.
6 Returned some merchandise to Green for full credit, $250.
11  Paid Green for purchase of July 2 less return and discount.
14  Purchased merchandise on credit from Green, terms 2/10, n/30, FOB
destination, invoice dated July 12, $2,250.
31 Paid amount owed Green for purchase of July 14.

Prepare journal entries and, assuming the perpetual inventory system, determine the
total amount paid to Green.
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03,5 SalesInvolving Discounts: Periodic Inventory System

E7A. Given the following transactions engaged in by Fournier Company, prepare jour-
nal entries and, assuming the periodic inventory system, determine the total amount
received from Brook Company:

Dec. 1 Sold merchandise on credit to Brook Company, terms 2/10, n/30, FOB
shipping point, $500.
3 Accepted a return from Brook for full credit, $200.
10 Collected amount due from Brook for the sale, less the return and discount.
11  Sold merchandise on credit to Brook, terms 2/10, n/30, FOB shipping
point, $800.
31 Collected amount due from Brook for the sale of December 11.

L04  Preparation of the Income Statement: Perpetual Inventory System

E8A. Selected account balances at December 31, 2014, for Infosys Company follow. Pre-
pare a multistep income statement for the year ended December 31, 2014. Show detail
of net sales. The company uses the perpetual inventory system, and Freight-In has not
been included in Cost of Goods Sold.

Account Name Debit Credit
Sales $475,000
Sales Returns and Allowances $ 23,500

Cost of Goods Sold 280,000

Freight-In 13,500

Selling Expenses 43,000

General and Administrative Expenses 87,000

l04  Recording Purchases: Perpetual Inventory System

E9A. The transactions that follow took place under the perpetual inventory system.
Record each transaction using T accounts.

. Purchased merchandise on credit, terms n,/30, FOB shipping point, $5,000.

. Paid freight on the shipment in transaction a, $270.

. Purchased merchandise on credit, terms n/30, FOB destination, $2,800.

. Purchased merchandise on credit, terms n/30, FOB shipping point, $5,200, which
includes freight paid by the supplier of $400.

. Returned part of the merchandise purchased in transaction ¢, $1,000.
Paid the amount owed on the purchase in transaction a.

. Paid the amount owed on the purchase in transaction d.

. Paid the amount owed on the purchase in transaction ¢ less the return in e.

an o

oo

j=nle ]

l04  Recording Sales: Perpetual Inventory System

E10A. On November 15, TCS Company sold merchandise for $2,600 on terms of n/30
to Quaker Company. On November 20, Quaker returned some of the merchandise for
a credit of $600, and on November 25, Quaker paid the balance owed. Use T accounts
to record the sale, return, and receipt of cash under the perpetual inventory system for
TCS. The cost of the merchandise sold on November 15 was $1,500, and the cost of the
merchandise returned to inventory on November 20 was $350.

Ll05  Preparation of the Income Statement: Periodic Inventory System

E11A. Using the selected year-end account balances at December 31, 2014, for Proof
General Store that follow, prepare a 2014 multistep income statement. Show detail of
net sales. The company uses the periodic inventory system. Beginning merchandise
inventory was $26,000; ending merchandise inventory is $22,000.

(Continued)
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Account Name Debit Credit
Sales $297,000
Sales Returns and Allowances $ 15,200

Purchases 114,800

Purchases Returns and Allowances 4,000
Freight-In 5,600

Selling Expenses 48,500

General and Administrative Expenses 37,200

05  Merchandising Income Statement: Missing Data, Multiple Years

E12A. Determine the missing data for each letter in the following three income state-
ments for Fulco Company (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Sales Sp $h $1,144
Sales returns and allowances 96 76 a
Net sales q 1,268 b
Merchandise inventory, beginning r i 152
Purchases 768 676 c
Purchases returns and allowances 124 j 68
Freight-in s 116 88
Net cost of purchases 756 k d
Cost of goods available for sale 888 848 728
Merchandise inventory, ending 156 | 168
Cost of goods sold t 716 e
Gross margin 568 m 504
Selling expenses u 312 f
General and administrative expenses 156 n 132
Total operating expenses 520 512 g
Netincome ' o 108

05  Recording Purchases: Periodic Inventory System

E13A. Using the data in E9A, use T accounts to record each of the transactions under
the periodic inventory system.

05 Recording Sales: Periodic Inventory System

E14A. Using the relevant data in E10A, use T accounts to record each of the transac-
tions under the periodic inventory system.

06  Foreign Merchandising Transactions

E15A. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Winter Treats Company purchased a special-purpose
machine from Blanco Company, a French firm, on credit for €50,000. At the date of
purchase, the exchange rate was $1.00 per euro. On the date of the payment, which was
made in euros, the value of the euro was $1.25. Did Winter Treats incur an exchange
gain or loss? How much was it?

EXERCISES: SETB

Visit the textbook companion website at www.cengagebrain.com to access Exercise Set B
for this chapter.
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Chapter Assignments 241

PROBLEMS

02 Forms of the Income Statement

v/ 1: Income from operations 2014: $66,426 P1. Matuska Tools Corporation’s income statements follow.
¢’ 1: Income from operations 2013: )
$110,628 Matuska Tools Corporation
Income Statements

For the Years Ended July 31,2014 and 2013

2014 2013

Revenues:

Net sales $525,932 $475,264

Interest income 800 700

Total revenues $526,732 $475,964
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold $234,948 $171,850

Selling expenses 161,692 150,700

General and administrative expenses 62,866 42,086

Interest expense 3,600 850

Total costs and expenses $463,106 $365,486
Net income $ 63,626 $110,478

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a multistep income statement for 2013 and 2014 showing percentages of
net sales for each component (e.g., cost of goods sold divided by net sales). (Round
percentages to one decimal place.)
2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Did income from operations increase or decrease
between 2013 and 20142 Write a short explanation of why this change occurred.

L02,4,6 Merchandising Income Statement: Perpetual Inventory System

¢ 1:Netincome: 15435 P2. Selected accounts from Murray’s Furniture Store’s adjusted trial balance as of
June 30, 2014, the end of the fiscal year, follow.

Murray’s Furniture Store
Partial Adjusted Trial Balance

June 30,2014
Sales 162,000
Sales Returns and Allowances 2,000
Cost of Goods Sold 61,400
Freight-In 2,300
Store Salaries Expense 32,625
Office Salaries Expense 12,875
Advertising Expense 24,300
Rent Expense 2,400
Insurance Expense 1,200
Utilities Expense 1,560
Store Supplies Expense 2,880
Office Supplies Expense 1,175
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 1,050
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 800

REQUIRED

1. Prepare a multistep income statement for Murray’s. Freight-In should be combined
with Cost of Goods Sold. Store Salaries Expense, Advertising Expense, Store Sup-
plies Expense, and Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment are selling expenses. The
other expenses are general and administrative expenses. The company uses the per-
petual inventory system. Show details of net sales and operating expenses.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION > Based on your knowledge at this point in the course,
how would you use Murray’s income statement to evaluate the company’s profit-
ability? What other financial statement should you consider and why?
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04  Merchandising Transactions: Perpetual Inventory System
P3. Fulco Company engaged in the following transactions in March 2014:

Sold merchandise on credit to James William, terms n/30, FOB shipping
point, $3,000 (cost, $1,800).

8 Purchased merchandise on credit from Leverage Company, terms n/30,
FOB shipping point, $6,000.
9 Paid Leverage Company for shipping charges on merchandise purchased on
March 8, $254.
10 Purchased merchandise on credit from Rourke Company, terms n/30, FOB
shipping point, $9,600, including $600 freight costs paid by Rourke.
14 Sold merchandise on credit to Deepak Soni, terms n/30, FOB shipping
point, $2,400 (cost, $1,440).
14 Returned damaged merchandise received from Leverage Company on
March 8 for credit, $600.
17 Received check from James William for his purchase of March 7.
19  Sold merchandise for cash, $1,800 (cost, $1,080).
20  Paid Rourke Company for purchase of March 10.
21  Paid Leverage Company the balance from the transactions of March 8 and
March 14.
24 Accepted from Deepak Soni a return of merchandise, which was put back in
inventory, $200 (cost, $120).
REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the perpetual
inventory system. (Hint: Refer to the TriLevel Problem feature.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Receiving cash rebates from suppliers based on the
past year’s purchases is a common practice in some industries. If] at the end of the

year,

Fulco receives rebates in cash from a supplier, should these cash rebates be

reported as revenue? Why or why not?

L102,5,6 Merchandising Income Statement: Periodic Inventory System
P4. Selected accounts from Dence’s Gourmet Shop’s adjusted trial balance as of March

v 1:Netincome: $23,941

31, 2014, the end of the current fiscal year, follow. The merchandise inventory for
Dence’s was $81,222 at the beginning of the year and $76,664 at the end of the year.

Dence’s Gourmet Shop
Partial Adjusted Trial Balance

March 31, 2014
Sales 433,912
Sales Returns and Allowances 11,250
Purchases 221,185
Purchases Returns and Allowances 30,238
Freight-In 10,078
Store Salaries Expense 107,550
Office Salaries Expense 26,500
Advertising Expense 18,200
Rent Expense 14,400
Insurance Expense 2,800
Utilities Expense 18,760
Store Supplies Expense 464
Office Supplies Expense 814
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 1,800
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 1,850
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REQUIRED

1. Prepare a multistep income statement for Dence’s. Store Salaries Expense, Advertis-
ing Expense, Store Supplies Expense, and Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment
are selling expenses. The other expenses are general and administrative expenses.
The company uses the periodic inventory system. Show details of net sales and oper-
ating expenses.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION > Based on your knowledge at this point in the course,
how would you use Dence’s income statement to evaluate the company’s profitabil-
ity? What other financial statements should you consider, and why?

l05  Merchandising Transactions: Periodic Inventory System
P5. Refer to the data in P3.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the periodic
inventory system. ( Hint: Refer to the TriLevel Problem feature.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Most companies call the first line of the income state-
ment net sales. Other companies call it sales. Do you think these terms are equivalent
and comparable? What would be the content of net sales? Why might a company use
sales instead of net sales?

l04  Merchandising Transactions: Perpetual Inventory System
P6. Teague Company engaged in the following transactions in October 2014:

Oct. 7 Sold merchandise on credit to Mel Forde, terms n/30, FOB shipping point,
$12,000 (cost, $7,200).
8 DPurchased merchandise on credit from Surf Company, terms n/30, FOB
shipping point, $24,000.
9 Paid Surf Company for shipping charges on merchandise purchased on
October 8, $1,016.
10 Purchased merchandise on credit from Tata Company, terms n/30, FOB
shipping point, $38,400, including $2,400 freight costs paid by Tata.
14 Sold merchandise on credit to David Johnson, terms n/30, FOB shipping
point, $9,600 (cost, $5,760).
14 Returned damaged merchandise received from Surf Company on October 8
for credit, $2,400.
17 Received check from Mel Forde for her purchase of October 7.
19  Sold merchandise for cash, $7,200 (cost, $4,320).
20 Paid Tata Company for purchase of October 10.
21 Paid Surf Company the balance from the transactions of October 8 and
October 14.
24 Accepted from David Johnson a return of merchandise, which was put back
in inventory, $800 (cost, $480).

REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the perpetual
inventory system. ( Hint: Refer to the TriLevel Problem feature.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Receiving cash rebates from suppliers based on the
past year’s purchases is a common practice in some industries. If] at the end of
the year, Teague receives rebates in cash from a supplier, should these cash rebates
be reported as revenue? Why or why not?
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ALTERNATE PROBLEMS

02 Forms of the Income Statement

v 1:Income from operations 2014: $132,852 P7.Sigma Company’s single-step income statements for 2014 and 2013 follow.
¢’ 1:Income from operations 2013: $221,256

Sigma Company
Income Statements
For the Years Ended April 30,2014 and 2013
2014 2013

Revenues:

Net sales $1,051,864 $950,528

Interest income 3,600 1,700

Total revenues $1,055,464 $952,228
Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods sold $ 469,896 $343,700

Selling expenses 323,384 301,400

General and administrative expenses 125,732 84,172

Interest expense 7,200 3,400

Total costs and expenses $ 926,212 $732,672
Net income $ 129,252 $219,556

REQUIRED

1. Prepare multistep income statements for 2013 and 2014 showing percentages of
net sales for each component (e.g., cost of goods sold divided by net sales). (Round
percentages to one decimal place.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Did income from operations increase or decrease
from 2013 to 20142 Write a short explanation of why this change occurred.

102,4,6 Merchandising Income Statement: Perpetual Inventory System

v 1:Netincome: $10,522 P8, Selected accounts from Keystone Furniture’s adjusted trial balance as of August 31,
2014, the end of the fiscal year, follow.

Keystone Furniture
Partial Adjusted Trial Balance

August 31,2014
Sales 867,824
Sales Returns and Allowances 22,500
Cost of Goods Sold 442,370
Freight-In 20,156
Store Salaries Expense 215,100
Office Salaries Expense 53,000
Advertising Expense 36,400
Rent Expense 28,800
Insurance Expense 5,600
Utilities Expense 17,520
Store Supplies Expense 4,928
Office Supplies Expense 3,628
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 3,600
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 3,700

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a multistep income statement for Keystone. Store Salaries Expense, Advertis-
ing Expense, Store Supplies Expense, and Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment
are selling expenses. The other expenses are general and administrative expenses.
The company uses the perpetual inventory system. Show details of net sales and
operating expenses.
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2. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Based on your knowledge at this point in the course,
how would you use the income statement for Keystone to evaluate the company’s
profitability? What other financial statement should be considered, and why?

L04  Merchandising Transactions: Perpetual Inventory System
P9. Naib Company engaged in the following transactions in July 2014:

July 1 Sold merchandise to Lina Lopez on credit, terms n/30, FOB shipping point,
$4,200 (cost, $2,520).

3 Purchased merchandise on credit from Ruff Company, terms n/30, FOB
shipping point, $7,600.

5 DPaid Craft Freight for freight charges on merchandise received, $580.

8 Purchased merchandise on credit from Kansas Supply Company, terms
n/30, FOB shipping point, $7,200, which includes $400 freight costs paid
by Kansas Supply.

12 Returned some of the merchandise purchased on July 3 for credit, $1,200.

15  Sold merchandise on credit to Peter Watts, terms n,/30, FOB shipping point,
$2,400 (cost, $1,440).

17  Sold merchandise for cash, $2,000 (cost, $1,200).

18  Accepted for full credit a return from Lina Lopez and returned merchandise
to inventory, $400 (cost, $240).

24  Paid Ruft Company for purchase of July 3 less return of July 12.

25 Received check from Lina Lopez for July 1 purchase less the return on July 18.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the perpetual
inventory system. ( Hint: Refer to the Trilevel Problem feature.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Most companies call the first line of the income
statement net sales. Other companies call it sales. Do you think these terms are
equivalent and comparable? What would be the content of net sales? Why might a
company use sales instead of net sales?

L05  Merchandising Transactions: Periodic Inventory System
P10. Refer to the data in P9.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the periodic
inventory system. (Hint: Refer to the Trilevel Problem feature.)

2. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION » Receiving cash rebates from suppliers based on the
past year’s purchases is common in some industries. If at the end of the year, Naib
receives rebates in cash from a supplier, should these cash rebates be reported as rev-
enue? Why or why not?

l02,5,6 Merchandising Income Statement: Periodic Inventory System

P11. Selected accounts from Will’s Sports Equipment’s adjusted trial balance on
September 30, 2014, the fiscal year end, follow. The company’s beginning merchan-
dise inventory was $38,200 and ending merchandise inventory is $29,400 for the
period.

(Continued)
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LO5

GENERAL LEDGER

LO1

Will’s Sports Equipment
Partial Adjusted Trial Balance

September 30, 2014
Sales 165,000
Sales Returns and Allowances 2,000
Purchases 70,200
Purchases Returns and Allowances 2,600
Freight-In 2,300
Store Salaries Expense 32,625
Office Salaries Expense 12,875
Advertising Expense 24,300
Rent Expense 2,400
Insurance Expense 1,200
Utilities Expense 1,560
Store Supplies Expense 2,880
Office Supplies Expense 1,175
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 1,050
Depreciation Expense—Office Equipment 800

REQUIRED

1. Prepare a multistep income statement for Will’s. Store Salaries Expense, Advertising
Expense, Store Supplies Expense, and Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment are
selling expenses. The other expenses are general and administrative expenses. The
company uses the periodic inventory system. Show details of net sales and operating
expenses.

2. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» Based on your knowledge at this point in the course,
how would you use Will’s income statement to evaluate the company’s profitability?
What other financial statements should you consider and why?

Merchandising Transactions: Periodic Inventory System
P12. Refer to the data in P6.

REQUIRED
Prepare journal entries to record the transactions, assuming use of the periodic inven-
tory system. ( Hint: Refer to the TriLevel Problem feature.)

CASES

Conceptual Understanding: Periodic versus Perpetual Inventory Systems

C1. Books Unlimited is a well-established chain of 20 bookstores in western Ohio. In
recent years, the company has grown rapidly, adding five new stores in regional malls.
Each store’s manager selects stock based on the market in his or her region. Managers
select books from a master list of titles that the central office provides. Every six months,
a physical inventory is taken, and financial statements are prepared using the periodic
inventory system. At that time, books that have not sold well are placed on sale or,
whenever possible, returned to the publisher.

Management has found that when selecting books, managers of the new stores are
not judging the market as well as the managers of the older, more established stores.
Management is therefore thinking of implementing a perpetual inventory system and
carefully monitoring sales from the central office. Do you think Books Unlimited should
switch to the perpetual inventory system or stay with the periodic inventory system it has
used in the past? Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of each system.
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L06  Conceptual Understanding: Effects of a Weak Dollar

C2. BUSINESS APPLICATION }» McDonald’s reports that its sales in Europe exceed its
sales in the United States. This performance, while reflective of the company’s phenom-
enal success in Europe, was also attributed to the weak dollar in relation to the euro.
McDonald’s reports its sales wherever they take place in U.S. dollars. Explain why a
weak dollar relative to the euro would lead to an increase in McDonald’s reported Euro-
pean sales. Why is a weak dollar not relevant to a discussion of McDonald’s sales in the
United States?

L06  Conceptual Understanding: Cash Flow Management

C’ :) C3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Amazing Sound Source, Inc., has been in business for
30 years. It carries a large inventory so that it can offer customers a wide selection of
merchandise and deliver purchases quickly. It accepts credit cards and checks but also
provides 90 days’ credit to reliable customers who have made purchases in the past. It
maintains good relations with suppliers by paying invoices quickly.

To pay bills during the past year, the company has had to borrow from its bank. An
analysis of the company’s financial statements reveals that, on average, inventory is on
hand for 70 days before being sold and that receivables are held for 90 days before being
paid. Accounts payable are, on average, paid in 20 days.

What are the operating cycle and financing period? How long are Amazing Sound
Source’s operating cycle and financing period? Describe three ways in which this com-
pany can improve its cash flow management.

l06  Annual Report Case: The Operating Cycle and Financing Period

C4. BUSINESS APPLICATION » Write a brief memorandum to your instructor describ-
ing CVS’s operating cycle and financing period. To do this, refer to the CVS annual
report in the Supplement to Chapter 16 and to Exhibits 5 and 8. Your memorandum
should identify the most common transactions in the operating cycle as they apply to
CVS. It should also refer to the importance of accounts receivable, accounts payable,
and merchandise inventory in CVS’s financial statements. Recall from previous chapters
that CVS had inventory days on hand of about 44 days, days’ receivable of 19 days, and
days payable of 21 days. Complete the memorandum by explaining why CVS’s operat-
ing cycle and financing period are favorable to the company.

02  Comparison Analysis: Income Statement Analysis

C5. Refer to the CVS annual report in the Supplement to Chapter 16 and to the follow-
ing data (in millions) for Walgreens in 2011: net sales, $72,184; cost of sales, $51,692;
total operating expenses, $16,561; and inventories, $8,044. Determine which com-
pany—CVS or Walgreens—had more profitable merchandising operations in 2011 by
preparing a schedule that compares the companies based on net sales, cost of sales, gross
margin, total operating expenses, and income from operations as a percentage of sales.
(Hint: You should put the income statements in comparable formats.) In addition, for
each company, compute inventories as a percentage of the cost of sales. Which company
has the highest prices in relation to costs of sales? Which company is more efficient in
its operating expenses? Which company manages its inventories better? Overall, on the
basis of the income statement, which company is more profitable? Explain your answers.

L01,2,4,5 Decision Analysis: Analysis of a Merchandising Income Statement

C6.In 2013, Lisa Perry opened Lisa’s Jeans Company, a small store that sold designer
jeans in a suburban mall. Perry worked 14 hours a day and controlled all aspects of the
operation. The company was such a success that in 2014, Perry opened a second store
in another mall. Because the new shop needed her attention, she hired a manager for the
original store.

During 2014, the new store was successful, but the original store’s performance
did not match its performance in 2013. Concerned about this, Perry compared the two
years’ results for the original store. Her analysis showed the following;:

(Continued)
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Chapter 6: Accounting for Merchandising Operations

2014 2013
Net sales $325,000 $350,000
Cost of goods sold 225,000 225,000
Gross margin $100,000 $125,000
Operating expenses 75,000 50,000
Income before income taxes $ 25,000 $ 75,000

Perry’s analysis also revealed that the cost and the selling price of the jeans were
roughly the same in both years, as was the level of operating expenses, except for the
new manager’s $25,000 salary. The amount of sales returns and allowances was insig-
nificant in both years.

Studying the situation further, Perry discovered the following about the cost of

goods sold.
2014 2013
Purchases $200,000 $271,000
Total purchases allowances 15,000 20,000
Freight-in 19,000 27,000
Physical inventory, end of year 32,000 53,000

Still not satisfied, Perry went through all the individual sales and purchase records
for 2014. She found that they were correct, but given the unit purchases and sales dur-
ing the year, the 2014 ending inventory should have been $57,000. After puzzling over
all this information, Perry has come to you for accounting help.

1. Using Perry’s new information, compute the cost of goods sold for 2013 and 2014
and account for the difference in income before income taxes between 2013 and
2014.

2. Suggest at least two reasons for the discrepancy in the 2014 ending inventory. How
might Perry improve the management of the original store?

Continuing Case: Annual Report Project

C7. Using the most recent annual report of the company you have chosen to study and
that you have accessed online at the company’s website, examine the income statement
of your company. Answer the following questions.

1. Does your company use a multistep income statement?
2. For the most recent year, what is the company’s gross margin, operating income,
and net income? Briefly explain why these numbers are different.
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STUDY NOTE: A cash sale is entered
into the cash receipts journal, not into
the sales journal.

SUPPLEMENT TO CHAPTER 6

Special-Purpose Journals

Special-purpose journals promote efficiency, economy, and control. Although manual
special-purpose journals are used by some companies, the concepts also underliec com-
puterized general ledger accounting systems.

Most business transactions—90 to 95 percent—fall into one of four categories.
Each kind of transaction can be recorded in a special-purpose journal.

Transaction Special-Purpose Journal Posting Abbreviation
Sale of merchandise on credit Sales journal S

Purchase on credit Purchases journal P

Receipt of cash Cash receipts journal CR
Disbursement of cash Cash payments journal CcP

The general journal is used to record transactions, like purchase returns, sales returns,
and adjusting and closing entries, that do not fall into any of these special categories.
(When transactions are posted from the general journal to the ledger accounts, the post-
ing abbreviation used is J.)

Using special-purpose journals greatly reduces the work involved in entering and
posting transactions in the general ledger. For example, in most cases, instead of posting
every debit and credit for each transaction, only the total amounts of the transactions
are posted. In addition, labor can be divided by assigning each journal to a different
employee. This division of labor is important in establishing good internal control.

Sales Journal

The sales journal is designed to handle all credit sales. Cash sales are recorded in the
cash receipts journal. Exhibit 1 illustrates a page from a typical sales journal and related
ledger accounts. Six sales transactions involving five customers are recorded.

Notice how the sales journal saves time:

Only one line is needed to record each transaction. Each entry consists of a debit to
a customer in Accounts Receivable. The corresponding credit to Sales is understood.
The account names do not have to be written out because each entry automatically
is debited to Accounts Receivable and credited to Sales.

No explanations are necessary because the function of the sales journal is to record
only credit sales.

Only one amount—the total credit sales for the month—has to be posted. It is
posted twice: once as a debit to Accounts Receivable and once as a credit to Sales.
Imagine the time saved when there are hundreds of sales transactions.

Controlling Accounts and Subsidiary Ledgers Controlling accounts and subsid-
iary ledgers contain important details about the figures in special-purpose journals and
the general journal. A controlling account (or control account) is an account in the
general ledger that maintains the total of the individual account balances in a subsidiary
ledger. A subsidiary ledger is a ledger separate from the general ledger that contains a
group of related accounts, such as a list of customers. The total of the balances in the
subsidiary ledger accounts equals the balance in the corresponding controlling account.

Up to this point, we’ve used a single Accounts Receivable account. However, a single
entry in Accounts Receivable does not tell us how much each customer has bought and
how much each customer has paid or still owes. In practice, almost all companies that
sell to customers on credit keep an individual accounts receivable record for each cus-
tomer. If the company has 6,000 credit customers, there are 6,000 accounts receivable.
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Exhibit 1
Sales Journal and Related
Ledger Accounts

STUDY NOTE: The check marks
indicate daily postings to the subsidiary
ledger accounts, which normally are
listed in alphabetical or numerical order.
Also, the column totals are posted to the
appropriate general ledger accounts at
the end of the month.

Sales Journal Page 1
Amount (Debit/
Invoice Post. | Credit Accounts
Date Account Debited Number Terms Ref. | Receivable/Sales)
July 1 | Peter Clark 721 2/10,n/30 N 750
5 | Georgetta Jones 722 2/10,n/30 N 500
8 | Eugene Cumberland 723 2/10,n/30 V 335
12 | Maxwell Gertz 724 2/10,n/30 v 1,165
18 | Peter Clark 725 1/10,n/30 v 1,225
25 | Michael Powers 726 2/10,n/30 v 975
4,950
(114/411)
} Post total at end of month. ‘—
Accounts Receivable 114 Sales 411
Post. Balance Post. Balance
Date | Ref. |Debit | Credit |Debit | Credit Date | Ref. |Debit | Credit|Debit | Credit
July| 31| S1 |4,950 4,950 July |31] S1 4,950 4,950

To include all these accounts in the general ledger with the other asset, liability, and
owner’s equity accounts would make it very bulky. Consequently, most companies place
individual customers’ accounts in a separate, subsidiary ledger. In the accounts receiv-
able subsidiary ledger, customers’ accounts are filed either alphabetically or numerically
(if account numbers are used).

When a company uses an accounts receivable subsidiary ledger, it still must maintain
an Accounts Receivable account in the general ledger. This account controls in the sense
that its balance must equal the total of the individual account balances in the subsidiary
ledger. Transactions that involve accounts receivable, such as credit sales, must be posted
to the individual customers’ accounts daily. Postings to the controlling account in the
general ledger are made at least once a month. When the amounts in the subsidiary led-
ger and the controlling account do not match, the accountant must find the error and
correct it.

Most companies use an accounts payable subsidiary ledger as well. It is possible to
use a subsidiary ledger for almost any account in the general ledger, such as Notes Receiv-
able or Equipment, when management wants specific information on individual items.

Summary of the Sales Journal Procedure Using a sales journal involves the fol-
lowing steps, as shown in Exhibit 2:

Step 1: Enter each sales invoice in the sales journal on a single line. Record the
date, the customer’s name, the invoice number, and the amount. No column is
needed for the terms if the terms on all sales are the same.

Step 2: At the end of each day, post each individual sale to the customer’s account
in the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger. As each sale is posted, place a check
mark (or customer account number, if used) in the Post. Ref. (posting reference)
column of the sales journal to indicate that it has been posted. In the Post. Ref.
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STUDY NOTE: In theory, the sum of the
account balances from the subsidiary
accounts must equal the balance in

the related general ledger controlling
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column of each customer’s account, place an § and the sales journal page number
(81 means Sales Journal—Page 1) to indicate the source of the entry.

Step 3: At the end of the month, sum the Amount column in the sales journal to
determine the total credit sales, and post the total to the general ledger accounts
(debit Accounts Receivable and credit Sales). Place the numbers of the accounts
debited and credited beneath the total in the sales journal to indicate that this step

account at any point in time. In practice,
however, the equality is verified only at
the end of the month, when the general
ledger is posted.

has been completed. In the general ledger, indicate the source of the entry in the
Post. Ref. column of each account.

Step 4: Verity the accuracy of the posting by adding the account balances of the
accounts receivable subsidiary ledger and comparing the total with the balance of the
Accounts Receivable controlling account in the general ledger. You can do this by
listing the accounts in a schedule of accounts receivable, like the one in Exhibit 3, in
the order in which the accounts are maintained. This step is performed after posting
collections on account in the cash receipts journal, which we explain later.

Exhibit 2 Sales Journal Page 1
Relationship of Sales Journal, X
General Ledger, and Accounts Amo.unt (Debit/
Receivable Subsidiary Ledger X Credit {-\ccounts
and the Posting Procedure . Invoice Post. Receivable/
Date Account Debited Number Terms Ref. Sales)
July 1 | Peter Clark 721 2/10,n/30 N —— 750
5 | Georgetta Jones 722 2/10,n/30 V —— 500
8 | Eugene Cumberland 723 2/10,n/30 V —— 335
12 | Maxwell Gertz 724 2/10,n/30 V —— 1,165
18 | Peter Clark 725 1/10,n/30 \ —— 1,225
25 | Michael Powers 726 2/10,n/30 v — 975
4,950
(114/411)
v
Post individual amounts daily Post total at end of month
to subsidiary ledger accounts. to general ledger accounts.
STUDY NOTE: Accounts in the General Ledger Accounts Receivable Sub. Ledger
subsidiary ledger are maintained in
alphabetical order. If account numbers Accounts Receivable 114 Peter Clark
are used to identify customers, the
accounts would be listed in account Post Balance Post.
number order. ost. . X = = Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Balance
Date | Ref. |Debit |Credit |Debit |Credit
July[31| S1 | 4,950 4,950 July | 1) 51 730 730
STUDY NOTE: Subsidiary accounts uy ' ' 18 S1 | 1,225 1,975
are posted daily to prevent customers
from exceeding their credit limits and to sales 411 Eugene Cumberland
have up-to-date balances for customers
wishing to pay their accounts. Balance Post.
<
g R . 5 . . Date Ref. |Debit | Credit | Balance
2 Date | Ref. |Debit [Credit |Debit |Credit
§ uly| 8] s1 | 335 335
g July|31| s 4,950 4,950 A
3
©
Continue posting to

\

Maxwell Gertz, Georgetta
Jones, and Michael Powers.
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Exhibit 3
Schedule of Accounts Receivable

STUDY NOTE: Columns can be
added to a special-purpose journal for
accounts that are commonly used.

Exhibit 4

Mitchell’s Used Car Sales
Schedule of Accounts Receivable

July 31,2011
Peter Clark $1,975
Eugene Cumberland 335
Maxwell Gertz 1,165
Georgetta Jones 500
Michael Powers 975
Total Accounts Receivable $4,950

Sales Taxes Many cities and states require retailers to collect a sales tax from their
customers and periodically remit the total collected to the city or state. In this case, an
additional column is needed in the sales journal to record the credit to Sales Taxes Pay-
able on credit sales, as shown in Exhibit 4.

Section of a Sales Journal with a Column for Sales Taxes

Sales Journal Page 7
Debit Credits
Sales
Invoice Post. Accounts Tax
Date Account Debited Number Terms Ref. Receivable Payable Sales
Sept. | 1 |RalphP.Hake 727 2/10, n/30 V 206 6 200

STUDY NOTE: A cash purchase is
entered into the cash payments journal,
not into the purchases journal.

Purchases Journal

The purchases journal is used to record purchases on credit. It can take the form of
cither a single-column journal or a multicolumn journal. In the single-column journal
(shown in Exhibit 5), only credit purchases of merchandise for resale to customers are
recorded. This kind of transaction is recorded with a debit to Purchases and a credit to
Accounts Payable. When the single-column purchases journal is used, credit purchases
of items other than merchandise are recorded in the general journal. Cash purchases are
recorded in the cash payments journal, which we explain later.

Like the Accounts Receivable account, the Accounts Payable account in the general
ledger is generally used as a controlling account. So that the company knows how much
it owes each supplier, it keeps a separate account for each supplier in an accounts payable
subsidiary ledger.

The procedure for using the purchases journal is much like that for using the sales
journal.

Step 1: Enter each purchase invoice in the purchases journal on a single line.
Record the date, the supplier’s name, the invoice date, the terms (if given), and
the amount. It is not necessary to record the shipping terms in the terms column
because they do not affect the payment date.
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Exhibit 5

Relationship of Single-Column
Purchases Journal to the General
Ledger and the Accounts
Payable Subsidiary Ledger
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Step 2: At the end of each day, post each individual purchase to the supplier’s
account in the accounts payable subsidiary ledger. As each purchase is posted, place
a check mark in the Post. Ref. column of the purchases journal to show that it has
been posted. Also place a P and the page number of the purchases journal (PI
stands for Purchases Journal—Page 1) in the Post. Ref. column of each supplier’s
account to show the source of the entry.

Step 3: At the end of the month, sum the Amount column in the purchases journal,
and post the total to the general ledger as a debit to Purchases and a credit to Accounts
Payable. Place the numbers of the accounts debited and credited beneath the totals in
the purchases journal to show that this step has been carried out. In the general led-
ger, indicate the source of the entry in the Post. Ref. column of each account.

Step 4: Check the accuracy of the posting by adding the account balances of the
accounts payable subsidiary ledger and comparing the total with the balance of the
Accounts Payable controlling account in the general ledger. This step can be done
by preparing a schedule of accounts payable from the subsidiary ledger.

Exhibit 5 illustrates the procedure for using a purchases journal.

Purchases Journal Page 1
Amount
(Debit/Credit
Date of Post. Purchases/
Date Account Credited Invoice Terms Ref. | Accounts Payable)
July | 1 | Jones Chevrolet 7/ 2/10, n/30 V 2,500
2 | Marshall Ford 7/2 2/15,n/30 V 300
3 | Dealer Sales 7/3 n/30 V 700
12 | Thomas Auto 7/11 n/30 N 1,400
17 | Dealer Sales 7/17 2/10,n/30 V 3,200
19 | Thomas Auto 7/17 n/30 V 1,100
———9,200
(511/212)
¢ \4
} Post total at end of month. ‘ ‘ Post individual amounts daily. |
General Ledger Accounts Payable Sub. Ledger
Accounts Payable 212 Dealer Sales
Balance Post.
Post. Date | Ref. | Debit | Credit | Balance
Date | Ref. | Debit| Credit| Debit| Credit ) ;
July | 3| P1 700 700
July| 31| P1 9,200 9,200
i X 17| P1 3,200 | 3,900
Purchases 511 Jones Chevrolet
Post. elance D ':zosft " | Debit | Credit | Bal
Date | Ref. | Debit| Credit| Debit| Credit ate et ebit redit alance
July| 31| P1 {9,200 9,200 AR 2500 | 2,500
T Continue posting to Marshall ’

Ford and Thomas Auto.
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STUDY NOTE: The multicolumn
purchases journal can accommodate
the purchase of anything on credit. Each
column total (except the total of Other
Accounts) must be posted at the end of
the month.

The single-column purchases journal can be expanded to record credit purchases of
items other than merchandise by adding separate debit columns for other accounts that
are used often. For example, the multicolumn purchases journal in Exhibit 6 has columns
for Freight In, Store Supplies, Office Supplies, and Other Accounts. In Exhibit 6, the
total credits to Accounts Payable ($9,637) equal the total debits to Purchases, Freight

In, Store Supplies, Office Supplies, and Parts ($9,200 + $50 + $145 + $42 + $200).
Again, the individual transactions in the Accounts Payable column are posted daily to
the accounts payable subsidiary ledger, and the totals of each column in the purchases
journal are posted monthly to the corresponding general ledger accounts. Entries in the
Other Accounts column are posted individually to the named accounts, and the column
total is not posted.

STUDY NOTE: The cash receipts journal
can accommodate all receipts of cash.
Daily postings are made not only to

the subsidiary accounts but also to the
‘other accounts.” The Other Accounts
column totals, therefore, are not posted
at the end of the month. Only at the end
of the month are the control account
balances meaningful or correct.

< Exhibit 6
A Multicolumn Purchases Journal
Purchases Journal Page 1
Credit Debits
Other Accounts
Date of Post. |Accounts Freight| Store | Office Post.
Date |Account Credited |Invoice| Terms | Ref. | Payable [Purchases| In [Supplies|Supplies|Account| Ref. | Amount
July | 1 |Jones Chevrolet 7/1 [2/10,n/30[ « | 2,500 2,500
2 |Marshall Ford 7/2 |2/15,n/30| 300 300
2 |Shelby Car Delivery| 7/2 n/30 v 50 50
3 [Dealer Sales 7/3 n/30 V 700 700
12 | Thomas Auto 7/11 n/30 v | 1,400 1,400
17 |Dealer Sales 7/17 |2/10,n/30| 3,200 3,200
19 |Thomas Auto 7/17 n/30 Vv | 1,100 1,100
25 |Osborne Supply 7/21 n/10 V 187 145 42
28 |Auto Supply 7/28 n/10 V 200 Parts | 120 200
9,637 9,200 50 145 42 200
(212) (511) (514) | (132) (133) )

Cash Receipts Journal

All transactions involving receipts of cash are recorded in the cash receipts journal.
Examples of these transactions are cash from cash sales and cash from credit customers
in payment of their accounts. Although all cash receipts require a debit to Cash, they
differ in that they require a variety of credit entries. Thus, the cash receipts journal must
have several columns. The Other Accounts column is used to record credits to accounts
not specifically represented by a column. The account numbers are entered in the Post.
Ref. column, and the amounts are posted daily to the appropriate account in the general
ledger. The Other Accounts column totals, therefore, are not posted at the end of the
month. Only at the end of the month are the control account balances meaningful or
correct.
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The cash receipts journal presented in Exhibit 7 has the following debit and credit
columns:

Debit columns
Cash: Each entry must have an amount in this column because each transaction
involves a receipt of cash.
Sales Discounts: This company allows a 2 percent discount for prompt pay-
ment. Therefore, it is useful to have a column for sales discounts. Notice that in
the transactions of July 8 and 28, the debits to Cash and Sales Discounts equal
the credits to Accounts Receivable.
Other Accounts: The Other Accounts column (sometimes called Sundry
Accounts) is used for transactions that involve both a debit to Cash and a debit
to some account other than Sales Discounts.

Credit columns
Accounts Receivable: This column is used to record collections on account
from customers. The name of the customer is written in the Account Debited /
Credited column so that the payment can be entered in the corresponding
account in the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger. Posting to the individual
accounts receivable accounts is usually done daily so that each customer’s bal-
ance is up-to-date.
Sales: This column is used to record all cash sales. Retail firms that use cash
registers would make an entry at the end of each day for the total sales from
each cash register. The debit, of course, is in the Cash debit column.
Other Accounts: This column is used for the credit portion of any entry that
is neither a cash collection from accounts receivable nor a cash sale. The name
of the account to be credited is indicated in the Account Debited/Credited
column. For example, the transactions of July 1, 20, and 24 involve credits to
accounts other than Accounts Receivable or Sales. These individual postings
should be done daily (or weekly if there are just a few of them). If a company
finds that it consistently is crediting a certain account in the Other Accounts
column, it can add another credit column to the cash receipts journal for that
particular account.

The procedure for posting the cash receipts journal follows.

Step 1: Post the transactions in the Accounts Receivable column daily to the indi-
vidual accounts in the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger. The amount credited to
the customer’s account is the same as that credited to Accounts Receivable. A check
mark in the Post. Ref. column of the cash receipts journal indicates that the amount
has been posted, and a CRI (Cash Receipts Journal—Page 1) in the Post. Ref. col-
umn of each subsidiary ledger account indicates the source of the entry.

Step 2: Post the debits/credits in the Other Accounts columns daily, or at intervals
during the month, to the general ledger accounts. Write the account number in the
Post. Ref. column of the cash receipts journal as the individual items are posted to
indicate that the posting has been done, and write CR in the Post. Ref. column of
the general ledger account to indicate the source of the entry.

Step 3: At the end of the month, total the columns in the cash receipts journal,
as shown below. The sum of the Debits column totals must equal the sum of the
Credits column totals:

Debits Column Totals Credits Column Totals
Cash $32,528 Accounts Receivable $ 1,850
Sales Discounts 22 Sales 5,200
Other Accounts 0 Other Accounts 25,500
Total Debits $32,550 Total Credits $32,550

This step is called crossfooting.
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Exhibit 7

Relationship of the Cash Receipts Journal to the General
Ledger and the Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Ledger

© Cengage Learning 2014

Cash Receipts Journal Page 1
Debits Credits
Account Post. Sales Other Accounts Other
Date Debited/Credited Ref. Cash Discounts Accounts Receivable Sales Accounts
July 1 | Henry Mitchell, Capital 311 20,000 20,000 —
5 | Sales 1,200 1,200
8 | Georgetta Jones ) 490 10 500
13 | Sales 1,400 1,400
16 | Peter Clark W 750 750
19 | Sales 1,000 1,000
20 | Store Supplies 132 500 500 —
24 | Notes Payable 213 5,000 5,000 —
26 | Sales 1,600 1,600
28 | Peter Clark W 588 12 600
32,528 22 - 1,850 5,200 25,500
(111) (412) (114) (411) )
i \ 4
Post individual amounts Post totals at Total not
in Accounts Receivable end of month. posted.
ledger columns daily. —— -
I Post individual amounts in
Other Accounts column daily. |
General Ledger |
Cash 111
Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Ledger
Balance
Post. Peter Clark
Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
Post.
July |31 ] CR1 | 32,528 32,528 Date Ref. Debit Credit Balance
Accounts Receivable 114 July 1 S1 750 750
16 CR1 750 —
Balance 18 S1 1,225 1,225
Post.
Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit Credit 28 CR1 600 625
July | 31| S1 4,950 4,950 Georgetta Jones
31| CR1 1,850 3,100
ﬁ Post.
Date Ref. Debit Credit Balance
Store Supplies 132
July 5 S1 500 500
Balance
Post. 8 CR1 500 —
Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
Bal. 500 ¢
July| 20 | CR1 500 _ Continue posting to Notes Payable | | Continue posting to Sales
T and Henry Mitchell, Capital. and Sales Discounts.
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STUDY NOTE: The cash payments
Jjournal can accommodate all cash
payments. [t functions like the cash
receipts journal, although it uses some
different general ledger accounts.
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Step 4: Post the Debits column totals as follows.

a. Cash: Posted as a debit to the Cash account.

b. Sales Discounts: Posted as a debit to the Sales Discounts account.

Step 5: Post the Credits column totals as follows.

a. Accounts Receivable: Posted as a credit to the Accounts Receivable controlling
account.

b. Sales: Posted as a credit to the Sales account.

Step 6: Write the account numbers below each column in the cash receipts journal

as they are posted to indicate that these steps have been completed. CRI is written

in the Post. Ref. column of each account in the general ledger to indicate the source

of the entry.

Step 7: Notice that the total of the Other Accounts column is not posted because

each entry was posted separately when the transaction occurred. The individual

accounts were posted in Step 2. Place a check mark at the bottom of the column to

show that postings in that column have been made and that the total is not posted.

Cash Payments Journal

All transactions involving payments of cash are recorded in the cash payments journal
(or cash disbursements journal). Examples of these transactions are cash purchases and
payments of obligations resulting from earlier purchases on credit. The form of the cash
payments journal is much like that of the cash receipts journal.

The cash payments journal presented in Exhibit 8 includes the following credit and
debit columns:

Credit columns
Cash: Each entry must have an amount in this column because each transaction
involves a payment of cash.
Purchases Discounts: When purchases discounts are taken, they are recorded
in this column.
Other Accounts: This column is used to record credits to accounts other than
Cash or Purchases Discounts. Notice that the July 31 transaction shows a pur-
chase of Land for $15,000, with a check for $5,000 and a note payable for
$10,000.

Debit columns
Accounts Payable: This column is used to record payments to suppliers that
have extended credit to the company. Each supplier’s name is written in the
Payee column so that the payment can be entered in the supplier’s account in
the accounts payable subsidiary ledger.
Salary Expense, Advertising Expense, and Rent Expense: Continue post-
ing the column total for any column that has an account title at the top. These
are accounts for which there are usually multiple expenditures in a month. Plac-
ing the account number at the bottom of the column indicates the total has
been posted to its respective account.
Other Accounts: Cash can be expended for many reasons. Therefore, an Other
Accounts or Sundry Accounts column is needed in the cash payments journal.
The title of the account to be debited is written in the Account Credited /Debited
column, and the amount is entered in the Other Accounts debit column. If a
company finds that a particular account appears often in the Other Accounts
column, it can add another debit column to the cash payments journal.

The procedure for posting the cash payments journal, shown in Exhibit 8, follows.

Step 1: Post the transactions in the Accounts Payable columns daily to the indi-
vidual accounts in the accounts payable subsidiary ledger. Place a check mark in the
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Exhibit 8
< Relationship of the Cash Payments Journal to the General Ledger and the Accounts Payable Subsidiary Ledger
Cash Payments Journal Page 1
Credits Debits
Account
Ck. Credited/ |Post. Purchases| Other [Accounts| Salary |Advertising| Rent Other
Date |No. Payee Debited |Ref. | Cash [Discounts|Accounts | Payable | Expense| Expense |Expense| Accounts
July [ 2101 | SondraTidmore|Purchases (511 400 400
6| 102 | Daily Journal 100 100
8103 | Siviglia Agency 250 250
11104 | Jones Chevrolet v | 2,450 50 — 2,500
16105 | Charles Kuntz 600 600
17106 | Marshall Ford V 294 — 300
241107 | Grabow & Prepaid
Company Insurance 119 480 480
271108 | Dealer Sales Vv | 3,136 64 —3,200
Daily Journal 100 100
30109 | A&B Equipment|Office
Company Equipment|{- 144 900 400
Service
Equipment} 146 500
31110 Burns Real Notes
Estate Payable {213 | 5,000 10,000
Land 141 15,000
13,710 120 10,0007 || 6,000 1| 600 200 | 2501| 16,780
(11| (512) V) (212) (611) (612) (613) W)
o v
Postlndl\{ldual / Post totals at Post individual ol
amounts in Other . otals
A I dail end of month. amounts in Accounts not posted.
ccounts column daily. Payable column daily.
]
Genural Dedges Accounts Payable Subsidiary Ledger
Cash 111 Dealer Sales
Balance Post.
Post. Date Ref. Debit | Credit | Balance
Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 3 P1 700 700
July |31 | CRT | 32,528 32,528 17 P1 3,200 3,900
31 | CP1 13,710 | 18,818 27 CP1 3,200 700
! .
Prepaid Insurance 119 Jones Chevrolet
Balance Post.
Post. Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Balance
Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Debit | Credit
July 1 P1 2,500 2,500
July [ 24 | CP1 480 480 1 CP1 2,500 —
A\
. . Marshall Ford
L, | Continue posting to Land, Office Continue posting to
Equipment, Service Equipment, | | Purchases Discounts and Post. %
Notes Payable, and Purchases. | | Accounts Payable, Salary Date Ref. | Debit | Credit | Balance 2
Expense, Advertising §
Expense, and Rent Expense. July 2 P1 300 300 g
17 CP1 300 — g
(]
©

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Exhibit 9
Transactions Recorded in
the General Journal

STUDY NOTE: The general journal

is used only to record transactions

that cannot be accommodated by the
special-purpose journals. Whenever a
controlling account is recorded, it must
be ‘double posted” to the general ledger
and the subsidiary accounts. All general
journal entries are posted daily; column
totals are neither obtained nor posted.
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Post. Ref. column of the cash payments journal to indicate that the posting has been
made.

Step 2: Post the debits/credits in the Other Accounts debit/credit columns to the
general ledger daily or at intervals during the month. Write the account number
in the Post. Ref. column of the cash payments journal as the individual items are
posted to indicate that the posting has been completed and CPI (Cash Payments
Journal-Page 1) in the Post. Ref. column of each general ledger account.

Step 3: At the end of the month, the columns are footed and crossfooted. That
is, the sum of the Credits column totals must equal the sum of the Debits column
totals, as follows.

Credit Column Totals Debit Column Totals
Cash $13,710 Accounts Payable $ 6,000
Purchases Discounts 120 Salary Expense 600
Other Accounts 10,000 Advertising Expense 200
Rent Expense 250
Other Accounts 16,780
Total Credits $23,830 Total Debits $23,830

Step 4: At the end of the month, post the column totals for Cash, Purchases Dis-
counts, Accounts Payable, Salary Expense, Advertising Expense, and Rent Expense
to their respective accounts in the general ledger. Write the account number below
cach column in the cash payments journal as it is posted to indicate that this step has
been completed and CPI in the Post. Ref. column of each general ledger account.
Place a check mark under the total of each Other Accounts column in the cash pay-
ments journal to indicate that the postings in the column have been made and that
the total is not posted.

General Journal

Adjusting and closing entries are recorded in the general journal. Transactions that do
not involve sales, purchases, cash receipts, or cash payments should also be recorded in
the general journal. Usually, there are only a few of these transactions. Two examples of
entries that do not fit in a special-purpose journal are a return of merchandise bought

on account and an allowance from a supplier for credit. These entries are shown in
Exhibit 9.

General Journal Page 1
Post.
Date Description Ref. Debit Credit
July 25 Accounts Payable, Thomas Auto 2124/ 700
Purchases Returns and
Allowances 513 700

Returned used car for
credit; invoice date 7/11

26 Sales Returns and Allowances 413 35
Accounts Receivable, Maxwell
Gertz 114/ 35

Allowance for faulty tire

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



260

cash payments journal 257
cash receipts journal 254
controlling account 249

Supplement to Chapter 6: Special-Purpose Journals

Notice that the entries include a debit or a credit to a controlling account (Accounts
Payable or Accounts Receivable). The name of the customer or supplier also is given
here. When this kind of debit or credit is made to a controlling account in the general
ledger, the entry must be posted twice: once to the controlling account and once to the
individual account in the subsidiary ledger. This procedure keeps the subsidiary ledger
equal to the controlling account. Notice that the July 26 transaction is posted by a debit
to Sales Returns and Allowances in the general ledger (shown by the account num-
ber 413), a credit to the Accounts Receivable controlling account in the general led-
ger (account number 114), and a credit to the Maxwell Gertz account in the accounts
receivable subsidiary ledger (check mark).

purchases journal 252 subsidiary ledger 249
sales journal 249
special-purpose journals 249

Chapter Assignments

GENERAL LEDGER

v 1:Total cash receipts: $23,340
v 1:Total cash payments: $17,012

PROBLEMS

Cash Receipt and Cash Payments Journals

P1. Kimball Company is a small retail business that uses a manual data processing system
similar to the one described in the chapter. Among its special-purpose journals are mul-
ticolumn cash receipts and cash payments journals. The cash transactions for Kimball
Company during the month of November follow.

Nov. 1  Paid November rent to R. Carello, $1,000, with check no. 782.
3 Daid Stavos Wholesale on account, $2,300 less a 2 percent discount, check
no. 783.
4 Received payment on account of $1,000, within the 2 percent discount period,
from J. Walker.
5  Cash sales, $2,632.
Paid Moving Freight on account, $598, with check no. 784.
9  The owner, Fred Kimball, invested an additional $10,000 in cash and a truck
valued at $14,000 in the business.
11  Paid Escobedo Supply on account, $284, with check no. 785.
14  Cash sales, $2,834.
15  Paid Moving Freight $310 for the freight on a shipment of merchandise
received today, with check no. 786.
16  Paid Ludman Company on account, $1,600 less a 2 percent discount, with
check no. 787.
17 Received payment on account from P. Sivula, $120.
18  Cash sales, $1,974.
19 Received payment on a note receivable, $1,800 plus $36 interest.
20  Purchased office supplies from Escobedo Supply, $108, with check no. 788.

o]
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Nov.21  Paid a note payable in full to Kenington Bank, $4,100 including $100

interest, with check no. 789.

24 Cash sales, $2,964.

25  Paid $500 less a 2 percent discount to Stavos Wholesale, with check no. 790.

26  Paid sales clerk Tracy Dye $1,100 for her monthly salary, with check no. 791.

27  Purchased equipment from Standard Corporation for $16,000, paying
$4,000 with check no. 792 and signing a note payable for the difference.

30  Fred Kimball withdrew $1,200 from the business, using check no. 793.

REQUIRED
1. Enter these transactions in the cash receipts and cash payments journals.
2. Foot and crossfoot the journals.
3. ACCOUNTING CONNECTION [» If a manager wanted to know the total sales for the
accounting period, where else would the manager need to refer to obtain the data
needed?

Purchases and General Journals
P2. Meloon Lawn Supply Company uses a multicolumn purchases journal and a general
journal similar to those illustrated in the text. The company also maintains an accounts

payable subsidiary ledger. The items that follow represent the company’s credit transac-
tions for the month of July.

July 2 Purchased merchandise from Diego Fertilizer Company, $2,640.
3 Purchased office supplies of $166 and store supplies of $208 from Laronne
Supply, Inc.
5 DPurchased cleaning equipment from Whitman Company, $1,856.
7 Purchased display equipment from Laronne Supply, Inc., $4,700.
10 Purchased lawn mowers from Brandon Lawn Equipment Company, for resale,
$8,400 (which included transportation charges of $350).
14 Purchased merchandise from Diego Fertilizer Company, $3,444.
18 Purchased a lawn mower from Brandon Lawn Equipment Company to be
used in the business, $950 (which included transportation charges of $70).
23 Purchased store supplies from Laronne Supply, Inc., $54.
27  Returned a defective lawn mower purchased on July 10 for full credit, $750.

REQUIRED

1. Enter the preceding transactions in the purchases journal and the general journal.
Assume that all terms are n/30 and that invoice dates are the same as the transaction
dates. Use Page 1 for all references.

2. Foot and crossfoot the purchases journal.

3. Open the following general ledger accounts: Store Supplies (116), Office Supplies
(117), Lawn Equipment (142), Display Equipment (144), Cleaning Equipment
(146), Accounts Payable (211), Purchases (611), Purchases Returns and Allowances
(612), and Freight In (613). Open accounts payable subsidiary ledger accounts as
needed. Post from the journals to the ledger accounts.

Comprehensive Use of Special-Purpose Journals
P3. Ye Olde Book Store opened its doors for business on May 1. During May, the fol-
lowing transactions took place:
May 1 Linda Berrill began the business by depositing $42,000 in the new company’s
bank account.

3 Issued check no. C001 to Remax Rentals for one month’s rent, $1,000.

4 Received a shipment of books from Chassman Books, Inc., invoice dated May
3, terms 5,/10, n/60, FOB shipping point, $15,680.

(Continued)

Copyright 2013 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



262

May 5 Received a bill for freight from Menden Shippers for the previous day’s ship-

ment, terms n/30, $790.
6  Received a shipment from Lakeside Books, invoice dated May 6, terms 2 /10,
n/30, FOB shipping point, $11,300.
7 Issued check no. C002 to Pappanopoulos Freight for transportation charges
on the previous day’s shipment, $574.
8 Issued check no. C003 to Yun Chao Equipment Company for store equip-
ment, $10,400.
9  Sold books to Midtown Center, terms 5/10, n/30, invoice no. 1001, $1,564.
10  Returned books to Chassman Books, Inc., for credit, $760.
11  TIssued check no. C004 to WCAM for radio commercials, $235.
12 Issued check no. C005 to Chassman Books, Inc., for balance of amount owed
less discount.
13 Cash sales for the first two weeks, $4,018. (For this problem, cash sales are
recorded every two weeks, not daily as they are in actual practice.)
14 Issued check no. C006 to Lakeside Books, $6,000 less discount.
15  Signed a 90-day, 10 percent note for a bank loan and received $20,000 in cash.
15  Sold books to Steve Oahani, terms n/30, invoice no. 1002, $260.
16  Issued a credit memorandum to Midtown Center for returned books, $124.
17 Received full payment from Midtown Center of balance owed less discount.
18 Sold books to Missy Porter, terms n/30, invoice no. 1003, $194.
19 Received a shipment from Perspectives Publishing Company, invoice dated
May 18, terms 5,/10, n/60, $4,604.
20 Returned additional books purchased on May 4 to Chassman Books, Inc., for
credit at gross price, $1,436.
21  Sold books to Midtown Center, terms 5,/10, n/30, invoice no. 1004, $1,634.
23 Received a shipment from Chassman Books, Inc., invoice dated May 19, terms
5/10, n/60, FOB shipping point, $2,374.
24 Issued check no. C007 to Menden Shippers for balance owed on account plus
shipping charges of $194 on previous day’s shipment.
27  Cash sales for the second two weeks, $7,488.
29  Issued check no. CO08 to Payroll for salaries for first four weeks of the month,
$1,400.
30 Issued check no. C009 to WXAM for radio commercials, $235.
31 Cash sales for the last four days of the month, $554.

REQUIRED

1.

2.

&

Prepare a sales journal, a multicolumn purchases journal, a cash receipts journal, a
cash payments journal, and a general journal. Use Page 1 for all journal references.
Open the following general ledger accounts: Cash (111), Accounts Receivable (112),
Store Equipment (141), Accounts Payable (211), Notes Payable (212), Linda Ber-
rill, Capital (311), Sales (411), Sales Discounts (412), Sales Returns and Allowances
(413), Purchases (511), Purchases Discounts (512), Purchases Returns and Allow-
ances (513), Freight In (514), Salaries Expense (611), Advertising Expense (612),
and Rent Expense (613).

. Open accounts receivable subsidiary ledger accounts for Midtown Center, Steve

Oabhani, and Missy Porter.

. Open accounts payable subsidiary ledger accounts for Chassman Books, Inc.; Lake-

side Books; Menden Shippers; and Perspectives Publishing Company.

. Enter the transactions in the journals and post as appropriate.

Foot and crosstoot the journals, and make the end-of-month postings.

Prepare a trial balance of the general ledger and prove the control balances of
Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable by preparing schedules of accounts
receivable and accounts payable.
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CHAPTER 7
Inventories

BUSINESS INSIGHT
Grabs Company

Grabs Company is a new store that sells a variety of stylish leather
boots and bags. Because Grabs is a merchandising company, inventory
is an important component of its total assets. The decisions that Darcy
Ming, the company’s owner, makes about how to account for inven-
tory can have a significant impact on its operating results. Darcy has
several decisions to make, including which inventory system and cost-
ing method to use, how to value inventory, and how much inventory
to keep in stock.

1. CONCEPT » Why is the relationship between accrual accounting and
valuation important for inventory accounting?

2. ACCOUNTING APPLICATION » How would Grabs account for
merchandising inventory using (a) the average-cost method, (b) the FIFO
method, and (c) the LIFO method under periodic and perpetual inventory
systems?

3. BUSINESS APPLICATION » How do decisions about inventory
valuation and inventory levels affect operating results?

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Explain the concepts
underlying inventory
accounting.

Calculate inventory cost
) A

under the periodic inventory
system using various costing
methods.

3 Explain the effects of inventory
costing methods on income
determination and income taxes.

Calculate inventory cost under
the perpetual inventory system
using various costing methods.

5 Use the retail method and gross
profit method to estimate the
cost of ending inventory.

Evaluate inventory level, and

demonstrate the effects of
inventory misstatements on income
measurement.
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SECTION 1

CONCEPTS

B Accrual accounting
(matching rule)

B Valuation
B Conservatism
M Disclosure

RELEVANT
LEARNING OBJECTIVE

10 1 Explain the concepts
underlying inventory
accounting.

CONCEPTS

@ Concepts Underlying
Inventory Accounting

For any company that makes or sells merchandise, inventory is an extremely important
asset. Managing this asset requires not only protecting goods from theft or loss, but
also ensuring that operations are highly efficient. Further, as you will see in this chapter,
proper accounting for inventory is essential because misstatements will affect net income
in at least two years.

Inventory is considered a current asset because a company normally sells it within a
year or within its operating cycle. For a merchandising company like CVS or Walgreens,
inventory consists of all goods owned and held for sale in the regular course of business.
Because manufacturing companies like Toyota are engaged in making products, they
have three kinds of inventory:

Raw materials (goods used in making products)
Work in process (partially completed products)
Finished goods ready for sale

In a note to its financial statements, Toyota showed the following breakdown of its
inventories (figures are in millions):!

Inventories 2011 2010

Raw materials (includes supplies) $ 4,457 $ 3,634
Work in process 2,626 2,142
Finished goods 8,602 9,512
Total inventories $15,685 $15,288

The work in process and the finished goods inventories have three cost components:

Cost of the raw materials that go into the product
Cost of the labor used to convert the raw materials to finished goods
Overhead costs that support the production process

Overhead costs include the costs of indirect materials (such as packing materials), indi-
rect labor (such as the salaries of supervisors), factory rent, depreciation of plant assets,
utilities, and insurance.

Accrual Accounting and Valuation of Inventories

The primary objective of inventory accounting is to apply accrual accounting to the
determination of cost of inventory sold during the accounting period. Valuation of
inventories is usually at cost. Inventory cost includes the following:

Invoice price less purchases discounts
Freight-in, including insurance in transit
Applicable taxes and tariffs

Other costs—for ordering, receiving, and storing—should, in principle, be included in
inventory cost. In practice, however, it is so difficult to allocate such costs to specific
inventory items that they are usually considered expenses of the period.

Inventory valuation depends on the prices of goods, which usually vary during the
year. A company may have purchased identical lots of merchandise at different prices.
Also, for identical items, it is often impossible to tell which have been sold and which are
still in inventory. Thus, it is necessary to make an assumption about the order in which
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items have been sold. Because the assumed order of sale may or may not be the same
as the actual order of sale, the assumption is really about the flow of costs rather than the
flow of physical inventory.

Goods Flows and Cost Flows

STUDY NOTE: The assumed flow Goods flow refers to the actual physical movement of goods in the operations of a com-

of inventory costs does not have to pany. Cost flow refers to the association of costs with their assumed tflow. The assumed

Corr25pond 2 the physical flow of cost flow may or may not be the same as the actual goods flow. A difference arises

R because several choices of assumed cost flow are available under generally accepted
accounting principles. In fact, it is sometimes preferable to use an assumed cost flow
that bears no relationship to goods flow because it results in a better estimate of income,
which is the main goal of inventory accounting.

Merchandise in Transit Because merchandise inventory includes all items that a
company owns and holds for sale, the status of any merchandise in transit, whether the
company is selling it or buying it, must be evaluated to see if the merchandise should be
included in the inventory count. Neither the seller nor the buyer has physical possession
of merchandise in transit. As Exhibit 1 shows, ownership is determined by the terms of
the shipping agreement, which indicate when title passes. Outgoing goods shipped FOB
(free on board) destination are included in the seller’s merchandise inventory, whereas
those shipped FOB shipping point are not. Conversely, incoming goods shipped FOB
shipping point are included in the buyer’s merchandise inventory, but those shipped
FOB destination are not.

AN ==
Merchandise in Transit
Goods in
L H | Transit
L H H _F

Seller’'s Warehouse

Shipping point

sl

3

=
;;E Destination% ﬂﬂlﬂ.

% Terms

g FOB shipping point: buyer owns inventory in transit. Customer’s Store

©

FOB destination: seller owns inventory in transit.

Merchandise Not Included in Inventory At the time a company takes a physical
inventory, it may have merchandise to which it does not hold title. For example, it may
have sold goods but not yet delivered them to the buyer, but because the sale has been
completed, title has passed to the buyer. Thus, the merchandise should be included in the
buyer’s inventory, not the seller’s. Goods held on consignment also fall into this category.
A consignment is merchandise that its owner (the consignor) places on the premises of
another company (the consignee) with the understanding that payment is expected only
when the merchandise is sold and that unsold items may be returned to the consignor.
Title to consigned goods remains with the consignor until the consignee sells the goods.
Consigned goods should not be included in the consignee’s physical inventory.

Conservatism and the Lower-of-
Cost-or-Market (LCM) Rule

Although cost is usually the most appropriate valuation basis, inventory may at times be
properly shown in the financial statements at less than its historical, or original, cost. If
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International Perspective
CD Is“Market” the Same as Fair Value Under IFRS?

When the lower-of-cost-or-market rule is used, what does “market” mean? Under international financial reporting standards (IFRS), market is consid-
ered fair value, which is defined as the amount at which an asset can be sold. However, in valuing inventory under U.S. standards, market is normally
considered the replacement cost, or the amount at which an identical asset can be purchased. The two “market” values, selling price and purchasing
price, can often be quite different for the same asset. This is an issue that will have to be addressed if the U.S. and international standards are to achieve

convergence.

STUDY NOTE: Cost must be
determined by one of the inventory
costing methods before it can be
compared with the market value.

STUDY NOTE: Management considers
the behavior of inventory costs over
time when selecting inventory costing
methods.

the market value of inventory falls below its historical cost because of physical deteriora-
tion, obsolescence, or decline in price level, a loss has occurred. This loss is recognized
by writing the inventory down to market—that is, to its current replacement cost. For a
merchandising company, market is the amount that it would pay at the present time for
the same goods, purchased from the usual suppliers and in the usual quantities.

When the replacement cost of inventory falls below its historical cost (as determined
by an inventory costing method), the lower-of-cost-or-market (LCM) rule requires that
the inventory be written down to the lower value and that a loss be recorded. This rule
is an